EISSN 2148-2373



BEZMİÂLEM SCİENCE





Generation of Bone Tissue Using Adipose Tissue-derived Stem Cells

Ethem GÜNEREN, Emre Gönenç BAYGÖL, Mehmet Veli KARAALTIN1, Halil İbrahim CANTER, Kahraman ÖZTÜRK, Ercüment OVALI, Mustafa Aykut ÖZPUR, Kemalettin YILDIZ, Fatma EYÜBOĞLU; İstanbul, Turkey

A Novel High-performance Liquid Chromatography Method with Fluorescence Detection for the Quantification of Roflumilast in Tablet Formulations

Ulvi MEHDİZADE, Pelin KÖSEOĞLU YILMAZ; İstanbul, Türkiye

Evaluation the Early Effects of Compression Stockings on Patient Satisfaction in Acute Proximal Deep Vein Thrombosis

Cemal KOCAASLAN, Mehmet Şenel BADEMCİ, Ahmet ÖZTEKİN, Emine Şeyma DENLİ YALVAÇ, Fatih BAYRAKTAR, Ebuzer AYDIN, İstanbul, Muş, Türkiye

High-performance Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Nebivolol and Amlodipine and Some Related Compounds in Synthetic Mixture

Cem ÖNAL, Kadir ALUÇ, Çiğdem ALUÇ, Armağan ÖNAL; İstanbul, Turkey

Perceived Sources and Levels of Stress Among Turkish Dental Students: A Multi-centre Study

Mustafa DEMİRCİ, Neslihan TEKÇE, Nevin ÇOBANOĞLU, Safa TUNCER, Osman ÜNLÜ, Soner ŞİŞMANOĞLU, Canan BAYDEMİR; İstanbul, Kocaeli, Konya, Türkiye

Volume 9 • Issue 3 • July 2021

bezmialemscience.org





Editor in Chief

Adem AKÇAKAYA

Department of General Surgery, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Associate Editors

Fahri AKBAŞ

Department of Medical Biology, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Fadlullah AKSOY

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

İbrahim AYDOĞDU

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Fatemeh BAHADORI

Department of Pharmaceutical Biotechnology, Bezmialem Vakıf University, School of Pharmacy, İstanbul, Turkey

Hayrettin DAŞKAYA

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Faculty of Medicine, Bezmialem Vakıf University, İstanbul, Turkey

Remzi DOĞAN

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bezmialem Vakıf University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Bülent DURDU

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Bezmialem Vakıf University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Burak GÜNEŞER

Department of Endodontics Bezmialem Vakif University Faculty of Dentistry, Istanbul, Turkey

Muharrem KISKAÇ

Department of Internal Medicine, Bezmialem Vakıf University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Özlem SU KÜÇÜK

Department of Dermatology, Bezmiâlem Vakif University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

galenos

Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Derya Mor Erkan Mor Publication Coordinator Burak Sever

Web Coordinators Turgay Akpınar

Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülşah Özgül Research & Development Melisa Yiğitoğlu Nihan Karamanlı Digital Marketing Specialist Seher Altundemir Sedat MEYDAN

Deparment of Anatomy, Bezmialem Vakıf University, İstanbul, Turkey

İlker ÖZ

Department of Radyology, Bezmialem Vakıf University,İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: 0000-0002-5014-4972

Umut BALLI

Department of Periodontology, Bezmialem Vakıf University,İstanbul, Turkey ORCID: 0000-0001-5070-0062

Hakan SEYİTHANOĞLU

Department of Neurosurgery, Bezmialem Vakıf University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Yazile SAYIN YAZICI

Deparment of Nursing, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Health Science, İstanbul, Turkey

Statistics Consultant

Ömer UYSAL

Department of Biostatistics and Medicine Informatics, Division of Basic Medical Sciences, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Editorial Board

Abdürrahim KOÇYİĞİT

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Ahmet BELCE

Department of Biochemistry, Biruni University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Amrita BANERJEE

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, North Dakota State University School of Pharmacy, Fargo, ND, USA

Project Coordinators Aysel Balta Meltem Acar Duygu Yıldırm Hatice Sever Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Özlem Çelik Çekil

Pinar Akninar

Melike Fren

Rabia Palazoğlu

Publisher Contact

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Publication Date: July 2021 E-ISSN: 2148-2373 International scientific journal published quarterly.



Anne-Catherine ANDRES

Department of Clinical Research, University of Bern School of Medicine, Switzerland

Artur BEKE

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Semmelweis University School of Medicine, Budapest, Hungary

Arzu TEZVERGİL MUTLUAY

Department of Prosthetic, University of Turku School of Medicine, Turku, Finland

Atilla EROĞLU

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Ataturk University School of Medicine, Erzurum, Turkey

Claudiu T. SUPURAN

Department Neuropharma, University of Florence School of Medicine , Firenze, Italy

Gökçen BAŞARANOĞLU

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Gülaçtı TOPÇU

Dean of the Faculty of Pharmacy, Bezmialem Vakif University, Istanbul, Turkey

Hayat ÖNYÜKSEL

Department of Biopharmaceutical Sciences, UIC Faculty of Pharmacy, Illinois, USA

İsmail MERAL

Department of Medical Physiology, Bezmialem Vakif University, Istanbul, Turkey

İsmet KIRPINAR

Department of Psychiatry, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Jie ZHOU

Department of Anesthesiology, Peroperative and Pain Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Joachim FANDREY

Department of Physiology, Duisburg University School of Medicine, Duisburg, Germany

Kemal DOLAY

Department of General Surgery, İstinye University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Klaus W. GRAETZ

Department of Cranio-Maxillo-Facial and Oral Surgery, University of Zurich School of Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

Martina MUCKENTHALER

Clinic of Pediatric Oncology, University Medical Center of Schleswig-Holstein, Heidelberg, Germany

Max GASSMAN

Department of Veterinary Physiology, University of Zurich, Institute of Veterinary Physiology, Zurich, Switzerland

Mukkades EŞREFOĞLU

Department of Histology and Embryology, Bezmialem Vakif University, Istanbul, Turkey

Oliver ULRICH

Department of Anatomy, University of Zurich School of Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

Orhan ÖZTURAN

Department of Otolaryngology, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Özlem DURMAZ

Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition, Istanbul University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Renate GAY

Department of Rheumatology, University of Zurich School of Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

Steffen GAY

Department of Rheumatology, University of Zurich School of Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

Suhair SUNOQROT

Department of Pharmacy, Al-Zaytoonah University of Jordan School of Pharmacy, Amman, Jordan

Şahabettin SELEK

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Bezmialem Vakif University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Thomas A. LUTZ

Department of Veterinary Physiology, University of Zurich School of Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

Tufan KUTLU

Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Istanbul University Cerrahpasa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ufuk ÇAKATAY

Department of Biochemistry, Istanbul University Cerrahpasa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ülkan KILIÇ

Department of Medical Biology, Medipol University School of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Yener YÖRÜK

Department of Thoracic Surgery, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey



AIMS AND SCOPE

Bezmialem Science is an independent, unbiased, international online journal that publishes articles in all branches of medicine in accordance with the double-blind peer-review process. The print version of the journal is not available and it is only accessible at www.bezmialemscience.org. The manuscripts published on this web page can be read free of charge and files can be downloaded in PDF format. Four issues are released per year, in January, April, July and October. Publication language is Turkish and English.

Bezmialem Science indexed in Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, EBSCO, Cinahl, CiteFactor, TürkMedline, Türk Atıf Dizini, İdealOnline, ROOT INDEXING, J-Gate, EuroPub, DOAJ, Hinari, GOALI, ARDI, OARE, AGORA, ProQuest, CABI.

The target population of this journal includes medical academicians, specialists, assistants, and medical students. The aim of the journal is to publish high-ranking original researches in basic and clinical sciences, reviews covering contemporary literature about medical education and practice, reports of rare cases, and manuscripts that would contribute to continuous medical education.

Management of the editorial processes and pursued ethical policies are in accordance with the criteria of International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), Council of Science Editors (CSE), European Association of Science Editors (EASE) and Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on the rules of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www. budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to peerreviewed research literature, we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

All manuscripts should be submitted over the web page at www. bezmialemscience.org. Instructions for authors, technical issues, and other necessary forms can be accessed over this web page. Authors are responsible for all content of the manuscripts.

All expenses of the Bezmialem Science are covered by Bezmialem Vakif University. Advertisements are welcomed for publication on the web page and all applications in this respect should be made to Galenos.

Bezmialem Vakif University owns the royalty and national and international copyright of all content published in the journal. Other than providing reference to scientific material, permission should be obtained from Bezmialem Vakif University for electronic submission, printing, distribution, any kind of reproduction and reutilization of the materials in electronic format or as printed media.



Editor: Prof. Dr. Adem AKÇAKAYA

Address: Bezmialem Vakıf Üniversitesi, Adnan Menderes Bulvarı, Vatan Caddesi 34093 Fatih, Istanbul, Türkiye

Phone: +90 (212) 453 17 00 Fax: +90 (212) 533 68 55 E-mail: info@bezmialemscience.org

Publishing House: GALENOS YAYINEVİ

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 Fındıkzade, İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27

E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr



INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

The journal Bezmialem Science is an international periodical published in electronic format in accordance with the principles of independent, unbiased, and double-blinded peer-review. Four issues are published per year, in January, April, July and October.

The print version of the journal is not available and it is only accessible at www.bezmialemscience.org. The manuscripts on this web page are accessible free of charge and full text PDF files can be downloaded.

Authors should submit manuscripts only to the web page at www. bezmialemscience.org. Manuscripts sent by other means will not be evaluated. Full text of the manuscripts may be in Turkish or in English.

The title, abstract and Keywords in every manuscript should be written both in Turkish and English. However, manuscripts submitted by foreign authors outside of Turkey do not necessarily include Turkish title, abstract and keywords.

Preliminary conditions for the approval of the manuscripts include being original, having a high scientific value and having high citation potential.

Submitted manuscripts should not have been presented or published elsewhere in electronic or printed format. A statement should be included for previous submission to and rejection by another journal. Relaying previous reviewer evaluation reports would accelerate the evaluation process. Name, date and place of the event must be specified if the study has been previously presented at a meeting.

The authors transfer all copyrights of the manuscript relevant to the national and international regulations to the journal as of evaluation process. Copyright Transfer Form signed by all authors should be submitted to the journal while uploading the manuscript through submission system. All financial liability and legal responsibility associated with the copyright of the contained text, table, figure, picture, and all other sorts of content protected by national and international laws belong to the author.

Author Contribution Form should be completed by the corresponding author in order to protect authors' rights and avoid ghost and honorary authorship issues.

All kinds of aids and support received from persons and institutions should be declared and ICMJE Uniform Disclosure Form for Potential Conflicts of Interest should be completed to clarify conflicts of interest issues.

The format of the manuscripts must conform to the journals instructions and to the standards of ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2016 -http://www. icmje.org/icmje-recommendations.pdf) and the presentation of the content must be in accordance with appropriate international guidelines. CONSORT should be used for the reporting of randomized trials, STROBE for observational studies, STARD for diagnostic studies, PRISMA for systematic reviews and meta-analyses, ARRIVE for animal studies, Care for case reports and TREND for non-randomized behavior and public health intervention studies.

Ethics committee report prepared in accordance with "WMA Declaration of Helsinki-Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects" and "Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals" is required for experimental and clinical studies, drug investigations and some case reports. The authors may be asked to submit ethics committee report or a substitute official report, if deemed necessary. In papers reporting the results of experimental studies, after explaining in detail all procedures that the volunteer subjects and patients underwent, a statement should be included in the text indicating that all subjects provided consent for the study. In animal studies, it should be clearly specified how the pain or discomfort has been relieved. Informed consents, name of the ethics committee, issue number and date of the approval document should be written in the Methods section of the main document.

All manuscripts are subject to preliminary evaluation by the Editors. The manuscripts are reviewed for possible plagiarism, replication and duplicated publication during this process. Our journal will impose sanctions in accordance with the guidelines of Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) in conditions where such non-ethical issues may arise. Subsequently, manuscripts are forwarded to at least 2 independent referees for double-blinded peer-review. The reviewers are selected among independent experts with international publications and citations on the subject of the manuscript. Research articles, systematic reviews and meta-analyses are also evaluated by a statistician. Authors are deemed to have accepted that required revisions are to be made by the Editors provided that this will not make a comprehensive change in the original document.

Upon approval of the manuscript for publication, requests of addition to or removal from the author list or order change will not be accepted.

The manuscripts should be prepared with Microsoft Office Word and should comply with the following specifications.

Title Page

For each type of manuscript, title page should be uploaded through online submission system as a separate Microsoft Word document that includes Turkish and English title of the manuscript, names of the authors and latest academic degrees, name of the department and institution, city, and country. If the study has been conducted in more than one center, affiliation of each author must be specified using symbols. Correspondence address should include name of the corresponding author, postal address, e-mail address, phone and fax numbers. Name, date and place of



INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

the meeting must be specified if the study has been presented in a previous meeting. Disclosure of Conflict of Interest, Disclosure of Institutional and Financial Support, Author Contribution and Acknowledgments should be included in this page.

Original Research: Abstract should be written in Turkish and English, and be structured with Objective, Methods, Results and Conclusion sections. Abstract should not exceed 250 words. Keywords must conform to Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms prepared by National Library of Medicine (NLM) and contain minimum 3 and maximum 6 items; keywords should be written in Turkish and English just below the abstract. Main text should contain Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, Limitations of the Study, Conclusion, References, Tables, Figures and Images, and should be limited to 5000 words excluding references. References not exceeding 50 would be acceptable.

Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with the international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals.Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Statistical analyses should be written as a subheading under the Methods section and statistical software must certainly be specified. Data must be expressed as mean±standard deviation when parametric tests are used to compare continuous variables. Data must be expressed as median (minimum-maximum) and percentiles (25th and 75th percentiles) when nonparametric tests are used. In advanced and complicated statistical analyses, relative risk (RR), odds ratio (OR) and hazard ratio (HR) must be supported by confidence intervals (CI) and p values.

Editorial Comments: Editorial comments aim at providing brief critical commentary by the reviewers having expertise or with high reputation on the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal. Abstract, Keywords, Tables, Figures, Images and other media are not included. Main text should not include subheadings and be limited to maximum 1500 words; references should be limited to 15.

Review: Reviews which are prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into high volume of publication and higher citation potential are taken under review. The authors may be invited by the journal. Reviews should be describing, discussing and evaluating the current level of knowledge or topic used in the clinical practice and should guide future studies. The manuscript contains unstructured abstract not exceeding 250 words. The manuscript should include minimum 3 and maximum 6 keywords which conform to Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms prepared by National Library of Medicine (NLM). Main text should contain Introduction, Clinical and Research Consequences and Conclusion sections. Main text should not exceed 5000 words and the references should be limited to 50.

The originality of the visual media contained in the reviews should be confirmed by submitting a letter to the journal. The original versions of the printed or electronic copies of the images adapted from a published source should be cited properly and the written permission obtained from the copyright holder (publisher, journal or authors) should be forwarded to the journal.

Case Report: There is limited space for case reports in the journal and reports on rare cases or conditions that constitute challenges in the diagnosis and treatment, those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the books, and interesting and educative case reports are accepted for publication. The abstract should be unstructured and should not exceed 250 words. The manuscript should include minimum 3 and maximum 6 keywords which conform to Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms prepared by National Library of Medicine (NLM). The text should include Introduction, Case Report, Discussion, Conclusion, References, Tables, Figures and Images sections, and should be limited to 700 words. References should be limited to 10.

Letter to the Editor: Includes manuscripts discussing important parts, overlooked aspects or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on the subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases can also be submitted in the form of "Letter to the Editor". Readers can also present their comments on the published manuscripts in the form of "Letter to the Editor". Abstract, Keywords, Tables, Figures, Images and other media are not included. The text should be unstructured and should not exceed 500 words; references are limited to 5. Volume, year, issue, page numbers, and title of the manuscript being commented on, as well as the name of the authors should be clearly specified, should be listed in the references and cited within the text.

Images in Clinical Practices: Our journal accepts original high quality images related to the cases which we have come across in clinical practices, that cites the importance or infrequency of the topic, makes the visual quality stand out and present important information that should be shared in academic platforms. Titles of the images should not exceed 10 words and should be provided both in English and Turkish. Images can be signed by no more than 3 authors. Figure legends are limited to 200 words and the number of figures are limited to 3. Video submissions will not be considered.

Special Considerations

Names of the corresponding author and other authors, affiliations, and other information on the study centers should not be included in any part of the manuscript or images in order to allow double-blinded peer-review. Such information should be uploaded to the relevant section of the online submission system and separately added to the title page.



INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

All tables, figures, graphs and other visual media must be numbered in order of citation within the text and must not disclose the names of the patients, doctors or institutions. Tables must be prepared in a Microsoft Office Word document using "Insert Table" command and be placed at the end of the references section in the main document. Tables should not be submitted in JPEG, TIFF or other visual formats. In microscopic images, magnification and staining techniques must be specified in addition to figure captions. All images should be in high resolution with minimum 300 dpi. Lines in the graphs must be in adequate thickness. Therefore, loss of details would be minimal if reduction is needed during press. Width must be 9 cm or 18 cm. It would be more appropriate if the drawings are prepared by the professionals. Gray color should be avoided. Abbreviations must be explained in alphabetical order at the bottom. Roman numerals should be avoided while numbering the Tables and Figures, or while citing the tables in the text. Decimal points in the text, tables and figures should be separated by comma in Turkish sections and by dots in English sections. Particularly, tables should be explanatory for the text and should not duplicate the data aiven in the text.

Pharmaceuticals should be specified with their generic names, and medical products and devices should be identified with brand name and company name, city and country.

References

References should be numbered in the order they are cited. Only published data or manuscripts accepted for publication and recent data should be included. Inaccessible data sources and those not indexed in any database should be omitted. Titles of journals should be abbreviated in accordance with Index Medicus-NLM Style (Patrias K. Citing medicine: the NLM style guide for authors, editors, and publishers [Internet]. 2nd ed. Wendling DL, technical editor. Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US); 2007 - [updated 2011 Sep 15; cited Year Month Day] (http:// www.nlm.nih.gov/citingmedicine). All authors should be listed if an article has six or less authors; if an article has more than six authors, first six authors are listed and the rest is represented by "ve ark." in Turkish articles and by "et al." in English articles. Reference format and punctuation should be as in the following examples.

Journal: Muller C, Buttner HJ, Peterson J, Roskomun H. A randomized comparison of clopidogrel and aspirin versus ticlopidine and aspirin after placement of coronary artery stents. Circulation 2000; 101: 590-3.

Book Section: Sherry S. Detection of thrombi. In: Strauss HE, Pitt B, James AE, editors. Cardiovascular Medicine.St Louis: Mosby; 1974.p.273-85.

Books with Single Author: Cohn PF. Silent myocardial ischemia and infarction. 3rd ed. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1993.

Editor(s) as author: Norman IJ, Redfern SJ, editors. Mental health care for elderly people. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1996.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992.p.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Smith P. Golladay K. Payment for durable medical equipment billed during skilled nursing facility stays. Final report. Dallas (TX) Dept. of Health and Human Services (US). Office of Evaluation and Inspections: 1994 Oct. Report No: HHSIGOE 169200860.

Thesis: Kaplan SI. Post-hospital home health care: the elderly access and utilization (dissertation). St. Louis (MO): Washington Univ. 1995.

Manuscripts accepted for publication, not published yet: Leshner AI. Molecular mechanisms of cocaine addiction. N Engl J Med In press 1997.

Epub ahead of print Articles: Aksu HU, Ertürk M, Gül M, Uslu N. Successful treatment of a patient with pulmonary embolism and biatrial thrombus. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg 2012 Dec 26. doi: 10.5152/akd.2013.062. [Epub ahead of print]

Manuscripts published in electronic format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidodlElD/cid.htm.

The latest status of the submitted manuscripts and other information about the journal can be accessed at www. bezmialemscience.org. Furthermore, contact details of the Editorial Office and Publisher are provided below for correspondence with the journal in every respect.

Editor: Prof. Dr. Adem AKÇAKAYA

Address : Bezmialem Vakıf Üniversitesi, Adnan Menderes Bulvarı, Vatan Caddesi 34093 Fatih, Istanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 453 17 00 Fax: +90 (212) 533 68 55

E-mail: info@bezmialemscience.org

Publishing House: GALENOS YAYINEVİ

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 Fındıkzade, İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr



CONTENTS

/hich Patient with Reflux Should Undergo Surgery?
rof. Dr. Adem AKÇAKAYA; İstanbul, Turkey
)riginal Articles
Novel High-performance Liquid Chromatography Method with Fluorescence Detection for the Quantification of Roflumilast in Tablet Formulations Ivi MEHDİZADE, Pelin KÖSEOĞLU YILMAZ; İstanbul, Türkiye
valuation the Early Effects of Compression Stockings on Patient Satisfaction in Acute Proximal Deer ein Thrombosis
emal KOCAASLAN, Mehmet Şenel BADEMCİ, Ahmet ÖZTEKİN, Emine Şeyma DENLİ YALVAÇ, Fatih BAYRAKTAR, Ebuzer AYDIN, tanbul, Muş, Türkiye
igh-performance Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Nebivolol and Amlodipine and Some Related ompounds in Synthetic Mixture
em ÖNAL, Kadir ALUÇ, Çiğdem ALUÇ, Armağan ÖNAL; İstanbul, Turkey
<mark>erceived Sources and Levels of Stress Among Turkish Dental Students: A Multi-centre Study 270</mark> Iustafa DEMİRCİ, Neslihan TEKÇE, Nevin ÇOBANOĞLU, Safa TUNCER, Osman ÜNLÜ, Soner ŞİŞMANOĞLU, Canan BAYDEMİR; tanbul, Kocaeli, Konya, Türkiye
ross-cultural Adaptation, Reliability and validity of the Turkish Version of the Work Limitation Questionnaire-Short Form
amazan ŞAHİN, Seçil ÖZKAN, Mustafa Necmi İLHAN; Ankara, Turkey
ffect of Stapler Booster on Post-operative Air Leakage in the Surgical Treatment of Bullous Lung visease
emal KOCAASLAN, Ayten GUNER AKBIYIK, Omer Giray INTEPE, Tamer OKAY; Istanbul, Kırklareli, Turkey
eneration of Bone Tissue Using Adipose Tissue-derived Stem Cells
:hem GÜNEREN, Emre Gönenç BAYGÖL, Mehmet Veli KARAALTIN, Halil İbrahim CANTER, Kahraman ÖZTÜRK, Ercüment OVALI, Iustafa Avkut ÖZPUR. Kemalettin YILDIZ. Fatma EYÜBOĞLU: İstanbul. Turkev

Uğur TOPAL, Erdoğan Mütevelli SÖZÜER, Türkmen Bahadır ARIKAN, Mustafa GÖK, Gamze Kübra BOZKURT; Kayseri, Turkey



CONTENTS

An Assessment of the Comfort Level of Cancer Patients with Receiving Chemotheraphy Aysun CAN, Sevilay HINTISTAN; Trabzon, Turkey
Needlestick and Sharps Injuries Among Operating Room Nurses, Reasons and Precautions Mahmut DAĞCI, Yazile YAZICI SAYIN; İstanbul, Turkey
Determining the Relationship between Perceived Social Support Levels and Chemotherapy Symptoms in Women with Gynaecological Cancer Sakine YILMAZ, Gülşen VURAL; Çankırı, Turkey, Lefkoşa, KKTC
The Effect of Different Nutrition Education Approaches on Children's Nutritional Status Burcu ATEŞ ÖZCAN, Aydan ERCAN; İstanbul, Edirne, Turkey
Effect of Thermocycle and Bonding Agents on the Bond Strength of Titanium-resin Cements Gülsüm SAYIN ÖZEL, Ceyda AKIN, Bebek Serra OĞUZ AHMET; İstanbul, Konya, Turkey
Optimisation of Centrifugal Speed for PRPBAG®: A Novel Multiple Bag System for Preparing Platelet- Rich Plasma Güven ÇETİN, Nang Hseng KYIO, Seda TURGUT, Tuba ÖZKAN; İstanbul, Turkey
Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scales 42 (DASS-42) in Dari-Language: Validity and Reliability Study in Adults, Herat, Afghanistan
Case Report
Secondary Involvement of the Penis by Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Gizem TİMOÇİN YIĞMAN, Abdusselim Adil PEKER, Rasul SHARİFOV, Hüseyin TOPRAK; İstanbul, Turkey
A Coin Trapped in Meckel's Diverticulum Levent CANKORKMAZ; Sivas, Turkey
Review
The Golgi Apparatus with the Historical Point of View Mukaddes EŞREFOĞLU; İstanbul, Turkey
Food Allergy in Children Ayşe GÜNEŞ BAYIR, Büşra CAN, Şeyma EKİNGEN; İstanbul, Turkey



EDITORIAL

Dear readers,

We are happy to welcome you again in a new issue. With the summer, the relief seen all over the world and the slowdown of the pandemic provided some relief in our country. Even though we did not start our face-to-face meetings fully and our masks were still on, even the feeling of getting closer to normal was good for all of us. The efforts of our Ministry of Health in the supply of the last vaccine have relieved us and we hope that towards the autumn most of our citizens will be vaccinated and we will spend this winter more comfortably. I would like to express my gratitude once again to all our editors, referees and you, our esteemed authors, for the accepted articles and published issues and the point our journal has reached.

We experience the difficulties and advantages of publishing a multi-disciplinary journal together. While the difficult part is to create a balanced issue and to make the branch distribution balanced, I can state that the advantage is the arrival of a large number of articles. We know that every article requires a lot of effort, but we are suffering from not being able to accommodate all articles, and we expect you to understand that our rejection rate is high.

I would like to share with you two developments that make us happy. In addition to our entry into new indexes, we are happy that our citation rates have increased recently. We look forward to your support in this regard.

In this issue, we present many good articles to you. Our eye-catching articles are as follows: "Generation of Bone Tissue Using Adipose Tissuederived Stem Cells" by Güneren et al., "A Novel High-performance Liquid Chromatography Method with Fluorescence Detection for the Quantification of Roflumilast in Tablet Formulations" by Mehdizade et al., "Evaluation the Early Effects of Compression Stockings on Patient Satisfaction in Acute Proximal Deep Vein Thrombosis" by Kocaaslan et al., "High-performance Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Nebivolol and Amlodipine and Some Related Compounds in Synthetic Mixture" by Önal et al., and "Perceived Sources and Levels of Stress Among Turkish Dental Students: A Multi-centre Study" by Demirci et al.

We also chose the cover art of this issue from the study of Güneren E. et al. which was titled "Generation of Bone Tissue Using Adipose Tissuederived Stem Cells". The subject of "tissue engineering", which is one of the important preoccupations of today's medicine, is actually one of the important health fields of the future. This will not only be the pinnacle of humanity's developments in the field of health, but will also attract attention in the future as a commercial investment with great potential of economic return. I present to the attention of our readers this study with the theme of the effect of own adipose tissue-derived stem cells on bone tissue healing, carried out by a team at Bezmialem Vakıf University in our Experimental Research Department.

Dear Readers,

Science is an endless ocean and we scientists are like fishermen navigating this ocean. The contributions of each of you will be instrumental in the discovery of new horizons in this ocean. While we are happy to see great progress in the scientific field in our country, it is important that our work is in university-industry cooperation areas that contribute to daily life and create added value. For this reason, I would like to emphasize once again that your experimental and clinical studies, which we believe will create added value, are a priority for us.

See you in our next issue with a richer content, everything you get your heart desires.

Best regards,

Prof. Dr. Adem AKÇAKAYA Editor-in-chief



Which Patient with Reflux Should Undergo Surgery?

Hangi Reflü Hastası Ameliyat Olmalı?

Adem AKÇAKAYA

Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey

Dear Readers,

In this article, I will talk about reflux disease, its symptoms, diagnosis, treatment methods and which patients should be treated with surgery.

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is a common disease in developed and developing societies (1,2). Reflux disease is the reflux of acidic stomach contents into the esophagus. Sometimes, stomach contents may contain pepsin, pancreatic enzymes, bile and foods in addition to acid. This backflow irritates the lining of the esophagus. Most people may experience physiological acid reflux from time to time (2). It is reported that the incidence of reflux in the world is around 20%. In our country, it has been determined that it is slightly more than 25%, although it varies according to the regions. This means that one out of four people has reflux.

Gastroesophageal reflux disease is an important disease that causes significant physical and psychological problems with the disturbing symptoms it causes, and surgical treatment is frequently used in addition to medical treatment in its treatment (3,4). Although symptom control is achieved in a large patient group with the appropriate use of medical treatment, symptom control is not possible at a rate of 30-40% with a significant decrease in quality of life despite medical treatment (5). Although medical treatment is effective in controlling heartburn, it may be insufficient to control regurgitation and respiratory symptoms, especially in patients with GERD accompanied by hiatal hernia. In addition, chronic complications of GERD such as stricture and Barrett's esophagus despite medical treatment, as well as the risk of developing adenocarcinoma on the basis of Barrett's esophagus contribute to the uncertainty in the treatment of the disease. Although the effectiveness of medical treatment for GERD is known, the side effects of drugs, the cost of long-term drug use and its negative effects on the patient, the decrease in the quality of life of the patients, and the surgical treatment option come to the fore especially in patients in whom drugs fail in symptom control or symptoms recur (3).

Heartburn and regurgitation are the two most important symptoms of GERD, either alone or together. Although these two typical symptoms are seen in almost all patients, it should be kept in mind that irritable bowel syndrome, functional dyspepsia, esophageal hypersensitivity and other somatoform disorders may cause reflux-like complaints. It is known that atypical symptoms such as nausea, belching, slow digestion, early satiety, epigastric pain, bloating, vomiting, precordial catch syndrome, cough, wheezing, chronic rhinosinusitis, hoarseness and hoarse voice are among the complaints of these patients.

The diagnosis can be made based on the anamnesis and findings. However, it is of great importance to make the differential diagnosis of other diseases in this region before the operation. To diagnose and determine the severity of the disease; gastroscopy, pH measurement, contrast radiographs, and manometric studies are performed. The two most important diagnostic tests to confirm the diagnosis of GERD are endoscopy and pH and esophageal impedance monitoring. Manometer is used in the evaluation of disorders such as achalasia and ineffective esophageal motility before surgical treatment rather than diagnosis. In patients with large hiatal hernia, barium examinations are helpful in revealing the anatomy and detecting the short esophagus. It is stated that choosing the appropriate patient and the most appropriate technique with the help of the obtained data, as well as ensuring

Address for Correspondence: Adem AKÇAKAYA, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: drakcakaya@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3116-7033 Received: 14.06.2021 Accepted: 15.06.2021

Cite this article as: Akçakaya A. Which Patient with Reflux Should Undergo Surgery?. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):250-2.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. that the surgery to be performed by an experienced surgeon are important for the success of the treatment (3).

Reflux can usually be controlled with lifestyle changes, nutritional support, phytotherapy and supplements. But some people need stronger medications or surgery to relieve symptoms. The aim of treatment in reflux disease is to control the complaints, heal the damage in the esophagus and prevent complications. The course of the disease is variable in each patient and requires a different approach. It is of great importance to decide which patient will be treated with medication, diet and other methods and which patient will be operated on.

In the first stage of reflux treatment; diet regulation, drugs that suppress stomach acid and changes in lifestyle are tried. Raising the head of the bed by 15 cm, sleeping on the left side at night, reducing food consumption that may cause reflux, not eating until at least 3 hours before bedtime, losing excess weight, not wearing tight clothes, reducing smoking, coffee and alcohol consumption are the changes that can be made in lifestyle.

In recent years, some endoscopic treatment methods have been used to strengthen the lower esophageal sphincter in the treatment of reflux. Endoscopic gastroplasty (EndoCinch) and radiofrequency energy application (Stretta method) can be counted among these. Although some centers apply these methods quite successfully, they are not yet included in routine practice.

Before deciding on surgical treatment in a patient with reflux, it is necessary to clearly determine whether the patient needs longterm reflux treatment. Surgical treatment is a method used in approximately 10% of patients with reflux.

Laparoscopic antireflux surgery is recommended for patients with a persistent decrease in quality of life and persistent bothersome symptoms, especially if the disease progresses or symptoms cannot be controlled despite proton pump inhibitor therapy. It is stated that surgical treatment may be preferred more if the following criteria are met: (1,3)

- Typical symptoms of GERD
- Demonstrating the relationship between symptom and reflux
- History longer than one year
- Decreased quality of life
- Response to proton pump inhibitor therapy
- Increasing the proton pump inhibitor treatment dose
- Hiatal hernia
- Presence of esophagitis endoscopically before treatment
- Demonstration of lower esophageal sphincter insufficiency
- Demonstrating acid reflux

In anti-reflux surgery, the valve system where the esophagus meets the stomach is strengthened. The functional antireflux

barrier to be created during surgical treatment has 3 important components: Adequate length of the intra-abdominal esophagus, repair of the crura, and fundoplication. In this method, which is called fundoplication in the medical literature, the stomach is wrapped around the esophagus. This wrap can be applied at 180 (Dorr), 270 (Toupet) or 360 (Nissen) degrees.

Although a limited number of randomized controlled studies have shown that partial fundoplication causes less short-term side effects, long-term results are still lacking (6). Therefore, an experienced surgeon working in a high-volume center should decide on his/her own experience and conclusions whether the procedure to be performed will be total or partial fundoplication.

In the Japanese guideline, laparoscopic Toupet fundoplication is recommended as the standard surgical technique for GERD (7). Most frequently, publications compare laparoscopic Nissen fundoplication with posterior partial Toupet hemifundoplication. Their superiority over each other is defined differently in different publications. Therefore, it is an appropriate approach to decide which type of surgery will be used according to the experience and results of the surgeon.

Nissen fundoplication surgery, in which 360-degree wrap is performed in most centers, is considered the gold standard and is the most preferred method. In the meantime, if there is a stomach hernia, this is also repaired. If I don't have any doubts about motility disorder in my patients, I mostly use this method as floopy style.

Total fundoplication surgery was first performed by Rudolp Nissen in 1956. Today, it is widely performed both laparoscopically and floopy style. In the published guidelines, it is especially emphasized that standard procedure steps are necessary for a successful surgery (3).

It is possible to summarize the basic surgical procedures for laparoscopic Nissen fundoplication in line with the consensus of experienced surgeons: (1,7)

1) Opening of the phrenoesophageal ligament from left to right

- 2) Preservation of the hepatic branch of the anterior vagus,
- 3) Dissection of both crura
- 4) Intraabdominal mobilization of the esophagus at least 3 cm
- 5) Ligation of short gastric vessels for a tension-free wrapping

6) Closing the opening between the crura with non-absorbable sutures from the posterior

7) Forming a 1.5-2 cm wrap, passing the most distal suture through the anterior muscle layer of the esophagus at this stage

8) The use of spark plugs in the wrapping phase (This is not required for every patient, there are opinions that it should not be used)

After the surgery, the patient is discharged within a few days. There may be temporary swallowing difficulties that can last for several months. Persistent, recurrent or newly developing symptoms after surgical treatment are defined as failure. Primary anti-reflux surgery has an average of 85-90% successful results over five years. Repeat anti-reflux surgery is required in approximately 3-6% of patients. In case of failure, heartburn and regurgitation are the most common symptoms. Dysphagia is the second most common symptom.

As a result; surgery has an important place in the treatment of GERD. Surgical treatment provides sufficient improvement in the majority of patients in the early period. The minimally invasive approach has led to the widespread use of laparoscopic fundoplication surgery. Despite the recent experience, it is still necessary to be meticulous in patient selection, deciding surgery and, making decision of which method to apply. This will directly affect the success of the treatment. It should not be forgotten that it is necessary to communicate with experienced centers and specialist physicians.

References

 Hasbahcecı M, Akçakaya A, ^o Gastroözofageal Reflü, Hiatal Herni ve Barrett Özofagusda Cerrahi Rehberlerin Değerlendirilmesi^o Türkiye Klinikleri Genel Cerrahi Özel Dergisi 2017;10:169-80.

- Fuchs KH, Babic B, Breithaupt W, Dallemagne B, Fingerhut A, Furnee E, et al. EAES recom mendations for the management of gastroe sophageal reflux disease. Surg Endosc 2014;28:1753-73.
- Akçakaya A, Hasbahcecı M, '' Gastroözofageal Reflüde Cerrahi Tedavi'' Türkiye Klinikleri Genel Cerrahi Özel Dergisi 2017;10:1849.
- Worrell SG, Greene CL, DeMeester TR. The state of surgical treatment of gastroe sophageal reflux disease after five decades. J Am Coll Surg 2014;219:819-30.
- Tatarian T, Pucci MJ, Palazzo F. A Modern approach to the surgical treatment of gastroe sophageal reflux disease. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2016;26:174-9.
- Moraes-Filho JP, Navarro-Rodriguez T, Bar buti R, Eisig J, Chinzon D, Bernardo W; Brazil ian Gerd Consensus Group. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of gastroe sophageal reflux disease: an evidence-based consensus. Arq Gastroenterol 2010;47:99-115.
- Iwakiri K, Kinoshita Y, Habu Y, Oshima T, Manabe N, Fujiwara Y, et al. Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for gastroesopha geal reflux disease 2015. J Gastroenterol 2016;51:751-67.

Original Article



A Novel High-performance Liquid Chromatography Method with Fluorescence Detection for the Quantification of Roflumilast in Tablet Formulations

Roflumilastın Tablet Formülasyonlarda Miktar Tayini için Yeni Bir Floresans Dedeksiyonlu Yüksek Performanslı Sıvı Kromatografisi Yöntemi

[▶] Ulvi MEHDİZADE, [▶] Pelin KÖSEOĞLU YILMAZ

İstanbul Üniversitesi Eczacılık Fakültesi, Analitik Kimya Anabilim Dalı, İstanbul, Türkiye

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aims to develop and validate a novel highperformance liquid chromatography method with fluorescence detection for quantifying roflumilast in tablet formulations.

Methods: Separations were achieved by a C18 analytical column (250x4.6 mm, 5 μ m) at 40 °C. Isocratic elution accompanied by a mobile phase comprising 20% aqueous o-phosphoric acid solution (0.08%) and 80% methanol was applied. The excitation and the emission wavelengths were 290 and 380 nm, respectively.

Results: The linear range was 1.25-10.00 μ g/mL. Irbesartan was used as the internal standard. The limits of detection and quantification were 0.07 μ g/mL and 0.22 μ g/mL, respectively. The precision and accuracy of the method was determined at the concentrations of 1.25, 5.00 and 10.00 μ g/mL. The recovery percentage was calculated by the tablet solutions spiked at low, middle and high concentrations. The robustness of the method was tested in terms of flow rate, mobile phase composition and column temperature.

Conclusion: The proposed method was successfully applied for determining roflumilast in tablet formulations with a high precision and accuracy.

Keywords: Fluorescence, HPLC, method development, roflumilast, validation

ÖΖ

Amaç: Bu çalışmada roflumilastın tablet formülasyonlarda miktar tayini için yeni bir floresans dedektörlü yüksek performanslı sıvı kromatografisi yönteminin geliştirilmesi amaçlandı.

Yöntemler: Ayırma işlemleri 40 °C'de bir C18 analitik kolon (250x4,6 mm, 5 µm) ile gerçekleştirildi. Mobil faz olarak %20 sulu o-fosforik asit çözeltisi (%0,08) ve %80 metanol içeren bir sistem kullanıldı ve izokratik elüsyon uygulandı. Eksitasyon ve emisyon dalga boyları sırasıyla 290 ve 380 nm olarak belirlendi.

Bulgular: Doğrusal aralık 1,25-10,00 µg/mL olarak tespit edildi. İç standart olarak irbesartan kullanıldı. Gözlenebilme ve tayin sınırları sırası ile 0,07 µg/mL ve 0,22 µg/mL idi. Yöntemin kesinlik ve doğruluğu 1,25, 5,00 ve 10,00 µg/mL konsantrasyonlarındaki standart çözeltiler ile belirlendi. Yüzde geri kazanım düşük, orta ve yüksek konsantrasyonlarda standart eklenen tablet çözeltilerinin analiz sonuçları ile hesaplandı. Yöntemin sağlamlığı akış hızı, mobil faz bileşimi ve kolon sıcaklığı parametreleri ile incelendi.

Sonuç: Önerilen metot roflumilastın tablet formülasyonlarda yüksek kesinlik ve doğruluk ile tayini için başarılı bir şekilde uygulandı.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Floresans, HPLC, metot geliştirme, roflumilast, validasyon

Address for Correspondence: Pelin KÖSEOĞLU YILMAZ, İstanbul Üniversitesi Eczacılık Fakültesi, Analitik Kimya Anabilim Dalı, İstanbul, Türkiye

E-mail: pelink@istanbul.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9871-1710

Cite this article as: Mehdizade U, Köseoğlu Yılmaz P. A Novel High-performance Liquid Chromatography Method with Fluorescence Detection for the Quantification of Roflumilast in Tablet Formulations. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(2):253-8.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 21.03.2020 Accepted: 24.04.2020

Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a health issue causing chronic airflow obstruction that is not fully reversible (1,2). Its risk factors include deficiency of alpha-1 antitrypsin, cigarette smoking, occupational chemical exposure and air pollution with cigarette smoking being the most common one. Pharmacological treatments are successful in reducing symptoms and exacerbations while improving the health status and increasing the exercise tolerance (3).

Roflumilast (RFL) (3-(cyclopropylmethoxy)-N-(3,5-dichloro-4pyridyl)-4-(difluoromethoxy) benzamide) (Figure 1) is currently an approved selective phosphodiesterase-4 (PDE-4) inhibitor for treating COPD. RFL is available in 500 µg tablets, and the recommended dose is 1 tablet/day. The absolute bioavailability of RFL is 79% following oral administration (4). It is then metabolized by cytochrome p450 (CYP) 3A4 and 1A2 isozymes to its active metabolite-RFL N-oxide (5). Daxas[®], with the active pharmaceutical ingredient of RFL, was approved in the European Union in June 2010. It further received Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) approval in the USA in March 2011 (6).

RFL is not an official drug in the British Pharmacopoeia, European Pharmacopoeia and United States Pharmacopoeia yet and has no official monograph (7,8). In contrast, several studies have described the analytical methods for quantifying RFL in pharmaceutical forms in the presence or absence of degradation products (DP). High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) is one of the commonly used techniques to achieve this purpose. A previous study developed and validated a reverse phase (RP)-HPLC method with ultraviolet (UV) detection for determining RFL in formulations (6). Belal et al. (7) developed a stability-indicating HPLC method with a diode-array detector (DAD) for determining RFL and achieved the application of the proposed method for analysing the tablet formulation. Pinheiro et al. (8) developed and validated a RP-HPLC method with DAD and corona-charged aerosol detector in line for RFL and its DPs and successfully separated RFL from six DPs. Tan (9) developed and validated an HPLC method for quantifying RFL in the presence of its DPs and related substances to control the drug's



Figure 1. Chemical structure of roflumilast

purity. Also, a validated stability-indicating high-performance thin-layer chromatography method was applied for determining RFL in tablets (10). Besides chromatographic methods, a different research developed and validated a UV-visible spectrophotometric method for the quantitative determination of RFL in tablet formulation (11). Atmaca and Süslü (12) validated a first-order derivative UV spectrophotometric method for determining RFL in pharmaceutical formulations. Also, Güray (13) reported a new and validated capillary electrophoresis method with UV detection to successfully determine RFL in tablets.

HPLC with fluorescence detection (FD) may be an alternative for analysing RFL with a considerably higher selectivity than UV detection. The objective of this study is to develop and validate a sensitive and simple method for determining RFL in tablet formulations by HPLC-FD without a derivatisation reaction. To the best of knowledge, our study could be the first report on the determination of RFL by HPLC-FD.

Methods

Chemicals and Solutions

The standards of RFL and irbesartan (IRB) were kindly provided by Abdi İbrahim Pharmaceuticals (İstanbul, Turkey). The HPLC grade methanol (MeOH) was purchased from Isolab (Eschau, Germany) and o-phosphoric acid was purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). The commercial tablets of DAXAS^{*} containing 500 µg of RFL were analysed.

The stock solutions of RFL and IRB at 100.00 μ g/mL were prepared with HPLC grade MeOH and kept at 4 °C protected from daylight. The standard solutions were prepared daily by the dilution of the stock solutions with the mobile phase to desired concentrations.

For the preparation of the tablet solution, ten DAXAS^{*} tablets were weighed individually and the average weight of tablet was calculated (0.2660 g). Then, the tablets were grounded and an amount of powder equal to the average tablet weight was transferred into a 100 mL volumetric flask. In total, 60 mL of MeOH and 2.50 mL of IRB stock solution were added in the flask and the solution was kept in an ultrasonic bath for 30 minutes. Later, the volume was adjusted to 100 mL with MeOH. The final concentrations of RFL and IRB were 5.00 μ g/mL and 2.50 μ g/mL, respectively. The spiked tablet solutions were prepared by the addition of 1.00, 2.50 and 5.00 mL of the stock RFL solution before fixing the volume to 100 mL.

Appropriate volumes of the stock IRB solution were added to all the solutions for obtaining a final concentration of 2.50 μ g/mL. All the solutions were filtered through a 0.45- μ m filter before injection into the HPLC-FD system.

Instrument and Analytical Conditions

The analyses were performed by a Shimadzu LC20AT HPLC system with FD (RF20A) (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). The separation was achieved using a GL Sciences Inertsil ODS-3

analytical column (C18, 4.6x250 mm, particle size of 5.0 μ m) (GL Sciences Inc., Tokyo, Japan). The data were analysed by the LabSolutions software (version 1.25).

Isocratic elution was applied with a mobile phase system comprising 20% o-phosphoric acid solution (0.08%, pH: 2.3) and 80% methanol. The excitation and the emission wavelengths were 290 and 380 nm, respectively. The flow rate was set to 1.0 mL/min, and the injection volume was 20 μ L. The column temperature was adjusted to 40 °C.

Quantification

RFL was identified by comparing the retention time with the one of its standards. The quantification was performed by the internal standard method using IRB as the internal standard.

Validation

The developed method was validated in terms of linearity, limit of detection (LOD), limit of quantitation (LOQ), precision, accuracy and robustness.

Linearity

The linearity was determined by a seven-point calibration curve for RFL. The calibration curve was plotted as the analyte's peak area/internal standard's peak area versus concentration with the data of triplicate analyses/day performed in three different days. Calibration equation and r² value were calculated using the linear regression analysis based on the least-squares method.

Limits of Detection and Quantitation (LOD and LOQ)

LOD and LOQ were determined as 3.3 and 10 times of the ratio of the standard deviation of the calibration curve to the slope of the calibration curve, respectively.

Precision and Accuracy

Precision was examined as repeatability (intraday) and intermediate precision (interday) with standard solutions at 1.25, 5.00 and 10.00 μ g/mL in terms of relative standard deviation relative standard deviation (RSD%). Repeatability was determined by the data of triplicate injections consecutively in one day. Intermediate precision values were calculated in triplicate analytical runs in three different days. Accuracy was determined as the relative mean error (%) with standard solutions at 1.25, 5.00 and 10.00 μ g/mL in triplicate analyses.

The original (5.00 μ g/mL) and spiked (at 1.00, 2.50 and 5.00 μ g/mL) tablet solutions were analysed in triplicates. RSD (%), RME (%) and recovery (%) values were calculated.

Specificity

An injection of only the mobile phase as the sample was performed to check the specificity of the method.

Robustness

The robustness of the method was checked by considering the parameters of the flow rate, the mobile phase composition and the column temperature. The flow rate was varied ± 0.1 whereas the others were varied ± 1 of the original values and and the RFL concentration of the tablet solution was calculated under these conditions. The results were obtained as RME%.

Results

Selection of HPLC Conditions

Several studies were performed using different types of mobile phase systems comprising mixtures of water, methanol, acetonitrile, o-phosphoric acid and formic acid with various proportions and gradient and isocratic elution. A mobile phase comprising 20% o-phosphoric acid solution (0.08%) and 80% methanol with isocratic elution was selected after considering the system suitability parameters (Table 1). o-Phosphoric acid was incorporated for maintaining the pH of the mobile phase below the pK_a value of RFL (8.74). The excitation and emission wavelengths of RFL in the selected mobile phase were determined by the excitation and emission spectra at 290 and 380 nm, respectively (Figure 2).





Table 1. System suitability parameters*						
Analytet_R (min)Tailing factor (t)Resolution (R_s)Capacity factor (k')Number of theoretical plates (N)Height equivalent of a theoretical plate (HETP)						
IRB	4.359±0.001	1.242±0.014	-	4.812±0.001	3,272±50	45.86±0.70
RFL	5.801±0.002	1.270±0.002	4.075±0.014	6.094±0.051	3,321±12	45.17±0.16
*Values of the standard solution at 5.00 ug/mL of RFL and 2.50 ug/mL of IRB						

*Values of the standard solution at 5.00 μ g/mL of RFL and 2.50 μ g/mL of IRB $t_{\rm g}{}^{\rm o}$ = 1.864±0.009, IRB: Irbesartan, RFL: Roflumilast

Validation

Linearity

A linear relationship was established in the range of 1.25-10.00 µg/mL for RFL by a seven-point calibration curve under the optimised HPLC conditions and the calibration chromatograms were shown in Figure 3. Table 2 presents the regression data of RFL.

Limits of Detection and Quantitation (LOD and LOQ)

LOD and LOQ were calculated as 0.07 and 0.22 µg/mL, respectively, using the data presented in Table 2.



Figure 3. HPLC-FD chromatograms of the calibration standards

HPLC-FD: High-performance liquid chromatography-fluorescence detection

Table 2. Regression analysis results, LOD and LOQ of theproposed method*				
Intercept	-0.2013			
Standard deviation of the intercept	0.0278			
Slope	1.2769			
Standard deviation of the slope	0.0047			
Coefficient of determination (R2)	0.9992			
LOD (µg/mL)	0.07			

*Three replicates/day in three different days, LOD: Limit of detection , LOQ: Limit of quantitation

0.22

Precision and Accuracy

Precision and accuracy were analysed at low, middle and high concentrations with standard solutions. The repeatability and the intermediate precision were calculated in terms of RSD% (Table 3) and were ≤0.96. The accuracy was examined in terms of RME% within a range of -0.58 to 0.84%.

Specificity

An injection of the mobile phase indicated that the interference effect was not present under the optimised experimental conditions (Figure 4).

Robustness

The parameters of the flow rate (±0.1), the mobile phase composition and the column temperature (±1) were varied to check the robustness of the method using the tablet solution. The flow rate values of 0.9 mL/min and 1.1 mL/min; the mobile phase compositions of 0.08% o-phosphoric acid:MeOH as 19:81 and 21:79 (v:v); and the column temperatures of 39 °C and 41 °C were examined (Table 4). The flow rate had the highest impact on the results, and the data were significantly different from the ones obtained by the original HPLC conditions (t-test at p=0.05). The variations in the other analysed parameters exerted insignificant effects according to the statistical analyses (t-test at p=0.05).



Figure 4. HPLC-FD chromatogram of the mobile phase HPLC-FD: High-performance liquid chromatography-fluorescence detection

	Concentration (µg/mL)	Concentration found (µg/mL)*	RSD (%) [¥]	RME (%) [†]	
Intraday (n=3)	1.25	1.25±0.01	0.71	-0.22	
	5.00	5.04±0.02	0.38	0.84	
	10.00	10.06±0.01	0.14	0.61	
Interday (n=3)	1.25	1.24±0.01	0.96	-0.58	
	5.00	5.03±0.02	0.49	0.61	
	10.00	10.05±0.01	0.10	0.54	

Table 3, Repeatability (interday), intermediate precision (intraday) and accuracy of the proposed method

* Mean ± standard deviation, *Relative standard deviation percent, †Relative mean error percent, RSD: Relative standard deviation, RME: Relative mean error

LOQ (µg/mL)

Analysis of the Tablet Formulation

The proposed method was applied for quantifying RFL in the tablet formulation of DAXAS^{\circ} (Figure 5). The original tablet solution and the tablet solutions spiked at 1.00, 2.50 and 5.00 µg/mL were analysed successfully with high precision and accuracy (Table 5). The RSDs were lower than 2%, and the recovery% values were between 99.43 and 101.05%.

Because there was not any official monograph for quantifying RFL, the analyses were performed only by the proposed method.

Discussion

In the proposed work, a new HPLC-FD method was developed and validated for determining RFL in tablets. The validation results were compared with the limitations in the FDA, Reviewer Guidance, Validation of Chromatographic Methods (14). The method provided good system suitability values with t <2, Rs <2, k' > 2 and N > 2000. In the tablet analysis, the precision values in terms of RSD% were lower than 1 (except tablet solution spiked at 2.50 µg/mL, interday precision, 1.14%) with high recoveries. Selected published studies on the determination of RFL in tablet formulations by HPLC in the literature were compared with the proposed method in Table 6 in terms of retention time, LOD and LOQ (7,15). Unlike this work, the LOD and LOQ were calculated using 3.3 and 10 times of the signal-to-noise ratio in these studies (7,15), but the values could give an idea to examine the results obtained by detection of UV and fluorescence. The linear ranges were different from each other. In the proposed

method, it was between 25% and 200% of the concentration of the tablet solution. Barhate and Deosthalee determined the linearity range as 10%-150% of the theoretical test concentration of 150 μ g/mL (15), whereas Belal et al. (7) investigated the linear range without considering the concentration of the tablet solution or the test solution. In all the compared methods, the r² values were higher than 0.999. Also, in those studies, the external standard method was performed for calibration, but an internal standard was used in this study. The proposed method possessed the shortest retention time. The method developed by Belal et al. (7) was a stability-indicating method. Future studies might be



Figure 5. HPLC-FD chromatogram of the tablet solution HPLC-FD: High-performance liquid chromatography-fluorescence detection

Table 4. Robustness of the proposed method*						
Flow rate Composition of mobile phase Column temperature						
0.9 mL/min	1.1 mL/min	o-Phosphoric acid 19%: MeOH 81%	o-Phosphoric acid 21%: MeOH 79%	39 °C	41 °C	
7.23±0.92 -8.38±0.25 -0.73±0.23 -0.76±0.59 -0.64±0.15 -1.19±0.8					-1.19±0.84	
*The studies were performed with the tablet solution and the results were provided in relative mean error % ± standard deviation						

Table 5. Analysis results of the original and spiked tablet solutions							
Sample	Concentration (µg/mL)	Concentration found (µg/mL)*	L)* RSD% Recove				
			Intraday [¥]	Interday*			
Original tablet solution	5.00	5.05±0.01	0.20	0.23	101.05±0.23		
Tablet solution spiked at 1.00 µg/mL	6.00	6.05±0.03	0.09	0.54	100.78±0.55		
Tablet solution spiked at 2.50 µg/mL	7.50	7.50±0.09	0.36	1.14	100.03±1.14		
Tablet solution spiked at 5.00 µg/mL	10.00	9.94±0.03	0.29	0.31	99.43±0.31		
*Results of triplicate analysis/day in three different days, *Results of triplicate analysis in one day							

Table 6. Comparison of the proposed method with sele	ected published HPLC methods for determination RFL
--	--

Method	t _R (min)	LOD (µg/mL)	LOQ (µg/mL)	Reference
HPLC-DAD	6.24±0.005	0.56	1.87	7
HPLC-UV	8.64	0.02	0.065	15
Proposed method	5.801±0.002	0.07	0.22	

HPLC-DAD: High-performance liquid chromatography-diode array detect, HPLC-UV: High-performance liquid chromatography-diode array detect-ultraviolet, RFL: Roflumilast, LOD: Limit of detection, LOQ: Limit of quantitation

performed to investigate the applicability of the proposed HPLC-FD method for indicating the stability of the drug material.

Conclusion

This study developed and validated a novel HPLC-FD method for determining RFL in tablet formulations. The proposed method has the advantages of simplicity, rapidity and suitable sensitivity. Also, the FD increases the selectivity of the method comparing with the studies performed by HPLC-UV or HPLC-DAD. The method was found to be appropriate for the routine analysis of RFL in tablet formulations in terms of reliability and being easy to perform.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval is not required for the study. Analysis was carried out only in tablet formulation.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: P.K.Y., Design: P.K.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: U.M., P.K.Y., Literature Search: U.M., P.K.Y., Writing: P.K.Y.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Jemal A, Ward E, Hao Y, Thun M. Trends in the leading causes of death in the United States, 1970-2002. JAMA 2005;294:1255-9.
- 2. Pinner NA, Hamilton LA, Hughes A. Roflumilast: a phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor for the treatment of severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Clin Ther 2012;34:56-66.
- Rabe KF, Hurd S, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, Buist SA, Calverley P, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;176:532-55.

- Bethke TD, Lahu G. High absolute bioavailability of the new oral phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor roflumilast. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 2011;49:51-7.
- Bethke TD, Böhmer GM, Hermann R, Hauns B, Fux R, Mörike K, et al. Dose-proportional intraindividual single- and repeated-dose pharmacokinetics of roflumilast, an oral, once-daily phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor. J Clin Pharmacol 2007;47:26-36.
- 6. Kuchi R. A novel RP-HPLC method for the quantification of roflumilast informulations. The Experiment 2013;7:388-94.
- Belal TS, Ahmed HM, Mahrous MS, Daabees HG, Baker MM. Validated stability-indicating HPLC-DADmethod for determination of the phosphodiesterase (PDE-4) inhibitor roflumilast. Bull Fac Pharma Cairo Univ 2014;52:79-89.
- 8. Pinheiro MS, Marins RCEE, Cabral LM, Sousa VP. Development and validation of a RP-HPLC method for Roflumilast and its degradation products, J Liq Chromatogr Relat Technol 2018;41:223-31.
- Tan F. Development and validation of stability-indicating HPLC method for roflumilast and related substances. Adv Mat Res 2013;781-4:68-71.
- Suganthi A, Arthi K, Ravi TK. A validated stability-indicating HPTLC method for the determination of roflumilast in tablets and application to accelerated stability studies. Indian J Pharm Sci 2017;79:287-93.
- Ladani JJ, Bhimani RD, Vyas KB, Nimavat KS. Method development and validation of roflumilast in tablet dosage form by UV spectrophotometry. JAMONLINE 2012;2:369-74.
- Atmaca M, Süslü İ. Determination of roflumilast inpharmaceutical formulations by derivativespectrophotometric method. Hacettepe Univ J Fac Pharm 2016;1:27-49.
- 13. Güray T. A new validated method for determination of roflumilast in tablet by CZE-UV. Quim Nova 2019;42:522-6.
- Food and Drug Administration, Reviewer Guidance, Validation of Chromatographic Methods, November: 1994.
- 15. Barhate VD, Deosthalee P. Rapid liquid chromatographic method for the determination of roflumilast in the presence of degradation products. Indian J Pharm Sci 2010;72:401-4.



Evaluation the Early Effects of Compression Stockings on Patient Satisfaction in Acute Proximal Deep Vein Thrombosis Akut Proksimal Derin Ven Trombozlarında Medikal Tedavi ile Kullanılan Kompresyon Çoraplarının Hasta Memnuniyetine Erken Dönem Etkilerinin Değerlendirilmesi

© Cemal KOCAASLAN¹, № Mehmet Şenel BADEMCİ¹, № Ahmet ÖZTEKİN¹, № Emine Şeyma DENLİ YALVAÇ¹, № Fatih BAYRAKTAR², № Ebuzer AYDIN¹

¹İstanbul Medeniyet Üniversitesi Göztepe Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Kalp ve Damar Cerrahi Kliniği, İstanbul, Türkiye ²Muş Devlet Hastanesi, Kalp ve Damar Cerrahi Kliniği, Muş, Türkiye

ABSTRACT

Objective: The effective treatment of acute deep vein thrombosis (DVT) has great importance in the prevention of major complications [pulmonary embolism, postthrombotic syndrome (PTS)]. Compression stockings (CS) can also be used to improve the outcome. The aim of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of CS on PTS prevention in patients with proximal DVT and the effectiveness of the visual analog score (VAS) method to assess patient's satisfaction about pain.

Methods: Between January 2016 and August 2018, 92 patients with proximal acute DVT included in study .They were divided into two groups according to the use of CS. Under knee level and medium pressure computed tomography were used in addition to standard medical treatment. Both groups were followed for 6 months. Baseline, 3rd month, 6th month VAS scores were calculated and also baseline and 6th month visual clinical severity score (VCSS) and Villalta score were calculated.

Results: There was no significant difference between the two groups when VAS scores were compared at baseline and 3^{rd} month follow-up. At the 6^{th} month follow-up, VAS values were significantly lower in favor of Group II, that used CS (p<0.05). No statistically significant difference was found between the basal and 6^{th} month results of Villalta and VCSS scores between the groups.

ÖZ

Amaç: Alt extremite proksimal tutulumlu akut derin ven trombozu (DVT) tedavisinin etkinliği, hastalığın önemli komplikasyonlarının [pulmoner emboli, posttrombotik sendrom (PTS)] önlenebilmesinde büyük önem taşımaktadır. Planlanan (medikal ve/veya girişimsel) tedaviye ilaveten kullanılabilen kompresyon çorapları (KÇ) tedavi sonuçlarını etkileyebilmektedir. Bu çalışmada proximal DVT'li hastalarda KÇ kullanımının PTS gelişimi üzerine etkinliği ile aynı semptomatik tedavide ağrıya yönelik hasta memnuniyetinin vizuel analog skor (VAS) yöntemi ile değerlendirilmesinin etkinliği araştırıldı.

Yöntemler: Çalışmaya Ocak 2016 ile Ağustos 2018 tarihleri arasında akut DVT tanılı 92 hasta dahil edildi. Proksimal tutulumu olan 92 hasta kompresyon kullanımına göre 2 gruba ayrıldı. Dizaltı ve orta basınçlı kompresyon çorabı kullanıldı. Her iki grup standart medikal tedaviye ilaveten 6 ay süre ile takip edildi. Bazal, 3. ay, 6. ay VAS skorları ile bazal ve 6. ay visual clinical severity score (VCSS) ve Villalta skorları hesaplandı.

Bulgular: Hastaların bazal ve 3. ay takiplerindeki VAS değerleri karşılaştırıldığında her iki grup arasında anlamlı bir fark saptanmadı. Altıncı ay takiplerinde ise VAS değerleri KÇ kullanan Grup 2 lehine istatistiksel olarak anlamlı şekilde düşük tesbit edildi

Address for Correspondence: Cemal KOCAASLAN, İstanbul Medeniyet Üniversitesi Göztepe Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Kalp ve Damar Cerrahi Kliniği, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: cemalkocaaslan@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1348-2411

Cite this article as: Kocaaslan C, Bademci MŞ, Öztekin A, Denli Yalvaç EŞ, Bayraktar F, Aydın E. Evaluation the Early Effects of Compression Stockings on Patient Satisfaction in Acute Proximal Deep Vein Thrombosis. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):259-63.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 03.01.2020 Accepted: 18.02.2020 **Conclusion:** CS has no effect on preventing PTS at the patients with proximal acute DVT but has an impact on reducing pain symptoms. VAS is an effective method to evaluate the effect of CS on patient satisfaction about pain.

Keywords: Acute proximal deep vein thrombosis, compression stockings, visual analog scale

(p<0,05). Gruplar arasında Villalta ve VCSS skorlarının bazal ve 6. ay sonuçları arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bir farklılık tespit edilmedi.

Sonuç: Proksimal tutulumlu alt extremite akut DVT'si olan hastaların tedavisinde kullanılan KÇ'nin PTS gelişimi üzerine etkinliği saptanmamış olup ağrı semptomunun azaltılmasında etkinliği bulunmaktadır. KÇ kullanımının hasta memnuniyetine etkisinin değerlendirilmesinde VAS etkili bir yöntemdir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Akut proksimal derin ven trombozu, kompresyon çorabı, vizuel analog skala

Introduction

Acute deep vein thrombosis (DVT) is seen with a frequency of 1/1,000 in the general population and is an important cause of mortality and morbidity, especially in the hospitalized patients, when evaluated in terms of the complications it may cause (pulmonary embolism, post thrombotic syndrome) (1). Today, in the treatment of acute DVT with lower extremity proximal involvement (common femoral vein and/or iliac venous involvement), new catheter-based interventions (2) and accompanying medical treatments are important steps in the prevention of post thrombotic syndrome (PTS), which is the most frightening long-term complication of the disease. has been recorded. However, PTS can still develop in 30-50% of all patients (3). In addition to these treatments; compression stocking (CS) is used in acute DVT in order to relieve edema due to stasis and venous hypertension and the associated pain, and to prevent the development of PTS. When current guidelines are examined, routine use of CS is not recommended in preventing the development of PTS after acute DVT (4). Although CS contains difficulties in terms of patient compliance, it is still used in routine practice because it regresses patients' symptoms.

A visual analogue scale (VAS) can be used to numerically express the satisfaction of the patients with DVT with symptomatic acute proximal involvement who used CS in addition to medical treatment, in terms of the reduction of pain in the follow-up (5). VAS is a method that provides patient-based measurement between "no pain" and "the most severe pain" in vertical or horizontal plane of 10 cm length divided into equal parts. In this study, the effectiveness of CS added to the medical treatment of patients with acute proximal DVT on the development of PTS in the early period and the effectiveness of evaluating patient satisfaction with VAS method in the same patient group who were given symptomatic treatment for pain were investigated.

Method

Between January 2016 and August 2018, 151 patients who were admitted to our clinic with a diagnosis of acute DVT and were treated with CS in addition to medical treatment were retrospectively analyzed and 92 were included in the study who met the inclusion criteria. Three patients with active cancer, 10 patients who underwent percutaneous interventional procedure, 14 patients with popliteal and/or distal segment involvement, 4 patients with recurrent DVT, 4 patients who were pregnant, 8 patients below 20 years of age or over 70 years of age, and 16 patients whose follow-up records could not be accessed were excluded from the study. Medium pressure (23-32 mmHg) below-knee CS was given to the patients. Thirty-seven patients who could not comply with CS in the 1st week outpatient controls were followed up with only medical treatment and were identified as Group I. Fifty-five patients who were compliant with the use of CS were named as Group II. The VAS scores of the patients were calculated before the treatment, in the 3rd month and 6th month of the treatment (Figure 1). The Villalta (Figure 2) score and the venous clinical severity score (VCSS) (Figure 3) of the patients in the beginning of the treatment and in the 6th month were calculated. In medical treatment, subcutaneous enoxaparin treatment at a dose of 1 mg/kg/12 hours was started in all patients, followed by oral warfarin at a dose that would provide the effective INR (2-2.5) level, on a patient-based basis. The study was approved by the local ethics committee and all data were evaluated retrospectively before and after treatment. The patients were informed about the treatment to be applied to them, and their consent was obtained.

Statistical Analysis

Baseline, 3^{rd} month and 6^{th} month VAS scores and baseline, 6^{rh} month Villalta and VCSS measurements were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Independent sample t-test was used to compare VAS, Villalta, VCSS scores between Group I and Group II. Descriptive data were presented as mean standard deviation, median (minimum, maximum) or frequency (%). Independent samples t-test and χ^2 test were used to compare groups according to normality test results. SPSS (IBM Corp. Released 2012. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) package program was used for statistical analysis and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.



Figure 1. Visual analogue scale

Results

Ninety-two patients who were planned to use CS in the medical treatment of acute DVT were included in the study. The demographic characteristics of all patients are shown in Table 1. The basal, 3rd month and 6th month average VAS scores of the patients before CS treatment were 7, 7 and 5 in Group I, and 7, 6 and 5 in Group II, respectively (Table 2). When the VAS scores at baseline and 3rd month follow-up were compared, no significant difference was observed between the two groups, while a statistically significant difference was found in favor of Group II, which used CS, in terms of VAS values at the 6th month follow-up (p<0.05). Basal and 6th month average Villalta scores of the patients before compression therapy were 8 and 6 in Group I, and 7 and 6 in Group II, respectively (Table 2). The basal and 6th month average VCSS scores of the patients before compression therapy were; 6 and 5 in Group I, and 6 and 5 in Group II, respectively. There was no statistically significant

Symptoms	Clinical findings
Pain	Edema
Cramp	Skin hardness
Feeling of heaviness	Hyperpigmentation
Rash	Redness
Paresthesia	Pain during calf compression
	Venous ectasia
Every symptom /Clinical findings; (severe)	0 (no), 1 (light), 2 (middle), 3
Scoring	
0-4	PTS no
5-15	Light-middle PTS
>15 or venous ulcer stenosis	High PTS

Figure 2. Villalta score

difference in terms of the baseline and 6^{th} month Villalta and VCSS scores between the groups.

Discussion

In this study, the early results of the use of medium pressure CS in patients with symptomatic DVT with acute proximal

Clinical descriptors	No (-)	Light (1)	Middle (2)	High (3)
Pain	No	Rare	Does not restrict daily life	Restricting daily life
Varicose vein	No	Little	Calf and thigh region	Calf and thigh region
Venous edema	No	Foot and wrist	Under the knees	Knee and above
Skin pigmentation	No	Perimalleolar region limited	Common sub 1/3 calf region	Much more common top 1/3 calf region
Inflammation	No	Perimalleolar region limited	Common sub 1/3 calf region	Much more common top 1/3 calf region
Skin hardening	No	Perimalleolar region limited	Common sub 1/3 calf region	Much more common top 1/3 calf region
Number of active venous ulcers	No	1	2	≥3
Venous ulcer duration	No	<3 month	3-12 month	>1 уеаг
Active venous ulcer diameter	No	<2 cm	2-6 cm	>6 cm
Compression therapy	No	Intermittent	Most days	Throughout the treatment

Figure 3. VCSS scoring

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the patients						
	Group I (n=37)	Group II (n=55)	р			
Gender (female)	22 (59%)	33 (60%)	0.958ª			
Age	46.33±11.21 (18-72)	48.09±10.31 (18-72)	0.601 ^b			
Extremity side (left/right)	26 (70.2%)/11 (29.8%)	35 (63.6%)/20 (36.4 %)	0.509ª			
BMI	24.72±11.20 (20-33)	24.73±20-35	0.992 ^b			
CEAP category						
C1	7 (18.9%)	8 (14.5%)				
C2	14 (37.8%)	21 (38.1%)				
C3	16 (43.2%)	26 (47.2%)				

Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (min-max), median (min-max), or n (%). BMI: Body mass index, CEAP: Comprehensive Classification System for Chronic Venous Disorders, ^ax² test, ^bIndependent sample t test involvement were examined. While CS had no effect on the development of PTS, it was found to have a reducing effect on the pain as assessed by VAS. In the follow-up of patients with DVT, many evaluation systems have been used to evaluate both the development of PTS and the regression of symptoms, and VCSS and Villalta scores are the most accepted, valid and up-to-date methods (6).

There are studies showing that the use of CS prevents the development of PTS, which is a long-term complication of acute proximal DVT, as well as there are studies showing that it has no effect on PTS (7,8). In our study, the early 6th month Villalta score results in patients using CS were compared with patients not using CS, and no significant difference was found in terms of preventing the development of PTS.

It has not yet been clarified in the literature whether choosing a higher pressure and high level CS is effective in the development of PTS or in reducing symptoms. Ten Cate-Hoek et al. (9) found no significant difference between different CS pressures and levels in terms of the efficacy, and a regression in symptoms was observed regardless of the pressure and level of CS. Similar results were obtained in studies in which only low-pressure or high-pressure CS was used and the venous filling index was measured (10,11). In our study, we preferred the use of belowknee and medium-pressure CS for each patient in order to increase patient compliance, we did not use higher pressure and high-level stockings.

Study Limitations

When the results of studies using VAS scoring were examined to investigate the effect of CS use on pain symptoms in patients with DVT, it was found that CS especially used in the early period, had positive effects on reducing pain (12). Similarly, in our study, a statistically significant difference was found between the 6^{th} month VAS scores of the patients who used CS and those who did not. In the evaluation of pain satisfaction, VAS can be preferred as a valuable measurement method in DVT with acute proximal involvement. Although it is an advantage that this scoring system is easy to understand and re-applicable, it is a disadvantage that difficulties ocur due to declining cognitive functions, especially in older age groups.

Conclusion

Considering the early results of CS in the treatment of patients with proximal lower extremity DVT, no significant effect was found on the development of PTS. However, in daily practice, they can still be used in symptomatic treatment. Studies that evaluate more patients and include long-term results are needed for efficacy analysis.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the local ethics committee and all data were evaluated retrospectively before and after treatment.

Informed Consent: The patients were informed about the treatment to be applied to them, and their consent was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: C.K., M.Ş.B., Concept: C.K., M.Ş.B., E.A., Design: C.K., M.Ş.B., E.A., Data Collection or Processing: C.K., M.Ş.B., A.Ö., E.Ş.D.Y., F.B., Analysis or Interpretation: C.K., M.Ş.B., A.Ö., E.Ş.D.Y., F.B., E.A., Literature Search: C.K., M.Ş.B., Writing: C.K., M.Ş.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

1. Wendelboe AM, Raskob GE. Global Burden of Thrombosis: Epidemiologic Aspects. Circ Res 2016;118:1340-7.

Table 2. VAS, Villalta and VCSS scores of the patients							
VAS	Group I (n=37)	Group II (n=55)	р				
Basal	7.32±1.14	7.28±1.15	0.859				
3 rd month	7.24±1.19	6.68±1.09	0.232				
6 th month	5.64±1.07	5.1±1.10	0.021				
Villalta score							
Basal	8±2.53	7.89±2.34	0.839				
6 th month	6.24±2.25	6.17±1.92	0.153				
VCSS							
Bazal	6.51±1.46	6.70±1.45	0.546				
6 th month	5.55±1.05	5.61±0.87	0.717				
VAS: Visual analog scale. VCSS: Visual clinical severity score							

- Singer AJ, Tassiopoulos A, Kirsner RS. Evaluation and management of lower-extremity ulcers. N Engl J Med 2017;377:1559-67.
- Tang T, Chen L, Chen J, Mei T, Lu Y. Pharmacomechanical Thrombectomy Versus Catheter-Directed Thrombolysis for Iliofemoral Deep Vein Thrombosis: A Meta-Analysis of Clinical Trials. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2019;25:1076029618821190.
- Avila ML, Montoya M, Lumia C, Marson A, Brandão LR, Tomlinson G. Compression stockings to prevent post-thrombotic syndrome in adults, a Bayesian meta-analysis. Thromb Res 2019;182:20-6.
- Kearon C, Akl EA, Ornelas J, Blaivas A, Jimenez D, Bounameaux H, et al. Antithrombotic Therapy for VTE Disease: CHEST Guideline and Expert Panel Report. Chest 2016;149:315-52.
- Rabe E, Partsch H, Hafner J, Lattimer C, Mosti G, Neumann M, et al. Indications for medical compression stockings in venous and lymphatic disorders: An evidence-based consensus statement. Phlebology 2018;33:163-84.
- 7. Soosainathan A, Moore HM, Gohel MS, Davies AH. Scoring systems for the post-thrombotic syndrome. J Vasc Surg 2013;57:254-61.
- 8. Mol GC, van de Ree MA, Klok FA, Tegelberg MJ, Sanders FB, Koppen S, et al. One versus two years of elastic compression stockings

for prevention of post-thrombotic syndrome (OCTAVIA study): randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2016;353: i2691.

- Ten Cate-Hoek AJ, Amin EE, Bouman AC, Meijer K, Tick LW, Middeldorp S, et al. Individualised versus standard duration of elastic compression therapy for prevention of post-thrombotic syndrome (IDEAL DVT): a multicentre, randomised, single-blind, allocationconcealed, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Haematol 2018;5:25-33.
- Lattimer CR, Azzam M, Kalodiki E, Makris GC, Geroulakos G. Compression stockings significantly improve hemodynamic performance in post-thrombotic syndrome irrespective of class or length. J Vasc Surg 2013;58:158-65.
- Zajkowski PJ, Proctor MC, Wakefield TW, Bloom J, Blessing B, Greenfield LJ. Compression stockings and venous function. Arch Surg 2002;137:1064-8.
- Bademci MS, Kocaaslan C, Aldag M, Oztekin A, Yalvac ESD, Aydın E. Evaluation of early patient satisfaction with visual analogue scale in the treatment of isolated great saphenous vein insufficiency with n-Butyl cyanoacrylate ablation. Medeniyet Med J 2018;33:212-7.

Original Article



High-performance Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Nebivolol and Amlodipine and Some Related Compounds in Synthetic Mixture

Nebivolol ve Amlodipin ve Bazı İlgili Bileşiklerinin Sentetik Karışımlarda HPLC ile Analizi

© Cem ÖNAL¹, ∞ Kadir ALUÇ², ∞ Çiğdem ALUÇ³, ∞ Armağan ÖNAL²

¹Cinnagen Medicine Company, Project Director, İstanbul, Turkey ²İstanbul University Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Analytical Chemistry, İstanbul, Turke ³Abdi İbrahim Medicine Company, Production, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aimed to develop and validate a method using a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to perform a quantitative analysis of nebivolol (NEB) and amlodipine (AML) along with some related substances in the synthetic mixture.

Methods: The separation in the described chromatographic system was accomplished using a mobile phase consisting of a mixture of acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) and acetonitrile and a HPLC C18 column (150 mm x 4.6 mm, 2.6 μ m) with gradient elution on a consistent flow rate of 1.3 mL/min. Photodiode array detection was carried out at a wavelength of 265 nm. According to The International Conference on Harmonisation guidelines, the drug was exposed to various stress conditions; including photolysis, oxidation, thermal degradation and hydrolysis under acidic, basic and neutral mediums.

Results: Ranges of detection and quantitation limits were determined to be 0.2-10.0 μ g.mL⁻¹ and 0.25-10.0 μ g.mL⁻¹ for NEB and AML, respectively. The relative standard deviation values within and between days precision were determined to be <2%. For all substances, the average recovery values were determined within the range of 98.00%-101.50%.

Conclusion: We conclude that this developed analytical procedure applies to the quality control of drug formulations.

Keywords: Nebivolol, amlodipine, high-performance liquid chromatography, validation, synthetic mixture

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışma, nebivolol (NEB) ve amlodipinin (AML) kantitatif analizini yapmak için yüksek performanslı sıvı kromatografisi (HPLC) kullanarak bir yöntem geliştirmeyi ve validasyonunu amaçlamıştır

Yöntemler: Kromatografik sistemdeki ayırma, asetat tamponu (pH: 4,5) ve asetonitril karışımından oluşan bir mobil faz kullanılarak, 1,3 mL/dakika akış hızında, C18 kolonda (150 mm x 4,6 mm, 2,6 m) gerçekleştirildi. Diyot sıralı dedektör 265 nm dalga boyuna ayarlandı. Uluslararası Uyum Konferansı yönergelerine uygun olarak ilaç, çeşitli stres koşullarına maruz bırakılmıştır. Bunlar; fotoliz, oksidasyon, termal bozunma ve asidik, bazik ve nötr ortamlar altında hidrolizdir.

Bulgular: NBV ve AMV için kantitasyon limit aralıkları sırasıyla 0,2-10,0 g/mL⁻¹ ve 0,25-10,0 g/mL⁻¹ olarak belirlenmiştir. Gün içi ve günler arası kesinlik bakımından RSD değerlerinin %2'den düşük olduğu belirlenmiştir. Analizlenen tüm maddeler için ortalama geri kazanım değerlerinin %98,00-%101,50 aralığında olduğu belirlenmiştir.

Sonuç: Geliştirilen analitik sürecin ilaç formülasyonlarının kalite kontrolü için uygulanabilir olduğu sonucuna vardık.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Nebivolol, amlodipin, yüksek basınçlı sıvı kromatografisi, validasyon, sentetik karışım

Address for Correspondence: Cem ÖNAL, Cinnagen Medicine Company, Project Director, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: cemfox@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5840-7386

Received: 01.04.2020 Accepted: 21.05.2020

Cite this article as: Önal C, Aluç K, Aluç Ç, Önal A. High-performance Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Nebivolol and Amlodipine and Some Related Compounds in Synthetic Mixture. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):264-70.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

Nebivolol hydrochloride's (NEB) chemical name is (1R)-1-[(2R)-6-fluoro-3,4-dihydro-2H-1-benzopyran-2-yl]-2-{[(2R)-2-[(2S)-6-fluoro-3,4-dihydro-2H-1-benzopyran-2-yl]-2-hydroxy ethyl]amino}ethan-1-ol hydrochloride. NEB hydrochloride is a third-generation antihypertensive drug, acting as a very specific β 1-blocker. The mechanism of action of the drug substance occurs via its β 1-receptor blocking activity and nitric oxide potentiation, resulting in its vasodilation effects (1-3).

Amlodipine besylate (AML) is dihydropyridine class calcium channel blocker used via oral route and has the chemical name as follows: 3-ethyl 5-methyl 2-[(2-aminoethoxy) methyl]-4-(2-chlorophenyl)-6-methyl-1, 4-dihydropyridine-3, 5-dicarboxylate; benzenesulfonate (4). AML is used for hypertension management as the first line therapy agent according to therapeutical guidelines based on its suitable adverse event profile and relatively long action. Its mechanism of action involves reducing the calcium ion influx. However, this effect occurs quite selectively on the smooth muscles rather than affecting the cardiac muscle cells. In addition, it does not affect calcium ion mobilisation across the cell membrane, resulting in a reduction in the peripheral vascular resistance and blood pressure (5,6). Concomitant use of NEB and AML for hypertension management is evaluated to be beneficial due to the involvement of mechanisms of action of these two molecules, yielding a synergetic effect in the living organism to lower the blood pressure. Furthermore, lower doses of both molecules are sufficient with this combination therapy.

A literature review was performed and discovered that most of the analytical techniques, employed for determining NEB and AML in the combination formula, were mainly based on spectrophotometry (7-15), high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (16-19) and high-performance thinlayer chromatography (20-22). The quantification of related substances in the combination formula of NEB and AML are individually reported in literature. Based on literature review and current available information, no method which can analyse related substances of simultaneous NEB and AML in combined dosage forms was reported. Related compounds of NEB and AML should be determined in the combination formula of NEB and AML without a need for prior separation for practical reasons. Therefore, our study targeted the development and validation of the developed analytical method to allow quantification of related compounds of NEB and AML in fixed dose combination pharmaceutical dosage forms avoiding any a prior separation procedure.

Some of these related compounds were determined to be possible degradants of AML and NEB in the drug product. This fact, too, shows the need for a method to determine the related compounds of NEB and AML in combined dosage forms without prior separation and supports our aim to develop and validate an analytical method that meets the needs for the combination formula. Method validation for related compounds was accomplished according to the International Conference on Harmonisation (ICH) requirements, by carrying out stress tests for fixed dose combination tablets covering various conditions; photolysis, oxidation, hydrolysis (at different pH mediums) and thermal degradation (23). Results obtained out of the stability testing procedures were anticipated to provide important contributions to properly developed manufacturing processes; contributing to decision-making processes for selecting proper packaging and determining the storage conditions, shelf life of the product and expiration date.

Experimental

Reagents and Solutions

Working standards of AML and NEB and related compounds were obtained from Hetero Drug Ltd. (Telangana Limited, India). Laboratory-prepared tablets were made, containing 10 mg of NEB and 10 mg of AML, Starch maize 50.0 mg, Hydroxypropyl Methyl Cellulose 45.0 mg, Lactose Monohydrate 70.0 mg, Croscarmellose Sodium 15.0 mg, Microcrystalline Cellulose 38.0 mg, Silicon Dioxide 5.0 mg and Magnesium Stearate 2.2 mg per tablet. All used chemical substances and chemical reagents were procured as analytical reagent grade. Ultra pure water was obtained using an aquaMAX[™] (Younglin Instrument, Korea) water purification system for HPLC.

Chromatographic Conditions and Instrumentation

Shimadzu HPLC, Binary Pump (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) was used for the chromatographic separation. The HPLC chromatographic system was established using the following parts: SPD M20A photodiode array (PDA) detector, SIL 20AC Autosampler, LC 20AB pump and CTO-10As column oven. Data gathered and derived from chromatographic procedure was processed by the software of the same chromatographic system. Separation of substances in chromatographic system was performed on a Phenomenex Kinetex 150 mm x 4.6 mm, 2.6 μ C18 (4.0x100 mm, 3 μ m) using a mobile phase consisting



related compounds NEB: Nebivolol, AML: Amlodipine

265

of a mixture of acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) and acetonitrile with gradient elution on a consistent flow rate of 1.3 mL/min. Specific wavelength of 265 nm was selected for PDA detection. Temperature Column was kept at 35 $^{\circ}$ C.

Standard Solution Preparation

Stock solution of 500.0 μ g/mL NEB and impurity of NEB A, AML and impurity of AML D and E were formed through dissolution of reference standard materials of the investigated pharmaceutical active ingredients and related compounds in 100 mL of acetonitrile: acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) (50:50, v/v) in a calibrated flask using an ultrasonic bath. Working standard solutions were formed through adequate dilution of the stock solution with the above mentioned solution mixture. Stock solutions were kept at 4 °C and were stable for a month.

Ammonium acetate of 1.5 g was accurately weighed and dissolved in 1,000 mL of water to get 20 mM of solution for the buffer solution preparation. The pH of the final solution was adjusted to 4.5 with acetic acid. It was then filtered with a 0.22 μ filter. The filtered solution was degassed and used as a buffer in the mobile phase.

General Procedures

Construction of the Calibration Curves

Accurately measured aliquots of NEB and AML standard solutions covering the working concentration ranges of 0.20-10.0 μ g/mL and 0.25-10.00 μ g/mL were prepared, respectively, and then transferred into a series of 10 mL volumetric flasks. Solutions were diluted to the mark with acetonitrile: acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) (50:50, v/v) and mixed well. Related compounds of NEB A, AML D and E stock solutions were formed through diluting 1 mg of related compounds in 1 mL of acetonitrile: acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) (50:50, v/v) and further diluted with the same solvent. Stock solutions were stable when kept at 4 °C in a refrigerator.

Sample Preparation

Fixed dose combination tablets with NEB and AML based on a ratio of 1:1 were prepared in the laboratory. An accurate amount of prepared tablets having equivalent milligrams of active ingredients of 10 mg of NEB and 10 mg of AML (in line with their ratio in the pharmaceutical formulation) was weighed and transferred into a 100 mL volumetric flask, and the volume was completed to final a volume of 100 mL with acetonitrile: acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) (50:50, v/v). Flasks were kept in an ultrasonic bath for 30 min to best dissolve the contents, and then the content was filtered by 0.45 μ m membrane polytetrafluoroethylene. The above mentioned procedure was implemented to construct the calibration curves. The quantification of the nominal value of each compound within the content was calculated based on the established calibration curve or the corresponding regression equation.

Validation of Analytical Method

The analytical method development and validation were carried out in line with the ICH guidelines (23). Methods were validated

based on the parameters covering quantification, accuracy, precision, specificity, linearity, range and detection limit.

Specificity

Stress degradation investigation was carried out in line with the ICH guidelines Q1A (R2) (23) to show the stability-defining characteristic and specificity of the developed analytical method. Solutions from tablet preparation were investigated under various forced degradation conditions described as follows: under alkaline conditions (1 N sodium hydroxide (NaOH) at ambient temperature in 24 hours), acidic conditions (1N hydrogen chloride (HCl) at ambient temperature in 24 hours), neutral conditions (water at 70 °C in 1 hour) and oxidative conditions (3.0% v/v H₂O₂ at ambient temperature in 3 hours). Samples from alkaline and acidic degradation stress conditions were neutralised using adequate amount of 1 N HCl and 1N NaOH, respectively, and completed to the end volume with the diluent. Thermal stress conditions were created by keeping the investigational medicinal product in heat controlled oven at 80 °C in a week. The pharmaceutical preparation was exposed to ultraviolet lamp for 72 hours to check the photostability. Upon completion of pre-defined time, solutions resulting from stress condition testing were diluted with the methanol: acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) (50:50, v/v), and samples for degradation testing were subjected to analysis by the developed HPLC method as mentioned in the chromatographic condition section. A PDA detector was used to define peak purity concerning peaks resulting from all samples from stress condition testing.

Specificity is the ability of the method to measure the analyte response in the presence of all related substances (NEB A, AML D and E). For specificity determination, all related substances were prepared individually and injected into HPLC to confirm retention times. Later on, solutions of blank, sample and spiked sample (sample spiked with all related substances) were prepared and injected into HPLC to confirm any co-elution with analyte peaks from respective blank and any degradation peaks. From the injections of spiked sample, the known related substance peaks were confirmed to be well separated from each other and without collation, showing that the method is selective and specific. The stability indicating nature of the method was further evaluated by performing forced degradation studies. Stress testing was carried out to identify the likelihood degradation products or to elucidate the inherent stability characteristics of drug substance. In this study, drug was subjected to oxidation, hydrolytic, photolytic, thermal and humidity stress conditions, and the summary of results obtained from forced degradation experiment results is presented in Table 4. Results showed that peaks were found stable in all forced degradation conditions, without interference for related compound peaks from other peaks.

Linearity

The linearity of the method was established for drugs and their related compounds. Drugs solution and their related compounds were formed at five various concentrations within the range of 0.20 and 15.00 μ g/mL of concentration of analyte. The regression line was constructed between the peak area and

corresponding analyte concentration based on method of least squares analysis. The slope and Y-intercept values of regression line were calculated.

Limit of Quantitation (LOQ) and Limit of Detection (LOD)

LOQ and LOD were calculated as the 10 and 3.3 times of the standard deviation of the peak area divided by the slope of the linearity calibration curve, respectively.

Precision

Method precision and accuracy were determined as within and between the days of precision. The within and between the day precision values were investigated at three different concentrations (n=5) of the analyte during five consecutive days. The relative standard deviation (RSD) was provided as the precision value.

Accuracy

Recoveries by spiking method were used for method accuracy calculation. Standard solutions with known amount (low, medium and high concentrations) were spiked with sample solutions of known amount ($0.2 \mu g/mL$). The regression equation of the calibration curve was used to estimate the spiked amount.

Robustness

Investigation of the robustness of the method was performed through deliberate modification of key method conditions like organic phase composition, flow rate of the mobile phase and key method parameters, such as selected wavelength for detection. Investigation of drug solution stability in mobile phase was performed by keeping the drug solution in ambient temperature for one day, 24h.

Results

Chromatographic Conditions

Separation in proposed chromatography system was performed on C18 column (150 mm x 4.6 mm, 2.6 μ m) using a gradient elution system. For this procedure, the mobile phase consisting of a mixture of acetate buffer (pH: 4.5) and acetonitrile was formed, and the flow rate was determined as 1.3 mL/min. The wavelength of 265 nm was selected for PDA detection. The column temperature was kept at 35 °C during the procedure. Table 1 presents the gradient elution programme. Figure 2 presents the typical chromatograms. Five replicates of freshly prepared substances were injected to evaluate the method adequacy for resolution between targeted peaks with high level of repeatability. The chromatogram was analysed based on the following factors: resolution (R), theoretical plates (N), tailing factor, retention time (tR) and symmetry factor (α). The system suitability test results proved that the developed method in this present article comply with the acceptable limits described by the requirements (Table 2).

Method Validation

ICH guidelines were the basis of method validation and optimisation (23). As described in the guideline, parameters consisting precision, accuracy, robustness, specificity, linearity, LOD and LOQ were investigated.

Linearity

The linearity of the method was tested both for the individual drug substances and their related compounds in the combination formula. Five different concentrations of drug solutions and impurity solutions were prepared. The concentration range of the analyte varied from 0.20 to 15.00 μ g/mL. The calibration

Table 1. Gradient elution programme							
Time	Acetate buffer (pH: 4.5)	Acetonitrile					
0	80	20					
5	80	20					
40	35	65					
45	80	20					
50	80	20					



Figure 2. Representative chromatograms of (A) blank, (B) AML 0.2 $\mu g/mL$, NEB 0.5 $\mu g/mL$ and related compounds spiked with 0.5 $\mu g/mL$

NEB: Nebivolol, AML: Amlodipine

Table 2. System suitability parameters									
Name	(tR) ± SD (min)	Symmetry factor	N ± SD	RSD %	R ± SD	RSD %			
NEB	31.094±0.001	1.09	33260±345	1.04	4.93±0.05	1.04			
NEB Imp A	12.686±0.001	0.96	23544±158	0.59	5.76±0.03	0.59			
AML	25.104±0.002	1.39	36758±419	1.20	6.31±0.08	1.20			
AML Imp D	21.881±0.002	1.42	30772±320	1.04	22.19±0.23	1.04			
AML Imp E	28.060±0.001	1.47	41048±570	1.34	5.50±0.07	1.34			

N: Theoretical plates, R: Resolution, tR: Retention time and RSD: Relative standard deviation obtained from five replicate injections area

curve was plotted by drawing the corresponding impurity peak area against the concentration on the chart. The calculated coefficients of correlation, slopes of the curves, and y-intercepts of the calibration plots were presented. Calibration curves concerning the related substances were determined to be linear within the ranges involved in the study. Correlation coefficients were found to be >0.9990 for all molecules of interest (Table 3).

The LOQ and LOD were measured following a recommended formula (according to ICH Q2 (R1) (23) shown as

LOD = 3.3 SD / slope LOQ = 10 SD/slope (Eq. 1)

where SD is the standard deviation of the intercept and standard deviation of the peak area. The LOD and LOQ values presented in Table 3 prove that the proposed methods are adequately sensitive for determination of these drugs.

Precision

The precision trials were performed by a sequence of analyses of AML and NEB and related compounds for five consecutive days (each n=5). The RSD values were found in the range from 0.59% to 1.34% for intraday precision and from 1.11% to 1.61% for the interday precision. All values were found to be <2%, proving that the method was adequately precise. Results are presented in Table 3.

Specificity

Forced degradation under various experimental conditions was investigated using a starting concentration of 1 mg/mL of the sample. A PDA detector was used to ensure the homogeneity of drug peaks. After subjecting the drug to acid and base hydrolysis and oxidative degradation, the degradation products of NEB, Imp A and AML Imp D were observed. The thermal and water hydrolysis and the photolytic stress study showed that AML was degraded into AML Imp D (Figure 3). These results confirmed that the drug product maintained its stability well when exposed to forced degradation tests (Table 4).

Accuracy

The standard addition technique was used to prove the accuracy of the method. Certain amount (0.2 μ g/mL) of pure sample solution were added to three concentration level of the drug standard solutions and related compounds (low, medium and high concentration) and analysed. Percentage recoveries for the drug and related compounds were within the range of 98.00%-101.50%. Results of recovery study were presented in Table 5.

Robustness

The method was evaluated to be robust based on the findings after making intentional changes in the process; including flow rate of the mobile phase (± 0.1 mL/min), mobile phase pH



Figure 3. Chromatograms of AML and NEB at synthetic mixture (A) acid-degraded drug, (B) base-degraded drug, (C) water hydrolysis-degraded drug, (D) oxidation-degraded drug, (E) thermal-degraded drug and (F) daylight-degraded drug

NEB: Nebivolol, AML: Amlodipine

Parameter	NEB	NEB Imp A	AML	AML Imp D	AML Imp E
Slope	1368748	1775624	2450505	3116410	1933305
Intercept	176	-182	-371	-358	-561
Linearity range (µg/mL)	0.20-10.00	0.20-10.00	0.25-10.00	0.30-10.00	0.40-15.00
LOD	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.04	0.03
LOQ	0.17	0.17	0.20	0.13	0.10
Intraday precision (RSD) ^a	1.04	0.59	1.20	1.04	1.34
Interday precision (RSD) ^b	1.13	1.36	1.14	1.61	1.11
°n=5					
^b Results of five different days					

Table 3. Regression, precision, limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) data

RSD: Relative standard deviation, NEB: Nebivolol, AML: Amlodipine

(4.5±0.1) and column oven temperature (35±2 °C). Some minor variations were observed in the proposed method; however, variables did not significantly affect the outcome. We concluded that the obtained data proved the robustness of the proposed method in this article.

The chemical stability of the stock solutions of the studied compounds has been tested to determine the outcomes of storage for 48 hours at room temperature (25 °C). All compounds were found to be stable in the mobile phase for 48 hours at room temperature, and were also stable in the refrigerator (4 °C). No unexpected peaks were detected in the chromatograms during the stability studies.

Analysis of Synthetic Mixture

The proposed method was implemented for the quantitation of NEB and AML and their related compounds using the synthetic mixture sample. The obtained results are in line with the labelled content for NEB and AML combination formula. Furthermore, the related chemical related compounds were found at levels below the acceptable limit.

Conclusion

In this article, validated HPLC method was presented to determine and quantify NEB, AML, and some related compounds in a synthetic mixture. This method was evaluated for linearity,

Table 4. Forced degradation results							
Stress condition	Degradation (%)	Number of impurities	Retention time (min)	Peak purity (Amlodipin)	Peak purity (Nebivolol)		
Acidic/1N HCl/RT/24 h	15.5	7	10.038;12.663; 13.537;15.719; 20.489;21.029; 23.927	0.99965	0.99975		
Alkaline/1N NaOH/RT/24 h	16.4	7	10.072;12.695; 13.539;15.715; 20.489;21.047; 23.928	0.99981	0.99971		
Oxidation/3% H202/3 h	6.5	9	11.158;11.737; 12.244;14.297; 16.541;16.983; 19.282;19.763; 21.822	0.99977	0.99967		
Neutral/H2O/70°C/1 h	0.4	6	8.016;17.808; 18.474;19.182; 20.065;21.819	0.99972	0.99962		
Photolytic/UV-lamp/72 h	1.3	10	8.731;10.323; 15.963;16415; 16.885;17.651; 18.475;19.190; 20.070;21.737	0.99989	0.99985		
Thermal/80°C/1 week	0.9	9	17.419;17.881; 18.225;19.165; 19.554;20.023; 21.206;21.860	0.99990	0.99983		

			-			
Table 5.	Results of	recoveries da	ta of AML	NFB and	related	compounds

Analyte	Amount of drug takenª (µg/mL)	Amount of drug spiked ^ь (µg/mL)	Total amount found (μg/mL) (Mean ± SD°)	Recovery (%)	RSD ^₄
		0.36	0.53±0.0058	99.6	1.09
Nebivolol A		4.30	4.48±0.0140	99.5	0.31
		6.55	6.72±0.0210	99.5	0.31
		0.21	0.41±0.0053	100.0	1.29
Amlodipine D		4.80	5.13±0.0300	100.6	0.59
		7.30	7.50±0.0430	98.0	0.57
		0.70	0.89±0.0079	98.8	0.89
Amlodipine E	0.2	4.80	4.97±0.0210	99.5	0.42
		7.30	7.46±0.0320	99.5	0.42
		0.70	0.50±0.0053	99.0	1.06
Amlodipine		4.80	5.04±0.0280	101.5	0.55
		7.30	7.56±0.0420	101.5	0.56
		0.65	0.85±0.0077	100.5	0.91
Nebivolol		1.80	2.01±0.0048	101.1	0.24
		2.80	3.02±0.0073	101.1	0.25
^a synthetic mixture A	ML/NEB 10:10 mg, ^b Standard	solution, ^c Standard deviation,	^d Five independent analyses, NEB: Neb	vivolol, AML: Amlodipine	

precision, accuracy, LOD, LOQ, selectivity, robustness and solution stability. The selectivity of the method is evaluated as per ICH guidelines by carrying out forced degradation tests of NEB and AML combination tablets. Outcomes of these tests demonstrated that the method was stable based on the findings of NEB and AML-related substances. Thereby, we concluded that the developed and validated method proposed in this current article could be widely used in the routine practice to simultaneously determine NEB and AML and their related compounds in the synthetic mixture.

Peer-review: Externally peer review.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: C.Ö., K.A., A.Ö., Design: C.Ö., K.A., A.Ö., Data Collection or Processing: C.Ö., K.A., Ç.A., A.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: C.Ö., K.A., Ç.A., Literature Search: C.Ö., K.A., Ç.A., A.Ö., Writing: C.Ö., K.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Bowman AJ, Chen CP, Ford GA. Nitric oxide mediated venodilator effects of nebivolol. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994;38:199-204.
- Agabiti Rosei E, Rizzoni D. Metabolic profile of nebivolol, a beta-adrenoceptor antagonist with unique characteristics. Drugs 2007;67:1097-107.
- 3. Weiss R. Nebivolol: a novel beta-blocker with nitric oxide-induced vasodilatation. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2006;2:303-8.
- O'Neil MJ, Heckelman PE, Koch CB, Roman KJ, editors. TheMerck Index.14th ed. An encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs, andbiologicals. USA, NJ: Merck Research Laboratories, Merck&Co Inc Whitehouse Station; 2006.
- Mason RP, Marche P, Hintze TH. Novel vascular biology of thirdgeneration L-type calcium channel antagonists: ancillary actions of amlodipine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:2155-63.
- 6. Stepien O, Zhang Y, Zhu D, Marche P. Dual mechanism of action of amlodipine in human vascular smooth muscle cells. J Hypertens 2002;20:95-102.
- Chandnani VC, Gupta K, Chopde C, Kunjwani H, Manikaroa A, Shivhare S. Simultaneous UV Spectrophotometric Determination of Amlodipine Besylate and Nebivolol HCl in Tablet Dosage Form. Int J Chem Tech Res 2010;2:69-73.
- Nikalje APG, Choudharia VP, Kulkarni RR, Chaudhari V, Parakh S. Iso absorptive point and zero absorbance spectrophotometric methods for estimation of nebivolol and amlodipine in combination in tablet formulation. Int J Chem Sci 2007;5:396-402.
- Mishra P, Shah K, Gupta A. Spectrophotometric Methods for Simultaneous Estimation of Nebivolol Hydrochloride and Amlodipine Besylate in Tablets. Int J Pharm Sci 2008;1:55-61.

- Joshi HV, Patel JK, Patel MP, Wankhede S. Simultaneous estimation of Nebivolol and S-Amlodipine in tablets by UV-Spectrophotometry. Der Pharma Chemica 2010;2:105-8.
- Patel SA, Patel PU, Patel NJ. Absorbance correction method for simultaneous determination of nebivolol and amlodipine besylate in combined tablet dosage form. Int Res J Pharm 2011;2: 92-5.
- 12. Patel SR, Patel SM, Patel JI, Patel PU. Simultaneous determination of nebivolol and amlodipine in combined dosage form by derivative spectrophotometry. Res J Pharm Tech2011;4: 109–112.
- Patil PB, Chavan CB, Jagtap DA, Mohite SK, Magdum CS. Simultaneous estimation of nebivolol hydrochloride and amlodipine besylate by UV spectrophotometric method. Int J ChemTech Res 2012;4:1241-6.
- 14. Joshi SJ, Karbhari PA, Bhoir SI. RP-LC simultaneous determination of nebivolol hydrochloride and amlodipine besylate in bi-layer tablets. Chromatographia 2009;70:557-61.
- 15. Sharma A, Patel B, Patel R. Simultaneous estimation of nebivolol hydrochloride and S-amlodipine besylate by high performance thin layer chromatography. Int J Pharm Bio Sci 2010;1:339-47.
- 16. Deepak S, Anurekha J, Alankar S. Simultaneous estimation of amlodipine besylate and nebivolol hydrochloride in tablet dosage forms by reverse phase-high-performance liquid chromatographic using ultraviolet detection. Pharm Method 2011;2:9-14.
- 17. Jain M, Tiwari S, Mishra VK, Shukla S, Sheikh S. (2010). Simultaneous estimation of amlodipine besylate and nebivolol hydrochloride in combined dosage form by RP-HPLC. Int J Pharm Life Sci 2010;1:428-32.
- Kolasani A, Kumar GVS, Puranik SB, Sridhar KA. (2012). Stability Indicating HPLC Method for Estimation of S-Amlodipine Besilate and Nebivolol hydrochloride in Bulk Drugs and Marketed Formulation. Int J Pharm ResScholars 2012;1-3:217-23.
- Dhandapani B, Anjaneyulu N, Venkateshwarlu Y, Rasheed SH. HPTLC method development and validation for the simultaneous estimation of amlodipine besylate and nebivolol hydrochloride in tablet dosage form. J Pharm Res 2010;3:332-4.
- 20. Patel SR, Patel SM, Patel JI. Patel PU. Development and validation of high-performance thin-layer chromatography method for determination of nebivolol and amlodipine in combined dosage forms. J Pharm Res 2010;3:2273-5.
- 21. Sharma AK, Patel B, Rakshit P. Simultaneous estimation of nebivolol hydrochloride and S-amlodipine besylate by high performance thin layer chromatography. Int J Pharm Bio Sci 2010;1:339-47.
- Sharma AK, Bhavesh P, Rakshit P. HPTLC determination of compound formulation of Nebivolol hydrochloride and S-Amlodipine besylate. Rec Prog Med Plant 2011;31:161-70.
- ICH. Q2 (R1) Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methodology. International Conference on Harmo-nization. Geneva: November 2005, p. 1-13.

Original Article



Perceived Sources and Levels of Stress Among Turkish Dental Students: A Multi-centre Study

Türk Diş Hekimliği Öğrencileri Arasında Algılanan Stres Kaynakları ve Düzeyleri: Çok Merkezli Bir Çalışma

^{ID} Mustafa DEMİRCİ¹, ^{ID} Neslihan TEKÇE², ^{ID} Nevin ÇOBANOĞLU³, ^{ID} Safa TUNCER¹, ^{ID} Osman ÜNLÜ⁴, ^{ID} Soner ŞİŞMANOĞLU⁵, ^{ID} Canan BAYDEMİR⁶

¹İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey ²Kocaeli University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, Kocaeli, Turkey ³Selçuk University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, Konya, Turkey ⁴İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Endodontics, İstanbul, Turkey ⁵Altınbaş University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey ⁶Kocaeli University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Kocaeli, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: The objective of this study is to examine the perceived sources and levels of stress reported by three different dental faculty students from Turkey. This study also aims to compare stress sources among these students with respect to the role of faculties, specific curricula and institutional differences.

Methods: In total, 1,294 students participated in a survey in 2015. This survey used Modified Dental Environmental Stress questionnaire comprising 47 items that were grouped into 6 categories: academic performance; preclinical and clinical training; patient treatment; faculty administration and education staff; personal life issues; and professional identity after graduation. Responses were recorded on a four-point rating scale ranging from not stressful (1 point) to very stressful (4 points).

Results: The response rate of the study was 63.3% (1,294/2,045). The "concern about failing the course or year due to the inability to finish clinical schoolwork" (clinical score) was found as the highest stress item (mean score =3.57). More than one-third of questionnaire items showed the presence of moderate-to-severe stress with mean scores between 3.57 and 3.06. The preclinical and clinical training category showed the highest mean stress score (3.09) than other

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı Türkiye'de üç farklı diş hekimliği fakültesi öğrencilerinin rapor ettikleri algılanan stres kaynakları ve düzeylerini incelemektir. Ayrıca, öğrenciler arasındaki stres kaynaklarını fakülteler, belirli müfredat ve kurumsal farklılıkların rolü açısından karşılaştırmak amaçlanmıştır.

Yöntemler: Çalışmaya üç diş hekimliği fakültesinden toplam 1.294 öğrenci katılmıştır. Kırk yedi maddeli Modifiye Dental Çevresel Stres anketi kullanılmış ve altı kategoriye ayrılmıştır: akademik performans; klinik öncesi ve klinik eğitim; hasta tedavisi; fakülte yönetimi ve eğitim personeli; kişisel yaşam sorunları; ve mezuniyet sonrası mesleki kimlik. Yanıtlar, stresli olmayan (1 puan) çok stresli (4 puan) olarak dörtlü puan sistemine göre kayıt edilmiştir.

Bulgular: Çalışmanın yanıt oranı %63,3'tür (1.294/2.045). Klinik okul çalışmasının bitirilememesi (klinik puan) nedeniyle dersi veya yılı geçememe korkusu en yüksek stres öğesi (ortalama puan =3,57) olarak bulunmuştur. Anket sorularının üçte birinden fazlası, ortalama puanları 3,57 ile 3,06 arasında olan orta-şiddetli stres göstermiştir. Klinik öncesi ve klinik eğitim kategorisi diğer kategorilere göre en yüksek ortalama stres skorunu (3,09) göstermiştir. Stres maddelerinin çoğunda ve altı stres kategorisinde,

Address for Correspondence: Mustafa DEMİRCİ, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: md.demirci@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9297-6945

Cite this article as: Demirci M, Tekçe N, Çobanoğlu N, Tuncer S, Ünlü O, Şişmanoğlu S, Baydemir C. Perceived Sources and Levels of Stress Among Turkish Dental Students: A Multi-centre Study. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):271-82.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 09.04.2020 Accepted: 01.06.2020 categories. In most of the stress items and six stress categories, females showed significantly more stress than males. A significant difference was found among at least two or more faculties for each stress category.

Conclusion: The modification of curricula, establishment of student counselling, assignment of student advisors and studentoriented programmes may be considered as stress reduction methods. However, further studies are warranted to examine the success of these methods.

Keywords: Dental education, dental students, stress, stress factors, Turkey

kadınlar erkeklerden daha fazla stres göstermiştir. Her stres kategorisi için en az iki veya daha fazla fakülte arasında anlamlı bir fark bulunmuştur.

Sonuç: Müfredatların değiştirilmesi, öğrenci danışmanlığının oluşturulması, öğrenci danışmanlarının atanması ve öğrenci odaklı programlar stres azaltma yöntemleri olarak düşünülebilir. Ancak, bu yöntemlerin başarısını incelemek için daha fazla çalışma yapılması gerekmektedir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Diş hekimliği eğitimi, diş hekimliği öğrencileri, stres, stres faktörleri, Türkiye

Introduction

In simple terms, stress is the amount of strain caused by a task that might be perceived positively or negatively and can be adaptive or debilitating. Stress, which is a negative response to anxiety, is yet the sole aspect of stress that has been assessed regarding academic achievement among dental students. Anxiety has been shown to predict reduced performance (1). Largely because of the exhausting nature of the training, dental students frequently feel a great deal of stress during this period (2). The primary causes of stress include academic-based course work and exams, clinical care and personal and faculty-associated factors. The main outcomes of stress were reported to affect academic achievement, psycho-emotional well-being and physical health, which are displayed through behaviours including smoking and alcohol consumption (2).

A few studies have compared stress levels among different faculties, each using alternative teaching styles in line with their respective cultures (3). A study reported the presence of great disparity in how students' perceived stressors, depending on their institution. This disparity was associated with personal and education-related factors (4). In a cross-cultural comparative study of students from Singapore and the United States of America, Yap et al. (5) reported that stressors were principally associated with different areas of their academic courses. Varying degrees of stress appeared to result from course-related factors or the students' immediate surroundings (3). Additionally, differences were reported between the stress levels of preclinical and clinical students; in fact, stressors for the latter were similar, more stress was felt by preclinical students, and sex was again significant (6).

Most stress studies involving dental students used modified versions of the Dental Environmental Stress questionnaire (DES) (7). The 25-item DES questionnaire by Garbee et al. (7) is used to identify the potential areas of stress in dental school education. Stress items are grouped into the following seven stress composite categories of related questions: faculty and administration; academics; manual skills; financial obligations; patient care; personal problems; and family. The mean stress score for each category was calculated by taking the average score of each item in the category. The response to each item is rated from 1 (not stressful) to 4 (very stressful), with a fifth possible response being "not pertinent" (2,7). The DES has been translated into multiple languages and adapted by various cultures, thus making it appropriate for national and international studies (1,4,6,8-13).

Turkey is undergoing a rapid transition from Eastern to Western attitudes, values and lifestyles. The changes increasingly reflect Western values of independence, autonomy and competition (14,15). All these factors and stressors associated with dental environments could affect the stress levels of students. The primary objective of the study is to assess the perceived sources and levels of stress in a large population of Turkish dental students. The study was conducted on students from three different dental faculties in three different cities. Thus, the secondary objective of this study is to establish differences in the sources of stress across diverse dental student populations as well as investigate the impact of specific differences among the institutions.

Methods

The İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study protocol. Informed verbal consent was provided by each volunteer, and they did not receive any compensation for participation in this study. The Ethics Committee also approved the consent procedure. The entire study was conducted in full accordance with the guidelines of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki.

This study was conducted in three dental faculties located in İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry) (DF1), Konya Selçuk University Faculty of Dentistry) (DF2) and Kocaeli University Faculty of Dentistry) (DF3). In these three faculties, dental education is taught as a five-year curriculum. The first year focusses on basic science and dental introductory courses. The second year focusses on laboratory and preclinical training dental science courses. In the third, fourth and fifth years, students undergo clinical training. However, some curriculum differences are present among dental faculties. Especially, the difference is about clinical training in the third year. In some courses, students attend clinical training as an observer. In some courses, students participate in clinical training by treating patients. Also, in DF3, students must undergo integrated clinical training in the fifth year. All first- to fifth-year dental students were invited to participate in the study from the three dental faculties. In total, 1,294 students in the 2014-2015 academic year enrolled in this study. The questionnaire was administered from April 2015 to June 2015. Questionnaires were given to students when they attended a lecture and a researcher explained the purpose of the survey. Participation was completely voluntary and all responses remained anonymous (16). A total of 15 minutes were allotted for completing the questionnaire. Students were asked not to communicate, talk or comment about the items of questionnaire while filling out the questionnaire (17). The respondents were requested to note their sex at the top of the questionnaire.

Modified versions of the DES compiled by Murphy et al. (10) and Westerman et al. (18) were used as the original templates for our study. The 47 items of the questionnaire used in this study were appropriate for the Turkish dental education system. Previous studies have also used some of these items (6,10-12,17-21). Therefore, the validity and reliability of the questionnaire were not determined. Each response was rated on a Likert-type scale with a four-point rating scale ranging from not stressful (1 point) to very stressful (4 points) (2,7,10,20).

To establish a theoretical framework and clarity in the assessment of the research questions, the 47 items of the questionnaire were grouped into 6 categories (4,10-12). Each category was derived from the factor analyses of DES scales reported in earlier studies (1,4,7,8,10,12,20,22). The categories were as follows: 1) academic performance; 2) preclinical and clinical training; 3) patient treatment; 4) faculty administration and education staff (professors, instructors or clinical supervisors); 5) personal life issues; and 6) professional identity after graduation (10,13,20).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical software SSPS for Windows version 20.0 was used for statistical analysis (SPSS, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive statistics were used to present the stress scores (mean and standard deviation) for each questionnaire item, six stress categories, and the highest stress item in each category and preclinical and clinical years' stress items of DES (10). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to test the normality of data distribution. Student's t-test, one-way analysis of variance and Tukey' post hoc test were used to compare the scores for each questionnaire item with respect to sex, academic year and overall scores of all five years. These tests were also used to detect differences among the previously defined parameters.

Results

Demographic Profile

Table 1 presents the distribution of students by academic year and sex. A total of 1,294 of 2,045 undergraduate students from the 3 faculties completed the questionnaires with a total response rate of 63.3%. The number of dental students who answered the questionnaires was 554 for the dental faculty in the İstanbul University, 441 for Selçuk University and 299 for Kocaeli University; the response rates were 53.8%, 75.1% and 69.9%, respectively.

Perceived Stress Items

Table 2 presents the stress scores for each item according to the academic year of the students and overall scores of five years. The concern about failing the course or year due to the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical score) was the highest stress item (mean score =3.57). In total, 20 of the 47 (43%) questionnaire items had significant differences (p<0.05) among the study years of students.

Highest Stress Items in Six Categories by Sex and Academic Year of Students

Table 3 presents the highest items of six stress categories for males, females and overall scores in the preclinical (first and second years) and clinical years (third, fourth and fifth years). In the academic performance category, the highest stress items were different for males and females in each year, except the fourth year. According to the overall means, in preclinical years, the highest stress items were different for the first and second year. Also, only third-year students showed different highest items than fourth- and fifth-year students in clinical years. In the preclinical and clinical training category, the highest stress items were different in clinical years for the fourth and fifth years with respect to sex. In the patient treatment category, the highest stress item was "patients being late or breaking their appointments" (Item 17) in all the clinical years. In the faculty administration and education staff (professors, instructors or clinical supervisors) category, the highest stress item was different for males and females in the second year. The fourth year showed a different highest stress item than that observed in third- and fifth-year students. In the personal life issues category, the "lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities" (Item 32) was the highest stress item for all preclinical and clinical years. In the professional identity after graduation category, the highest stress item was the "fear of not having the possibility to pursue a postgraduate programme" (Item 46) for all preclinical and clinical years with respect to sex and overall means.

Table 1. Sample distribution by year of students and sex								
Versefetudu	Tabal	Total		Ν	Gender		Response rate (%)	
Year of study	Ιοται	Males	Females		Males	Females		
First year	446	198	248	278	102	176	62.3	
Second year	443	178	265	308	121	187	69.5	
Third year	406	157	249	259	113	146	63.8	
Fourth year	373	159	214	262	110	152	70.2	
Fifth year	377	181	196	187	83	104	49.6	
Total	2,045	873	1,172	1,294	529	765	63.3	

Table 2. Distribution of mean stress scores, standard deviation and overall means by the year of students and significance among
years

			2					
	Question no	First year	Second year	Third year	Fourth year	Fifth year	Overall	Significance
Academic performance								
Amount of assigned coursework	1	3.28±0.79	3.55±0.73	3.48±0.78	3.48±0.74	3.25±0.86	3.42±0.78	<0.001 ^{a,b,c,g,i,j}
Difficulty of assigned coursework	2	3.37±0.73	3.51±0.67	3.41±0.76	3.36±0.75	3.25±0.79	3.39±0.74	0.003 ^g
Examinations and grades	3	3.41±0.72	3.49±0.74	3.33±0.78	3.37±0.72	3.25±0.80	3.38±0.75	0.007 ^g
Competition with classmates	4	1.84±0.94	2.15±1.04	2.24±1.09	2.06±1.04	2.07± 1.00	2.07±1.03	<0.001 ^{a,b}
Lack of confidence to be a successful dental student	5	2.37±1.00	2.44±0.97	2.53±1.03	2.27±1.02	2.18±0.98	2.37±1.00	0.002 ^{g,h,i}
Fear of failing course, year or a licensing exam and behaviour of parents in case of failure	6	2.09±1.02	2.14±1.08	2.41±1.12	2.27±1.09	2.10±1.07	2.20±1.08	0.003 ^{b,e,i}
Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work	7	3.06±0.94	3.23±0.90	3.58±0.73	3.63±0.66	3.26±0.85	3.35±0.86	<0,001 ^{b,c,e,f,i,j}
Preclinical and clinical training								
Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work	8	3.07±0.97	2.93±0.91	2.98±0.97	2.82±0.98	2.9±0.99	2.95±0.96	0.047°
Responsibilities for comprehensive patient care and treatment	9	-	-	3.07±0.84	3.07±0.85	3.04±0.89	3.06±0.86	0.898
Difficulty in learning clinical procedures and protocols	10	-	-	2.90±0.91	2.80±0.86	2.79±0.94	2.83±0.90	0.358
Transition to the preclinic to clinic and facing patient treatment	11	-	-	3.01± 0.91	2.85±0.90	2.91±0.99	2.92±0.93	0.152
Fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical credit)	12	-	-	3.69±0.67	3.57±0.70	3.42±0.87	3.57±0.75	<0.001 ^{i,j}
Lack of confidence in own decision making during clinical school work	13	-	-	2.73±0.96	2.60±0.96	2.53±0.89	2.63±0.95	0.069
Fear of unable to catch up if getting behind the clinical work or course	14	-	-	3.19±0.85	3.18±0.83	3.14±0.94	3.18±0.87	0.839
Lack of adequate or sufficient number of patients for clinical exams or clinical work	15	-	-	3.45±0.78	3.31±0.85	3.20±0.92	3.33±0.85	0.008 ⁱ
Cooperation with dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working	16	-	-	3.43±0.74	3.59±0.74	3.48±0.77	3.50±0.75	0.052
Patient treatment								
Patients being late or breaking their appointments	17	-	-	3.12±0.83	3.00±0.83	3.04±0.92	3.05±0.86	0.249
Negative or uncomplimentary attitudes of patients or patient management	18	-	-	2.61±0.88	2.60±0.86	2.66±0.91	2.62±0.88	0.742
Lack of communication or cooperation with patients	19	-	-	2.51±0.89	2.45±0.91	2.37±0.89	2.45±0.90	0.271
Working on patients with dirty mouths	20	-	-	2.68±0.94	2.63±0.91	2.74±0.92	2.68±0.93	0.440
Faculty administration and education s	taff (profes	sors, instruct	ors or clinical	supervisors)				
Atmosphere created by professors or clinical supervisors	21	-	-	3.31±0.80	3.30±0.76	3.22±0.84	3.28±0.80	0.446
Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients	22	-	-	3.41±0.81	3.28±0.86	3.31±0.86	3.33±0.84	0.206
Inconsistency of feedback on your clinical work among different professor or instructors	23	-	-	3.29±0.79	3.24±0.78	3.16±0.88	3.24±0.82	0.234

Table 2. continued

Inadequate knowledge and/or clinical experience of the instructors in terms of evaluation of your clinical work (inadequate educational aspects of instructors),	24	-	-	2.76±0.93	2.66±0.94	2.79±0.90	2.73±0.93	0.306
Lack of adequate professors, clinical supervisors or instructors in the clinics	25	-	-	2.67±0.98	2.61±0.099	2.72±0.94	2.66±0.97	0.508
Absence of a professor, clinical supervisor or instructor in clinic when assistance is needed	26	-	-	3.03±0.88	3.10±0.89	3.06±0.99	3.06±0.91	0.662
Rules and regulations of the faculty	27	2.78±0.98	3.08±0.86	3.21±0.85	3.34±0.81	3.03±0.93	3.09±0.91	<0,001 ^{a,b,c,d,f,j}
Attitudes of staff, clinical supervisor or instructor towards female students	28	2.13±1.13	2.31±1.06	2.38±1.08	2.44±1.09	2.49±1.03	2.34±1.09	0.003 ^{c,d}
Lack of time to do assigned clinical work or shortage of allocated clinical time	29	-	-	3.26±0.82	3.23±0.87	3.05±0.88	3.19±0.86	0.022 ⁱ
Expectation of dental faculty or the difference between reality of faculty and expectations	30	2.91±0.92	3.03±0.91	3.21±0.84	3.26±0.88	3.14±0.90	3.10±0.90	<0,001 ^{b,c,d,f}
The faculty facilities/environment are not sufficient for social, cultural and sports activities	31	3.02±0.98	3.08±0.95	3.11±0.97	3.13±0.99	2.94±1.04	3.06±0.98	0.243
Personal life issues								
Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities	32	3.16±0.89	3.24±0.91	3.47±0.79	3.45±0.80	3.17±0.85	3.30±0.86	<0,001 ^{b,c,e,f,i,j}
Difficulty in making friends	33	1.77±0.95	1.89±1.07	1.70±0.92	1.56±0.89	1.85±0.89	1.75±0.96	<0,001 ^{f,j}
Relationship between members of the opposite sex	34	1.87±1.02	1.94±1.08	1.86±0.99	1.73±0.95	1.88±0.94	1.86±1.00	0.132
Difficulty of adaptation to faculty environment	35	2.23±0.98	2.26±1.04	2.20±0.99	2.02±1.01	2.33±0.97	2.20±1.00	0.011 ^{f,j}
Neglect for personal life	36	2.74±1.00	2.78±1.08	2.88±1.07	2.86±1.07	2.89±0.98	2.83±1.05	0.394
Moving away from home or town	37	2.55±1.21	2.36±1.13	2.44±1.14	2.35±1.14	2.41±1.06	2.42±1.14	0.246
Worried about compatibility of dentistry to personality	38	2.36±1.11	2.43±1.09	2.35±1.13	2.35±1.04	2.34±1.06	2.37±1.09	0.862
Difficult home/hostel environment to study, rest or fun	39	2.45±1.11	2.46±1.12	2.30±1.09	2.29±1.07	2.10±0.97	2.34±1.09	0.002 ^{d,g}
Lack of financial resources for personal life expenses	40	2.53±1.13	2.58±1.11	2.70 ± 1.06	2.57±1.07	2.61±1.04	2.60±1.09	0.459
Forced postponement of marriage, engagement or having children	41	1.89±1.09	2.09±1.15	2.08±1.15	2.05±1.12	2.12±1.04	2.04±1.12	0.143
Having dual role of wife/husband/ mother/father/dental student	42	1.67±1.03	2.03±1.15	1.89±1.11	1.76±1.05	1.87±1.03	1.85±1.09	<0,001 ^{a,f}
Personal physical health problems due to chronic disease, drugs, alcohol, etc.	43	1.83±1.06	2.16±1.13	1.99±1.06	1.92±0.99	2.07±1.11	2.00±1.07	0.003ª
Working while studying	44	1.95±1.09	2.16±1.12	2.10±1.11	2.05±1.04	2.18±1.12	2.08±1.10	0.112
Professional identity after graduation								
Lack of confidence in self to be a successful dentist after graduation	45	2.47±0.97	2.37±1.03	2.42±1.01	2.37±1.02	2.48±0.96	2.42±1.00	0.590
Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme	46	2.80±0.98	2.79±0.98	2.92±0.97	2.92±0.97	2.97±0.90	2.87±0.97	0.134
Fear of unemployment after graduation	47	2.25±1.06	2.25±1.05	2.29±1.05	2.23±1.04	2.30±1.05	2.26±1.05	0.926
Lawer man latters denote significant different	an haburar -	and of abud to		1 4 4 1 5	2 5.2 4 2 5	L. 2 4 1. 2 F 1. 4	L F	

Lower case letters denote significant difference between year of students: a: 1-2, b: 1-3, c: 1-4, d: 1-5, e: 2-3, f: 2-4, g: 2-5, h: 3-4, i: 3-5, j: 4-5
	and clinical years					
Six stress	Preclinical years		Clinical years			
categories	First year (N=278)	Second year (N=308)	Third year (N=259)	Fourth year (N=262)	Fifth year (N=187)	
Academic perf	ormance					
Highest stress	item					
Male	Examinations and grades (3.39±0.75)	Examinations and grades (3.48±0.77)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.50±0.80)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.58±0.68)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.19±0.85)	
Female	-Difficulty of assigned the coursework (3.43±0.69) -Examinations and grades (3.43±0.70)	Amount of assigned coursework (3.60±0.67)	Amount of assigned coursework (3.68±0.59)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.67±0.64)	Examinations and grades (3.38±0.73)	
Overall	Examinations and grades (3.41±0.72)	Amount of assigned coursework (3.55±0.73)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.58±0.73)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.63±0.66)	Lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work (3.26±0.85)	
Preclinical and	clinical training					
Highest stress	item					
Male	Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work (2.90±1.00)	Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work (2.79±0.89)	Fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical score) (3.52±0.81)	Fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical score) (3.48±0.71)	Cooperation with dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working (3.37±0.76)	
Female	Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work (3.17±0.94)	Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work (3.02±0.92)	Fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical score) (3.82±0.51)	Cooperation with dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working (3.72±0.60)	Fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical score) (3.57±0.76)	
Overall	Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work (3.07±0.97)	Difficulty in learning precision manual skills required for clinical, preclinical and laboratory work (2.93±0.91)	Fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work (clinical score) (3.69±0.67)	Cooperation with dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working (3.59±0.74)	Cooperation with dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working (3.48±0.77)	
Patient treatm	ent					
Highest stress	item					
Male	-	-	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (2.88±0.85)	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (2.80±0.83)	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (2.87±0.93)	
Female	-	-	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (3.30±0.77)	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (3.14±0.80)	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (3.17±0.90)	
Overall	-	-	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (3.12±0.83)	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (3.00±0.83)	Patients being late or breaking their appointments (3.04±0.92)	

Table 3. Means and standard deviations for six stress categories with the highest stress item by year of student or preclinicaland clinical years

Table 2. continued

Faculty administration and education staff (professors, instructors or clinical supervisors)					
Highest stress	item				
Male	The faculty facilities/ environment are not sufficient for social, cultural and sports activities (2.96±1.05)	Rules and regulations of the faculty (3.07±0.88)	Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients (3.30±0.85)	Rules and regulations of the faculty (3.17±0.90)	Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients (3.24±0.86)
Female	The faculty facilities/ environment are not sufficient for social, cultural and sports activities (3.05±0.93)	 Expectation of dental faculty or the difference between reality of faculty and expectations (3.10±0.89) The faculty facilities/ environment are not sufficient for social, cultural and sports activities (3.10±0.96) 	Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients (3.49±0.76)	Rules and regulations of the faculty (3.45±0.73)	Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients (3.37±0.85)
Overall	The faculty facilities/ environment are not sufficient for social, cultural and sports activities (3.02±0.98)	Rules and regulations of the faculty (3.08±0.86) - The faculty facilities/ environment are not sufficient for social, cultural and sports activities (3.08±0.95)	Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients (3.41±0.81)	Rules and regulations of the faculty (3.34±0.81)	Criticisms from professor or clinical supervisors in front of patients (3.31±0.86)
Personal life is	sues				
Highest stress item					
Male	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.02±0.97)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.23±0.92)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.29±0.89)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.36±0.84)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.02±0.86)
Female	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.24±0.83)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.25±0.91)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.60±0.67)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.51±0.77)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.28±0.83)
Overall	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.16±0.89)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.24±0.91)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.47±0.79)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.45±0.80)	Lack of time for relaxation or leisure activities (3.17±0.85)
Professional id	entity after graduation				
Highest stress	item				
Male	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.70±1.01)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.70±1.01)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.86±0.93)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.74±1.03)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.80±0.91)
Female	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.86±0.96)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.84±0.96)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.96±1.00)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (3.05±0.90)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (3.12±0.86)
Overall	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.80±0.98)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.79±0.98)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.92±0.97)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.92±0.97)	Fear of not having possibility to pursue a post-graduate programme (2.97±0.90)

Six Stress Categories with Respect to Sex, Year, Overall Scores by Year and Overall Scores of All Five Years

Table 4 shows the means and standard deviations for the six stress categories with respect to sex, year, overall scores by academic year of students and the overall scores of all five years. The preclinical and clinical training category showed the highest stress mean score (3.09) as compared with the other categories. Except for the categories of patient treatment and professional identity after graduation, there were significant differences among the study years with respect to males or females and the overall means in each stress category. There was a significant difference between males and females with respect to the year of students, except in first and second academic years in academic performance, faculty administration and education staff and personal life issues categories, as well as third and fifth years in the personal life issues category. With regard to the overall mean of males and females of all five years, a significant difference was observed between the sexes in each category. Also, a significant difference was determined among the six categories for the overall means of all five years.

Six Stress Categories by Faculty

Table 5 shows the means and standard deviations of the six stress categories for each dental faculty.

A significant difference was found among at least two or more faculties for each category. Also, the DF2 displayed higher mean stress values than the other faculties.

Discussion

Evidence from a systematic review including 124 studies demonstrated that dental students were exposed to a significant amount of stress while training, which was chiefly attributed to the challenging characteristics of the training. Previous studies have indicated the negative effects of increased stress on students' health and well-being (2). Therefore, our aim was to determine the perceived sources and levels of stress in a large population of Turkish dental students across three dental faculties. Also, we aimed to examine the differences in stress sources and levels among faculties to investigate the impact of specific curricular, teaching and institutional differences.

In this study, the overall mean stress scores were considered and the highest stress item changed according to the year of the students. "Examinations and grades" for were highest stress items in the first year, and the "amount of assigned coursework" was the highest stress items in the second year. This was followed by the "difficulty of assigned the coursework" for the first and second years. The first year was mainly dedicated to medical courses and some manual skills and preclinical courses related to prosthetics. Preclinical training and theoretical dental classes are usually taken in the second year. Therefore, the academic environment and dental faculty curriculum are new for first-year students (6,23,24). Silverstein and Kritz-Silverstein (24) found that the DES scores related to class work were high at baseline and increased after one year. Their summations were stress levels resulting from the realisation of the new environment, significant life changes and pressures and anticipation of stressors still to come. In contrast to our results, stress due to academic factors was lower in the second year than in the first year (22). This result might be attributed to the rapid shift in curriculum and subject, to which the new students had difficulty in adjusting. However, in this study, the mean stress of items related to academic performance increased in the second year. This finding may be related to the increase of preclinical work and theoretical dental courses. In accordance with our results, Polychronopoulou and Divaris (12) showed that students in the third year were most affected by acquiring manual skills in the laboratory and preclinical work. The researchers stated that that these students might be overwhelmed by this demanding period. In terms of curriculum, there is a similarity between the second year in our study and the third year in their study. In addition to this result, in the other studies, "examinations and grades" (6,11,21,24), "no time for holiday or reduced holidays" (25), "amount of assigned work" (6), "fear of failing course/year" (6, 11), "fear of facing parents after failure" (23), "financial responsibilities" (24), "inconsistency in feedback on work from different instructors" (24) and "fear of unemployment after graduation" (21) were also reported as the top stress items for the first and second year.

There was a trend of increasing overall mean stress scores related to clinical training, patient treatment and clinical education staff. In line with our findings, it was reported that the mean DES scores had a marked rise in the third year, which is the transition year into clinical training. This rise to moderate stress levels for third-year students suggests that the transition might be challenging for many students (11). Another study with similar findings linked the rise with the additional unfamiliar pressures related to patient care (16). In agreement with our findings, the "fear of failing the course or a year" was found as the top stress item in other study (6,13). Although in line with our findings of the first and second years, another study found examinations and grades were the main stressors for all students (20). However, their mean score (2.86) was much lower than that in our study (3.41).

Elani et al. (8) also found that the chief stressors for all dental students were "examinations and grades" and "workload". In contrast, the "amount of assigned work" (7), "examinations" (7), "treatment grades" (11), "completion of clinical requirements" (21), "lack of time for holiday or reduced holidays" (25) were reported as top stress items for third-year students. In our study, the highest stress item "lack of time to do assigned clinical school work" for fourth-year students may related to increased assigned clinical work (clinical credit). In agreement with our findings, Naidu et al. (11) observed that the "shortage of allocated clinical time" was the highest stress item for fourthyear students. They stated that fourth-year students might be more focused on finishing their clinical requirements. Morse and Dravo (21) observed that fourth-year students were the most stressed about learning clinical procedures because the most advanced techniques were learned and put into practice in this year. Also, in another study performed on Turkish dental

Table 4. Means and	standard deviations fo betwe	or six stress categorie: een males and females	s with sex, overall me s, and between the ov	ans by year of student: erall scores of each ca	s, and overall scores tegory by year of stu	of all five years, and stat dents	cistical differences
Six stress categories	First year (N=278)	Second year (N=308)	Third year (N=259)	Fourth year (N=262)	Fifth year (N=187)	Overall (N=1,294)	Significance difference between years
1. Academic performa	nce						
Male	2.78±1.05	2.88±1.07	2.88±1.06	2.83±1.08	2.68±1.06	2.82±1.07	P=0.003 ^{9,i}
Female	2.77±1.08	2.96±1.08	3.09±1.05	2.99±1.08	2.84±1.08	2.93±1.08	P<0.001 ^{a,b,c,g,i,j}
Overall	2.78±1.07	2.93±1.08	3.00±1.06	2.92±1.08	2.77±1.07	2.88±1.08	P<0.001 ^{a,b,c,g,i,j}
Significance between both genders	0.884	0.106	<0.001	0.002	0.010	<0.001	
2. Preclinical and clinic	al training						
Male	2.90±1.00	2.79±0.89	2.93±0.98	2.92±0.94	2.82±0.98	2.89±0.97	P=0.090
Female	3.17±0.94	3.02±0.92	3.34±0.79	3.21±0.88	3.23±0.89	3.25±0.86	P<0.001 ^{e,f,g,h,i}
Overall	3.07±97	2.93±0.91	3.16±0.90	3.09±0.92	3.05±0.95	3.09±0.92	P<0.001 ^{e,f,h,i}
Significance between both genders	0.026	0.026	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
3. Patient treatment							
Male	I	I	2.49±0.89	2.43±0.89	2.51±0.91	2.48±0.89	P=0.452
Female	I	I	2.91±0.89	2.84±0.87	2.86±0.94	2.87±0.90	P=0.344
Overall			2.73±0.92	2.67±0.90	2.70±0.94	2.70±0.92	P=0.315
Significance between both genders	I	I	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
4. Faculty administrati	on and education staff (p	orofessors, instructors o	ır clinical supervisors)				
Male	2.78±1.06	2.83±1.00	2.96±0.93	2.91±0.97	2.90±0.96	2.90±0.97	P=0.009 ^b
Female	2.67±1.06	2.90±1.00	3.14±0.94	3.16±0.93	3.06±0.95	3.04±0.97	P<0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f,g}
Overall	2.71±1.06	2.88±1.00	3.06±0.94	3.05±0.95	2.99±0.95	2.98±0.97	P<0.001 ^{a,b,c,d,e,f,g}
Significance between both genders	0.107	0.255	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
5. Personal life issues							
Male	2.25±1.14	2.34±1.12	2.28±1.12	2.13±1.10	2.28±1.02	2.26±1.11	P<0.001 ^{f,h,j}
Female	2.22±1.13	2.33 ± 1.17	2.33±1.17	2.29± 1.15	2.31±1.12	2.30±1.15	P=0.010 ^{a,b}
Overall	2.23±1.14	2.34 ± 1.15	2.31±1.15	2.23±1.13	2.29±1.08	2.28±1.13	P<0.001 ^{a,b,f,h}
Significance between both genders	0.563	0.741	0.192	<0.001	0.445	0.028	
6. Professional identit	y after graduation						

Male	2.40±1.05	2.38±1.08	2.45±1.04	2.28±1.04	2.43±1.00	2.38±1.04	P=0.068
Female	2.57±1.02	2.53±1.02	2.61±1.05	2.67±1.03	2.71±1.01	2.61±1.03	P=0.257
Overall	2.51±1.03	2.47±1.05	2.54±1.05	2.50±1.05	2.59±1.01	2.52±1.04	P=0.270
Significance between both genders	0.018	0.030	0.034	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Significance difference among males of six categories	<0.0018D5FFHIJKLMN	<0.001 ^{8,D,E,FHI,J,K,L,M,N}	<0.001 ^{B.D.E.F.HI.J.K.M.N}	<0.001 ^{8,D,E,F,H,J,K,M,N}	<0.001 c.de.f.H.I.J.K.M.N	<0.0018.cd.efHluKMN0	
Significance difference among females of six categories	<0.001ABDEFGHIJKLMO	<0.001ABDEFGHIJJKLMO	<0.001ABDEFGHIJKLMO	<0.001A,BCDEF,HIJK,MNO	<0.001acdfghljkmno	<0.001acdefghijkirmno	
Significance difference among overall means of six categories	<0.001ABDEFGHIJKLMN0	<0.001 ^{B,D,E,F,H,I,J,K,L,M,N,O}	<0.001ABDEFGHIJKLMNO	<0.001ABCDEFHIJKLMNO	<0.001acdefililikmno	<0.001a.bc.defg.hlj.kl.mn.o	
-Lower case letters denot Capital letters show signi	e significant difference betwe ficant difference between six	en year of students: a: 1-2, categories: A: 1-2, C	b: 1-3, c: 1-4, d: 1-5, e: 2-3, f: 2 : 1-4, D:1-5, E: 1-6, F: 2-3, G: 2-	2-4, g: 2-5, h: 3-4, i: 3-5, j: 4-5. -4, H: 2-5, I: 2-6, J: 3-4, K: 3-5, I	-: 3-6, M: 4-5, N: 4-6, O: 5-6		

students, the "completion of clinical requirements" and "fear of failing the year" were found as the highest stress items for the fourth year (6). Different to our findings, "examination and grades" (8), "lack of time for relaxation" (12), "lack of time for holiday or reduced holidays" (25) and "financial resources" (21) were reported as the highest stress items. Compared with another study, in our study, the "cooperation with the dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working" was the highest stress item and the overall mean score (3.48) was much higher than their mean scores, which were between 1.73 and 2.53 (20,21,25). This may be due to the fact that the laboratory workload is excessive and the number of laboratory technicians is insufficient because the students send the prosthetics work to the laboratory to complete their prosthetic credits. In accordance with our findings, it was reported that seniors would naturally be more concerned about the dental laboratory being prompt in the delivery of their cases because they were trying to meet deadlines for completion of graduation requirements (7). In contrast to our findings, "examination and grades" (10), "completion of clinical requirements" (6), "lack of time for holiday or reduced holidays". (25) "fear of failing a course or a year" (11,21), "differences in opinion between clinical staff concerning patient treatment" (20), "fear of facing parents after failure" (23) and "completing clinical requirements" (26) were reported as the highest stress items for fifth- or final-year students.

In our study, there were statistically significant differences among six categories. The preclinical and clinical training category showed the highest mean stress score (3.09). Faculty administration and education staff exhibited the second highest stress mean score (2.98). Difficulties faced in acquiring the precision manual skills needed for preclinical and laboratory work may be the reason for high stress in preclinical years. In clinical years, the transition to the clinic (8), unfamiliar patients care (16) and credit pressure to complete certain numbers and types of clinical cases (8) may be causes of high stress with respect to clinical training. In contrast to our findings, a systematic review reported that for preclinical students, most researchers found that academic factors were the main source of stress (92.5%). For clinical students, again, most studies identified academic factors as the main cause of stress (84.0%), followed by clinical factors (63.6%). Faculty and personal issues contributed less to clinical students' stress levels (38.6% and 11.4%, respectively) (2). However, in accordance with our study, faculty and administration were reported as the highest stress factor in several studies (1,7,23).

In accordance with previous studies, females in our study reported significantly more stress than males in most of the stress items and six stress categories (4,11,13,16,21). One might draw one of a few conclusions: females perceive and experience more stress than males, males are less expressive/private regarding their concerns, or a combination of these or other unknown factors exists (13). It has been reported that that female students might feel more pressure to succeed in a largely male-dominated profession (11,27) and, with that, find the peer pressure and the competitive nature of dental school more stressful (18,27). In contrast to our findings, some studies found that male students

Table 4. continued

Six stress categories	1. Faculty (N=554)	2. Faculty (N=441)	3. Faculty (N=299)	Significance difference between years
1. Academic performance	2.76±1.02	3.02±1.09	2.92±1.14	<0.001 ^{a,b,c}
2. Preclinical and clinical training	2.97±0.90	3.23±0.91	3.12±0.97	<0.001 ^{a,b,c}
3. Patient treatment	2.64±0.85	2.77±0.95	2.70±0.98	0.006ª
4. Faculty administration and education staff (professors, instructors or clinical supervisors)	2.91±0.91	3.12±0.98	2.91±1.07	<0.001 ^{a,c}
5. Personal life issues	2.23±1.06	2.35±1.17	2.26±1.20	<0.001 ^{a,c}
6. Professional identity after graduation	2.53±0.99	2.59±1.07	2.38±1.06	<0.001 ^{b,c}
	ultion at 1 2 bt 1 2 at 2 1			

Table 5. Means and standard deviations of six stress categories for the three dental faculties and a statistical comparison of these three faculties for each category

Lower case letters show significant difference between faculties: a: 1-2, b: 1-3, c: 2-3

reported higher stress than female students (20,23). Yet in other studies, no difference was found between male and female students (3,26).

In our study, a significant difference was observed in academic performance and preclinical and clinical training stress categories among the three faculties. Also, a significant difference was found among at least two faculties in other stress categories. Students of the second faculty showed a higher stress than other faculties. This difference may be related to the teaching and curriculum issues of each faculty or external factors such as the socioeconomic or sociocultural environment of the cities in which the faculties were located. It is noteworthy that issues raised by the students regarding their courses pertained to different aspects of the curriculum in each school. There is some evidence showing the limited effects of the external environment on stress in dental students; hence, variations of student stress arise from both course-related factors and their immediate surroundings (3,5).

Study Limitation

This research is limited to three faculties in Turkey's three largest cities. It is not known whether the sources of stress found in the research reflect the local attitudes or are more common. Therefore, the effects of main stressors, especially the curriculum and personal life issues, should be evaluated by conducting studies in more faculties and cities.

Conclusion

The "fear of failing course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work" was found as the highest stress item (mean score =3.57) for all students in five years. However, the highest stress item changed according to the year of the students. "Examinations and grades" for the first year and "amount of assigned coursework" for the second year were found to be the highest stress items. For the third year, the "fear of failing the course or year because of the inability to finish clinical school work"; for the fourth year, the "lack of time to do assigned laboratory, preclinical or clinical school work"; and for the fifth year, the "cooperation with dental laboratory due to timing or faulty working" were the highest stress items. With respect to the six categories, the preclinical and clinical training category was the main source of stress as perceived by all the students. For most of the stress items and six stress categories, females showed significantly more stress than males. In addition, there was a significant difference in the perceived stress levels among at least two or more faculties in each stress category. Curricula need to be rearranged or modified by considering factors that cause stress. Additionally, establishing a student counselling section, assigning student advisors and student-oriented programme planning may reduce the stress caused by dental education. However, further studies are warranted to examine the success of programmes and curricula that reduce stress.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study protocol. (Protocol Number: 2015/2)

Informed Consent: Informed verbal consent was provided by each volunteer, and they did not receive any compensation for participation in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: M.D., S.T., Design: M.D., N.T., N.Ç., S.T., Data Collection or Processing: N.T., N.Ç., O.Ü., S.Ş., C.B., Analysis or Interpretation: M.D., C.B., Literature Search: M.D., S.T., Writing: M.D., S.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Sanders AE, Lushington K. Effect of perceived stress on student performance in dental school. J Dent Educ 2002;66:75-81.
- Elani HW, Allison PJ, Kumar RA, Mancini L, Lambrou A, Bedos C. A systematic review of stress in dental students. J Dent Educ 2014;78:226-42.

- Humphris G, Blinkhorn A, Freeman R, Gorter R, Hoad-Reddick G, Murtomaa H, et al. Psychological stress in undergraduate dental students: baseline results from seven European dental schools. Eur J Dent Educ 2002;6:22-9.
- 4. Polychronopoulou A, Divaris K. Dental students' perceived sources of stress: a multi-country study. J Dent Educ 2009;73:631-9.
- Yap AU, Bhole S, Teo CS. A cross-cultural comparison of perceived sources of stress in the dental school environment. J Dent Educ 1996;60:459-64.
- Peker I, Alkurt MT, Usta MG, Turkbay T. The evaluation of perceived sources of stress and stress levels among Turkish dental students. Int Dent J 2009;59:103-11.
- 7. Garbee WH Jr, Zucker SB, Selby GR. Perceived sources of stress among dental students. J Am Dent Assoc 1980;100:853-7.
- Elani HW, Bedos C, Allison PJ. Sources of stress in Canadian dental students: a prospective mixed methods study. J Dent Educ 2013;77:1488-97.
- Gorter R, Freeman R, Hammen S, Murtomaa H, Blinkhorn A, Humphris G. Psychological stress and health in undergraduate dental students: fifth year outcomes compared with first year baseline results from five European dental schools. Eur J Dent Educ. 2008 May;12(2):61-8. 8-Elani HW, Bedos C, Allison PJ. Sources of stress in Canadian dental students: a prospective mixed methods study. J Dent Educ 2013;77:1488-97.
- 10. Murphy RJ, Gray SA, Sterling G, Reeves K, DuCette J. A comparative study of professional student stress. J Dent Educ 2009;73:328-37.
- Naidu RS, Adams JS, Simeon D, Persad S. Sources of stress and psychological disturbance among dental students in the West Indies. J Dent Educ 2002;66:1021-30.
- 12. Polychronopoulou A, Divaris K. Perceived sources of stress among Greek dental students. J Dent Educ 2005;69:687-92.
- Divaris K, Polychronopoulou A, Villa-Torres L, Mafla AC, Moya GA, González-Martínez F, et al. Extracurricular factors influence perceived stress in a large cohort of Colombian dental students. J Dent Educ 2014;78:213-25.

- 14. Büyükgöze-Kavas A. Eating attitudes and depression in a Turkish sample. Eur Eat Disord Rev 2007;15:305-10.
- -Mocan-Aydın G. Western models of counseling and psychotherapy within Turkey: Crossing cultural boundaries. Counseling Psychologist 2000;28:281-98.
- Sugiura G, Shinada K, Kawaguchi Y. Psychological well-being and perceptions of stress amongst Japanese dental students. Eur J Dent Educ 2005;9:17-25.
- 17. Fonseca J, Divaris K, Villalba S, Pizarro S, Fernandez M, Codjambassis A, et al. Perceived sources of stress amongst Chilean and Argentinean dental students. Eur J Dent Educ 2013;17:30-8.
- Westerman GH, Grandy TG, Ocanto RA, Erskine CG. Perceived sources of stress in the dental school environment. J Dent Educ 1993;57:225-31.
- 19. Divaris K, Polychronopoulou A, Taoufik K, Katsaros C, Eliades T. Stress and burnout in postgraduate dental education. Eur J Dent Educ 2012;16:35-42.
- Kumar S, Dagli RJ, Mathur A, Jain M, Prabu D, Kulkarni S. Perceived sources of stress amongst Indian dental students. Eur J Dent Educ 2009;13:39-45.
- 21. Morse Z, Dravo U. Stress levels of dental students at the Fiji School of Medicine. Eur J Dent Educ 2007;11:99-103.
- 22. Polychronopoulou A, Divaris K. A longitudinal study of Greek dental students' perceived sources of stress. J Dent Educ 2010;74:524-30.
- 23. Acharya S. Factors affecting stress among Indian dental students. J Dent Educ 2003;67:1140-8.
- 24. Silverstein ST, Kritz-Silverstein D. A longitudinal study of stress in first-year dental students. J Dent Educ 2010;74:836-48.
- 25. Uraz A, Tocak YS, Yozgatligil C, Cetiner S, Bal B. Psychological wellbeing, health, and stress sources in Turkish dental students. J Dent Educ 2013;77:1345-55.
- 26. Sofola OO, Jeboda SO. Nijeryalı dişhekimliği öğrencilerinde algılanan stres kaynakları. Eur J Dent Educ 2006;10:20-3.
- 27. Heath JR, Macfarlane TV, Umar MS. Perceived sources of stress in dental students. Dent Update 1999;26:94-8, 100.

Original Article



Cross-cultural Adaptation, Reliability and validity of the Turkish Version of the Work Limitations Questionnaire-Short Form

İş Limitasyonu Ölçeği Kısa Formu Türkçe Uyarlaması: Geçerlilik ve Güvenilirlik Çalışması

[™] Ramazan ŞAHİN¹, [™] Seçil ÖZKAN², [™] Mustafa Necmi İLHAN²

¹Gazi University, Department of Occupational Health and Safety, Ankara, Turkey ²Gazi University, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: The physical or emotional difficulties faced by academicians negatively affect their productivity. The aim of this study is to translate and adapt a Turkish version of the Work Limitations Questionnaire-Short Form (WLQ-SF) and investigate its validity and reliability. The WLQ-SF assesses academicians who have suffered from physical or emotional health limitations in the past 2 weeks while working.

Methods: In this study, the mean age of 104 participants who completed the Turkish version of the WLQ-SF was 37.75±9.43 years. The test-retest reliability was evaluated using the WLQ-SF with a 7-day interval. The test-retest reliability assessed through intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and Cronbach's alpha (α) were used to determine the construct validity and time-invariant reliability of the scale over time.

Results: The WLQ-SF provided construct validity with 68.62% variance under two factors (Bartlett's test of sphericity value, 407.830; Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) value, 0.746; p=0.0001) and was found to be valid. It demonstrated a high test-retest reliability (ICC =0.96) and good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha =0.83) for all domains. Therefore, the WLQ-SF in the Turkish language is a valid and reliable test.

Conclusion: The Turkish version of the WLQ-SF was found to be valid and reliable for evaluating the effect of physical and emotional health among academicians. It is an important scale to measure the impact of both physical and emotional health at work.

Keywords: Academicians, work limitation, reliability, validity, Turkish

ÖZ

Amaç: Akademisyenlerin karşılaştıkları fiziksel ve duygusal zorluklar onların üretkenliklerini olumsuz olarak etkilemektedir. Çalışmanın amacı İş Limitasyonu Ölçeği-Kısa Formu'nun (İLÖ-KF) Türkçe uyarlaması, geçerlilik ve güvenilirlik çalışmasının yapılmasıdır. İLÖ-KF akademisyenlerin son iki hafta içerisinde yaşadıkları fiziksel veya duygusal sağlık durumlarının, çalışma hayatları üzerine etkisini inceleyen bir ölçektir.

Yöntemler: İLÖ-KF'nin Türkçe versiyonuna katılan katılımcıların yaş ortalaması 37,75±9,43 yıl olarak hesaplanmıştır. İLÖ-KF'nin test-tekrar test güvenilirliği yedi gün arayla tekrarlanarak değerlendirildi. Ölçeğin yapısal geçerlilik ve zamana göre değişmezlik güvenilirliği için test-tekrar test intraklass korelasyon (ICC) yöntemi ile Cronbach alfa testi kullanıldı.

Bulgular: İLÖ-KF iki faktör altında %68,62 varyans ile yapısal geçerliliği sağlamaktadır (Barlett: 407,830; Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin: 0,746, p=0,0001). İLÖ-KF güvenilirliği (ICC =0,96) ve iç tutarlılığı (Cronbach alfa =0,83) oldukça yüksek olarak bulundu. Bundan dolayı İLÖ-KF Türkçe dilinde geçerli ve güvenilir bir testtir.

Sonuç: İLÖ-KF Türkçe uyarlamasının akademisyenlerin fiziksel ve duygusal sağlık durumları üzerinde geçerli ve güvenilir olduğu bulunmuştur. Bu ölçek işyerinde hem fiziksel hem de duygusal sağlığın etkisini ölçmek için önemli bir ölçektir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Akademisyenler, iş limitasyonu, geçerlilik, güvenilirlik, Türkçe

Address for Correspondence: Ramazan ŞAHİN, Gazi University, Department of Occupational Health and Safety, Ankara, Turkey

E-mail: sahinramazan88@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6218-7558

Cite this article as: Şahin R, Özkan S, İlhan MN. Cross-cultural Adaptation, Reliability and validity of the Turkish Version of the Work Limitations Questionnaire-Short Form. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):283-9.

Received: 16.04.2020 Accepted: 25.06.2020

Introduction

The concept of work has emerged from social relationships that arise due to the desire to meet the needs of other people (1). Creating or uncovering anything is defined as a process consisting of both physical and mental occupations and labour. Work is an indispensable part of human life that provides an individual with status and value and supports him/her as part of society (2).

The occupational health and safety standards address the conditions of people who are risking their lives and future due to various risk factors and hazards caused by industrialisation and technology. These can be defined as a set of systematic and scientific studies aiming to protect both physical and mental health during the execution of work in the workplace and in an environment free from threats to a person's physical and mental health (3,4). Approximately, 4% of the Turkey's gross national product is spent on occupational accidents and occupational losses of employees (5). Therefore, measures taken to ensure occupational health and safety will eliminate these losses, and the income earned from being able to continue work will be used to develop the country (6). The need to transform the working environment into a safe and healthy place to protect workers from occupational accidents and diseases must be evaluated for every situation. It should be kept in mind that all kinds of expenditures that are made to improve the occupational health and safety may have a share in minimising the possibility of accidents or injuries, decreasing the costs of the products that a business produces and increasing its profit margin (7).

The profession of an academician can be defined as a civil servant working for a fee, a professional employee or a knowledge worker who can develop fiction works to intersect the intellectual paths within the university (8). As academic staff members work within an academic institution, their performance is evaluated in a way that is similar to that of office workers. Although the working environment of academicians appears to be safer when compared with the hazardous workplaces, they may contain many observed and/or unobserved risk factors (9). Academic staff can work in environments that can be affected by many personal and environmental risk factors, including physical, chemical, biological, psychosocial and ergonomic factors, as observed in other professional groups (10). The main problems that may affect the occupational health and safety of academicians are personal factors, such as workload and stress; psychological factors, such as burnout, depression and anxiety; physical factors, such as inappropriate posture, continuous repetitive movements and ergonomic features of the work environment; and environmental factors, such as noise, thermal comfort, lighting and chemicals (11).

The literature has reported that the costs associated with the loss of productivity in a work environment have a significant economic impact, and additional costs due to paying employees for sick leave and time away from work (e.g. vacations) increase this impact (12,13). When these financial factors are considered, various scales are needed to measure the impact of this health loss of employees on the workplace (14,15). Researchers have

adapted some of these scales to different languages. The most frequently used scales are the Job Satisfaction Scale, which is used to evaluate employee satisfaction and personal satisfaction problems, and the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire, which is used to examine the effect of internal and external factors on employee job satisfaction (16-18). The Work Limitations Questionnaire (WLQ) is a scale that is frequently preferred because it evaluates the relationship between the physical health and emotional problems of the employees and their lives. This scale is often used to determine employee-related influences (14).

Considering that employees' physical or emotional difficulties negatively affect the productivity of the business, the present study aimed to ensure the validity and reliability of the Dr Debra Learner's WLQ-Short Form (WLQ-SF), when adapted into Turkish, to examine the effect of physical and emotional situations on employees in the past 2 weeks.

Methods

Before beginning the study, permission was obtained from the authors of the original version of the WLQ-SF for its translation and validation in the Turkish language. The study was designed according to the Helsinki Declaration, and all the participants signed the consent form. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of University.

Study Population

The study was conducted on the academicians working at the Faculty of Health Sciences from March 2019 to June 2019. These academicians were eligible to be part of the study if they met the following participation criteria: 1) Aged between 25 and 65 years; 2) working as a faculty member at a state university; 3) having at least 3 years of academic experience and 4) are literate and willing to join the study. Participants were ineligible if they had any chronic, physical, mental and/or cognitive disease as diagnosed by a medical doctor.

In the calculation of the sample size required for performing the adaptation, reliability and validity analyses, it was envisaged that the number of items in the model should be evaluated 10 times as suggested in the study by Tabachnik et al. (19) to make reliable inferences in multivariate analyses. Therefore, the number of individuals to be included for assessing the 8-item scale was calculated to be 80. It was found that the inclusion of 100 participants with a considered non-response rate of 25 would be sufficient to obtain the necessary working power.

During the study process, 110 participants, who were working as faculty members at various state universities, were included. Of these, six participants were subsequently excluded (four did not come for the test-etest and two requested to be removed from the study). As a result, our final study population consisted of 104 academicians.

Instruments

A socio-demographic form, comprising questions about age, sex, academic experience and title, were filled out by all the participants.

The Work Limitations Questionnaire Short Form (Dr. Debra Learner's WLQ-SF) consisted of five sub-parameters and eight questions, which were selected from the WLQ, developed in 2001. The WLQ consists of 25 items that are used to evaluate the physical and emotional limitations of employees and how these affect their ability to perform the job (14). The WLQ-SF takes 10-15 minutes to complete, and it uses two questions from four dimensions related to the on-the-job work demands: time management, physical demands, mental-interpersonal demands and output demands. The recall period is 2 weeks with response categories capturing the percentage of time an employee has for meeting the respective work demand. Response options include "all of the time (100%)", "most of the time", "some of the time (about 50%)", "a slight bit of the time," "none of the time (0%)" and "does not apply to my job". A six-point Likert scale (1-6) is used for each question, allowing workers to answer items. The two physical demand questions used a reversed scale; therefore, they were reversed scored. To calculate the percentage of time an employee was unable to meet his/her job demands, the responses were converted to percentages and the average was measured to obtain a score in the range of 0-100. Therefore, an index score of 0 represents an employee who is never unable to meet his/her job demands; whereas, a score of 100 represents an employee who is always unable to meet his/her job demands.

Translation and Coss-cultural Adaptation

The WLQ-SF was translated from English to Turkish according to the standard methodology recommended by Beaton et al. (20). In Stage 1, two independent translators whose native language was Turkish did the translation of the WLQ-SF. After the synthesis of the translated versions by two native speakers, the final version of the translation was developed in Stage 2. The final Turkish version of the questionnaire was translated back from Turkish into English again by two native English speakers who could speak Turkish fluently (Stage 3). In Stage 4, this version was compared with the original version to identify any inconsistencies. No inconsistencies were found between the Turkish and the original version. Lastly, the pre-final version of the assessment was piloted in academicians (n=20) to determine the clarity of all of the items and their compatibility for Turkish participants (Stage 5). The aim of cross-cultural adaptation was to make consistency in the construct validity between the original and translated versions of the assessment scale. The WLQ-SF was evaluated twice in 104 participants with a 7-day interval to assess the test-retest reliability.

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 23.0 for Windows was used in the analysis of the data collected within the scope of the study. Statistical data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (X \pm SD), median or percentage (%). The one-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine the suitability of the data for normal distribution.

Construct Validity

The validity of the WLQ-SF scale was analysed by descriptive factor analysis. To evaluate the suitability of the factor analysis

model, the following properties were searched: chi-square score greater than 0.05, CMIN/DF value between 3 and 5, cognitive flexibility inventory (CFI) value greater than 0.9, Tucker-Lewis index (TLI) value greater than 0.9, and RMSEA value less than 0.08. In the absence of a model fit, construct validity was evaluated by explanatory factor analysis. The Kaiser-Meye-Olkin (KMO), Bartlett's sphericity (p<0.05) and Bartlett's chi-square values were analysed to assess the model fit through explanatory factor analysis.

Reliability

In our study, the test-retest reliability measured through Cronbach's alpha (α) and intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) were used to assess the reliability of the scale over time. The acceptable value for the calculated coefficient with a Cronbach's alpha ranging from 0 to 1 is considered to be 0.80 and above for a previously developed scale, and 0.70 and above for a newly developed scale is interpreted as acceptable (21-23).

Results

Descriptive Statistics

In this study, 104 academicians completed the test and retest assessments. The mean age of the participants was 37.75 ± 9.43 years (minimum =27 and maximum =64). Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of participants.

Construct Validity

The descriptive factor analysis model used to evaluate the construct validity of the WLQ-SF was not found to be suitable (CFI =0.62, chi-square: 151.796 and p<0.05; CMIN/DF: 7.5; TLI: 0.5; RMSEA: 0.25). In light of these data, explanatory factor analysis was used to assess validity. The WLQ-SF provides construct validity with a variance of 68.62% under two factors (Bartlett's test of sphericity value, 407.830; KMO value, 0.746; p=0.0001). Questions 1, 2 and 5-8 were distributed as factor 1 (workload and concentration limitation) and questions 3 and 4 were distributed as factor 2 (physical limitations of the working environment) (Table 2). In addition, there are two factors in our study. The factor 1 covers six questions based on the workload and concentration limitation as a single factor. As the questions of the scale used in our study did not distribute too many factors, rotation was not performed.

Reliability

The Cronbach's alpha was 0.83 for the whole scale, indicating that the scale has high internal consistency. When questions were excluded, the Cronbach's alpha of the scale ranged from 0.70 to 0.83 (Table 3).

Repetition of the form is a reliability analysis that is used in cases where it is possible to reach the same sample again. In this study, the reliability of the WLQ-SF was evaluated using this method. The scale was directed to 104 participants in the first application and re-commissioned to 104 people in the second application. The data obtained from the two applications were tested using the Pearson correlation coefficient. The obtained data were found to be statistically significant (Table 3).

		r parcicipanes
Characteristics		N (%)
Sax	Female	76 (73.1)
Jex	Male	28 (26.9)
	Married	82 (78.8)
Marital status	Single	15 (14.4)
	Divorced	7 (6.8)
	Research assistant (MSc)	25 (24)
	Research assistant (PhD)	18 (17.3)
Title	Assistant professor	20 (19.2)
	Associate professor	21 (20.3)
	Professor	20 (19.2)

Table 1. Some of the descriptive characteristics and distribution of participants

Table 2. Factor analysis of the WLQ-SF

	Factor components	
	Workload and concentration limitation	Physical limitations of the working environment
Question 1	0.797	
Question 2	0.747	
Question 3		0.854
Question 4		0.826
Question 5	0.742	
Question 6	0.669	
Question 7	0.815	
Question 8	0.743	
Eigenvalue	3.709	1.781
Variance (%)	46.36	22.26

Discussion

The Turkish adaptation of the WLQ-SF, which examines the effects of physical and emotional health conditions on working lives, has been found valid and reliable. Many studies have shown that individuals working as academicians have high psychological and emotional fatigue. Therefore, burnout levels are higher than that among other occupational groups (10,24,25). To evaluate these emotional conditions, we used the WLQ-SF with academicians.

The WLQ-SF uses eight questions to examine four main areas: time management, physical demands, mental-interpersonal demands and output demands. The questions are based on two factors: workload and concentration limitation, and physical limitations of the working environment. Questions about workload and concentration limitation are mostly used to evaluate emotional and psychological effects on participants' workloads. Questions about physical limitations of the working environment assess the physical influences on participants. In our study, we examined the emotional and physical job limitations in our participants. The answers suggested that the emotional and physical limitations made it difficult for all of the participants to perform their job duties well. In other words, it was found that the emotional and physical difficulties that might affect the academicians' work were not very high and their average score in all fields was below 40%. The results of the studies performed in some occupational groups with chronic diseases using this test are similar to the results of our study, given the four main areas mentioned in the test (14,26-31).

To determine the construct validity of the WLQ-SF scale, firstly, we evaluated whether the data collected for the study were suitable for factor analysis and whether the sample size was sufficient. The value of KMO test was 0.746 and the result of Bartlett's test of sphericity was found to be statistically significant (<0.001). These results show that the study sample is sufficient for factor analysis (32). In the explanatory factor analysis, the WLQ-SF scale was found to be two-factor in accordance with the literature (30,31). The factor loadings of the scale ranged between 0.669 and 0.854. In the literature, although validity and reliability studies were conducted for the WLQ-SF scale in

	Mean ± SD	a if item deleted	Item/scale correlation	Cronbach's α	Test-retest reliability (ICC)
WLQ-SF		-	-	0.83	0.960*
Question 1		0.802	0.652	-	
Question 2		0.708	0.603	-	
Time management	38.10±28.85	-	-	0.781	0.985*
Question 3		0.838	0.370	-	
Question 4		0.836	0.374	-	
Physical demands	33.78±15.75	-	-	0.866	0.986*
Question 5		0.808	0.615	-	
Question 6		0.816	0.543	-	
Mental-interpersonal demands	33.89±25.52	-	-	0.763	0.970*
Question 7		0.791	0.736	-	
Question 8		0.806	0.617	-	
Output demands	40.86±28.58	-	-	0.826	0.971*
*Pearson correlation coefficient r<0.0	1 SD: Standard devia	ation			

Table 3. Item, subscale and scale descriptive and reliability measurements (N=104)

12 other languages, the factor contents of these studies could not be found (33). While evaluating the study of the original WLQ (25 questions) conducted in 2001, we found that the questions examining the four main areas had two-factor structure similar to our study. According to the results of our study, the WLQ-SF is a valid test for the examination of job limitations in employees as academicians.

Internal consistency of the WLQ-SF scale was evaluated with Cronbach's alpha in our study. Just as in the original English and subsequent translations, the WLQ-SF scale has excellent internal consistency in all areas (14,30). As a result of the statistical analysis, the coefficient was found to be 0.83 in this study. This result shows that the Turkish version of the WLQ-SF scale is highly reliable since the Cronbach's alpha is between 0.80 and 1.00.

In this study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.78 for time management, 0.86 for physical demands, 0.76 for mental-interpersonal demands and 0.82 for output demands, which are sub-domains of the WLQ-SF. Considering that the WLQ-SF examines work limitations in these four main areas, it is found that the test is quite reliable in all subheadings. In the original version of the test with 25 questions, the Cronbach's alpha of these four main areas was reported to be 0.88 and above (14). Compared to the results of this study, this difference may be due to the difference in the number of questions between the two tests; however, it may be that the sample group consisted of employees with a chronic disease.

In our study, test-retest results were evaluated with both Pearson correlation coefficient and ICC to test the reliability of the scale. The total and four basic test-retest results were assessed according to the ICC. The results of these analyses indicated that the total of test-retest results and the results of the WLQ-SF scale correlated perfectly between 0.960 and 0.986.

According to the validity and reliability study of the original WLQ (25 question) in its original language by Lerner et al. (34), the ICC was between 0.690 and 0.860. Tamminga et al. (29) showed that the test-retest results of the total and 4 based scores in the validity and reliability study of the Dutch version of the scale were between 0.65 and 0.74 (28). Verhoef et al. (28), in the Dutch version of the 25-question scale, found that the test-retest results based on ICC were between 0.83 and 0.93 (29). Walker et al. (30) in their study using the WLQ-SF found the test-retest reliability based on ICC was between 0.62 and 0.87. When similar studies in the literature using the WLQ were analysed, it was outlined that the results of this study were similar to the results in both the original language and other languages but were statistically more reliable. In this respect, the results of this study might contribute significantly to the literature.

The WLQ-SF is an important scale that may be preferred in studies regarding detection and prevention of job productivity loss, which is one of the important issues of occupational health and safety. The WLQ-SF is a scale that can be used in different occupations. Therefore, we suggest that future studies with the WLQ-SF in individuals with various professions may contribute to the literature.

Study Limitations

The study was conducted only on academicians, which is one of the limitations of our study. Another limitation is that most of the academicians included in this study were working in the faculty of health sciences. If academicians from other faculties were also included, the results could have been stronger or more generalisable.

Conclusion

The Turkish version of the WLQ-SF was found to be a valid and reliable test for evaluating the effect of physical and emotional health in academicians. The WLQ-SF is an important scale to measure the impact of both physical and emotional health on work. It is also more useful than other scales as it is short, understandable and practical. The WLQ-SF has a two-factor structure, which is in accordance with the literature. Since the factor loadings of the WLQ-SF are between 0.669 and 0.854, the scale was found to be valid. The internal consistency of the WLQ-SF was found to be high. The test-retest analysis indicated that the invariance of the scale over time was also high. This study is an important and major contribution to the literature as it provides evidence of the validity, reliability and cross-cultural adaptation of the Turkish version of the WLQ-SF in academicians. The WLQ-SF is a shorter and timesaving alternative to the long form version. Our study provides support for using the WLQ-SF when more comprehensive measures, such as the long form version, are not feasible. Further studies are needed to examine the validity and reliability of the WLQ-SF in different employee samples and work environments.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of University.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: R.Ş., S.Ö., M.N.İ., Design: R.Ş., S.Ö., M.N.İ., Data Collection or Processing: R.Ş., Analysis or Interpretation: R.Ş., S.Ö., M.N.İ., Literature Search: R.Ş., Writing: R.Ş

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Christiansen C, Townsend EA. Introduction to Occupation: The art of science and living, 2nd ed. California: Prentice Hall; 2009.
- 2. Püsküllüoğlu A. Türkçe Sözlük. İstanbul: Yapı Kredi Yayınları; 1995.
- Özdemir NK. 4857 Sayılı İş Yasası İş Sağlığı ve Güvenliği Hükümlerinin Değerlendirilmesi İş Sağlığı ve Güvenliği. İstanbul: İstanbul Barosu Yayınları. 2004;p. 257.
- Demircioğlu M, Centel T. İş hukuku, İstanbul: Beta Yayınları, 9. Baskı, 2003; p. 143-66.

- İlhan MN, Kurtcebe ZÖ, Durukan E, Koşar L. Temizlik işçilerinin sosyodemografik özellikleri ve çalışma koşulları ile iş kazası ve meslek hastalığı sıklığı. Fırat üniversitesi sağlık bilimleri dergisi 2006;20:433-9.
- Ercan A. Türkiye'de yapı sektöründe işçi sağlığı ve güvenliğinin değerlendirilmesi.Politeknik Dergisi 2010;13:49-53.
- Ünsar S. Türkiye'de İşçi Sağlığı ve İş Güvenliği Uygulamalarının Mevcut Durumu ve Konuyla İlgili Yapılan Bir Araştırma. Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü. Unpublished Doctorial Thesis İstanbul: 2003.
- Tural NK. Universities and academic life in Turkey: Changes and challenges. International Journal of Educational Policies 2007;1:63-78.
- Ülker Tümlü G, Recepoğlu E. Üniversite Akademik Personelinin Psikolojik Dayanıklılık ve Yaşam Doyumu Arasındaki İlişki. Journal of Higher Education Science 2013:3:205-13.
- Saygun M. Sağlık Çalışanlarında İş Sağlığı ve Güvenliği Sorunları. TAF Preventive Medicine Bulletin 2012;11:337-82.
- Aravacık ED. Sağlık hizmetleri bakımından iş sağlığı ve güvenliği. Adli Bilimciler Derneği Dergisi 2014;1-4.
- Goetzel RZ, Long SR, Ozminkowski RJ, Hawkins K, Wang S, Lynch W. Health, absence, disability, and presenteeism cost estimates of certain physical and mental health conditions affecting U.S. employers. J Occup Environ Med 2004;46:398-412.
- 13. Loeppke R, Taitel M, Haufle V, Parry T, Kessler RC, Jinnett K. Health and productivity as a business strategy: a multiemployer study. J Occup Environ Med 2009;51:411-28.
- Lerner D, Amick BC 3rd, Rogers WH, Malspeis S, Bungay K, Cynn D. The Work Limitations Questionnaire. Med Care 2001;39:72-85.
- 15. Lofland JH, Pizzi L, Frick KD. A review of health-related workplace productivity loss instruments. Pharmacoeconomics 2004;22:165-84.
- 16. Spector PE. Job satisfaction: Application, assessment, causes, and consequences. California: Sage publications; 1997.
- Şat A, Doğan H, Amil O. Akademisyenlerin psikolojik ihtiyaçları ve iş doyumlarının bazı değişkenler açısından incelenmesi: Kayseri örneği. OPUS Uluslararası Toplum Araştırmaları Dergisi 2015;5:112-32.
- Türkçapar Ü. Beden eğitimi öğretmenlerinin farklı değişkenler açısından iş doyumu düzeylerinin incelenmesi. Gazi Üniversitesi Gazi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi 2012;32:331-46.
- Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS, Ullman JB. Using multivariate statistics Boston, MA: Pearson; 2007;(5):203-31.
- Beaton DE, Bombardier C, Guillemin F, Ferraz MB. Guidelines for the process of cross-cultural adaptation of self-report measures. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2000;25:3186-91.
- Şenocak M. Temel kavramlar ve klinik biyoistatistik. Ankara: Nobel Tıp Kitabevleri; 2009; p. 55-61.
- Zinbarg RE., Revelle W, Yovel I, Li, W. Cronbach's α, Revelle's β, and McDonald's H: Their relations with each other and two alternative conceptualizations of reliability. Psychometrika 2005;70:123-33.
- 23. Zinbarg RE, Yovel I, Revelle W, McDonald RP. Estimating generalizability to a latent variable common to all of a scale's indicators: A comparison of estimators for ωh. Applied Psychological Measurement 2006;30:121-44.

- Budak G, Sürgevil O. Tükenmişlik ve tükenmişliği etkileyen örgütsel faktörlerin analizine ilişkin akademik personel üzerinde bir uygulama. Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi 2005;20:95-108.
- Afşar ST. Akademisyenlerin Çalışma Yaşam Kalitesini Hacettepe Üniversitesi Üzerinden Okumak. Eğitim Bilim Toplum Dergisi 2015;13:134-73.
- Lerner D, Amick BC 3rd, Lee JC, Rooney T, Rogers WH, Chang H, et al. Relationship of employee-reported work limitations to work productivity. Med Care 2003;41:649-59.
- Tang K, Beaton DE, Amick BC 3rd, Hogg-Johnson S, Côté P, Loisel P. Confirmatory factor analysis of the Work Limitations Questionnaire (WLQ-25) in Workers' Compensation Claimants with chronic upper-limb disorders. J Occup Rehabil 2013;23:228-38.
- Verhoef JA, Miedema HS, Bramsen I, Roebroeck ME. Using the work limitations questionnaire in patients with a chronic condition in the Netherlands. J Occup Environ Med 2012;54:1293-9.
- Tamminga SJ, Verbeek JH, Frings-Dresen MH, De Boer AG. Measurement properties of the Work Limitations Questionnaire were sufficient among cancer survivors. Qual Life Res 2014;23:515-25.

- Walker TJ, Tullar JM, Diamond PM, Kohl HW 3rd, Amick BC 3rd. Validity and Reliability of the 8-Item Work Limitations Questionnaire. J Occup Rehabil 2017;27:576-83.
- 31. Takegami M, Yamazaki S, Greenhill A, Chang H, Fukuhara S. Work performance assessed by a newly developed Japanese version of the Work Limitation Questionnaire in a general Japanese adult population. J Occupational Health 2014;56:124-33.
- Akgül A, Çevik O. İstatistiksel Analiz Teknikleri "SPSS'te İşletme Yönetimi Uygulamaları. Ankara: Emek Ofset Ltd. 2003.
- Work Limitations Questionnaire Short Form (WLQ-SF). Available at: https://eprovide.mapi-trust.org/instruments/work-limitationsquestionnaire-short-form#languages . Accessed May 24, 2019.
- 34. Lerner D, Benson C, Chang H, Rogers WH, Adler D, Lyson MC, et al. Measuring the work impact of caregiving for individuals with schizophrenia and/or schizoaffective disorder with the Caregiver Work Limitations Questionnaire (WLQ). Journal of occupational and environmental medicine 2017;59:1007-16.

Effect of Stapler Booster on Post-operative Air Leakage in the Surgical Treatment of Bullous Lung Disease

Büllöz Akciğer Hastalığının Cerrahi Tedavisinde Stapler Güçlendirici Kullanmanın Postoperatif Hava Kaçağı Üzerine Etkisi

[▶] Ayten GÜNER AKBIYIK¹, [▶] Ömer Giray İNTEPE², [▶] Cemal KOCAASLAN³, [▶] Tamer OKAY⁴

İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiac Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Thoracic Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey Yurklareli State Hospital, Clinic of Thoracic Surgery, Kırklareli, Turkey

⁴Dr. Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Thoracic Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: Prolonged air leakage is a major complication of operations for bullous lung disease. This study aimed to investigate the effect of using buttressed staple lines on post-operative air leakage in patients who underwent bullous lung disease (BLD) surgery by comparing the use and non-use of buttressed staple lines.

Methods: This single-institution study included patients who underwent thoracotomy because of BLD between 2007 and 2015. Patients were retrospectively reviewed for demographic variables, operation technique, buttressed staple line usage and type and postoperative air leakage duration.

Results: We analysed 49 patients [44 (89%) men], with a mean age of 59 years. Of patients, 97.9% (n=48) had wedge resection, and 2.1% (n=1) had lobectomy. In 44% (n=22), a buttressed staple line was used. Autografts (bulla wall) were used as buttressed staple lines in 54.5% (n=12) and synthetic polytetrafluoroethylene grafts in 45.5% (n=10) of cases. The mean post-operative air leakage duration was 7±3 days in the buttressed staple line group and 8±6 days in cases without booster. Prolonged air leakage was seen in 3 patients (27%) in the buttressed staple line group and 11 (25%) in the no booster group. There was no difference between the presence and absence of booster and between organic and synthetic graft usage.

ÖZ

Amaç: Uzamış hava kaçağı büllöz akciğer hastalığı (BAH) operasyonlarının majör komplikasyonlarından biridir. Bu çalışma büllöz akciğer hastalığı nedeniyle opere edilen hastalarda stapler güçlendirici kullanımının post operatif hava kaçağı üzerine olan etkisini araştırmak amacıyla planlandı.

Yöntemler: Tek merkezli yapılan bu çalışmada 2007-2015 yılları arasında BAH nedeniyle opere edilen olgular retrospektif olarak incelendi. Hastalar yaş, cinsiyet, komorbidite (kronik obstrüktif akciğer hastalığı, koroner arter hastalığı), sigara öyküsü, operasyon tekniği, stapler güçlendirici kullanımı ve çeşidi ile postoperatif hava kaçağının süresine bakılarak değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Kırk dokuz hasta retrospektif olarak analiz edildi. Hastaların yaş ortalaması 59 idi (4879). Kayıtlı hastaların 44'ü erkekti (%89). Operasyonların %97'si (n=48) Wedge rezeksiyon ve %2'si (n=1) lobektomi idi. Operasyonların %44'ünde (n=22), stapler güçlendirici kullanılmıştı. Kullanılan stapler güçlendiricilerinin %54,5'i (n=12) otogreft (bül duvarı) ve %45,5'i (n=10) sentetik politetrafloroetilen greft idi. Stapler güçlendirici kullanılan hastalarda post operatif hava kaçağının ortalama süresi 7±3 gün (1-19 gün), kullanılmayanlarda ise 8±6 (1-25 gün) idi. Uzamış hava kaçağı stapler güçlendirici kullanılanlarda %27 (n=3), kullanılmayanlarda ise %25 (n=11) olarak saptandı. Ayrıca yapılan ikili karşılaştırmalarda eşlik eden kronik obstrüktif akciğer hastalığının hastanede kalış süresini uzattığı tespit edildi.

Address for Correspondence: Ayten GÜNER AKBIYIK, İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Thoracic Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: aytenguner@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0177-2056 Received: 06.05.2020 Accepted: 08.08.2020

Cite this article as: Kocaaslan C, Güner Akbıyık A, İntepe ÖG, Okay T. Effect of Stapler Booster on Postoperative Air Leakage in the Surgical Treatment of Bullous Lung Disease. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):290-3.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. **Conclusion:** We concluded that the use of buttressed staple lines (autograft or synthetic graft) did not create a statistically significant difference in post-operative air leakage duration when compared with patients without booster.

Keywords: Lung diseases, lung injury, lung volume measurements

Introduction

Emphysema, smoking and fibrotic diseases of the lungs are the most common etiologies of bullous lung disease (BLD) and are usually seen in men of the middle-age group (1,2). The most common complication of BLD is pneumothorax caused by the rupture of bullae into the pleural cavity (3). Wedge resection, bullectomy, bullae ligation and anatomic ligation should be performed for the surgical removal of bullous areas in the lung via thoracotomy, median sternotomy and video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery.

The most frequently preferred surgical approach for resecting the bullous area is wedge resection, which should be achieved with a buttressed or non-buttressed stapler device. Prolonged air leakage is a major complication of these surgical procedures (4-6). The use of bullae wall, bovine pericardium, polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) as a buttressed line and the resected lung is supposed to decrease air leakage and hospitalisation duration after wedge resection; however, the benefit of creating a buttressed line for preventing post-operative air leak is still controversial (7,8). This study aimed to investigate the effect of using bullae wall as autograft and PTFE as a buttress on air leakage and hospitalisation duration for lung volume reduction surgery (LVRS) in cases with BLD and to compare the outcomes of these buttressed ones between each other and with a non-buttressed staple line.

Methods

This single-institution study included patients who underwent thoracotomy for BLD between 2007 and 2015. We retrospectively analysed 62 patients' data, and 49 of them were included in the study. The study received approval from the scientific and ethical study board of the hospital (Dr. Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital 08/05/2015 - 5918), and informed consent was obtained from the patients according to guidelines of the Helsinki Declaration.

All operations were performed via thoracotomy. Age, gender, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and coronary artery disease (CAD) existence, smoking history, operation type, operation technique, post-operative air leakage duration, hospitalisation duration and other complications were documented. The use of buttressed lines during the operations was grouped as none (Group I) or used (Group II). Then, Group II was further subdivided as follows: bullae wall/autograft (Group IIa) and PTFE (Group IIb). The effects of using bullae wall and PTFE as a buttress on air leakage and hospitalisation duration

Sonuç: Çalışmamızda büllöz akciğer hastalarının cerrahi tedavisinde stapler güçlendirici (otogreft veya sentetik greft) kullanımının postoperatif hava kaçağı süresi üzerine istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bir fark yaratmadığı sonucuna ulaşılmıştır.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Akciğer hasarı, akciğer hastalıkları, akciğer volum ölçümleri

for surgical treatment of BLD were investigated. The outcomes of Groups I and II were compared, and a subgroup analysis was applied for Group II.

For statistical analyses, the Number Cruncher Statistical System 2007 (Kaysville, Utah, USA) software was used. To evaluate the study data, descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, minimum and maximum) were used. Mann-Whitney U test was used in the two-group comparison of parameters without normal distribution. To compare qualitative data, Fisher's exact test and Continuity Correction test (Yates corrected chi-square) were used. Significance was evaluated as p<0.05.

Results

The mean age of the patients was 59 (range; 48-79) years, and 44 (89.9%) out of 49 were men. Of patients, 31 (63%) had a smoking history, 25 (51%) had COPD and 12 (24%) had CAD. Right-sided thoracotomy was performed in 33 (67.3%) patients. Of patients, 48 (97.9%) had wedge resection and 1 (2.1%) lobectomy procedure. Stapler booster was used in 22 (44%) patients: 6 (27.2%) bullae wall and 16 (72.7%) PTFE graft (Table 1). Post-operative complications were reported in 19 (38.7%) patients. The most frequent complication was prolonged air leakage and detected in 17 (34.6%) patients. The mean post-operative air leakage durations were 8 \pm 5 (range; 1-25) days for all groups, 8 \pm 6 days for Group I, 7 \pm 3 days for Group IIa and 7 \pm 3 days for Group IIb.

Prolonged air leakage was noted in 33.3% (n=9) of cases in Group I and 31.8% (n=7) in Group II. There was no significant difference between Groups I and II (p=0.843) and between Groups IIa and IIb (p=0.843; Table 2).

The mean hospitalisation duration was 10 ± 7 (range; 3-40) days in the dual comparisons performed, and hospital stay duration was not different between the groups. Only the presence of COPD as concomitant comorbidity was found to increase hospitalisation duration significantly (p=0.007; Table 3).

Discussion

Air leakage is a major complication seen in those who are operated because of BLD (6), with a prevalence of 37% in the literature (9), which is a score high enough to be considered. Therefore, we evaluated the effect of buttressed staple lines on post-operative air leakage.

Study Limitations

Our study found that the use of buttressed (autograft or PTFE) staple lines in the surgical treatment of BLD did not affect post-operative air leakage and hospitalisation duration. We also reported that the presence of COPD increases hospitalisation duration.

In the National Emphysema Treatment Trial (NETT), there was no difference between cases in which a buttressed line was used or not in LVRS for post-operative prolonged air leakage and hospitalisation duration. The effect of using a buttressed staple line on prolonged air leakage was also investigated in the NETT in which 580 patients underwent LVRS (8). NETT investigators recorded the materials used for staple line buttressing as bovine pericardium and PTFE, and no buttressing materials were used in less than 5% of patients. They found no difference between patients with and without supported stapler lines for post-operative air leakage. In this study, it was stated that air leak was accompanied by LVRS in 90% of patients and often caused long hospitalisation duration. In contrast, other studies have shown that a supporting stapler line considerably reduces the length of post-operative air leakage, but this has not reduced hospitalisation duration. It was argued that the occurrence and duration of air leaks are dependent on the characteristics of the disease of patients and are not for specific surgical techniques. In contrast, there are studies showing that a supporting stapler line considerably reduces the length of post-operative air leakage, but this has not reduced hospitalisation duration (7,8).

There are many comparative studies on the effects of using a buttressed staple line on post-operative air leaks (10,11). Stammberger et al.(11) examined 65 patients who underwent LVRS and found that buttressing the staple line with bovine pericardium significantly shortened air leak duration and drainage time (12).

Drahush et al. (13) developed a standardised approach for air leak reduction (STAR) after lung resection. The following three independent factors were reported to reduce air leaks in this study: fissureless operative technique, staple line buttressing and protocol-driven chest tube management. A remarkable decrease in post-operative prolonged air leak was recorded in 475 patients using STAR for pulmonary resection.

Conclusion

. . . .

In the literature, the effect of using a buttressed staple line

able 1. Localisation, buttressed staple li	ne types and operation methods for all cases
--	--

		n	%
Localization (n=49)	Right	33	67.3
	Left	16	32.7
Buttressed staple line type (n=22)	Bullae wall/ autograft	б	27.2
	PTFE	16	72.8
O_{2}	Wedge	48	97.9
Operation (II=49)	Lobectomy	1	2.1

PTFE: Polytetrafluoroethylene

Table 2. The	errect or using a duttressed sta	ple line and its type on a	air leakage duration	
		Air leakage duration (day	s)	0
Min - max		Mean ± SD		þ
Buttressed staple line	No (n=27)	1-25	8±6	0.843
	Yes (n=22)	1-19	7±3	010 15
Auto graft	Yes (n=6)	1-19	7±3	0.843
PTFE graft	Yes (n=16)	1-19	7±3	0.045

. ..

PTFE: Polytetrafluoroethylene, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Table 3. The effect of concomitant CAD and presence of COPD on hospitalisation duration

Median		Hospitalisation duration (days)				
Median		Mean ± SD		р		
CAD	Yes (n=12)	5-32 (7)	11±9.1	0.930		
COPD	Yes (n=25)	7-40 (24)	23.2±148	0.007*		

CAD: Coronary artery disease, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, SD: Standard deviation

on post-operative air leakage and hospitalisation duration is controversial. Our study showed that the use of a buttressed staple line (autograft or synthetic graft) did not achieve a significant difference in post-operative air leakage duration when compared with patients without booster. Randomised prospective studies with more patients are needed.

Acknowledgements

Thank you Mehmet Ünaldı, MD, and Emine Şeyma Denli Yalvaç, MD, for your help in reviewing the article.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Dr. Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery Training and Research Hospital 08/05/2015- 5918.

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patients according to guidelines of the Helsinki Declaration.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: A.G.B., Ö.G.İ., Concept: A.G.B., C.K., T.O., Design: A.G.B., Ö.G.İ., C.K., T.O., Data Collection or Processing: A.G.B., Ö.G.İ., Analysis or Interpretation: A.G.B., C.K., T.O., Literature Search: A.G.B., Ö.G.İ., Writing: A.G.B., Ö.G.İ., C.K., T.O.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Morgan MD, Denison DM, Strickland B. Value of computed tomography for selecting patients with bullous lung disease for surgery. Thorax 1986;41:855-62.
- Laros CD, Gelissen HJ, Bergstein PG, Van den Bosch JM, Vanderschueren RG, Westermann CJ, et al. Bullectomy for giant bullae in emphysema. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1986;91:63-70.

- Deslauriers J, Beaulieu M, Després JP, Lemieux M, Leblanc J, Desmeules M. Transaxillary pleurectomy for treatment of spontaneous pneumothorax. Ann Thorac Surg 1980;30:569-74.
- 4. Van Raemdonck D, Ninane V. Lung volume reduction for severe emphysema: do we need a scalpel or a scope?European Respiratory Review 2010;19:242-7.
- Weder W, Thurnheer R, Stammberger U, Bürge M, Russi EW, Bloch KE. Radiologic emphysema morphology is associated with outcome after surgical lung volume reduction. Ann Thorac Surg 1997;64:313-9.
- Bloch KE, Georgescu CL, Russi EW, Weder W. Gain and subsequent loss of lung function after lung volume reduction surgery in cases of severe emphysema with different morphologic patterns. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002;123:845-54.
- McKenna RJ Jr, Fischel RJ, Brenner M, Gelb AF. Use of the Heimlich valve to shorten hospital stay after lung reduction surgery for emphysema. Ann Thorac Surg 1996;61:1115-7.
- Miller JI Jr, Landreneau RJ, Wright CE, Santucci TS, Sammons BH. A comparative study of buttressed versus nonbuttressed staple line in pulmonary resections. Ann Thorac Surg 2001;71:319-22.
- DeCamp MM, Blackstone EH, Naunheim KS, Krasna MJ, Wood DE, Meli YM, et al. Patient and surgical factors influencing air leak after lung volume reduction surgery: lessons learned from the National Emphysema Treatment Trial. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:197-206.
- 10. Tanaka F, Itoh M, Esaki H, Isobe J, Ueno Y, Inoue R. Secondary spontaneous pneumothorax. Ann Thorac Surg 1993;55:372-6.
- Stammberger U, Klepetko W, Stamatis G, Hamacher J, Schmid RA, Wisser W, et al. Buttressing the staple line in lung volume reduction surgery: a randomized three-center study. Ann Thorac Surg 2000;70:1820-5.
- 12. Murray KD, Ho CH, Hsia JY, Little AG. The influence of pulmonary staple line reinforcement on air leaks. Chest 2002;122:2146-9.
- Drahush N, Miller AD, Smith JS, Royer AM, Spiva M, Headrick JR Jr. Standardized Approach to Prolonged Air Leak Reduction After Pulmonary Resection. Ann Thorac Surg 2016;101:2097-101.



Generation of Bone Tissue Using Adipose Tissue-derived Stem Cells

Adipoz Kökenli Kök Hücre Kullanımıyla Kemik Doku Üretimi

២ Emre Gönenç BAYGÖL¹, № Ethem GÜNEREN¹, № Mehmet Veli KARAALTIN¹, № Halil İbrahim CANTER³, № Kahraman ÖZTÜRK², № Ercüment OVALI⁴, № Mustafa Aykut ÖZPUR¹, № Kemalettin YILDIZ¹, № Fatma EYÜBOĞLU⁴

¹Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Plastic Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Science Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics, İstanbul, Turkey ³Acıbadem University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Plastic Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴Acıbadem University, LabCell, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: Bone grafts and even bone substitutes do not meet all of the requirements of bony reconstructions. The aim of this study was to generate bone tissue from autologous adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ATDMSCs) and decellularised bone allografts.

Methods: A 1.5 cm bone defect developed in the middle third of the rabbit's ulna. Reconstructions were carried out using miniplate and screws and interpositional autogenous bone grafts according to the designs of the groups: (1) No touch, (2) cryopreserved, (3) decellularised and (4) ATDMSCs-implanted decellularised bones. Before implantation, ATDMSCs in the last group were labelled with Q-dot and identified microscopically.

Results: Graft recovery and irregular callus formation were observed in the first, second and forth groups. In the first group, the organisation of Haversian systems, the structure of the lacunae and the presence of canaliculi ossiums were observed; in the second group, approximately 40% of the Haversian canals contained blood vessels, and canaliculi ossiums in the form of thin filaments were found in 90% of the microscopically examined areas; in the third group, most Haversian canals were empty, most osteocyte canals were devoid of cells, and canaliculi ossiums were absent; in the fourth

ÖZ

Amaç: Kemik doku onarımda altın standart olan otojen kemik greftleri her zaman tüm gereksinimleri karşılayamamaktadır. Bu çalışmanın amacı, otojen yağ doku kaynaklı mezenkimal kök hücrelerin (ATDMSC) ve hücresizleştirilmiş kemik allo greftlerinin kombinasyonunu kullanarak kemik dokusu üretmektir.

Yöntemler: Tavşan ulnasının 1/3 orta segmentinde oluşturulan 1,5 cm'lik bir kemik defektine, grup tasarımlarına göre, gruplar; 1: kontrol; 2: krio ile muamele edilmiş kemik grefti; 3: hücresizleştirilmiş kemik grefti; 4: ATDMSC implante edilmiş hücresizleştirilmiş kemik grefti olacak şekilde mini plak ve vida ile osteosentez yapıldı.

Bulgular: Birinci, ikinci ve dördüncü grupta greft iyileşmesi ve düzensiz kallus oluşumu gözlendi. Birinci grupta, haversian sistemlerinin organizasyonu, lakunların yapısı ve canaliculi ossiumların varlığı gözlendi; İkinci grupta, havers kanallarının yaklaşık %40'ı kan damarları içeriyordu ve mikroskobik olarak incelenen alanların %90'ında ince filamentler şeklinde kanalikül ossiumları vardı; Üçüncü grupta, havers kanallarının çoğu boştu, osteosid kanallarının çoğu hücre içermiyordu ve orada kanaliküller ossiumu yoktu; dördüncü grupta, havers kanallarının bir kısmı kan damarları içermekteydi ve hücresizleştirmeye bağlı olarak

Address for Correspondence: Ethem GÜNEREN, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Plastic Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: eguneren@bezmialem.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5981-7010

Cite this article as: Güneren E, Baygöl EG, Karaaltın MV, Canter Hİ, Öztürk K, Ovalı E, Özpur MA, Yıldız K, Eyüboğlu F. Generation of Bone Tissue Using Adipose Tissue-derived Stem Cells. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):294-300.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 11.10.2019 Accepted: 24.04.2020 group, some of the Haversian canals contained blood vessels, and there were partly lacunae containing cells due to decellularisation, whereas in approximately 50% of the examined microscope areas, the presence of canaliculi ossiums with evidence of mesenchymal stem cells differentiated into osteocytes was demonstrated by Q-dot traced cells.

Conclusion: In this study, the establishment of a proper niche environment for adipose-derived mesenchymal cells promotes their development into osteogenic cells.

Keywords: Tissue, stem cell, adipose, mesenchyme, regeneration

hücreleri içeren kısmen lakazlar mevcutken, incelenen mikroskop alanlarının yaklaşık %50'sinde, osteositlere farklılaşan mezenkimal kök hücrelerin varlığı ile canaliculi ossium varlığı moleküler testler ile kanıtlandı.

Sonuç: ATDMSC ile uygun bir niş ortamının oluşturulması halinde kemik greftinin yaşayabilirliğinde artış sağlandı ve bunun ATDMSC'lerin osteojenik hücrelere dönüşüm yoluyla olduğu gösterildi.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Doku, kök hücre, yağ, mezenkimal, rejenerasyon

Introduction

Autogenous bone grafting is the gold standard in the repair of bony defects. Infection, nonunion, the need for prolonged immobilisation and recovery, donor area shortage and morbidity and the difficulty of three-dimensional shaping, in addition to suboptimal results, continue to be challenging problems (1-3).

Allografts have advantages such as the lack of donor area morbidity, successful long-term results than autogenous bone grafts and a shorter operation period. However, allografts have disadvantages such as potential rejection, the risk of infectious disease transmission, the need for a high-tech infrastructure and the associated high costs (4,5).

Tissue engineering studies and the use of stem cells to enhance viability, osseointegration and ossification via cell migration into artificial and/or alloplastic demineralised bone matrices or decellularised tissues are promising (6-10).

The aim of our study was to regenerate bone tissue using cultured adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ATDMSCs) integrated in a decellularised bone matrix.

Methods

The present study was approved by the Local Institutional Animal Research Ethics Committee. Moreover, 24 rabbits weighing 3,500-4,000 g were used. The procedures were carried out under general anaesthesia. Fat tissue samples were taken from the inguinal region of an animal that was not used in the study due to the animals being from an inbred animal pool. Furthermore, Q-tracker cell labelling kits were used to culture, characterise and label ATDMSCs. Bone grafts were decellularised and then were incubated with ATDMSCs.

ATDMSCs' Culture

The fat tissue was washed in foetal bovine serum (FBS). The washing procedure was repeated until all blood and connective tissue particles were removed and minced into small pieces. By centrifuging the resultant digested material at 800 g, adipocytes and free oil were separated from the stromovascular components. The cells were suspended and plated into 150-cm² culture flasks in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium-Low Glucose (DMEM-

LG) (SH3002101; HyClone) containing 10% FBS (SV3016003; HyClone) and 1% penicillin. The culture medium was changed every 3 days, and the cells were grown to 70% confluence.

Passage 1: When the cells reached 70% confluence, the medium was removed from the flasks. The flasks were then filled with 10 mL of trypsin/ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid solution and incubated in an incubator for 5 min. After trypsin reaction was neutralised with 1 mL of FBS, the cells were collected in a tube and centrifuged with FBS at 400 g. The cells were resuspended in fresh complete medium before being seeded in flasks.

Passage 2: When the cells reached 70% confluence, the medium was removed from the flasks. The cells were then trypsinised and resuspended in fresh complete medium. Following that, a 1 mL sample was taken for analysis.

Characterisation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

After passage 2, the cells were incubated for 45 min at room temperature with 1 μ g of R-phycoerythrin (PE)-, fluorescein isothiocyanate and allophycocyanin -conjugated antibodies and isotype-matched control immunoglobulin Gs. After incubation and washing, the samples were analysed for mesenchymal stem cells with CD45, HLA-DR, CD34, CD90, CD105 and CD73 antibodies using a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur®).

Cell Labelling

Stem cells were labelled using Q-tracker cell labelling kits (Invitrogen[®]), which are designed for loading cells grown in culture with highly fluorescent Q-dot nanocrystals. Moreover, Q-dot nanocrystals target the cytoplasm of living cells. Components A and B were pre-mixed in a tube and incubated at room temperature for 5 min. The tube was filled with fresh complete medium and centrifuged for 30 s. After that, the cells were added and incubated at 37 °C for 45-60 min before washing twice with complete growth medium. Moreover, flow cytometry was used to visualise labelled live cells using appropriate filters.

Flow Cytometry Analysis of Labelled ATDMSCs

Flow cytometry was used to analyse labelled and unlabelled cells using the appropriate filter (FL2) for red emission. Furthermore, 98.7% of the ATDMSCs were labelled, while 0% were not.

Bone Decellularisation

The bone graft, kept at 2 °C-8 °C, was washed in PBS containing 1% povidone iodine. In order to remove the povidone iodine, it was washed twice with PBS. The washed graft was decellularised for 24 hours in 1% SDS and 1% Triton X-100. The graft was cleared of SDS and Triton X-100 after being washed in a physiological saline solution containing antibiotics and DNase for 24 hours. Further, the graft was kept at 2 °C-8 °C in a container fluid with 1% antibiotics until it was surgically adapted or loaded with cells.

Preparation of Biobone

ATDMSCs were cultured on the outside and inside of the bone graft and were grown in a low glucose DMEM containing 10% PBS and 1% antibiotics. After medium and cell replenishment on the third day of culture and after its addition to the bone graft containing ATDMSCs and bone meal on the fifth day, it was cultured for another day before implantation.

Groups

Groups were formed as (n=6) (1) no touch, (2) cryopreserved, (3) decellularised and (4) ATDMSCs-implanted decellularised bones used as grafts.

Surgical Procedures

After cleaning, the rabbit was placed in a supine position, and both forearms were shaved up to the proximal of the elbow and covered with a sterile polyvinylpyrrolidone iodine (polyvidoniodine) 10% (Batticon[®], Adeka İlaç Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş., TR) solution. Skin flaps were elevated after a 5 cm incision was performed on the dorsal side of the right forearm. By dissecting the forearm muscles, the ulna was exposed through the subperiosteal plane. Then, at the middle, one-third of the ulna was resected to form a full-thickness defect.

The first group consisted of autografts (Figure 1). In the second group, the resected fragments were stored at -80 °C for 24 hours before being preserved as a bone graft. In the third group, the defect was reconstructed using decellularised bone grafts prepared from the other leg of the rabbit. In the fourth group, the defect was again reconstructed with a decellularised graft and implanted with previously cultured adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells prepared from the other leg. In all groups, the prepared bone grafts were secured with six-hole plate and four screws. After wound was closed, a splint was placed on the forearm.

Before the rabbits were sacrificed at the end of the sixth week of study, all groups were subjected to a perfusion test with India ink.

Evaluation

Followingdecalcification, specimenswerestained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for a general morphological evaluation. The second series of sections taken for histomorphological evaluations, on the other hand, were stained with Schmorl's picro-thionin stain. The stained sections were examined with an Olympus BX51 photomicroscope and photographed with an Olympus DP72 camera. For histopathological scoring, bone tissues in each section were examined with x400 zoom in at least three similar areas. A semiquantitative scoring was carried out: (1) the number of empty osteocyte lacunae, (2) the presence of stained canaliculi ossium in each area by dividing the microscope area in four, and (3) the number of empty Haversian canals were evaluated. Furthermore, two experienced histologists performed the histopathological scoring blindly.

Statistical Analysis

An ANOVA test was used to compare more than two groups, taking into account the number of samples and the distribution of data within the groups. In addition, the post hoc Tukey test was used to compare the groups to one another. In the measurements that were taken, there is a 95% confidence interval. For the analysis, the MedCalc statistical software (MedCalc Software, Acacialaan 22, B-8400 Ostend, Belgium) was used, and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

During the macroscopic examination, graft recovery and irregular callus formation on the plate-screws were observed in all groups. In the third group, graft recovery is lower than in others.

The Results of Bone Staining with India Ink Injection

According to the flow cytometry analysis of labelled ATDMSCs for red emission, 98.7% were labelled.

All grafts from the first group were stained. Moreover, four of the six grafts from the second and fourth groups, as well as three of the six grafts from the third group, were stained.

Microscopic Analysis

In the first group, osteocytes in regular morphology, canaliculi ossium and Haversian canals together with Haversian systems were observed (Figure 2A); in the second group, Haversian systems similar to the first group were observed, but there was



Figure 1. Interpositional bone graft fixation with plate and screws and some polypropylene sutures

an increase in the presence of empty osteocyte lacunae (Figure 2C). In the third group, most of the osteocyte lacunae within the structure of Haversian systems were empty, with only a few lacunae filled with osteocyte (Figure 2E); in the fourth group, the osteocyte lacunae within the structure of Haversian systems were empty, but the number of lacunae filled with cells was increased (Figure 2G).

Schmorl's picro-thionin stained specimens in all groups, lacunae containing osteocyte were observed in fusiform and in brown, canaliculi ossium were observed as thin brown filaments between the lacunae, and the blood vessels within the Haversian canals were observed in various shades of brown.



Figure 2. On H&E and Schmorl's picro-thionin stained specimens: 2A, regular osteocytes, canaliculi ossium with Haversian systems; 2C, an increase in the presence of empty osteocyte lacunae; 2E, most of the osteocyte lacunae were empty; 2G, osteocyte lacunae were empty; 2 B, Haversian systems, the lacunae and the presence of canaliculi ossium; 2D, near 40% of the Haversian canals contained blood vessels; 2F, the Haversian canals were empty, the osteocyte canals did not contain any cells and no canaliculi ossium; 2G, the Haversian canals contained blood vessels, empty osteocyte lacunae

In the bone tissue samples from the first group, the organisation of Haversian systems, the structure of the lacunae and the presence of canaliculi ossium were all observed to be in normal morphology (Figure 2B); in the second group, approximately 40% of the Haversian canals contained blood vessels, the number of osteocyte canals observed to be empty increased in comparison to the control group, and canaliculi ossium in the form of thin filaments were found in 90% of microscope areas (Figure 2D); in the third group, most of the Haversian canals were empty, most of the osteocyte canals did not contain any cells, and there were no canaliculi ossium in most of the microscope areas (Figure 2F); in the fourth group, it was discovered that some of the Haversian canals contained blood vessels, that the number of osteocyte lacunae observed to be empty was high once more, but that there were partly lacunae containing cells. In approximately 50% of the examined microscope areas, canaliculi ossium was observed (Figure 2H).

ATDMSCs labelled with Q-dot were identified microscopically in histologic samples from the fourth group. These microscopic views were compared to histologic samples from the third group that had not been marked with Q-dot and others (Figures 3).

Statistical Results

Tukey test was used to compare each of the groups. Moreover, Tukey test shows that the fullness of lacunae in groups 1 and 3-4 is significantly different (p<0.05). The fullness of lacunae also differs significantly (p<0.05) between groups 2 and 4. The fullness of canaliculi differed significantly between groups 1 and 3-4. The fullness of canaliculi in group 4 is 47% and in group 3



Figure 3. ATDMSCs marked with Q-dot were microscopically identified in histologic samples of fourth group. 3A, Preimplant view of Q-dot nanocrystals; 3B-C, postimplant view of Q-dot nanocrystals, showing the cytoplasm of living cells; 3D, postimplant view of the third group, with no Q-dot nanocrystals

is 20%, but there is no statistically significant difference (p>0.05) (Graphs 1 and 2).

Discussion

The bone graft serves as a template on the recipient area on for recovery (osteoconduction) and leads to the formation of a new bone tissue by inducing osteoprogenitor cells in the host tissue (osteoinduction). It takes at least 3 weeks to start forming new bone tissue (4-6).

Although autogenous bone grafts are the gold standard, they have some disadvantages, including limited availability, the creation of a new operative field, prolonged operative time, donor area morbidity, additional cost, resorption risk and difficulty in shaping (1-3).

Allografts, which come in cortical, cancellous and demineralised bone matrix forms, have advantages such as not causing donor area morbidity, having successful long-term results when compared to autogenous bone grafts and requiring no additional operative time. However, allografts also have disadvantages such as the risk of rejection, the risk of infectious disease contagion,



Graphic 1. The number of the grafts that were stained or unstained with Indian ink



Graphic 2. The percentage of fullness of Haversian canaliculi, fullness of lacunae, and fullness of canaliculi

the risk of resorption and the need for a high-tech infrastructure with correspondingly high costs (4,5).

Alternative bone grafts include synthetic ceramics, silicate-based materials and polymers, which do not cause donor area morbidity and do not pose a risk of disease transmission. Hydroxyapatite made of synthetic ceramics, bioactive glass made of silicate-based materials and polymethyl methacrylate made of polymers are materials that are preferred in cosmetic and reconstructive facial surgery (3-5). However, besides their costs, these substances cannot provide adequate stability for the repair of defects in big and load-bearing bones due to their fragile structure, so their use is limited to the craniofacial zone (4,6).

Adult stem cells, such as ATDMSCs and bone marrow-derived stem cells (BMDSCs), hold tremendous promise in regenerative medicine (10). Traditional treatments for degenerative skeletal defects and wounds include allograft, autograft and synthetic implant applications, but these are inadequate for some defects (11). However, complications of these techniques include donor area morbidity, inadequate tissue provision, the emergence of immunogenicity and implant loss (12-14). The use of autologous ATDMSCs in the treatment of tissue replacements reduces the immune response and provides more sources than BMDSCs. In order to form a tissue engineering structure specific to the tissue, two important components must be present: (1) tissue-specific cells and (2) a biocompatible, mechanically suitable tissue scaffold to which the cells can stick and form an extracellular matrix have been used by researchers in the treatment of tendon, cartilage and bone repair (15-19), which encourages regeneration in the defect area. The cells cultivated scaffolds as a result of tissue engineering. As the use of ATDMSCs and other stem cell types in tissue engineering studies increases, so do studies on improving the tissue scaffold medium. In order to discuss the use of ATDMSCs in the formation of bone tissue-equivalent tissue, it is important to know the differences between BMDSC and ATDMSCs.

Most ATDMSC tissue engineering studies up to this point have been basically derived from BMDSCs studies, so excluding BMDSCs would be a huge mistake. Until now, the majority of stem cell studies have relied on BMDSCs (20). However, because the source of these cells is limited, their extensive commercial use is limited, and the studies focus on ATDMSCs. In contrast to bone marrow, fat tissue is more plentiful and easily accessible. ATDMSCs and BMDSCs have comparable cell yield, cell expansion, growth kinetics and differentiation (21).

Obtaining a large number of ATDMSCs and a high cell yield is much easier than isolating BMDSCs. While some studies show that ATDMSCs, like BMDSCs, undergo osteogenic, myogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic transformations, the results of other studies have led to increased discussions about the differentiation potential of ATDMSCs (21-25). While some researchers claim that there is no difference in the differentiation of ATDMSCs and BMDSCs (26), others have reported that ATDMSC differentiation is inadequate in comparison to BMDSC differentiation (27-31). Aust et al. (21) compared the differentiation potential of BMDSCs to that of ATDMSCs and found no difference in their ability for chemically induced differentiation. Similarly, Hattori et al. (24) found that BMDSCs and ATDMSCs cultured in osteogenic medium produce similar results in terms of calcium phosphate accumulation and osteocalcin release. According to Im et al. (29) and Mehlhorn et al. (27), these two cell types do not have the same ability for osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation. After 2 and 3 weeks of tracking, Im et al. (29) revealed that BMDSCs are clearly superior to ATDMSCs in terms of mineralisation and alkaline phosphatase activity and have similar results in chondrogenic markers. While drawing attention to the concerns that ATDMSCs have lower stem cell potential than BMDSCs in different studies, it is important to note that there is no agreement on the data. Considering their differences in surface markers that they express, medium requirements for differentiation (31) and genes that they are influenced by during differentiation, ATDMSCs are not less potent than BMDSCs, but they behave differently. For recent specific cell populations, there are obvious differences in gene expression profiles between ATDMSCs and BMDSCs (27). Despite evidence supporting the natural differences between ATDMSCs and BMDSCs, there is a need for further studies on cell behaviours before they can be used effectively in tissue engineering practices.

The reason for the overall superior results in the bone autograft group compared to the allograft ATDMSC group could be due to the decellularisation method, which might have damaged the ultrastructure of the bone scaffold, impairing the optimal environment for osteogenesis (32,33).

Study Limitations

In the examination of the samples from the third group, where reconstructed bones were applied as graft after decellularisation, and from the fourth group, where bones were similarly applied as graft with ATDMSC cultivation after reconstruction and decellularisation, the fact that the fourth group showed a more positive result in terms of fullness of canaliculus can be interpreted as a positive effect on recovery caused by stem cells through regeneration.

The presence of Q-dot stained cells in the lacunae in the specimens of group four strongly suggests that these cells have been developed from the mesenchymal stem cells that were loaded on the decellularised bone grafts. This finding indicates the ability of the ATDMSCs to develop into osteogenic cells that can promote tissue regeneration and perhaps may serve as the foundation for future bone tissue engineering studies.

Conclusion

In an optimal stem cell niche environment, ATDMSCs have a high potential for osteogenic tissue formation. Now that the osteogenic effect of stem cells has been proven, we believe that focusing studies in bone tissue engineering on tissue scaffolds as well as bone decellularisation methods will yield more positive results in clinical practices. Acknowledgement: This study was funded by the Turkish Ministry of Science and Technology (SanTez Code; 01103. STZ.2011-2) and was carried out in Bezmialem Vakıf University Animal Research Laboratory.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The present study was approved by the Local Institutional Animal Research Ethics Committee.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: E.G., E.G.B., M.V.K., H.İ.C., K.Ö., E.O., M.A.Ö., K.Y., F.E., Design: E.G., E.G.B., M.V.K., H.İ.C., K.Ö., E.O., M.A.Ö., K.Y., F.E., Data Collection or Processing: E.G., E.G.B., M.V.K., H.İ.C., K.Ö., E.O., M.A.Ö., K.Y., F.E., Analysis or Interpretation: E.G., E.G.B., M.V.K., H.İ.C., K.Ö., E.O., M.A.Ö., K.Y., F.E., Literature Search: E.G., E.G.B., M.V.K., H.İ.C., K.Ö., E.O., M.A.Ö., K.Y., F.E., Writing: E.G., E.G.B., M.V.K., H.İ.C., K.Ö., E.O., M.A.Ö., K.Y., F.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Taylor BC, French BG, Fowler TT, Russell J, Poka A. Induced membrane technique for reconstruction to manage bone loss. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2012;20:142-50.
- Goodrich JT, Sandler AL, Tepper O. A review of reconstructive materials for use in craniofacial surgery bone fixation materials, bone substitutes, and distractors. Childs Nerv Syst 2012;28:1577-88.
- 3. Hagen A, Gorenoi V, Schönermark MP. Bone graft substitutes for the treatment of traumatic fractures of the extremities. GMS Health Technol Assess 2012;8:Doc04.
- 4. Costantino PD, Hiltzik D, Govindaraj S, Moche J. Bone healing and bone substitutes. Facial Plast Surg 2002;18:13-26.
- Roberts TT, Rosenbaum AJ. Bone grafts, bone substitutes and orthobiologics: the bridge between basic science and clinical advancements in fracture healing. Organogenesis 2012;8:114-24.
- 6. Cornell CN. Osteoconductive materials and their role as substitutes for autogenous bone grafts. Orthop Clin North Am 1999;30:591-8.
- 7. Dong Y, Chen X, Hong Y. Tissue-engineered bone formation in vivo for artificial laminae of the vertebral arch using β -tricalcium phosphate bioceramics seeded with mesenchymal stem cells. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2013;38:1300-6.
- Calis M, Demirtas TT, Atilla P, Tatar İ, Ersoy O, Irmak G, et al. Estrogen as a novel agent for induction of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for osteogenic differentiation: in vivo bone tissue-engineering study. Plast Reconstr Surg 2014;133:499-510.
- Choi JW, Park EJ, Shin HS, Shin IS, Ra JC, Koh KS. In vivo differentiation of undifferentiated human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in critical-sized calvarial bone defects. Ann Plast Surg 2014;72:225-33.

- Ozpur MA, Guneren E, Canter HI, Karaaltin MV, Ovali E, Yogun FN, ve ark. Generation of Skin Tissue Using Adipose Tissue-Derived Stem Cells. Plast Reconstr Surg 2016;137:134-43.
- Khan Y, Yaszemski MJ, Mikos AG, Laurencin CT. Tissue engineering of bone: material and matrix considerations. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2008;90:36-42.
- Ringe J, Kaps C, Burmester GR, Sittinger M. Stem cells for regenerative medicine: advances in the engineering of tissues and organs. Naturwissenschaften 2002;89:338-51.
- Moore WR, Graves SE, Bain GI. Synthetic bone graft substitutes. ANZ J Surg 2001;71:354-61.
- 14. Hui JH, Ouyang HW, Hutmacher DW, Goh JC, Lee EH. Mesenchymal stem cells in musculoskeletal tissue engineering: a review of recent advances in National University of Singapore. Ann Acad Med Singap 2005;34:206-12.
- Endres M, Hutmacher DW, Salgado AJ, Kaps C, Ringe J, Reis RL, et al. Osteogenic induction of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells in novel synthetic polymer-hydrogel matrices. Tissue Eng 2003;9:689-702.
- Bruder SP, Kraus KH, Goldberg VM, Kadiyala S. The effect of implants loaded with autologous mesenchymal stem cells on the healing of canine segmental bone defects. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1998; 80:985-96.
- Arinzeh TL, Peter SJ, Archambault MP, van den Bos C, Gordon S, Kraus K, et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells regenerate bone in a critical-sized canine segmental defect. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003;85:1927-35.
- Schantz JT, Hutmacher DW, Lam CX, Brinkmann M, Wong KM, Lim TC, et al. Repair of calvarial defects with customised tissueengineered bone grafts II. Evaluation of cellular efficiency and efficacy in vivo. Tissue Eng 2003;9:127-39.
- Quarto R, Mastrogiacomo M, Cancedda R, Kutepov SM, Mukhachev V, Lavroukov A, et al. Repair of large bone defects with the use of autologous bone marrow stromal cells. N Engl J Med 2001;344:385-6.
- Park JS, Chu JS, Cheng C, Chen F, Chen D, Li S. Differential effects of equiaxial and uniaxial strain on mesenchymal stem cells. Biotechnol Bioeng 2004;88:359-68.
- Aust L, Devlin B, Foster SJ, Halvorsen YD, Hicok K, du Laney T, et al. Yield of human adipose-derived adult stem cells from liposuction aspirates. Cytotherapy 2004;6:7-14.
- 22. Weinzierl K, Hemprich A, Frerich B. Bone engineering with adipose tissue derived stromal cells. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2006;34:466-71.

- Halvorsen YD, Franklin D, Bond AL, Hitt DC, Auchter C, Boskey AL, et al. Extracellular matrix mineralization and osteoblast gene expression by human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells. Tissue Eng 2001;7:729-41.
- Hattori H, Sato M, Masuoka K, Ishihara M, Kikuchi T, Matsui T, et al. Osteogenic potential of human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells as an alternative stem cell source. Cells Tissues Organs 2004;178:2-12.
- Wall ME, Bernacki SH, Loboa EG. Effects of serial passaging on the adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation potential of adiposederived human mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng 2007;13:1291-8.
- 26. Mauney JR, Nguyen T, Gillen K, Kirker-Head C, Gimble JM, Kaplan DL. Engineering adipose-like tissue in vitro and in vivo utilizing human bone marrow and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells with silk fibroin 3D scaffolds. Biomaterials 2007;28:5280-90.
- 27. Mehlhorn AT, Niemeyer P, Kaiser S, Finkenzeller G, Stark GB, Südkamp NP, et al. Differential expression pattern of extracellular matrix molecules during chondrogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Tissue Eng 2006;12:2853-62.
- Vidal MA, Kilroy GE, Lopez MJ, Johnson JR, Moore RM, Gimble JM. Characterization of equine adipose tissue-derived stromal cells: adipogenic and osteogenic capacity and comparison with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. Vet Surg 2007;36:613-22.
- Im GI, Shin YW, Lee KB. Do adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have the same osteogenic and chondrogenic potential as bone marrow-derived cells? Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2005;13:845-53.
- 30. Afizah H, Yang Z, Hui JH, Ouyang HW, Lee EH. A comparison between the chondrogenic potential of human bone marrow stem cells (BMSCs) and adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) taken from the same donors. Tissue Eng 2007;13:659-66.
- 31. Liu TM, Martina M, Hutmacher DW, Hui JH, Lee EH, Lim B. Identification of common pathways mediating differentiation of bone marrow- and adipose tissue-derived human mesenchymal stem cells into three mesenchymal lineages. Stem Cells 2007;25:750-60.
- Rücker C, Kirch H, Pullig O, Walles H. Strategies and First Advances in the Development of Prevascularized Bone Implants. Curr Mol Biol Rep 2016:2:149-57.
- 33. Henkel J, Woodruff MA, Epari DR, Steck R, Glatt V, Dickinson IC, et al. Bone Regeneration Based on Tissue Engineering Conceptions -A 21st Century Perspective. Bone Res 2013;1:216-48.



Evaluation of Factors Related to Pancreatic Fistula Development in Patients Undergoing Pancreaticoduodenectomy for Periampullary Tumours

Periampullar Tümör Nedeniyle Pankreatikoduodenektomi Uygulanan Hastalarda Pankreatik Fistülle İlişkili Faktörlerin Değerlendirilmesi

[™] Uğur TOPAL¹, [™] Erdoğan Mütevelli SÖZÜER¹, [™] Türkmen Bahadır ARIKAN², [™] Mustafa GÖK², [™] Gamze Kübra BOZKURT²

¹Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Surgical Oncology, Kayseri, Turkey ²Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Kayseri, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aimed to investigate the factors associated with pancreatic fistula (PF) development after pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) at our clinic.

Methods: Patients who underwent PD for periampullary tumours between 2010 and 2019 were included in the study and categorised into Group I (with PF) and Group II (without PF). The demographic and clinical characteristics, laboratory parameters, tumour characteristics and post-operative results were compared between the groups. Risk factors for PF were analysed by univariate analysis and multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Results: In total, 155 patients participated in the study (Group I: n=31; Group II: n=124). The rate of PF was 20%. The two groups were comparable with regard to sex (p=0.348) and age (64.8 vs 66.9 years, p=0.916). Compared with Group II, Group I had a higher number of metastatic lymph nodes (1.61 vs 0.87, p=0.041), a higher number of post-operative complications (58.1% vs 21.8%, p=0.000) and a longer duration of post-operative hospital stay (25.25 vs 16.43 days, p=0.000). Haemoglobin (p=0.493) and albumin (p=0.698) levels were similar between the groups. Total survival duration was shorter in Group I (23.9 vs 38.18 months, p=0.024). In multivariate analyses, being ≥65 years (p=0.040), tumour localisation (p=0.021), lymph node stage (p=0.008) and

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışmada kliniğimizde pankreatikoduodenektomi (PD) sonrası gelişen pankreatik fistül (PF) ile ilişkili faktörleri araştırmayı amaçladık.

Yöntemler: 2010-2019 yılları arasında periampullar bölge tümörü nedeniyle PD, uygulanan hastalar çalışmaya dahil edili. Grup 1 (PF var) ve Grup 2 (PF yok) olmak üzere iki grup oluşturuldu. Gruplarda hastaların demografik ve klinik özellikleri, labrotuvar parametreleri, tümöre ait özellikler, postoperatif sonuçlar ortalama sağkalımları karşılaştırıldı. Pankreas fistülü (PF) için risk faktörleri tek değişkenli analiz ve çok değişkenli lojistik regresyon analizi ile analiz edildi.

Bulgular: Çalışmamıza 155 hasta katıldı. PF oranımız %20 olarak bulduk. Buna göre Grup 1: 31 Grup 2: 124 hastadan oluşuyordu. Gruplarda cinsiyet benzer özellikteydi (p=0,348). Gruplarda yaşlar benzer (64,8; 66,9, p=0,916). Metastastik lenf nodu sayısı Grup 1'de 2'ye oranla daha yüksek (1,61; 0,87, p=0,041) Postoperatif komplikayon Grup 1'de yüksek (%58,1; %21,8 p=0,000). Postoperatif yatış süresi Grup 1'de daha uzundu (25,25 vs 16,43 gün p=0,000). Gruplarda hemoglobin p=0,492, albumin p=0,698 benzer. Toplam sağkalım süresi Grup 1'de daha kısa (23,9 ay; 38,18 ay p=0,024). Çok değişkenli analizlerde >65 yaş p=0,040, Tümör

Address for Correspondence: Uğur TOPAL, Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Surgical Oncology, Kayseri, Turkey

E-mail: sutopal2005@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1305-2056

Cite this article as: Topal U, Sözüer EM, Arıkan TB, Gök M, Bozkurt GK. Evaluation of Factors Related to Pancreatic Fistula Development in Patients Undergoing Pancreaticoduodenectomy for Periampullary Tumours. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):301-9.

Received: 12.02.2020 Accepted: 11.07.2020 tumour diameter ≥ 2 (p=0.021) were the independent risk factors for developing pancreatic fistula.

Conclusion: In our study, tumour diameter, patient age and lymph node status were associated with PF development. The development of PF reduced expected survival. We believe that identifying the preoperative, intraoperative and post-operative factors related to PF formation may help decrease its development.

Keywords: Pancreatic fistula, pancreaticoduodenectomy, prognosis

lokalizasyon p=0,021 lenf nodu evresi p=0,008. Tümör çapının >2 p=0,021 pankreatik fistül için bağımsız risk faktörüydü.

Sonuç: Çalışmamızda tümör çapı hasta yaşı ve lenf nodu durumu PF gelişmesi ile ilişkiliydi. PF gelişimi beklenen sağ kalımı azaltmıştı. Preoperatif, intraoperatif ve postoperatif dönemdeki etkenlerin ortaya konulması ile PF oluşumunun azalabileceğini düşünmekteyiz.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Pankreatik fistül, pankreotikoduodenektomi, prognoz

Introduction

Pancreaticoduodenectomy (PD) is currently the standard method for the treatment of benign and malignant tumours of the periampullary region (pancreatic head, ampulla, duodenum and distal choledochus) (1-3). Although the results of PD have greatly improved with advances in surgical techniques and perioperative management, this procedure remains one of the most complex abdominal operations and results in high post-operative morbidity rates of 30%-40% (4).

Pancreatic fistula (PF) is the most common and severe complication following PD. Despite the advances and technical changes developed to prevent PF, the incidence of this terrible complication still ranges from 3% to 45% (5). PF can not only prolong hospital stay and increase the cost of treatment but also increase the risk of premature mortality after surgery and cause other complications (4,6,7). Till date, the risk factors of PF have been extensively studied to obtain recommendations for its prevention and treatment; in addition, many studies have investigated the correlation between PF and perioperative variables, but the results are not consistent (8,9).

Determining the factors related to PF development will help prevent and manage this feared complication. The literature has demonstrated that many pre-operative, perioperative and post-operative factors, such as sex, age, hyperbilirubinemia, duration of surgery, intraoperative blood loss, pancreatojejunal anastomotic technique, pancreatic duct size, use of somatostatin and surgeon experience, are related to PF development after PD (10,11).

In this study, we aimed to investigate the factors related to PF development after PD in our clinic during a 10-year period and to discuss our findings in the light of the literature.

Methods

We enrolled 172 patients who underwent PD for periampullary tumours (ampulla, distal choledochus, pancreas head and duodenum) between January 2010 and January 2019. Patients aged <18 years, whose records could not be obtained and whose pathological diagnosis was not adenocarcinoma (n=17) were excluded from the study. Finally, 155 patients were included in the study. Patient data were obtained retrospectively from electronic records, patient files, anaesthesia follow-up forms and nurse observation forms. Owing to the retrospective design of the study, an ethics committee approval was not received.

PF was defined as any measurable volume of drain fluid appearing on or after the 3rd post-operative day, with an amylase content three times higher than the upper normal serum value (12). Patients were divided into two groups: Group I included patients with PF and Group II included those without PF. Demographic and clinical data such as sex; age; presence of comorbidities; American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score; tumour localisation; laboratory parameters such as complete blood count, albumin, bilirubin and tumour markers [carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA19-9)]; pathological features (e.g. tumour differentiation, stage, diameter, number of dissected and metastatic lymph nodes and presence of positive lymph nodes) and post-operative followup data (e.g. the presence of non-PF complications, duration of post-operative hospital stay, 30-day post-operative survival, local recurrence status, current clinical status, cause of exitus and total survival time) were analysed. In addition, independent risk factors were evaluated using univariate and multivariate analyses.

Post-operative complications were defined as wound infection, evisceration, intraabdominal abscess, intraabdominal haemorrhage and anastomosis leakage. Tumour-node-metastasis 2010 and 2016 systems was used for tumour staging.

All patients were evaluated at the Hepatobiliary Tumour Council at our centre before the operation. In patients with severe hyperbilirubinemia, pre-operative biliary drainage was performed via percutaneous transhepatic cholangiography or endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography.

Operation Details

Following laparotomy, the choledoch was incised just above the cystic duct choledoch junction (until the negative surgical margin was reached). Subsequently, the pancreas was rotated to reach the posterior and was cut from the superior mesenteric vein border. From the proximal end of the pylorus, the distal stomach was freed, rotated and cut. The Treitz ligament was then freed and incised at approximately 10 cm from the distal end of the jejunum. Ductojejunal anastomosis between the pancreatic duct and jejunum was completed using 5/0 PDS and 3/0 silk sutures in the end-to-side manner. To the proximal end of this anastomosis, biliary tract-jejunum anastomosis was performedfirst on the posterior wall using 4/0 or 5/0 PDS sutures and then on the anterior wall using 4/0 or 5/0 PDS single sutures. Lymph node dissection was advanced from the lymphatic tissue in the hepatoduodenal ligament to the level of the celiac trunk. Subsequently, a drain was placed in the subhepatic region.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 23.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA) package programme was used for statistically analysing data. Categorical measurements were summarised as numbers and percentages, and continuous measurements were summarised as mean, deviation and minimum and maximum values. Pearson's chisquared test was used to compare categorical variables. While comparing the continuous measurements between the groups, the distributions were assessed and binary variables identified were analysed using independent Student t-test. Cox regression was used for multivariate analyses. Kaplan-Meier analysis and log rank tests were used for survival analyses. Statistical significance was set at 0.05 in all tests.

Results

For the 155 patients who participated in our study, the PF rate was 20%. Group I (with PF) consisted of 31 and Group II (without PF) consisted of 124 patients. Male sex was dominant in both the groups (61.3% vs 66.9%, p=0.348). Both groups were comparable in terms of the mean age (64.6 vs 64.8 years, p=0.916). At least one comorbidity was noted in 41.9% patients in Group I and 52.4% patients in Group II. The most common ASA score was ASA I in both the groups (51.6% vs 42.7%, p=0.589). Choledochus localisation was more common in Group I than in Group II (32.3% vs 12.1%, p=0.001). The demographic and clinical features of the patients are shown in Table 1.

The following laboratory parameters were similar between the groups: white blood cell count (p=0.885), neutrophil count (p=0.671), lymphocyte count (p=0.494), platelet count (p=0.900), haemoglobin level (p=0.492), albumin level (p=0.698), total bilirubin (p=0.891), CEA level (p=0.499) and CA19-9 level (p=0.223). Laboratory parameters of patients in both groups are shown in Table 2.

Poorly differentiated tumours were dominant in both Group I and Group II (61.3% vs 49.2\%, p=0.349). Stage T3 tumours were the most common in both the groups (41.9% vs 50.8\%, p=0.079). Lymph node stage and positivity were higher in Group I (58.1% vs 38.7%, p=0.041). However, tumour diameter was similar between the groups (1.94 cm vs 2.36 cm, p=0.070). The characteristics of tumours in both groups are shown in Table 3.

The incidence of post-operative complications other than PF was higher in Group I (58.1% vs 21.8%, p=0.000); so was the length of hospital stay (25.25 vs 16.43 days, p=0.000). Post-operative 30-day mortality was similar between the groups (19.4% vs 9.7%, p=0.119). However, the rate of local recurrence was higher in Group I (45.2% vs 37.9, p=0.295). In terms of the cause, mortality caused by sepsis was higher in Group I (22.6% vs 10.5%, p=0.028). For both groups, post-operative follow-up results are shown in Table 4. The average survival duration was shorter in Group I (23.9 months vs 38.18 months, p=0.024), as shown in Table 5 and Graphic 1.

The univariate analysis demonstrated that tumour localisation (p=0.021) was the independent risk factor of PF. However, in multivariate analyses, the independent risk factors of PF were age \geq 65 years [hazard ratio (HR) (95% confidence interval (CI)] =2.182 (1.034-4.602), p=0.040), lymph node stage [HR (95% CI) =2.739 (1.304-5.753), p=0.008], presence of post-operative complications [HR (95% CI) =0.275 (0.133-0.567), p=0.001] and tumour diameter >2 [HR (95% CI) =0.423 (0.204-0.879), p=0.021]. The results of the multivariate analysis are shown in Table 6.

Table 1. Characteristics of patients					
		Group 1 (n=31)	Group 2 (n=124)	р	
		n (%)	n (%)		
~	Male	19 (61.3)	83 (66.9)	0.348	
Jex	Female	12 (38.7)	41 (33.1)		
Ace.		64.61±11.55	64.87±14.12	0.916	
Age		(22-91)	(22-93)	0.916	
Comoshiditios	Yes	13 (41.9)	65 (52.4)	0 200	
Comorbidicies	No	18 (58.1)	59 (47.6)	0.200	
	1	16 (51.6)	53 (42.7)		
ASA score	2	12 (38.7)	52 (41.9)	0.589	
	3	3 (9.7)	19 (15.3)		
Tumour localisation	Ampulla	12 (38.7)	52 (41.9)		
	Duodenum	2 (6.5)	0 (0.0)	0.001*	
	Choledochus	10 (32.3)	15 (12.1)	0.001	
	Pancreas	7 (22.6)	57 (46.0)		
ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists					

Table 2. Laboratory parameters				
	Group 1 (n=31)	Group 2 (n=124)		
	Mean ± SD (Minimum-maximum)	Mean ± SD (Minimum-maximum)		
WBC (mm³)	8285.48±2542.45 (3600-14410)	8202.01±2933.08 (1430-18390)	0.885	
Neutrophil count (mm³)	5785.16±2620.98 (1110-12310)	55868.48±2515.54 (840-15000)	0.671	
Lymphocyte count (mm³)	1627.74±785.51 (470-4490)	1728.22±714.73 (460-4630)	0.494	
Platelet count (mm³)	299.74±120.17 (104-684)	297.10±99.53 (92-690)	0.900	
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	12.77±1.59 (9.8-15.6)	12.52±1.87 (7.4-17.7)	0.492	
Albumin (g/dL)	3.48±0.80 (1.4-4.6)	3.53±0.68 (1.8-4.9)	0.698	
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	5.96±7.24 (0.2-29)	5.77±6.80 (0.1-34)	0.891	
Pre-operative CEA (ng/mL)	5.81±15.57 (0.01-87.4)	4.30±9.71 (0-81.6)	0.499	
Pre-operative CA19-9 (U/mL)	325.55±633.30 (2-2704)	671.96±1540.92 (1-9683)	0.223	
WBC: White blood cell SD: Standard deviation, CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen, CA19-9: Carbobydrate antigen, 19-9				

WBC: White blood cell, SD: Standard deviation, CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen, CA19-9: Carbohydrate antigen 19-9

Table 3. Characteristics of tumours						
		Group 1 (n=31)		Group 2 (n=124)	P	
		n (%)		n (%)	-	
	Well	7 (22.6)		28 (22.6)	0.348	
Differentiation	Moderate	5 (16.1)		35 (28.2)		
	Роог	19 (61.3)		61 (49.2)		
	T1	6 (19.4)		8 (6.5)	0.079	
Т	T2	12 (38.7)		53 (42.7)		
	Т3	13 (41.9)		63 (50.8)		
N	N0	13 (41.9)		76 (61.3)	0.041*	
IN	N1	18 (58.1)		48 (38.7)		
Number of total dissected lymph nodes (minimum- maximum)		10.48±8.08 (1-42)		10.45±5.71 (1-29)	0.982	
Metastatic lymph node number (minimum-maximum)		1.61±2.38 (0-11)		0.87±1.58 (0-9)	0.041*	
Lymph node involvement	Negative	13 (41.9)		76 (61.3)	0.040*	
	Positive	18 (58.1)		48 (38.7)	0.040^	
Tumour diameter			1.94±1.16 (0.7-5.0)	2.36±1.15 (0.4-6.5)	0.070	



Graphic 1. Total survival duration of patients according to pancreatic fistula

Discussion

PD is one of the more complex abdominal surgical techniques and is associated with several post-operative complications. The most important complication that can develop following PD is a PF. The incidence of fistula formation after PD is much higher than that after other gastrointestinal operations and ranges from 3% to 45%. In addition, PF might lead to the development of other major complications (5,13).

The prognosis and aggressiveness of periampullary tumours vary according to tumour localisation. Overall, pancreatic head carcinoma is thought to have the worst prognosis among all periampullary tumour types (14). Reportedly, there are conflicting data regarding the effect of tumour localisation on PF development. Chen et al. (3) found that PF was associated with tumour localisation in periampullary tumours [odds ratio (OR) =3.00, p=0.029]. In contrast, Schmidt et al. (15) demonstrated that tumour localisation in the periampullary region was not associated with PF development. In addition, they reported that lymph node status was not a risk factor for

Table 4. Post-operative outcomes					
		Group 1 (n=31)	Group 2 (n=124)	P	
		n (%)	n (%)		
Past approxime complications other than paperoatic fictula	Yes	18 (58.1)	27 (21.8)	0.000*	
Post-operative complications other than pancreatic ristula	No	13 (41.9)	97 (78.2)	0.000*	
Length of bosnital stay (minimum-maximum)		25.25±13.41	16.43±8.33	0.000*	
		(6-56)	(5-43)	0.000*	
Past apasstive 20 day mostality	Yes	6 (19.4)	12 (9.7)	0.110	
Post-operative so-day mortality	No	25 (80.6)	112 (90.3)	0.119	
	Yes	3 (9.7)	6 (4.8)		
90-day reoperation	No	28 (90.3)	118 (95.2)	0.258	
	Yes	14 (45.2)	47 (37.9)	0.205	
	No	17 (54.8)	77 (62.1)	0.295	
Current cituation	Ex	25 (80.6)	80 (64.5)	0.063	
	Alive	6 (19.4)	44 (35.5)	0.005	
	None	7 (22.6)	54 (43.5)		
	Cardiac causes	7 (22.6)	12 (9.7)	0.028*	
Cause of death	Sepsis	7 (22.6)	13 (10.5)		
	Tumour-related causes	10 (32.2)	45 (36.3)		

Table 5. Total survival duration according to pancreatic fistula groups					
Group	Mean [Mean ± SD (minimum-maximum)]	Median [Mean ± SD (minimum-maximum)]	р		
1	23.90±6.77	9.0±1.93			
	(10.62-37.18)	(5.20-12.79)	0.02.44		
2	38.18±4.16	18.0±2.67	0.024*		
	(30.01-46.35)	(12.76-23.23)			
SD: Standard deviation					

		raccors associated par	neredete noedta in periotipatian y ea	iniodis	
Measurements		Univariate	Multivariate		
		Р	HR (95% Cl)	р	
Age group (years)	<65	0.036	1.00	0.040*	
	≥65		2.182 (1.034-4.602)		
Sox	Male	0.893	1.00	0.862	
Jex	Female	0.875	1.053 (0.500-2.215)	0.802	
	Ampulla		1.00	0.011*	
Localization	Duodenum	0.021*	5.767 (1.276-26.074)	0.023*	
Localisation	Choledochus	0.021*	2.011 (0.869-4.656)	0.103	
	Pancreas		0.566 (0.212-1.513)	0.257	
	Well		1.00	0.192	
Differentiation	Moderate	0.765	1.135 (0.910-1.276)	0.213	
	Роог		1.231 (0.876-1.652)	0.672	
	T1		1.00	0.391	
т	T2	0.444	0.535 (0.188-1.519)	0.240	
	Т3		0.494 (0.175-1.394)	0.183	
N	N0	0.007*	1.00	0.008*	
N	N1		2.739 (1.304-5.753)		
	Yes	0.001*	1.00	0.001*	
Post-operative complication	No		0.275 (0.133-0.567)		
	Yes	0.751	1.00	0.750	
Local recurrence	No		0.887 (0.424-1.856)		
	1		1.00	0.932	
ASA score	2	0.928	0.963 (0.449-2.065)	0.922	
	3		0.787 (0.226-2.740)	0.707	
- II .	Below 2	0.000t	1.00	0.021*	
Tumour diameter	2 and above	0.020*	0.423 (0.204-0.879)		
	Below 12	0.450	1.00	0.166	
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	12 and above	0.153	1.740 (0.794-3.813)		
	Below 3.5		1.00		
Albumin (g/dL)	3.5 and above	0.963	0.983 (0.477-2.025)	0.963	
	Below 5	0.505	1.00	0.500	
Billrubin (mg/dL)	5 and above	0.525	1.277 (0.604-2.698)	0.522	

Table 6. Univariate and multivariate analyses of factors associated pancreatic fistula in periampullary tumours

ASA: American society of Anesthiologists, HR: Hazard ratio, CI: Confidence interval

PF. In our study, tumour localisation was associated with PF and was an independent risk factor for PF development. In addition, PF was more common in patients with choledochal tumours. PF rate varied based on lymph node stage, tumour diameter, tumour differentiation and tumour localisation. We additionally noted that parallel to these factors, lymph node positivity and the number of metastatic lymph nodes were higher in the PF group. Lymph node positivity was an independent risk factor of PF development [HR (95% CI) =2.739 (1.304-5.753), p=0.008].

Several studies have indicated that a small diameter of the pancreatic duct (≤ 3 mm) is a risk factor for post-operative PF. When performing PD, surgeons should consider this risk factor and achieve a satisfactory pancreatic anastomosis to reduce PF

formation (8,10,16,17). Notably, the debate on the relationship between tumour diameter and PF development is still ongoing. In their study, Polanco et al. (18) observed a smaller tumour diameter in the PF group (2.1 vs 2.9 cm, p=0.02; OR =0.594, 95% CI: 0.383-0.922, p=0.002). However, in another study, tumour diameters were similar in groups with and without PF (3.2 vs 3.1 cm, p>0.05) (15). We noted a similar result in our study. Although the tumour diameters were similar in the groups with and without PF (1.94 cm vs 2.36 cm, p=0.070), a tumour diameter of >2 cm was an independent risk factor for PF development.

The effect of intraoperative variables on PF development has been previously discussed in the literature. The type of

anastomosis performed during operation has also been cited as a predictor of PF (15,19,20). Schmidt et al. (15) reported that PJ invagination performed after PD resulted in a lower incidence of PF than Wirsung-jejunostomy (WJ). In addition, Bartoli et al. (20) reported that the incidence of PF development after WJ was the lowest compared to that after other anastomoses. Reportedly, soft pancreatic tissue is a strong risk factor for the development of PF (19). In the study by Sert et al. (19), PF was observed in 18 patients (75%) with soft pancreatic tissue, with the texture of pancreatic tissue being significantly associated with PF development (p<0.001). In the present study, we attempted to perform the same procedure in all patients. For this reason, we could not compare the details of operation because the surgical techniques were similar in both the groups.

Pancreatic duct stenting during anastomosis formation has been discussed in the literature (21,22). This was examined in a randomised trial by Winter et al. (22); they randomised 238 patients undergoing PD with or without internal pancreatic duct stent, with the endpoint being postoperative pancreatic fistula (POPF) development. The authors concluded that internal pancreatic duct stenting did not alter the incidence of POPF. Pancreatic duct drainage was also examined with external stents. In a study by Poon et al. (23), 120 patients undergoing PD with PJ duct-to-mucosa anastomosis were prospectively randomised to an external stent or no-stent group. Patients in the stent group had a significantly lower PF rate than those in the no-stent group (6.7% vs 20%, p=0.032) (23). In our routine practice, we use internal stents. In the present study, we used the same application in all patients; therefore, we could not evaluate the effect of stents.

In studies where the pancreatic duct is blocked with biological substances, the results have been reported to be very successful. For example, a group of authors have suggested that a possible anastomotic leak could be treated with fibrin glue around the anastomosis during surgery (24). However, we did not use these methods in our patients.

Despite the controversy regarding the preventive and therapeutic value of abdominal drains after pancreatic resection, several studies have highlighted the importance of drainage analysis for the prediction of POPF (25,26). In our study, we placed prophylactic abdominal drains in all patients. We believe that these abdominal drains contributed in the prediction of the incidence of PF development.

Reportedly, PF is associated with increased morbidity, mortality and longer hospital stay as well as additional cost. As pancreatic fluid is an enzymatically active and aggressive substance, it causes erosions in the surrounding tissue and may affect the intestinal, bile duct or vascular walls. PF has been associated with other non-fistula complications, particularly delayed gastric emptying, ileus, wound infection, intraabdominal abscess, pancreatitis, bleeding and sepsis. It has also been associated with significantly increased hospital costs and the rate of reoperation and admission to hospital (10,27). In their series, Schmidt et al. (15) found that sepsis (21% vs 5%, p<0.001) and other infection-related complications were higher in the group with PF than in the group without PF. Similarly, Chen et al. (3) reported higher rates of post-operative haemorrhage in the group with PF development (33% vs 1.3, p=0.000). In both these studies, the length of hospital stay was longer in the PF group. Similarly, in our study, the incidence of post-operative complications other than PF was higher in the PF group than in the other group (58.1% vs 21.8%, p=0.000). Accordingly, the duration of hospitalisation in the PF group increased by 9 days compared to that in the other group. Prolonged hospitalisation might result in additional medical costs and a decrease in the quality of patient care. In our study, the post-operative complication rate was higher in the PF group, and the presence of post-operative complications other than PF was an independent risk factor for PF development. From this point of view, PF might increase post-operative complications, which may play a role in the development of PF.

PF development increases post-operative mortality through the complications it causes (28). In addition, post-operative complications in patients with cancer delay their oncological treatment and sometimes make treatment impossible. Accordingly, PF development is expected to increase postoperative mortality rates and decrease long-term survival. In our study, although the 30-day and 90-day mortality rates were higher in the PF group, the difference was not statistically significant. Regarding the causes of mortality in patients who developed PF, we noted that septic complications were more common (22.6% vs 10.5%, p=0.024). In our study, PF significantly reduced longterm survival (23 vs 38 months, p=0.024).

Study Limitations

Our study is limited by the small number of patients, the singlecentre nature and the operative variables and features of the pancreatic tissue that were not adequately evaluated. However, we believe that our study will provide detailed data on PF to the literature.

Conclusion

In conclusion, we found that localisation, stage and diameter of the tumour were related to PF development. In addition, the development of PF contributed to post-operative complications, which consequently prolonged hospital stay. PF also significantly shortened long-term survival. Thus, PF formation after PD poses a great threat to patients' life and health. Therefore, an early estimation of PF development and the investigation of related risk factors are of great importance in preventing PF and its complications.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Owing to the retrospective design of the study, an ethics committee approval was not received.

Informed Consent: Due to the retrospective design of the study, patient consent was not obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: E.M.S., T.B.A., M.G., G.K.B., Concept: U.T., E.M.S., T.B.A., M.G., Design: U.T., E.M.S., Data Collection or Processing: U.T., E.M.S., M.G., G.K.B., Analysis or Interpretation: EM.S., T.B.A., Literature Search: U.T., T.B.A., M.G., G.K.B., Writing: U.T., T.B.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Yılmaz N, Özkurt H, Değirmenci H, Kahraman AD, Başak M. Pankreas kanserlerinin preoperatif rezektabilite değerlendirilmesinde spiral BT. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul 2004;38:39-43.
- Conzo G, Gambardella C, Tartaglia E, Sciascia V, Mauriello C, Napolitano S, et al. Pancreatic fistula following pancreatoduodenectomy. Evaluation of different surgical approaches in the management of pancreatic stump. Literature review. Int J Surg 2015;21:4-9.
- Chen JS, Liu G, Li TR, Chen JY, Xu QM, Guo YZ, et al. Pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy: Risk factors and preventive strategies. J Cancer Res Ther 2019;15:857-63.
- Ke ZX, Xiong JX, Hu J, Chen HY, Li Q, Li YQ. Risk Factors and Management of Postoperative Pancreatic Fistula Following Pancreaticoduodenectomy: Single-center Experience. Curr Med Sci 2019;39:1009-18.
- Bassi C, Marchegiani G, Dervenis C, Sarr M, Abu Hilal M, Adham M, et al. The 2016 update of the International Study Group (ISGPS) definition and grading of postoperative pancreatic fistula: 11 Years After. Surgery. 2017;161:584-91.
- Ağcaoğlu O, Aksakal N, Azamat İF, Doğan S, Mercan S, Barbaros U. Comparison of Clinical Outcomes of Single-Incision Versus Conventional Multiport Laparoscopic Distal Pancreatectomy: A Single Institution Experience. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul 2019;53:114-9.
- Wu MP, Zhang X, Liu XJ. Pancreatic ductdiameter and pancreatic glandthickness measure dusing preoperative CT imaging in predicting pancreatic fistula following pancreatic oduodenectomy. Chin J Bases Clin General Surg 2014;21:1019-23.
- Liu QY, Zhang WZ, Xia HT, Leng JJ, Wan T, Liang B, et al. Analysis of risk factors for postoperative pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20:17491-7.
- Hu BY, Wan T, Zhang WZ, Dong JH. Risk factors for postoperative pancreatic fistula: Analysis of 539 successive cases of pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Gastroenterol 2016;22:7797-805.
- Machado NO. Pancreatic fistula after pancreatectomy: definitions, risk factors, preventive measures, and management-review. Int J Surg Oncol 2012;2012:602478.
- 11. Søreide K, Healey AJ, Mole DJ, Parks RW. Pre-, peri- and postoperative factors for the development of pancreatic fistula after pancreatic surgery. HPB (Oxford) 2019;21:1621-31.

- Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an international study group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery 2005;138:8-13.
- 13. Yu QS, Huang HC, Ding F, Wang XB. Analysis of related risk factors forpan creatic fistula after pancreatic oduodenectomy. J Hainan Med Univ 2016;22:67-70.
- 14. van Roest MH, Gouw AS, Peeters PM, Porte RJ, Slooff MJ, Fidler V, et al. Results of pancreaticoduodenectomy in patients with periampullary adenocarcinoma: perineural growth more important prognostic factor than tumor localization. Ann Surg 2008;248:97-103.
- Schmidt CM, Choi J, Powell ES, Yiannoutsos CT, Zyromski NJ, Nakeeb A, et al. Pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy: clinical predictors and patient outcomes. HPB Surg 2009;2009:404520.
- Akgul O, Merath K, Mehta R, Hyer JM, Chakedis J, Wiemann B, et al. Postoperative Pancreatic Fistula Following Pancreaticoduodenectomy-Stratification of Patient Risk. J Gastrointest Surg 2019;23:1817-24.
- McMillan MT, Malleo G, Bassi C, Sprys MH, Ecker BL, Drebin JA, et al. Pancreatic fistula risk for pancreaticoduodenectomy: an international survey of surgeon perception. HPB 2017;19:515-24.
- Polanco PM, Zenati MS, Hogg ME, Shakir M, Boone BA, Bartlett DL, et al. An analysis of risk factors for pancreatic fistula after robotic pancreaticoduodenectomy: outcomes from a consecutive series of standardized pancreatic reconstructions. Surg Endosc 2016;30:1523-9.
- Sert OZ, Berkesoglu M, Canbaz H, Olmez A, Tasdelen B, Dirlik MM. The factors of pancreatic fistula development in patients who underwent classical pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Ital Chir 2021;92:35-40.
- Bartoli FG, Arnone GB, Ravera G, Bachi V. Pancreatic fistula and relative mortality in malignant disease after pancreaticoduodenectomy. Review and statistical meta-analysis regarding 15 years of literature. Anticancer Res 1991;11:1831-48.
- Kleespies A, Albertsmeier M, Obeidat F, Seeliger H, Jauch KW, Bruns CJ. The challenge of pancreatic anastomosis. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2008;393:459-71.
- 22. Winter JM, Cameron JL, Campbell KA, Chang DC, Riall TS, Schulick RD, et al. Does pancreatic duct stenting decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized trial. J Gastrointest Surg 2006;10:1280-90.
- 23. Poon RT, Fan ST, Lo CM, Ng KK, Yuen WK, Yeung C, et al. External drainage of pancreatic duct with a stent to reduce leakage rate of pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenectomy: a prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg 2007;246:425-33.
- 24. Lillemoe KD, Cameron JL, Kim MP, Campbell KA, Sauter PK, Coleman JA, et al. Does fibrin glue sealant decrease the rate of pancreatic fistula after pancreaticoduodenectomy? Results of a prospective randomized trial. J Gastrointest Surg 2004;8:766-72.
- 25. Ansorge C, Nordin JZ, Lundell L, Strömmer L, Rangelova E, Blomberg J, et al. Diagnostic value of abdominal drainage in individual risk assessment of pancreatic fistula following pancreaticoduodenectomy. Br J Surg 2014;101:100-8.

- 26. Sutcliffe RP, Battula N, Haque A, Ali A, Srinivasan P, Atkinson SW, et al. Utility of drain fluid amylase measurement on the first postoperative day after pancreaticoduodenectomy. World J Surg 2012;36:879-83.
- 27. Hackert T, Werner J, Büchler MW. Postoperative pancreatic fistula. Surgeon 2011;9:211-7.
- 28. Kimura W, Miyata H, Gotoh M, Hirai I, Kenjo A, Kitagawa Y, et al. A pancreaticoduodenectomy risk model derived from 8575 cases from a national single-race population (Japanese) using a web-based data entry system: the 30-day and in-hospital mortality rates for pancreaticoduodenectomy. Ann Surg 2014;259:773-80.



An Assessment of the Comfort Level of Cancer Patients with Receiving Chemotheraphy

Kemoterapi Alan Kanser Hastalarının Konfor Düzeylerinin Değerlendirilmesi

▶ Aysun CAN, ▶ Sevilay HİNTİSTAN

Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Trabzon, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: The study aimed on determining the comfort level of cancer patients with receiving chemotheraphy and to evaluate the factors that have an impact on this.

Methods: The study was conducted with 213 patients who received cancer chemotherapy. It was designed as a cross-sectional and descriptive model. A Patient Information Form and General Comfort Questionnaire was administered to patients in person. For the data assessment, frequency, percentages, the t test, one-way variance analysis, the Mann-Whitney U test, Kruskal -Wallis H test, and the Dunnet T3 Post Hoc test were employed.

Results: The average General Comfort Questionnaire score for patients was 2.93 ± 0.35 . Patients psychospiritual comfort was at the highest degree (39.72 \pm 5.87), while environmental comfort was at the lowest degree (35.58 \pm 6.45). Patients comfort level was significantly affected by sex, age and profession (p<0.05), whereas it was not affected significantly by marital status, educational status, person(s) with whom they lived cancer type, duration of cancer (p>0.05).

Conclusion: Patients in the study had moderate comfort levels. There is increased recognition that cancer patients comfort needs should be explored, and practices that will enhance their comfort level should be promoted.

Keywords: Cancer survivors, chemotherapy, oncology nursing, patient comfort

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışma kemoterapi alan kanser hastalarının konfor düzeyini ve bunu etkileyen faktörleri değerlendirmek amacı ile yapıldı.

Yöntemler: Çalışma kanser kemoterapisi alan 213 hasta ile gerçekleştirildi. Çalışma, kesitsel ve tanımlayıcı tipte yapıldı. Hastalara yüz yüze görüşme tekniği ile Hasta Bilgi Formu ve Genel Konfor Ölçeği uygulandı. Verilerin değerlendirilmesinde frekans, yüzde, t testi, tek yönlü varyans analizi, Mann-Whitney U testi, Kruskal-Wallis H testi, Dunnet T3 Post Hoc testi analizi testleri kullanıldı.

Bulgular: Hastaların Genel Konfor Ölçeği puan ortalaması 2,93±0,35'tir. Hastaların psikospritüel konfor boyutu en yüksek düzeyde (39,72±5,87) iken çevresel konfor boyutu en düşük düzeydedir (35,58±6,45). Hastaların konfor düzeyini cinsiyet, yaş ve meslek anlamlı olarak etkilerken (p<0,05); medeni durum, eğitim düzeyi, evde birlikte yaşanan kişiler, kanser türü ve kanser süresi anlamlı olarak etkilememiştir (p>0,05).

Sonuç: Hastaların konfor düzeyi orta düzeydedir. Kanser hastalarının konfor gereksinimleri belirlenerek konfor düzeylerini artırabilecek uygulamaların yapılması önerilir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Kanser hastaları, kemoterapi, kanser hemşireliği, hasta konforu

Address for Correspondence: Sevilay HİNTİSTAN, Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Trabzon, Turkey E-mail: sevilayhindistan@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5937-5723

Cite this article as: Can A, Hintistan S. An Assessment of The Comfort Level of Cancer Patients With Receiving Chemotheraphy. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):310-16.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 20.02.2020 Accepted: 24.04.2020

Introduction

Cancer, characterized with impairment in programmed cell death and excessive cell proliferation, is a chronic disease with challenges in diagnosis, treatment, and care processes (1,2). The World Health Organization has reported that there are 18.1 million new cancer cases throughout the world each year, and cancer-related mortality was 9.6 million in 2018 (1). In Turkey, 20.7% of the deaths in 2014 were caused by cancer (2).

With early diagnosis and advancements in treatment and care, patients' lifespan with cancer has been extended. These positive developments have now brought a focus on the possibilities for patients' longer and improved quality of life (3,4). A diagnosis of cancer often evokes many emotional, psychological, and behavioral responses. These can include guilt, abandonment, anxiety, pain, grief, and thoughts of dying, which can trigger many symptoms that negatively affect a person's comfort and well-being (5,6). One of the major weapons used in the treatment of cancer is the use of chemotherapy. Although it can produce many positive outcomes, this treatment also causes a great number of negative side effects. Many cancer patients experience nausea, emesis, pain, diarrhea, alopecia, fatigue, and sleeplessness. Other side effects include psychological problems such as feelings of despair, depression, anger, anxiety, fear, hopelessness, vulnerability, and loss of control (3,5,7). The social problems that many patients confront are those of isolation, role changes, loss of work, difficult interpersonal relations, and decreased interest in their social environment (8).

The term "comfort," defined as "lack of pain, distress, worry and uneasiness," has been analyzed by Katharina Kolcaba. Kolcaba defines comfort as "the immediate state of experience of solving problems and thus having comfort by being strengthened through answering the human needs for relief and ease and transcendence in physical, psychospiritual, environmental, and sociocultural contexts" (9-11). Cancer patients with a large number of physical, psychosocial, socio-cultural, and environmental problems often receive palliative care services (12,13). Palliative care is said to focus on eight elements: evaluations and consultations, tests, care practices, pharmacotherapy, diet, activity-environment safety, patient and family education, and discharge planning, which intend to increase patient comfort when managing their disease (14). With cancer treatment, palliative care is often part of comfort care, specifically providing psychosocial and spiritual support and symptom control (13,14).

Other goals for comfort care are to offer cancer patients encouragement, hope, feelings of control over their life, and to enhance their decision-making skills (9,15). Comfort care, which is an inseparable part and basis of nursing services, is a therapeutic nursing practice. Although each patient has different comfort needs, all comfort dimensions may affect each other negatively or positively. Therefore, comfort care, emphasizing individual needs and a holistic approach, is both a desired outcome and an indication of productivity (10,16). By assessing cancer patients' comfort levels, physical needs psychospiritual needs, sociocultural needs and environmental needs, health care personnel will be able to determine ways in which to maximize their patients' comfort as they go through a rigorous and difficult life crisis of ill health (6,12). In one study, it was found that the patient's comfort increased as a result of the attempt to cope with the symptoms of chemotherapy (17). In this way, considering all aspects of the individual's needs can help in the planning, decision making, and implementation of the best nursing interventions possible. A main goal would be to keep the patient's maximum comfort level in focus (11,18).

In Turkey, few studies have been conducted which assess the comfort levels of cancer patients (6,17). For this reason, we believe that this research, which was the first study on comfort done with cancer patients living in the Eastern Black Sea region of Turkey, will make a significant contribution to the existing literature. The study focused on determining the comfort level of cancer patients during their personal and stressful experiences of diagnosis and treatment and to help inform future nursing interventions on how to best comfort oncology patients to improve their quality of life during chemotherapy treatments. The aim of the study was to determine the comfort level of cancer patients and to evaluate the factors that have an impact on this.

Methods

Study Design

This cross-sectional and descriptive study was performed to determine comfort levels of patients in the ambulatory chemotherapy unit of one Hospital of University.

The Population and Sample

The study population was drawn from patients who received cancer chemotherapy during that time, n=689 patients in the hospital's medical records between 1 August - 31 December, 2015. The research sample was then calculated to n=247 participants, with a 95% confidence interval and a 5% margin of error nonreference prevalence of comfort of 50% being adopted using Open Epi Programs (19). The 247 participants were taken by simple random sampling technique. These patients were recruited mechanically a list of patients from the hospital's medical records who received chemotherapy between 1 August-31 December 2015, and accessing this list was approved by the ethics committee. In the end, the study was conducted with 213 patients after 34 patients dropped out for various reasons like giving up the treatment, moving from the city to another place, interrupting the forms. To be eligible patients needed to know about their cancer diagnosis, regardless of type of cancer and time since diagnosis. Also, they needed to be: 1) receiving chemotherapy; 2) not receiving palliative or hospice care; 3) be over ≥18 years old; 4) have no psychiatric disorders which needed treatment; 5) have no other chronic disease needing continuous treatment; 6) have person/place/time orientation; 7) be able to verbally communicate; and 8) agree to participate in the study. Patients would be excluded if they had a cancer diagnosis before the age of 18.
Data Collection Forms

Patient Information Form

A researcher designed the Patient Information Form by surveying the relevant studies on patients receiving cancer chemotherapy (12,15,17). The form included seven questions concerning patients (i.e., sex, age, educational status, profession, marital status, cancer type, duration of cancer).

General Comfort Questionnaire (GCQ)

The GCQ was developed by Kolcaba in 1992 (18). The Turkish adaptation of the GCQ was done by Kuguoglu and Karabacak in 2008 (20), and its Cronbach alpha was found to be 0.85. In the current study, the Cronbach alpha of the GCQ was found as 0.87. It was created according to 12-cell grid called the taxonomic structure involving four dimensions (physical, psychospiritual, environmental, sociocultural) and three levels (relief, ease, transcendence) of theoretical components of comfort which were used to determine patients' needs, evaluate the nursing implementations for increasing comfort levels, and to achieve the expected results about increasing comfort. All items were scored on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree). This scale consists 24 positive and 24 negative items (Table 1). The lowest possible GCQ total score was 48 points, average score 1, and the highest total score was 192 points, average score 4. The average score is determined by the total score, dividing the number of items. It is suggested that GCQ can be evaluated and used on both total score and average score in both research and practice (9,10,20).

According to studies regarding comfort levels conducted by Kolcaba, the concept of "comfort" has a holistic structure, and therefore should be assessed as a whole. Although nurses know intuitively what comfort is and what nursing interventions are necessary to enhance it, nurses and researchers currently utilize measures of discomfort that designate a neutral sense of comfort as being the absence of a specific discomfort (12). Integration of comfort to nursing care and comfort measurements of patients determines unmet comfort needs allows bundling of interventions in a single patient interaction and aids in creating measures of holistic comfort for documentation (18). Comfort remains a substantive need throughout life, and as such, should be considered an indispensable constituent of holistic nursing care.

Measures

The data were gathered using the Patient Information Form and the General Comfort Questionnaire (GCQ) by one researcher. Patients who agreed to participate in the study and met the inclusion criteria were asked to sign an informed consent form. Patient Information Form and GCQ were administered faceto-face by the researcher at a suitable time while patients were receiving chemotherapy at the Ambulatory Chemotherapy Unit. The patients were given the option of completing the Patient Information Form and GCQ with or without the researcher's assistance. Data collection took nearly 30 minutes, and the patients were given the chance to ask any question related to the study.

Data Analysis

All analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows IBM SPSS Statistics 22.0. Skewness, Kurtosis, Kolmogorov-Smirnow, and Shapiro-Wilk values were used to determine whether the sample followed a normal distribution. For the data analyses, frequency, percentages, the t-test, one-way variance analysis, the Mann-Whitney U test, the Kruskal-Wallis H test, and the Dunnet T3 Post Hoc test were used. Results were considered significant at p<0.05, and the confidence interval was set at 95%.

Ethical Considerations

The protocol of the study was approved by the ethical review boards at the authors' institution and the hospital. In order to conduct the study, written permissions were obtained from

Table 1. 12-cell called the taxonomic structure or GCQ						
Subscalas of comfort	Comfort levels of subscales					
	Relief (16 items)	Ease (17 items)	Transcendence (15 items)			
Physical (12 items)						
†Total score 12-48	14 ¹ ,19 ¹ ,48 ¹ ,25 ¹	1 [§] ,36 [§] ,20 [¶] ,28 [¶]	15 [§] ,29 [§] ,5 [¶] ,6 [¶]			
[‡] Average score 1-4						
Psychospiritual (13 items)						
†Total score 13-52	44 [§] ,46 [§] ,22 [¶] ,40 [¶]	2 [§] ,7 [§] ,31 [§] ,38 [§] ,24 [¶]	9 [§] ,17 [§] ,41 [¶] ,45 [¶]			
[‡] Average score 1-4						
Environmental (13 items)						
[†] Total score 13-52	3 [§] ,27 [§] ,12 [¶] ,34 [¶]	11 [§] ,47 [§] ,32 [¶] ,42 [¶]	30 [§] ,33 [§] ,18 [¶] ,21 [¶] ,35 [¶]			
[‡] Average score 1-4						
Sociocultural (10 items)						
[†] Total score 10-40	37 [§] ,8 [¶] ,13 [¶] ,26 [¶]	4⁵,23⁵,43⁵,39¶	10 [§] ,16 [§]			
[‡] Average score 1-4						
Both of "+" and "+" have the same meaning in GCO: ^s Positive items of GCO: ^s Negative items of GCO						

GCQ: General Comfort Questionnaire

the hospital. The study was granted ethical clearance by the Institutional Review Board of the University (IRB no: 2015-24237859-388) and was undertaken in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration. Permission was obtained to use the questionnaire from Kuguoglu and Karabacak (20) adapting in Turkish of the GCQ. In addition, verbal and written consent was obtained from each patient prior to the study.

Results

A total of 213 patients were taking cancer chemotherapy were included in the study. When the descriptive characteristics of the patients were examined, it was determined that their 59.2% female, 43.7% 50-64 years, 55.8% literate/primary school, 46.5% housewives, and 85.9% married. Besides, when the disease information of the patients was looked at, it seemed that their type of cancer 36.6% breast cancer, 31.5% gastrointestinal system cancer, and the durations of cancer 52.1% one year and less.

Patients' average GCQ score and total GCQ score are in Table 2. Patients' average GCQ score was found to be 2.93 ± 0.35 , whereas their total GCQ score was 140.63 ± 16.86 .

Table 3 presents the cross-sectional and descriptive statistics patients' average GCQ, and subscale scores according to taxonomic structure. Patients' total scores for the GCQ subscales were physical subscale 34.80±5.33, psychospiritual subscale 39.72±5.87, environmental subscale 35.58±6.45, sociocultural subscale 30.53±3.56; relief 47.39±5.92, ease 49.57±6.85

transcendence 43.67±6.28. Patients' total scores for the GCQ subscales were the highest is the psychospiritual subscale, and the lowest is the environmental subscale.

Table 4 shows the GCQ mean scores according to some characteristics. It was found that there were statistically significant differences between patients' GCQ and sex (p=0.036), age (p=0.028), and profession (p=0.002). However, no statistically significant differences were found between the GCQ and marital status, educational status, type of cancer, and duration of cancer (p>0.05).

Discussion

Our results showed that the patients' average comfort level was above 2 out of 4 levels of comfort. This means the patients feel fairly comfortable. Our results were in agreement with a similar study, which was conducted with breast cancer patients receiving chemotherapy, found the comfort level higher than 2 (15). Other studies which used derivates Kolcaba's GCQ with similar scales and questions, reported similar results with this study (6,12,17).

Amoung the subtypes of comfort, the psychospiritual comfort dimension is found the highest. Besides, the data in the current study showed that the level of patients' comfort was transcendence level which was the top level of comfort. It was considered that they were able to cope with their fears, and overcome bothersome symptoms more effectively during the cancer treatment process. A similar result by Bilgic and Acaroglu (17) reported that cancer patients' psychospiritual comfort dimension were found to be at

Table 2. Patients' total score and average score of GCQ (n=213)					
GCQ	Mean ± SD	Min - max			
[‡] Total score (48-192)	140.63±16.86	92-177			
[†] Average score (1-4)	2.93±0.35	2.29-3.42			

GCQ: General Comfort Questionnaire, SD: Standard deviation, Both of "+" and "+" have the same meaning in GCQ, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

	Comfort levels						
	Relief	Ease	Transcendence	Total score			
Subscales of GCQ	Mean ± SD (Min - max)	Mean ± SD (Min - max)	Mean ± SD (Min - max)	Mean ± SD (Min - max)			
Physical	10.73±1.94	11.47±2.52	12.61±2.19	34.80±5.33			
Fliysicat	(5-14)	(4-16)	(7-16)	(21-44)			
Developer initial	12.46±2.51	14.37±2.35	12.90±2.07	39.72±5.87			
rsychospincult	(6-16)	(7-20)	(8-16)	(23-52)			
Environmontal	12.23±1.97	11.65±2.29	11.70±3.78	35.58±6.45			
Livioimentat	(7-16)	(5-16)	(5-20)	(21-49)			
Sociocultural	11.97±2.24	12.08±1.97	6.47±1.34	30.53±3.56			
Sociocultural	(4-16)	(7-16)	(2-8)	(18-39)			
In all subdimensions score	47.39±5.92	49.57±6.85	43.67±6.28				
In all subulmensions score	(30-60)	(27-65)	(28-59)				

Table 3. Patients' average GCQ and subscale scores according to taxonomic structure (n=213)

GCQ=General Comfort Questionnaire, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Can ve Hintistan. The Comfort Level of Cancer Patients

Table 4. Patients' average GCQ scores according to demographic characteristics (n=213)						
Characteristics	n (%)	Mean ± SD	Test value	Р		
Gender						
Female	126 (59.2)	2.89±0.36	T: 2.116	0.036*		
Male	87 (40.8)	2.99±0.31				
Age						
35 years and ↓	14 (6.6)	2.84±0.40	F: 9.092	0.028*		
36-49 years	70 (32.8)	2.88±0.37				
50-64 years	93 (43.7)	2.92±0.32				
65 years and ↑	36 (16.9)	3.08±0.31				
Educational level						
Illiterate	17 (8.0)	2.79±0.28				
Literate/Primary school	119 (55.8)	2.93±0.34	F: 4.795	0.187		
High school	43 (20.2)	2.91±0.37				
University	34 (16.0)	3.01±0.35				
Profession						
Housewife	99 (46.5)	2.84±0.37	F: 12.962	0.002*		
Retired	61 (28.6)	3.05±0.33				
Self-employed	33 (15.5)	2.91±0.29				
Government employee	20 (9.4)	3.02±0.24				
Marital Status						
Married	183 (85.9)	2.93±0.35	T: 0.268	0.789		
Single	30 (14.1)	2.91±0.30				
Type of Cancer						
Breast cancer	78 (36.6)	2.90±0.37	F: 2.962	0.564		
Gastrointestinal system cancer	67 (31.5)	2.99±0.29				
Genitourinary system cancer	42 (19.7)	2.90±0.36				
Lung cancer	17 (8.0)	2.96±0.38				
Unknown primary	9 (4.2)	2.86±0.44				
Duration of xancer						
1 year and ↓	111 (52.1)	2.92±0.33	F: 3.965	0.265		
1-5 years	74 (34.7)	2.93±0.36				
6-10 years	20 (9.4)	2.87±0.39				
11 years and ↑	8 (3.8)	3.15±0.31				
*p<0.05, GCQ: General Comfort Questionnaire	e, SD: Standard deviation					

the highest. A previous research study shows that cancer patients emphasize that they use spiritual coping methods such as faith, prayer, and that these methods enhance their coping skills (21).

The sociocultural comfort dimension was found as comfortable which was almost the same as psychospiritual comfort dimension of patients. This study obtained a level of transcendence in the cancer patients' sociocultural comfort dimension. It is also found similar results in study with patients' sociocultural comfort score which was the best comfortable and feeling the best amongst other sub-dimensions (12). Sociocultural comfort of patients is the highest compared to other subdimensions and transcendence level they probably feel more loved, remembered, belonged (22). Korean patients with cancer was found to have eight attributes: "acceptance, self-control, goals of life, change in belief, and positive attitude, supportive relationships, therapeutic environment, and reliance on faith." (23).

In the current study, patients' physical dimension was found to be moderate. In line with the current study, a study done with cancer patients, identified the physical comfort level as moderate (17). Because patients' GCQ physical comfort levels were above 2 out of 4 levels of comfort and transcendence, we concluded that patients did not have serious difficulties in coping with physical symptoms; they may not feel uncomfortable and, able to handle cancer' these symptoms. The current study showed that the participants' environmental comfort dimension was at the most uncomfortable area. However, the patients are best comfortable at the relief level in terms of environmental comfort. It was thought that filling the scale in hospital conditions which may adversely affect the patient's comfort could affect the comfort of patients. Similarly, another patient study found that the environmental comfort subscale was the worst of all other comfort subscales (17). The study of Chen and Cheng (24) detected a decrease in the environmental comfort subscale because hospital conditions are different from conditions at home. The patients who were included in Kim and Kwon (12) study were determined that the highest level of environmental comfort respectively the patients who were followed at home, day care chemotheraphy unit, outpatient clinic and inpatient unit.

The current study found that male patients' were considerably higher comfortable than that of female patients. It is guessed that women's greater responsibilities in their lives outside work may explain their feeling less comfortable. Similarly, in a study when asked to indicate the actual side effects experienced during chemotherapy, women being significantly more affected than men. In the same study, women generally reporting more uncomfortable than men (25).

This current study also found that as age increased, so did aged ≥ 65 years was considerably higher comfortable than for other age groups. Interestingly, although functioning and symptoms differed significantly with age, they were not related to comfort (12). Indeed, the older a person is when they are first diagnosed with cancer, the more they seem able to adapt to their new health situation, and developed more effective coping skills, and have feeling more comfortable (26). However, different studies done with cancer patients did not determine a significant correlation between age and comfort level (15,21).

One study has revealed that cancer patients' comfort level may be elevated because they have been able to maintain their professional life and social responsibilities (3). In the current study, patients who were government employees, and retired employees were significantly higher comfortable than the housewives. This may possibly suggest that patients who were government employees with a regular income, job satisfaction, and social responsibilities demonstrated greater comfort, and were thus able to cope with diseases, and health crises more effectively.

The GCQ is an effective measurement tool that determines the comfort level of cancer patients. Nurses should administer the GCQ at any time points in the patients' chemotherapy. The GCQ needs more research to increase its usability in practice. However, the results of this study may increase awareness among individuals in the occupational healthcare field about the associations between GCQ, and health, and work-related variables. In particular, emphasis should be put on development of assessment, and monitoring tools for use in everyday clinical practice.

Study Limitations

The limitation of the study was that only patients hospitalized in the ambulatory chemotherapy unit of Hospital of University were included in the study. The results of this study are therefore directed at patients receiving treatment in this unit. The results of this study cannot be generalized to all patients.

Conclusion

The results of the current study indicated that cancer patients' comfort level was above the average. The psychospiritual comfort aspect was at the best degree, and sex, age, and profession affected the comfort level. In order to provide the highest level of nursing care for cancer patients, their comfort needs must first be determined before a care plan can be properly implemented. Nurses are responsible for planning, and executing the interventions which can increase patients' comfort. Accordingly, nurses should cooperate with the family to determine the comfort levels of patients during treatment, and to control the negative factors that may arise. Factors that decreasing and increasing comfort in the treatment process of chemotherapy patients should be identified. Patients who will be receiving outpatient chemotherapy should undergo an examination with comfort scale before, during, and after their therapy.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: In order to conduct the study, written permissions were obtained from the hospital. The study was granted ethical clearance by the Institutional Review Board of the University (IRB no: 2015-24237859-388).

Informed Consent: Patient Information Form and GCQ were administered face-to-face by the researcher at a suitable time while patients were receiving chemotherapy at the Ambulatory Chemotherapy Unit.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.C., S.H., Design: A.C., S.H., Data Collection or Processing: A.C., S.H., Analysis or Interpretation: A.C., S.H., Literature Search: A.C., S.H., Writing: A.C., S.H.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- World Health Organization (WHO). Cancer 2018. [Internet]. [cited 2020 Feb 18]. Available from: https://www.who.int/cancer/ PRGlobocanFinal.pdf.
- 2. Turkey Statistical Institute. Statistics with Turkey 2013-2014 [Internet]. [cited 2018 Sep 2]. Available from: http://www.tuik.gov. tr.

- Keim-Malpass J, Levine B, Danhauer SC, Avis NE. Work-related perceptions and quality of life among breast cancer survivors. Psycho-Oncology 2016;25:873-6.
- Radice LM, Eagan J, Michie KY, Pearson M, Petit JH. Initial experience with an innovative pilot program evaluating a multidisciplinary approach to supportive care planning in a survivorship clinic setting. [Internet]. International Journal of Radiation Oncology 2015;93:489.
- 5. Bag B. Psycho-oncology, psychosocial problems and measurement methods. Current Approaches in Psychiatry 2012;4:449-69.
- Tuncer G, Yucel SC. Comfort and anxiety levels of women with early stage breast cancer who receive radiotherapy. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention 2014;15:2109-14.
- Cakmak S, Nural N. Incidence of and risk factors for development of oral mucositis in outpatients undergoing cancer chemotherapy. International Journal of Nursing Practice 2019; 25:1-9.
- Borstelmann NA, Rosenberg SM, Ruddy KJ, Tamimi RM, Gelber S, Schapira L, et al. Partner support and anxiety in young women with breast cancer. Psycho-Oncology 2015;24:1679-85.
- Karabacak U, Acaroglu R. The comfort theory. Maltepe University Science and Art Magazine 2011;4:197-202.
- Kolcaba K. Katherine Kolcaba's comfort theory. In: Smith MC, Parker ME. (Eds), Nursing Theories and Nursing Practice. United States of America: Davis Company. 2015;(4th ed.):S381-91.
- Erdemir F, Cirlak A. Concept of comfort and its use in nursing. Dokuz Eylül University School of Nursing Electronic Journal 2013;6:224-30.
- 12. Kim KS, Kwon SH. Comfort and quality of life of cancer patients. Asian Nursing Research 2007;1:125-35.
- Nuraini T, Gayatri D, Rachmawati I. Comfort assessment of cancer patient in palliative care: A nursing perspective. International Journal of Caring Sciences 2017;10:209-15.
- 14. Ozcelik H, Fadiloglu C, Karabulut B, Uyar M, Elbi H, Eyigor S, et al. Case management based multidisciplinary care protocol in the palliative care of cancer patients. Journal of Pain 2014;26:47-56.

- 15. Yilmaz SG, Arslan S. Effects of progressive relaxation exercises on anxiety and comfort of Turkish breast cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention 2015;16:217-20.
- Kolcaba K, Tilton C, Drouin C. Comfort theory: A unifying framework to enhance the practice environment. Journal of Nursing Administration 2006;36:538-44.
- Bilgic S, Acaroglu R. Effects of listening to music on the comfort of chemotherapy patients. Western Journal of Nursing Research 2017;39:745-62.
- 18. Kolcaba KY. Holistic comfort: operationalizing the construct as a nurse-sensitive outcome. Advances in Nursing Science 1992;15:1-10.
- Open Source Epidemiologic Statistics for Public Health (OpenEpi). (2019). [Internet]. [cited 2019 April 10]. Available from:
- Kuguoglu S, Karabacak U. Adaptation and validation of the Turkish version of the General Comfort Scale. Florence Nightingale Nursing Journal 2008;16:16-23.
- 21. Kavradim ST, Ozer ZC. Hope for cancer patients. Current Approaches to Psychiatry 2014;6:154-64.
- 22. Apostolo J. Suffering and comfort in patients undergoing chemotherapy. [Internet]. [cited 2018 Oct 10].
- Kim KO, Kim JA. Concept Analysis of Fighting Spirit in Korean Patients with Cancer. Korean Journal of Adult Nursing 2019;31:50-60.
- 24. Chen Y, Cheng S. Comfort care for a hepatocellular carcinoma patient in hospice ward. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care 2013;3:278.
- 25. Lorusso D, Bria E, Costantini A, Maio DM, Rosti G, Mancuso A. Patients' perception of chemotherapy side effects: Expectations, doctor–patient communication and impact on quality of life–An Italian survey. European Journal of Cancer Care 2017;26:1-9.
- 26. Alan O, Gursel O, Unsal M, Altin S, Kilciksiz S. Oncologic approach in geriatric patients. Okmeydani Medical Journal 2013;29:94-8.

Original Article



Needlestick and Sharps Injuries Among Operating Room Nurses, Reasons and Precautions

Ameliyathane Hemşirelerinin Kesici-Delici Aletler ile Yaralanma Durumu, Nedenleri ve Önlemleri

Mahmut DAĞCI, Vazile YAZICI SAYIN

Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Health Science, Department of Nursing, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study was carried out to determine the needlestick injuries (NSI) of the operating room nurses with penetrating and sharp tools, the causes of the injury and the precautions taken to prevent the injury.

Methods: A descriptive and cross-sectional study was conducted with the participation of 463 volunteer nurses from 27 different hospitals in Istanbul, Turkey. After obtaining the ethics committee, institutions and volunteer permissions of the study, the data were collected with two data collection forms formed in line with the literature knowledge and expert opinions. The data were analyzed using IBM SPSS 22.0 program and p<0.05 was significance value.

Results: Participants were 18-61 years old, (mean: 35.9±0.84), 63.7% had bachelor's degrees and above, 80.8% of operating room nurses were graduated from nursing program. 68.9% of the participants reported that they had lived at least once during their working life. There were significantly different for NSI (p<0.05) women, married and had low educational levels, working in university hospitals with deep invasive intervention and using protective equipment. Participants reported that 54.8% of the injuries were performed in the right hand and the primary cause was exchanging instruments between nurse and surgeon, the secondary was assisting surgeon. Most of the participants (37.1%) were injured by the suture material. The most common NSI encountered operating theaters were pediatric surgery, cardiovascular surgery, thoracic surgery and general surgery.

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu araştırma, ameliyathane hemşirelerinin delici kesici aletlerle yaralanma (DKAY) durumunu, yaralanma nedenlerini ve yaralanmadan korunmak için aldıkları önlemleri belirlemek amacıyla yapıldı.

Yöntemler: Tanımlayıcı ve kesitsel nitelikteki araştırma, Türkiye'nin İstanbul ilinin 27 farklı hastanesindeki 463 gönüllü hemşirenin katılımı ile yapıldı. Araştırmanın verileri, etik kurul, kurum ve gönüllü izinleri alındıktan sonra literatür bilgisi ve uzman görüşleri doğrultusunda oluşturulan farklı iki veri toplama formu ile toplandı. Veri analizinde IBM SPSS 22.0 programı kullanılarak anlamlılık p<0,05 düzeyinde değerlendirildi.

Bulgular: Katılımcıların, 18-61 yaş (ortalama: 35,9±0,840) arasında, %63,7'sinin lisans ve lisansüstü eğitim düzeyinde olduğu, %80,8'inin hemşire unvanı ile ameliyathane hemşiresi olduğu belirlendi. Katılımcıların %68,9'u çalışma hayatları boyunca en az bir kez DKAY yaşadığını bildirdi. DKAY; kadın, evli ve eğitim düzeyi düşük, devlete bağlı üniversite hastanelerinde çalışan, koruyucu ekipman olanağı yeterli sağlanmayan/kullanmayan katılımcılarda daha fazlaydı, fark istatistiksel olarak anlamlıydı (p<0,05). Katılımcılar DKAY'nin nedeninin çoğunlukla cerrahi alet alışverişi/yardım edici davranışlar sırasında yaşanabildiğini bildirdi. DKAY yaşayan katılımcıların sağ elden yaralandıkları (%54,8), en fazla yaralanmanın %37,1 ile sutür materyalinden kaynaklandığı bulundu. Yaralanmanın en fazla yaşandığı ameliyathaneler sırasıyla çocuk cerrahisi, kardiyovasküler cerrahi, göğüs cerrahisi ve genel cerrahiydi.

Address for Correspondence: Mahmut DAĞCI, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Health Science, Department of Nursing, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: mdagci@bezmialem.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0883-9129

Cite this article as: Dağcı M, Yazıcı Sayın Y. Needlestick and Sharps Injuries Among Operating Room Nurses, Reasons and Precautions. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):317-25.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 25.04.2020 Accepted: 21.05.2020 **Conclusion:** The results of the research show that NSI is an important problem related to healthcare workers' safety in operating theaters.

Keywords: Operating room, operating room nurses, needlestick injuries, risk factors, prevention

Introduction

Needlestick injury (NSI) is among the leading occupational accidents and risks that healthcare workers are exposed to (1). Such injuries are seen as an important problem that most of the health workers face at least once during their professional life (2). NSI is considered as a risk factor especially for the surgical team in terms of employee health (3). Operating rooms within the hospital are the most risky places for NSI. Studies have shown that the health workers most exposed to NSI are nurses and physicians (4-6). It has been reported that NSI can be experienced for many reasons, especially the intensity of the intraoperative process, stress and factors related to the employees (7).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention pointed out that contact with blood and body fluids and its effects were mostly seen in nurses (1,8). In the 2018 report of the EPINet[™] database prepared for the surveillance of NSI and blood-borne infections, it was reported that NSI occured mostly in operating rooms and in nurses among all healthcare workers (4,9). According to the data of the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, approximately 1 million injuries occur in healthcare workers each year in Europe caused by injectors alone (10). Research emphasizes that the measures to be taken and the adoption of safety practices can reduce the NSI by 80% (11,12).

Although it is known that protective measures are necessary in the researches, it is reported that infectious diseases continue to be transmitted under the name of "work accident". When the studies conducted in this area are examined, it is seen that there are suggestions that it should be questioned whether the rate of NSI of nurses decreases in the face of developing science and technology (13-17).

The present study was carried out to determine the conditions of operating room nurses that caused NSI, the precautions they took to prevent injury, and to draw attention to the importance of this issue in the light of the literature.

Within the scope of the research purpose, answers were sought to the following questions;

1. What is the prevalence of NSI among operating room nurses?

2. Is NSI related to the sociodemographic characteristics of operating room nurses?

3. Is NSI related to the working conditions of operating room nurses?

Sonuç: Araştırma sonuçları, DKAY'nin ameliyathane sağlık çalışanlarının güvenliğini etkileyecek kadar önemli bir sorun olduğunu göstermektedir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Ameliyathane, ameliyathane hemşireleri, delici kesici alet yaralanmaları, risk faktörleri, önlem

4. What are the precautions taken regarding NSI in the conditions where the operating room nurses work?

Methods

The Universe and Sample of the Research

The "general universe" of the study, which was planned as a descriptive and cross-sectional study, was represented by the operating room nurses of 220 hospitals in İstanbul, including university, state, educational research and private hospitals (18). Among these hospitals, the "study universe" of the research was chosen. In the literature, attention is drawn to the risk of NSI in healthcare workers in training and research hospitals (19). Therefore, the "study universe" was composed of operating room nurses of training and research hospitals, state hospitals and university hospitals (n=1266). Since the presented research was a master's thesis, it had to be completed within a certain time, so the research was limited to the Istanbul European region. Thus, the study population consisted of 570 operating room nurses working in 27 hospitals. Since it was aimed to reach the whole research universe, no sample calculation was made. While collecting the data, nurses who were in surgery (n=25; 4.38%), who did not want to participate in the study (n=47; 8.24%) or who were sick (n=35; 6.13%) were excluded from the study. The research was completed with a participation rate of 81.2%. Thus, a total of 463 nurses participated in the study.

Data Collection Tools

Data were collected with a questionnaire developed in line with the literature (20-23) and expert opinions. Survey form included 42 closed questions that determined the socio-demographic characteristics of the operating room nurses, their situations and reasons for NSI, and their and their institutions' approaches to the measures taken to prevent NSI. In order to evaluate the clarity of the questions, a preliminary study was carried out with approximately 10% of the sample number (n=47). After the preliminary study, the questions in the data collection form were rearranged and it was decided to use the revised form.

Data Collection

Methods based on "self-report" were used in data collection.

After the necessary permissions were completed, the operating rooms of the hospitals where the research would be conducted were visited according to a pre-planned schedule (between 23.01.2017 and 28.08.2017). Information about the research was given by interviewing with the operating room nurse in charge of each hospital about the questionnaire forms, the

importance of the study to be conducted and ethical permissions. Questionnaires and voluntary consent forms were delivered to the nurses. A second visit was made by c ontacting the nurse in charge within 10-15 days to collect the forms distributed by the researcher.

Evaluation of Data

Data were analyzed in IBM SPSS 22.0 package program. Statistical significance of the data was analyzed with Pearson Chi-Square Test, Pearson Correlation Test, Fisher's Exact test, t-Test, and f-test (ANOVA) according to the distribution status of the data. Significance was evaluated at the 95% confidence level and at the p<0.05 level.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Bezmialem Vakif University Noninterventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (29.11.2016 8/93). Institutional permissions were taken from the rectors of university hospitals, and from the general secretariats of the public hospitals to which they were affiliated. Voluntary participation consent was obtained from the participants in writing.

Results

In this section, there are introductory and comparative findings obtained with the aim of assessing the participants' NSI status.

In the present study, it was determined that 80.8% of the participants were female, 19.2% were male, 57% were married, 42.8% were between 29-39 years old (mean age 35±0.840), and 63.7% had undergraduate or higher education level. It was determined that 80.8% of the operating room nurses graduated from a nursing program, 41.7% worked in training and research hospitals, and 53.6% had 7 years or more of operating room nursing experience. In addition, it was determined that 68.9% of the participants reported that they had experienced NSI (Table 1).

Table 2 shows some of the characteristics of the participants about NSI. Of the participants 28.3% stated that they experienced NSI during the exchange of surgical instruments, 16.3% during assisting the surgeons, and 15.3% during collecting and counting of surgical instruments. It was reported that injuries were most common in the hand (96.8%), with 54.8% of the injuries occurring in the right hand. In 37.7% of the nurses suture material and in 28.2% scalpel were shown as the instrument causing injury.

When the socio-demographic characteristics of the participants were compared with NSI, it was found that female participants were more likely to encounter NSI than male participants (p=0.007), and that married participants were more likely to encounter NSI than singles (p=0.002). Although the frequency of NSI increased with increasing age, there was no statistically significant difference (p=0.607). As the level of education increased, frequency of NSI also increased and the difference was statistically significant (p=0.016) (Table 3).

Table 4 shows the comparison of the characteristics of the participants with NSI. In the operating room nurses of state university hospitals, NSI was less than the others, but the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.938). Although the nurses working in the pediatric surgery (81.3%), thoracic surgery and cardiovascular surgery (78.2%), and general surgery (77.1%) operating rooms reported more NSI compared to the other operating rooms, the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.651).

It was observed that as the working years as an operating room nurse, the duration of working hours in a shift, and the average time spent in surgery increased, the frequency of NSI increased (p=0.01), and working in a mixed shift system was significantly related with NSI (p=0.001).

NSI was less in healthcare workers (n=58) employed as operating room nurses than in nurses. However, this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.235).

Table 5 shows the comparison of the participants' NSI status according to the security measures taken. Difficulty in finding protective equipment showed an insignificant relationship with the NSI status (p=0.887). However, as the use of protective equipment increased, it was observed that the NSI decreased and the difference was statistically significant (p=0.001). When the precautions the participants took against NSI were examined, it was determined that the practices such as the use of double gloves and control of patient serology did not make a difference for participants with and without NSI (p<0.05).

Discussion

In the present study, the fact that the majority of the participants are young, married, had a high level of education and were working in the operating room for a long time suggested that this group consisted of dynamic and high-conscious individuals with a regular family life. It could be concluded that the presented study was similar to the studies published in the national and international literature in terms of socio-demographic characteristics (2,24-29). In addition, the fact that the majority of the participants were state hospital employees might be related to the fact that the participants preferred institutions with more personal rights, or it might be due to the selection of samples.

According to OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development) 2018 data, the number of nurses providing care to every 1000 citizens was 17.8 in Norway, 17.2 in Switzerland, 14.8 in Iceland, while it was 2.1 in Turkey, which was far behind the OECD average (30). In the presented study, the fact that most of the nurses worked in random units and mixedshift system in the operating room suggested that nurses worked under hard conditions according to OECD recommendations and their conditions regarding employee safety were risky. In the study conducted by Kan (31), it was reported that 29.4% of the operating room nurses were distracted at the 4th hour, that the distraction peaked at the 6th hour, and that there was a relationship between prolonged surgeries and NSI in 94.1% of the operating

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of the participants (n=463)				
Characteristics		n	%	
Gender	Female	374	80.8	
	Male	89	19.2	
Age*	18-28	169	36.5	
	29-39	198	42.8	
	40 or above	96	20.7	
Marital status	Married	264	57.0	
	Single	199	43.0	
	High school or undergraduate	168	36.3	
Education	Graduate or postgraduate	295	63.7	
	Nurse	374	80.8	
Occupation	Participants other than nurses **	89	19.2	
	Training and research hospital	193	41.7	
	Foundation affiliated university hospital	107	23.1	
Institution	State university hospital	98	21.2	
	Public hospital	65	14.0	
	Gynecological surgery and urology	118	14.3	
	Ear nose throat and plastic surgery	115	14.0	
	General surgery	105	12.7	
	Orthopedics	99	12.0	
Deparment***	Working in all departments	92	11.2	
	Thoracic surgery and cardiovascular surgery	87	10.6	
	Neurosurgery	54	6.6	
	Pediatric surgery	48	5.8	
	Other****	39	12.8	
Chift	Day shift only	180	38.9	
Shirt	Mixed day or night	283	61.1	
	8-10 hours	344	74.3	
Average working time per shift	11-13 hours	82	17.6	
	14 hours or above	37	8.1	
	1-2 hours	76	16.4	
Average length of stay in a surgery	3-4 hours	221	47.7	
Average tengen of stay in a surgery	5-6 hours	117	25.3	
	6 hours or above	49	10.6	
	1-6 years	215	46.5	
Operating room nursing experience	7-12 years	99	21.4	
	13 years or above	149	32.2	
Needlestick injury status	Yes	319	68.9	
Needlestick injury status	No	144	31.1	

*The oldest age is 61, the mean age is 35.924±0.840

Operating room technician (n=33), emergency medical technician (n=22), health officer (n=14), paramedic (n=5), perfusionist (n=1), laboratory technician (n=3), prosthesis-orthotics Technician (n=2), midwife (n=2), not specifying the professional title (n=7) *Participants gave more than one answer.

****Emergency surgery (n=39), ophthalmology operating room (n=39), supervisor (n=27), robotic surgery (n=1)

room nurses (31). The NSI rates of nurses in the present study (Table 1) were similar to some developing countries, suggesting that operating room nurses expected solutions for similar risks

internationally (32). Zhang et al. (33) reported the rate of NSI as 84.6% in China, Kasatpibal et al. (2) 71.5% in Thailand, Yazar et al. (34) 65.8%, and Benli et al. (35) 77.9% (33). It is

Table 2. Some characteristics of the participants about needlestick injury					
Needlestick injury characteristics		n	%		
	While exchanging drilling-cutting tool	279	28.3		
	While assisting the surgeon	161	16.3		
	ible 2. Some characteristics of the participants about needlestick injury i Vile assisting the surgeon 161 During the collection and counting of instruments 151 When using an injector 117 In emergency surgeries/events 105 While preparing the surgery table 56 During the use of the Sharp-Box 49 While controlling medical wastes in surgical instrument loss 27 During washing and packaging of surgical instrument loss 27 Other (responsible nurse, robotic surgery) 18 Right hand 256 Left hand 196 Other (arms, head, neck, trunk, eye) 15 Suture material 245 Lancet 183 Injector/IV catheter 183 Always having trouble 183 Always having trouble 183 Always having trouble 183 Always having trouble 183 Sometimes can't find 180 Available whenever 210 Sometimes 183 Never 193 Always 193 Sometimes 183 Never 193 In all surgeries 193 In all surgeries 193 Not used 193 Not used 193 During trouble 293 Sometimes 293 Always 193 Sometimes 293	151	15.3		
	When using an injector	haracteristics of the participants about needlestick injury n % is a normal of the surgeon 161 6 the collection and counting of instruments 151 15 sing an injector 117 11 gency surgeries/events 105 10 reparing the surgery table 56 5. the use of the Sharp-Box 49 5. antrolling medical wastes in surgical instrument loss 27 2. washing and packaging of surgical instruments 22 2. responsible nurse, robotic surgery) 18 1. and 256 54 rd 196 42 arms, head, neck, trunk, eye) 15 3. naterial 245 37 Iv Catheter 144 22 e whenever 221 47 Inford 180 38 e whenever 221 47 Inford 18 33 infected cases 153 33 regreiss	11.9		
Courses of initiative	In emergency surgeries/events	105	10.7		
Causes or injury*	While preparing the surgery table	56	5.7		
	During the use of the Sharp-Box	49	5.0		
	While controlling medical wastes in surgical instrument loss	27	2.7		
	During washing and packaging of surgical instruments	22	2.2		
	Other (responsible nurse, robotic surgery)	18	1.8		
	Right hand	256	54.8		
Injured organ*	Left hand	196	42.0		
	Other (arms, head, neck, trunk, eye)	15	3.2		
Injuring instrument*	Suture material	245	37.7		
	Lancet	183	28.2		
	Injector/IV catheter	144	22.2		
	Other**	78	12.0		
Provision of protective equipment	Always having trouble	62	13.4		
	Sometimes can't find	180	38.9		
	Available whenever	221	47.7		
	Always	209	45.1		
The use of protective equipment in	Sometimes	88	19.0		
Surgeries	Never	13	2.8		
	Only in infected cases	153	33.0		
	In all surgeries	166	35.9		
Use of double gloves during surgery	Not used	188	40.0		
	Used during preoperative skin asepsis	45	9.7		
	Other***	64	13.8		
	Always	284	61.3		
Checking patient serology before surgery	Sometimes	143	30.9		
	Never	ected cases 153 33 eries 166 34 ing preoperative skin asepsis 45 9 ing preoperative skin asepsis 64 13 ing preoperative skin asepsis 284 64 ing preoperative skin asepsis 143 30 ing preoperative skin asepsis 143 36	7.8		

* Participants gave more than one answer.

**It shows injury with Kirschner wire (n=4), laparoscopic trocar guide (n=2), chainsaw (n=1), root cannula needle (n=1), drain guide (n=1), (n=69) did not report in writing what he/she was injured with.

***Infected cases (n=44), Orthopedic surgery (n=20)

controversial that gender is a risk factor for NSI (32-36). Afridi et al. (36) in Pakistan compared the gender of participants (35.8% male and 64.2% female) in terms of NSI and reported that gender did not show a significant difference in terms of NSI. In the present study, the reason for the significantly higher NSI in females was the lower number of male participants. With the increase in age, it is expected that the NSI will decrease as the experience, education level and knowledge increase. Educational level may not be a determining risk factor for NSI, as it does not always indicate skill level in clinical practice. However, education can provide awareness of the problem and accelerate finding solution by organizing against the problem (37). In the study presented, it is believed that trained and experienced nurses were more likely to face DKAY because they participated in operations more due to their age and faced risk (Table 3).

In the present study, when the causes of NSI were examined, it was thought that the "hands-free" technique was not used effectively, especially in the operating rooms, as the participants reported that they were injured by instruments with stinging and cutting

Socio-demographic characteristics		Needlestick injury status					
		Yes			No		
		n	%	р	n	%	
Condon	Female	268	71.7	0.007	106	28.3	
Gender	Male	51	57.3	0.007	38	42.7	
Age	18-28 years	112	66.3	0.607	57	33.7	
	29-39 years	138	69.7		60	30.3	
	40 years or above	69	71.9		27	28.1	
Manifal status	Married	197	74.6		67	25.4	
Marital status	Single	122	61.3	0.002	77	38.7	
Education	High school or undergraduate	107	63.6	0.016	61	36.4	
	Graduate or postgraduate	212	68.9	0.010	83	31.1	

Table 3. Comparison of participants' socio-demographic characteristics with needlestick injury status (n=463)

Table 4. Comparison of the participants' working life characteristics with needlestick injury status (n=463)

		Needlestick injury status					
Working life characteristic	CS	Yes			No		
		n	%	р	n	%	
	Training and research hospital	135	69.9		58	30.1	
Institution	Foundation affiliated university hospital	74	69.2	0.020	33	30.8	
institution	State university hospital	65	66.3	0.938	33	33.7	
	Public hospital	45	69.2		No n 58 33 20 32 30 24 28 25 19 39 39 39 34 29 34 71 73 109 35 27 75 31 113 31	30.8	
	Gynecological surgery and urology	86	72.9		32 2 30 2 24 2 28 2 51 2 19 2 13 2 9 1	27.1	
	Ear nose throat and plastic surgery	85	73.9		30	26.1	
	General surgery	81	77.1		24	22.9	
	Orthopedics	71	71.7		28	28.3	
Department	Working in all departments	67	72.8	0.651	25	27.2	
	Thoracic surgery and cardiovascular surgery	68	78.2		19	21.8	
	Neurosurgery	41	75.9		13	24.1	
	Pediatric surgery	39	81.3		9	18.7	
	Other	67	63.2		39	36.8	
Operating room nursing	1-6 years	134	62.3		81	37.7	
experience	7-12 years	70	70.7	0.01	29	29.3	
	13 years or above	115	77.2	$ \begin{array}{c} 28 \\ 25 \\ 25 \\ 19 \\ 19 \\ 13 \\ 9 \\ 39 \\ 39 \\ 39 \\ 39 $	22.8		
Shift	Day shift only	109	60.6	0.001	71	39.4	
	Mixed day or night	210	74.2	0.001	73	25.8	
Average working time	8-10 hours	235	68.3		109	31.7	
per shift	11-13 hours	84	70.6	0.367	35	29.4	
	1-2 hours	49	64.5		27	35.5	
Average length of stay	3-4 hours	146	66.1	0 222	75	33.9	
in a surgery	5-6 hours	86	73.5	0.222	31	26.5	
	6 hours or above	38	77.6		11	22.4	
Occupation	Nurse	261	69.8	0.225	113	30.2	
	Participants other than nurses	58	65.2	0.235	31	34.8	

Security measures		Needlestick injury status				
		Yes			No	
		n	%	Р	n	%
	Always having trouble	44	71.0		18	29.0
Provision of protective equipment	Sometimes can't find	ometimes can't find 122 67.8 0.887				32.2
	Available whenever	153	69.2		68	30.8
The use of protective equipment in surgeries	Always	126	60.3		83	39.7
	Sometimes	59	67.0		29	33.0
	Never	9	69.2	0.001	4	30.8
	Only in infected cases	125	81.7		28	18.3
	In all surgeries	111	66.9		55	33.1
	Not used	137	72.9		51	27.1
Use of double gloves during surgery	Used during preoperative skin asepsis before surgery	lsed during preoperative skin asepsis 32 71.1 0.296		0.296	13	28.9
	In orthopedic surgeries and infected cases	39	60.9		25	39.1
	Always	193	68.0		91	32.0
Checking patient serology before surgery	Sometimes	102	71.3	0.743	41	28.7
	Never	24	66.7		12	33.3

Table 5. Comparison of the participants' needlestick injury status according to the security measures taken (n=463)

properties while exchanging surgical instruments and helping the surgeon. Penetrating tools used in the operating room are generally capable of causing injuries such as cutting, puncturing, and scratching (37,38). However, Stringer et al. (39) reported that the injury rate was 1.2% in surgeries using the "hands-free technique" and 4.0% in surgeries that did not use. In another study, Stringer et al. (40) reported that the "hands-free technique" and the visual materials used in the training of this technique were effective in reducing the NSI. Jagger and Perry (41) reported that the use of the same technique was effective in their study. Considering the studies on the properties of the injurious agent; Kürtünlü (42) showed that suture material (41.5%) and scalpel (38.4%), Mohammad (43) injector needles (45%) and surgical sutures (30%), Lakbala et al. (27) sutures (59%), Hajipour (44) sutures (43.4%), and Wada et al. (26) sutures (48.3%) were the most common causes of injury. The fact that the majority of the injured participants in the present study experienced injury during pediatric and cardiac surgery operations might be related to the physical properties of the instruments used in these operations and the surgical technique. In these surgeries, small suture materials that force hand manipulation are used or deep invasive procedures are performed.

It has been suggested that while double-layered and different colored indicator gloves used in surgery reduce the risk of NSI, wearing single-colored standard gloves on each other creates an unnecessary sense of security (45). Makama et al. (46) reported that 15.2% of the gloves worn in single layer, 27.5% of the outer part of the gloves worn in double layer and 1.2% of the inner part of the gloves worn in double layer were not damaged.

Demircay et al. (47) reported that the outer part of 18.4% and the inner part of 8.4% of the double-layered gloves were not damaged. Guo et al. (48) reported that 11.3% of the outer part of gloves that were worn double layer were torn while the inner part was intact, and that 8.9% of the gloves that were worn in one layer were torn (46-48). In the presented study, it was seen that double layer gloves were used in a rate which could not be underestimated. This situation might lead healthcare workers to more risky interventions by feeling more secure and might increase the rates of NSI.

According to the findings of the study presented, the nurses were unable to realize standard protection measures related to NSI and they reported that they had difficulties in finding equipment to protect against NSI. This might be due to the characteristics of the hospitals where the participants worked, because while private hospitals had to live on their own capital, state hospitals might have difficulty in supplying materials due to excessive patient load. In a study conducted by Özenir (49) in a private hospital in Turkey, it was reported that 79% of nurses had difficulty in accessing protective equipment.

Study Limitations

During the study, it was learned that different occupational groups (emergency medical technician, paramedic, midwife, perfusionist, prosthesis-orthotics technician, operating room technician) were employed under the name of operating room nurse in some institutions where the study was conducted (19.2%). Since these non-nurses were employed as operating room nurses, it was thought that it would be unethical to exclude them from the sample, as they were considered to be at risk in terms of NSI. Discussing the results of these healthcare workers, who did not have nursing education, regarding NSI may have limited the observation of the nurses' injury status.

Unfortunately, many healthcare graduates are employed as nurses in hospitals for various reasons, although they do not graduate from nursing schools. In this case, examining and presenting these health workers' NSI separately may have correct results in many respects.

Conclusion

According to the findings of the study, the operating room nurses encounter a significant number of NSI. The conditions related to the institution where they work/employ rather than their sociodemographic characteristics play a prominent role in NSI. The fact that the majority of NSI is preventable indicates that institutional policies should change. It is recommended to investigate the causes and consequences of institutional sanctions in order to achieve the expected goals with experienced, highly educated nurses employed in the operating room.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Bezmialem Vakıf University Non-interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (29.11.2016 8/93).

Informed Consent: Voluntary participation consent was obtained from the participants in writing.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: M.D., Y.Y.S., Design: M.D., Y.Y.S., Data Collection or Processing: M.D., Analysis or Interpretation: M.D., Y.Y.S., Literature Search: M.D., Y.Y.S., Writing: M.D., Y.Y.S.,

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Workbook for designing, implementing, and evaluating a sharps injury prevention program. 2008. Available from: URL: https://www.cdc. gov/sharpssafety/pdf/sharpsworkbook_2008.pdf.
- Kasatpibal N, Whitney JD, Katechanok S, Ngamsakulrat S, Malairungsakul B, Sirikulsathean P, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of needlestick injuries, sharps injuries, and blood and body fluid exposures among operating room nurses in Thailand. Am J Infect Control 2016;44:85-90.
- Adams S, Stojkovic SG, Leveson SH. Needlestick injuries during surgical procedures: a multidisciplinary online study. Occup Med (Lond) 2010;60:139-44.

- Leigh JP, Wiatrowski WJ, Gillen M, Steenland NK. Characteristics of persons and jobs with needlestick injuries in a national data set. Am J Infect Control 2008;36:414-20.
- Motaarefi H, Mahmoudi H, Mohammadi E, Hasanpour-Dehkordi A. Factors Associated with Needlestick Injuries in Health Care Occupations: A Systematic Review. J Clin Diagn Res 2016;10:1-4.
- 6. Akyol AD, Kargın C. Needle Stick and sharp injuries among nurses. Glob J Nurs Forensic Stud 2016;1:1000109.
- Verbeek J, Basnet P. Incidence of sharps injuries in surgical units, a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Am J Infect Control 2019;47:448-55.
- Mullan RJ, Baker EL, Hughes JM, Bell DM, Jaffe HW, Bond WW, et al. Guidelines for prevention of transmission of human immundeficiency virus and hepatitis-B virus to health-care and public-safety workers. Morbidity and Mortality Weakly Report 1989;38:1-37.
- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (OSHA-EU): How to reduce workplace accidents. 2001 Available from: URL:https:// osha.europa.eu/en/publications/report-how-reduce-workplaceaccidents
- International Healthcare Worker Safety Center, University of Virginia. U.S.EPINet Sharps Injury and Blood and Body Fluid Exposure Surveillance Research Group. Needlestick and sharps object injuries report for 2018. Available from: URL:https:// internationalsafetycenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Official-2018-US-NeedleSummary-FINAL.pdf.
- Visser L. Toronto hospital reduces sharps injuries by 80%, eliminates blood collection injuries. A case study: Toronto East General Hospital pioneers healthcare worker safety. Healthc Q 2006;9:68-70.
- 12. Jeong IS, Park S. Use of hands-free technique among operating room nurses in the Republic of Korea. Am J Infect Control 2009;37:131-5.
- 13. Beşer A. Health risks and management of health care workers. Dokuz Eylül University Nursing Journal 2012;5:39-44.
- Turan H, Togan T. The Evaluation of Injuries Related to Blood and Body Fluids among Healthcare Workers. Klimik Journal 2013;26:98-101.
- 15. Dekker S. Patient safety: a human factors approach. 1st edition. New York: CRC Press; 2011.
- 16. Yassi A, Hancock T. Patient safety--worker safety: building a culture of safety to improve healthcare worker and patient well-being. Healthc Q 2005;8:32-8.
- 17. Clarke SP, Schubert M, Körner T. Sharp-device injuries to hospital staff nurses in 4 countries. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2007;28:473-8.
- Istanbul Provincial Health Directorate. List of hospitals in Istanbul. Access From: URL: http://istanbulism.saglik.gov.tr/TR,50448/ saglik-kurumlari.html
- Öztürk R. HIV infection: Prevention, control and vaccination. Turkiye Klinikleri Journal of Internal Medical Sciences 2007; 3: 93-9.
- 20. Okutan S, Saritas S. Determining applications and knowledge about the injuries caused by surgical tools in nurses working in surgical units (dissertation).. Malatya: İnönü Univ. 2016.

- 21. Yıldız K. The evolution of the safe usage of sharp devices by the health care workers (dissertation). İzmir: Ege Univ. 2011.
- 22. Ceylan C. The examination of injuries which are based on the declarations of nurses working in a university hospital (dissertation). İzmir: Dokuz Eylül Univ. 2009.
- 23. Kutlu D. The research of risk of surgical staff's injuries with surgical insruments in the operating room and factors which influence it (dissertation). Afyon: Afyon Kocatepe Univ. 2007.
- 24. Fathi Y, Barati M, Zandiyeh M, Bashirian S. Prediction of Preventive Behaviors of the Needlestick Injuries during Surgery among Operating Room Personnel: Application of the Health Belief Model. Int J Occup Environ Med 2017;8:232-40.
- Rishi E, Shantha B, Dhami A, Rishi P, Rajapriya HC. Needle stick injuries in a tertiary eye-care hospital: Incidence, management, outcomes, and recommendations. Indian J Ophthalmol 2017;65:999-1003.
- Wada K, Yoshikawa T, Lee JJ, Mitsuda T, Kidouchi K, Kurosu H, et al. Sharp injuries in Japanese operating theaters of HIV/AIDS referral hospitals 2009-2011. Ind Health 2016;54:224-9.
- Lakbala P, Sobhani G, Lakbala M, Inaloo KD, Mahmoodi H. Sharps injuries in the operating room. Environ Health Prev Med 2014;19:348-53.
- Seyman Ç, Ayaz S. Opinions of operating room nurses regarding patient and staff safety in operating room. Dicle Medical Journal 2016;43:12-7.
- 29. Özyiğit F, Küçük A, Arıkan İ, Altuntaş Ö, Kumbasar H, Fener S, et al. The attitude of healthcare workers to safe use of medical instruments in a training and research hospital. The Medical Bulletin of Haseki 2014; 10: 168-71.
- OECD. Nurses (indicator) 2020. doi:10.1787/283e64de-en Avaliable from: URL:https://data.oecd.org/healthres/nurses.htm
- Kan N. Nurses working in the operating room drills-cutting tools, and factors affecting the risk of injury (dissertation). İstanbul: İstanbul Bilim Univ. 2013.
- 32. Chiannilkulchai N, Kejkornkaew S. A Comparative study of ampoule breaking and resultant injury among registered nurses. Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research 2020;24:89-101.
- Zhang X, Gu Y, Cui M, Stallones L, Xiang H. Needlestick and Sharps Injuries Among Nurses at a Teaching Hospital in China. Workplace Health Saf 2015;63:219-25.
- 34. Yazar S, Yücetaş U, Özkan M, Zulcan S. Research regarding injuries to health workers by surgical and other potentially dangerous medical tools and precautions against such injuries. İstanbul Med J 2016;17:5-8.

- 35. Benli AR, Özenver F, Sürmen S, Kayış SA, Koyuncu M, Sunay D. Knowledge, attitude and behaviours of hospital staff with regard to the occupational health and safety. Turkish Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care 2016;10:188-95.
- 36. Afridi AA, Kumar A, Sayani R. Needle stick injuries--risk and preventive factors: a study among health care workers in tertiary care hospitals in Pakistan. Glob J Health Sci 2013;5:85-92.
- Omaç M, Eğri M, Karaoğlu L. Evaluation of occupational needlestick-sharp injuries and status of hepatitis B immunization on nurses working at Malatya province hospitals. Journal of Inönü University Medical Faculty 2010;17:19-25.
- Moro PL, Moore A, Balcacer P, Montero A, Diaz D, Gómez V, et al. Epidemiology of needlesticks and other sharps injuries and injection safety practices in the Dominican Republic. Am J Infect Control 2007;35:552-9.
- Stringer B, Infante-Rivard C, Hanley JA. Effectiveness of the handsfree technique in reducing operating theatre injuries. Occup Environ Med 2002;59:70.
- 40. Stringer B, Haines T, Goldsmith CH, Blythe J, Berguer R, Andersen J, De Gara CJ. Hands-free technique in the operating room: reduction in body fluid exposure and the value of a training video. Public Health Rep 2009;124:169-79.
- Jagger J, Perry J. Power in numbers: using EPINet data to promote protective policies for healthcare workers. J Infus Nurs 2002;25:15-20.
- Kürtünlü Ş. Determination of the injuries of operations room staff by sharp or penetrating tools (dissertation). İstanbul: Haliç Univ. 2013.
- Mohammad A. Needlestick and sharps injuries among resident physicians: an institutional review. Conn Med 2014;78:9-15.
- 44. Hajipour B. Scalpel safety and new scalpel blade remover. J Pak Med Assoc 2011; 61: 943-5.
- Tanner J, Parkinson H. Double gloving to reduce surgical crossinfection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;2006:CD003087.
- 46. Makama JG, Okeme IM, Makama EJ, Ameh EA. Glove Perforation Rate in Surgery: A Randomized, Controlled Study To Evaluate the Efficacy of Double Gloving. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2016;17:436-42.
- 47. Demircay E, Unay K, Bilgili MG, Alataca G. Glove perforation in hip and knee arthroplasty. J Orthop Sci 2010;15:790-4.
- 48. Guo YP, Wong PM, Li Y, Or PP. Is double-gloving really protective? A comparison between the glove perforation rate among perioperative nurses with single and double gloves during surgery. Am J Surg 2012;204:210-5.
- 49. Özenir S. Determining the attitudes towards the safe use of medical devices by occupational accidents that health workers are exposed to (dissertation). İstanbul: Acıbadem Univ. 2017.



Determining the Relationship between Perceived Social Support Levels and Chemotherapy Symptoms in Women with Gynaecological Cancer

Jinekolojik Kanserli Kadınlarda Algılanan Sosyal Destek Düzeyleri ve Kemoterapi Semptomları Arasındaki İlişkinin Belirlenmesi

[▶] Sakine YILMAZ¹, [▶] Gülşen VURAL²

¹Çankırı Karatekin University Faculty of Health Science, Çankırı, Turkey ²Yakın Doğu University Faculty of Nursing, Lefkoşa, KKTC

ABSTRACT

Objective: Patients experience uncertainty and fear about what chemotherapy will bring as a cancer treatment. This uncertainty and fear often increase their need for social support. Social support, regardless of whether it is provided by family, peers or health staff, plays a crucial role in coping with chemotherapy. Social support functions as a buffer against conditions such chemotherapy symptoms. It also helps patients cope with stress caused by chemotherapy symptoms and increase their quality of life. This research aimed to determine the relationship between perceived social support levels and chemotherapy symptoms in women with gynaecological cancer.

Methods: The study was planned descriptively. The sample comprised 148 patients who were admitted to two public hospitals. Data were collected using the Chemotherapy Symptom Assessment Scale, the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MDSPSP) and a descriptive feature form. Data were analysed using the SPSS software programs.

Results: There was a significant relationship detected between MDSPSP and skin, nail, throat, mouth and weight complaints, sleeplessness, anxiety and pessimistic feeling.

Conclusion: In this study, although social support was associated with chemotherapy-related symptoms (throat and mouth, skin and nails and feeling of tension), there was no significant relationship

ÖΖ

Amaç: Kanser tedavilerinden biri olan kemoterapinin neler getireceği konusunda hastalar belirsizlik ve korku yaşamaktadırlar. Bu belirsizlik ve korku, sıklıkla hastaların sosyal destek gereksinimini artırmaktadır. Sosyal desteğin, aile, arkadaş yada sağlık personelinden gelmiş olması önemsenmeksizin, kemoterapiyle daha etkin baş etmede önemli rol oynadığı düşünülmektedir. Sosyal destek, kemoterapinin semptomları gibi olumsuz durumlara karşı bir tampon işlevi görmektedir. Sosyal destek, kemoterapinin neden olduğu stres ile başa çıkmasına ve bunun yanı sıra yaşam kalitelerini de artırmaya yardımcı olmaktadır. Araştırma, jinekolojik kanserli kadınlarda algılanan sosyal destek düzeyleri ve kemoterapi semptomları arasındaki ilişkinin belirlenmesi amacıyla yapılmıştır.

Yöntemler: Çalışma tanımlayıcı olarak planlandı. Örneklem, iki devlet hastanesine başvuran 148 hastayı içermektedir. Veriler Kemoterapi Semptom Değerlendirme Ölçeği, Çok Boyutlu Algılanan Sosyal Destek Ölçeği (ÇBASD) ve bir tanımlayıcı özellikler formu kullanılarak toplanmıştır. Veriler SPSS yazılım programları kullanılarak analiz edilmiştir.

Bulgular: Deri ve tırnaklar, ağız, boğaz, kilo, uyuma güçlüğü, endişeli veya sıkıntılı hissetme, karamsar veya üzüntülü hissetme ile ilgili problemler ile ÇBASD ölçeği arasında anlamlı bir ilişki bulunmuştur (p<0,05).

Sonuç: Bu çalışmada sosyal desteğin kemoterapiye ilişkin bazı semptomlar (boğaz ve ağız, deri ve tırnaklar ve gerginlik hissi) ile anlamlı ilişkisi bulunurken, bazı semptomları (nefes darlığı, ishal,

Address for Correspondence: Sakine YILMAZ, Çankırı Karatekin University Faculty of Health Science, Çankırı, Turkey E-mail: sakinee yilmaz@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7406-1389

Cite this article as: Yılmaz S, Vural G. Determining the Relationship between Perceived Social Support Levels and Chemotherapy Symptoms in Women with Gynaecological Cancer. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):326-33.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 25.10.2019 Accepted: 24.04.2020 with other symptoms (shortness of breath, diarrhoea, constipation, infection signs, alopecia and numbness in the hands or feet). It was concluded that social support status was an important factor for experiencing physical and psychological symptoms in Turkey.

Keywords: Gynaecological cancers, social support, chemotherapy

Introduction

Gynaecological cancers constitute 18% of cancers diagnosed in women (1). According to Pınar et al. (2), 16% of women die because of cancer-related reasons, and gynaecological cancer comes after breast cancer with the highest global mortality rates associated with cancer. In 2015, the American Cancer Society reported that among women, endometrial cancer ranked fourth as the most frequently diagnosed cancer and ovarian cancer accounted for 5% of cancer deaths (3). Similarly, the Department of Cancer Control announced that endometrial, ovarian and cervical cancers ranked fourth, seventh and ninth, respectively, as the most frequently diagnosed cancers in women in Turkey in 2014 (4).

Today, the nature of cancer is well understood, and treatment methods are developing rapidly. However, the toxic side effects of treatment are commonly seen. Although the positive effects of chemotherapy, such as increasing the life expectancy of patients, are known, it also has toxic qualities that cause undesirable side effects, including nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite and hair loss (5-7). Additionally, Bektaş and Akdemir (8) reported that patients who receive chemotherapy show depression and anxiety disorders that cause difficulties in coping with chemotherapy. The quality of life of patients is affected by disturbances in physical, emotional, social and economic status. Decreased quality of life increases the occurrences of depression, anxiety and social isolation, as well as similar psychological issues (9). Social support from family members, relatives and peers, in addition to others in the social circle, should be available to individuals who go through hardships or feel tense (10-13). Social support is known to influence physical and mental well-being and adaptation to cancer. Social support decreases harmful influences of negative life events on physical and mental well-being by buffering the individual and his or her stress. It also protects individuals from the negative effects of stress and is crucial for supplying a sense of belonging and self-esteem and helping them regain their health and feel good (14,15). Sufficient social support and coping with the psychological, social and mental problems associated with gynaecological cancer require additional supportive approaches to treatment and care (16,17). As a result, social support, regardless of whether it is provided by family, peers or medical staff, is crucial for effectively coping with cancer and its treatment. Although there are many studies on chemotherapy and its symptoms in the field of nursing, there are a limited number of studies that determine the relationship between chemotherapy symptoms and social support. In our country, no study has determined the relationship between chemotherapy symptoms and social support in gynaecological cancers. In this respect, the results of kabızlık, enfeksiyon belirtileri, alopesi, ellerde veya ayaklarda uyuşma) etkilemediği saptanmıştır. Sosyal destek durumunun ülkemizde kanser hastalarında fiziksel ve psikolojik semptom yaşamada önemli bir faktör olduğu sonucuna varılmıştır.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Jinekolojik kanserler, sosyal destek, kemoterapi

the study are valuable, and it is anticipated to make an important contribution to the nursing literature.

In addition to systematically evaluating the side effects of women with gynaecological cancer, social and psychological needs should also be considered. Nurses who care for cancer patients should be aware of the psychosocial needs of patients in addition to their physical needs and follow collaborative approaches that aim to adequately meet patients' needs.

This research aimed to determine the relationship between perceived social support levels and chemotherapy symptoms in women with gynaecological cancer and advise medical staff in future consultations.

Methods

Design and Setting

This descriptive design study was conducted at the outpatient chemotherapy unit of two public hospitals in Ankara. This research aimed to determine the relationship between perceived social support levels and chemotherapy symptoms in women with gynaecological cancer. The total population in the two public hospitals consisted of 605 patients with gynaecological cancer who received chemotherapy in 2008.

Sample Size

The following formula was used to determine the sample size for the research: the number of questions in the scales x number of answer options. For the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MDSPSP) and Chemotherapy Symptom Assessment Scale (C-SAS), 84 (12 questions x 7 answer options) and 96 (24 questions x 4 answer options) patients, respectively, were identified as the maximum number of patients among the sample sizes calculated. The C-SAS scale had 24 questions with four multiple options each and was thus equal to 96 patients. It is envisaged to include at least 1.5 times the number of patients determined for the sample size. The total sample size was calculated as follows: 96x1.5=144 patients (6). Quota sampling method was applied for sample selection, and voluntary sampling was conducted.

Participants and Procedures

Participants were 148 patients who were admitted to the two public hospitals in 2010. Participants were native Turkishspeaking patients who were diagnosed with non-metastatic gynaecological cancer and were receiving chemotherapy for the first time. Moreover, they have taken chemotherapy four times over time and had undergone a surgical procedure. All patients were at least 18 years old and volunteered to participate. The study excluded patients who were disabled or had hearing, communication or psychiatric problems.

Research Question

What is the relationship of perceived social support on chemotherapy side effects?

Instruments

Data were collected using C-SAS, MDSPSP and a descriptive feature form developed by the researchers.

A descriptive feature form was used to gather sociodemographic information (age, education, marital status, living arrangements, income rate, residence area (village, town or city), position relative to the hospital (in the same place or not), transportation from and to the hospital, health insurance and job) and disease characteristics of the patients (diagnosis, disease duration, knowledge about the disease, information on drug treatment, experiencing treatment-related problems, taken preventions against the symptoms or not, someone supporting during illness and who was the most supportive during illness).

MDSPSP was developed to measure perceived social support (18). The scale's reliability and validity for use in Turkey were established by Eker et al. (18) in 2001. The highest and lowest scores that can be earned on the scale are 84 and 12, respectively. Higher scores indicate that there is relatively more social support (18). The revised MDSPSP of Eker, Arkar and Yaldız (18) was internally consistent, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.92.

C-SAS was developed in England where its validity and reliability were initially established (19). In Turkey, a similar investigation was conducted by Aslan et al. (6) in 2003. Scores increased with the intensity and severity of symptoms. The Cronbach's alpha values for the internal consistency of the three C-SAS subscales are as follows: frequency of symptoms (α =0.67), intensity of symptoms (α =0.80) and severity of symptoms (α =0.82) (6).

The Implementation of Data Collection Tools

The researcher introduced herself before starting the data collection and gave information about the purpose of the research to the cancer patients. Data collection tools were applied during a face-to-face session by the researcher. Interviews to collect data lasted for just about ten min.

Statistical Analyses

Data collected through questionnaires and scales were transferred to a computer. The appropriateness of the normal distribution of scale scores was analysed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. All scores were not normally distributed. Number and percentage were used for categorical data and median and interquartile range for scale scores. MDSPSP scores were presented as mean ± standard deviation. Relationship between diagnosis and some patient information were investigated using the chi-square test. The relationship between the two scale scores were analysed using the Spearman rank correlation coefficient. MS Excel 2003 and SPSS for Windows version 15.0 package programme were used for all statistical analyses and calculations. A p value of <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

Ethical Issues

Before completing the questionnaires, the participants gave their consent in written form. Patients were under no obligation, financial or otherwise, to participate. Ethical approval was provided by the clinical research ethics committee in Ankara, and written approval was received from the surgeon generals of two public hospitals (B.10.4.1SM.4.06.00.22/2933 and B.10.4.1SM.4.06.00.09/773).

Results

Sociodemographic Characteristics

The mean age of the participants was 52.7±7.8 years. Of participants, 75% were married, 49.3% lived with their husbands and children, 42.5% did not have any education and 81.8% had medium-sized incomes. Furthermore, 68.3% lived in urban areas and 90.5% had social insurance (Table 1).

Distribution of Women's Cancer and Some of the Properties of Chemotherapy

In this study, 52.7% of participants were receiving chemotherapy four times, and 62.8% were diagnosed with ovarian cancer. Of participants, 77.7% declared that they had been informed about their disease. About two-thirds (67.6%) had been informed about chemotherapy medicines, and 66.2% had been informed about the possible side effects of medicines. Of participants, 55.4% had no prior history of discomfort with chemotherapy, whereas 81.8% of those who had previous discomfort were taking precautions (breathing exercise, regular diet, using herbal tea and some herbal foods, using a wig or hat, etc.). More than half (52.7%) of the sample reported that their husbands gave the maximum amount of social support, and 97.3% of the participants had at least one individual providing social support during the process (Table 2).

The Relationship Between Perceived Social Support and Chemotherapy Side Effects

Surprisingly, there was a significant positive correlation between social support from the family and skin- and nail-related problems such as dryness and itchiness (r=0.442, p=0.045), indicating that those with high social support from their family experienced more problems with their skin and nails. However, a weak positive correlation was observed between social support from a special person and throat- and mouth-related problems (r=0.38, p=0.024). Furthermore, there was a weak negative correlation between social support from a special person and weight changes (r=0.254, p=0.026; Table 3).

There was a weak positive correlation between social support from a special person and total average score (r=0.393, p=0.002) as well as falling asleep difficulties (r=0.362, p=0.005). Perhaps patients who had falling asleep difficulties eventually got more social support from a special person, as reflected by their higher total social support score. Also, a weak significant positive

Table 1. Distribution of sociodemographic characteristics of patients (n=148)					
Sociodemographic characteristics	n	%			
Age (years)					
49 and below	51	34.5			
50-55	35	23.6			
56 and above	62	41.9			
Marital status					
Married	111	75.0			
Not married*	37	25.0			
Education status					
Illiterate	40	27.0			
Literate	23	15.5			
Primary school	47	31.8			
Middle school	10	6.8			
High school and older	28	18.9			
People who live together					
Alone	14	9.5			
Spouse and children	73	49.3			
Other (brother/sister, friend, relative, etc.)	61	41.2			
Income rate					
Good	11	7.4			
Middle	121	81.8			
Low	16	10.8			
Area of residence					
Rural	47	31.7			
Urban	101	68.3			
Social security					
Yes	134	90.5			
No	14	9.5			
dof					
Officer	4	2.7			
Working at home (housewife)	118	79.7			
Retired	12	8.1			
Farmer	9	6.1			
Other (self-employed, worker, unemployed, etc.)	5	3.4			
*Single, widowed or divorced					

correlation indicated that patients who reported greater feelings of tension or anxiety on the C-SAS also had higher MDSPSP scores from family (r=0.261, p=0.016) and friends (r=0.288, p=0.008) as well as a higher total score. A similar positive correlation was also found between pessimism and upset on the C-SAS and social support. Specifically, patients who experienced pessimism and upset received more social support from family (r=0.222, p=0.048) and friends (r=0.285, p=0.010) and also had higher overall total scores on the MDSPSP (r=0.349, p=0.002; Table 4).

Table 2. Distribution of patients' diseases and chemotherapy-related properties (n=148)					
Properties of diseases and chemotherapy	n	%			
Number of cures					
4	78	52.7			
5	29	19.6			
6	41	27.7			
Cancer types					
Endometrial cancer	30	20.3			
Ovarian cancer	93	62.8			
Others*	25	16.9			
Information on the disease					
Received	115	77.7			
Did not receive	33	22.3			
Information on medicines of chemotherapy					
Received	100	67.6			
Did not receive	48	32.4			
Information on possible side effects of medicin	es involve	d			
Received	98	66.2			
Did not receive	50	33.8			
Any history of disturbances with former cures o	fchemot	herapy			
Present	66	44.6			
Absent	82	55.4			
Precautions for possible side effects (n=66)					
Taken	54	81.8			
Not taken	12	18.2			
Social support source					
Yes	144	97.3			
No	4	2.7			
Supporting individuals (n=144)**					
Partner	78	52.7			
Sister/brother	22	14.9			
Friend	5	3.4			
Child	77	52.0			
Others (relatives, neighbours, etc.)	15	10.1			
Total	197	130.4			
*Cervical cancer (n=23), vaginal cancer (n=1) and u $(n = 1)$	terine tuba	al cancer			

**Since it can be more than one supporter, n folded.

Additionally, there was no statistically significant relationship between the other C-SAS symptoms and MDSPSP subgroups or total scores (p>0.05; Tables 3 and 4).

Discussion

In this study, 77.7% of our patients were knowledgeable of their disease. It was determined that 67.6% of the patients had knowledge about chemotherapy, 66.2% knew the side effects of chemotherapy and 44.6% had previously experienced problems in chemotherapy treatment (Table 2). According to the research of Pinar et al. (20), patients who receive information about their treatment have a higher quality of life and better overall well-being. The study of Özyurt (14) reported that 41% of the patients' emphasised that being informed was beneficial. Having

knowledge about chemotherapy and knowing what to do and how to deal with any problems can provide comfort to patients. In our study, 18.2% of patients who experienced chemotherapy side effects did not take precautions, whereas 81.8% took precautions (Table 2). According to the research of Kayış (21), 11.1% of the patients who experienced chemotherapy side effects did not take precautions, and 68.9% took precautions. These results show that the majority of patients receiving chemotherapy take precautions against the side effects of treatment. However, when the proportion of patients not taking precautions was examined, the result suggested that some patients are not adequately helped to deal with side effects or the nursing services provided to these patients are not used effectively. It is thought that nurses should give more consultancy support to patients who do not take precautions.

Table 3. Co-relation between MDSPSP subgroups and C-SAS score								
				MDSPSP s	ubgroups			
Physical symptoms of C-SAS	Family		Peers		Special person		Sum of the scale	
	г	Р	г	р	г	р	г	Р
Nausea/vomiting prior to treatment	0.358	0.254	-0.044	0.891	0.338	0.283	0.199	0.536
Nausea after the treatment	0.010	0.922	0.180	0.078	0.037	0.716	0.156	0.127
Vomiting after the treatment	-0.053	0.697	0.082	0.542	-0.080	0.554	0.019	0.890
Constipation	0.032	0.783	0.095	0.415	0.000	1.000	0.043	0.711
Diarrhoea	0.144	0.473	-0.006	0.976	0.007	0.972	0.074	0.714
Aches	0.120	0.309	-0.136	0.249	-0.090	0.443	-0.102	0.386
Shortness of breath	-0.325	0.162	-0.152	0.521	-0.096	0.689	-0.136	0.568
Infection (fever, flu-like symptoms, etc.)	0.251	0.146	0.132	0.451	0.156	0.371	0.156	0.371
Sensation of pricking and lethargy in hands and feet	-0.011	0.910	-0.034	0.732	-0.048	0.631	-0.043	0.668
Problems of skin and nails (dry, itchy, etc.)	0.442	0.045	-0.030	0.897	0.191	0.408	0.166	0.471
Hair loss	0.015	0.885	0.017	0.868	-0.187	0.066	-0.110	0.280
Problems of throat and mouth (sensitivity or dryness)	0.141	0.419	0.191	0.272	0.381	0.024	0.284	0.098
Change in appetite	0.205	0.061	0.122	0.270	0.050	0.648	0.180	0.102
Weight loss or gain	0.030	0.792	-0.070	0.543	-0.254	0.026	-0.110	0.341
Problems of eyes (itchiness, sensitivity or dryness, etc.)	0.369	0.175	0.191	0.496	0.169	0.547	0.359	0.189
Sense of weakness	0.141	0.102	0.127	0.140	0.057	0.506	0.118	0.173
Sense of unusual exhaustion	0.061	0.498	0.081	0.372	0.003	0.974	0.026	0.771
MDSPSP: Multidimensional scale of perceived social support, C-SAS: Chemotherapy symptom assessment scale								

Table 4. Co-relation between I	MDSPSP subgroups and C-SAS score

				MDSPSP sub	ogroups			
Psychosocial symptoms of C-SAS	Family		Peers		Special person		Sum of the scale	
	г	Р	Г	Ρ	г	Р	г	Р
Difficulties in falling asleep	0.194	0.141	0.108	0.415	0.393	0.002	0.362	0.005
Feeling anxious or tense	0.261	0.016	0.288	0.008	0.105	0.343	0.305	0.005
Feeling pessimistic or upset	0.222	0.048	0.285	0.010	0.195	0.083	0.349	0.002

MDSPSP: Multidimensional scale of perceived social support, C-SAS: Chemotherapy symptom assessment scale

Additionally, more than half of the sample (52.7%) reported that their husbands gave the maximum amount of social support (Table 2). According to the prosecutor's report, the support required by the individual is primarily provided by their immediate surroundings. Dansuk et al. (22) found that women receive more social support from their husbands and children than from any other group of social support providers. Further, Tel and Tel (23) found that women receive more social support from their families than from any other group of social support providers. However, Sammarco and Konecny's (24) research indicated that patients receive social support in the following order: from friends, family and health staff. According to Ayaz et al. (17), women need support from family, friends and medical staff during their treatment as the diagnosis of cancer, duration of treatment and obscurity of the disease cause social isolation. Social support serves to decrease cancer patients' anxiety, helps them cope with the disease and provides positive influences on their quality of life. Although social support could not eliminate the condition completely, it helps patients adapt to chronic physical or psychological conditions and has a positive influence on their mood and abilities to cope with the disease (25,26).

A significant positive correlation was found between social support degree provided by family members on the MDSPSP and skin- and nail-related problems (p=0.045; Table 3). It is thought that patients with physical appearance problems may be offered more social support than their families. There was also a statistically significant relationship, although it is weak (p=0.024), between social support degree provided by a special person on the MDSPSP and mouth- or throat-related problems (Table 3). As a consequence of the higher discomfort level associated with such symptoms, patients may get more support from "a special person" who can be a romantic interest, neighbour or family relative. In addition, throat- and mouth-related problems attract more attention because they cause pain and disability in speaking or prevent proper nourishment, which can further wear patients down. Therefore, under these conditions, it is possible that such patients would receive more support from their special person. Also, chemotherapy is highly likely to cause changes in the physical appearance of patients. Such changes are especially depressing for women. Consequently, some women develop more intimate bonds with their social support givers during treatment, whereas others withdraw from communication. MDSPSP scores and changes were significantly negatively correlated (p=0.026; Table 3). Patients who received less social support had more difficulties with weight. Chemotherapy treatment takes a long time, and there are many symptoms in this process. The long duration of physical symptoms can cause psychosocial problems (25). Therefore, social support is needed to cope with these problems. Social support may sometimes positively and sometimes negatively affect symptoms in this process. As a result, it is possible to expect a better perception of physical health (physical symptoms) in the long term by better understanding of psychological health and quality of life. According to Rustøen and Begnum (27), patients with breast cancer need psychological support and psychological improvements help make the physical condition more positive.

There is some evidence that social support is associated with the physical and psychological adjustment of cancer patients to the disease, but a detailed study on these issues could not be reached in the literature review. We can say that there is a need for studies that determine the relationship between perceived social support and side effects seen in patients receiving chemotherapy.

As can be seen in Table 4, there is a weak significant positive correlation between support degree from a special person and both sleeping difficulties and total MDSPSP scores (p=0.002 and 0.005, respectively). Quality of life is highly related to sleeping. Göktalay et al. (28) noted that symptoms of chemotherapy influence the quality of life of patients no matter the intensity of symptoms (pain, fatigue, etc.). Although patients receive social support from their social circles, they still face sleeping difficulties. Even if the social supports cannot remove the stressful situation, they facilitate the adaptation to situation related to physical and psychological health, create positive moral effects and help patients cope with these problems (25). Studies have shown that many psychological methods, such as providing social support, are effective in reducing emotional (difficulty sleeping and stress) and physical symptoms (fatigue, pain, nausea and vomiting and taste change) associated with cancer treatment and enhancing coping skills (29,30).

Beser and Öz (31) pointed out that living with cancer involves learning how to cope with cancer symptoms, dealing with its influences on life and reorganising one's life for a new life standard. Since the course is long and full of side effects, patients may experience hopelessness, despair, anticipation of the worst, social isolation, depression or a sense of exhaustion. Our research indicated an increase in the total scores of MDSPSP (p=0.005) and its subgroups, family (p=0.016) and friends (p=0.008), as well as of the feelings of tension and anxiety on the C-SAS. Similar significant positive correlations were also observed between scores representing support provided by the family (p=0.048) and friends (p=0.010) and total MDSPSP scores (p=0.002) and feelings of pessimism or upset on the C-SAS (Table 4). These correlations were positive but weak. Karabulutlu et al. (32) supported the belief that cancer patients cope with the anxiety, depression and other negative emotions caused by their disease with help from their families and friends. Özdemir et al. (33) acknowledged that patients received 70% of social support from their spouses or children. The social support that patients need to cope with their condition should contribute to their self-esteem and self-confidence and make them feel secure. Unfortunately, social support occasionally conflicts with patients' self-esteem. As a consequence, patients feel insecure about themselves.

There is no statistically significant correlation between other subgroups or MDSPSP total score and C-SAS symptoms (p>0.05; Tables 3, 4). There are many side effects (nausea, vomiting, weakness, insomnia, anxiety, depression and the like) and therapeutic effects of chemotherapy, and these problems are the daily lives of patients functioning in the negative direction. The long duration of physical symptoms causes psychosocial problems. Thus, physical and psychosocial symptoms lead to an increase in patients' social support needs (25,34). In Turkey, social support is often emphasised in patients receiving chemotherapy, and the findings of research on this subject are insufficient. Therefore, our study focuses on whether there is a relationship between chemotherapy-related symptoms and social support status patients perceive.

Conlusion

In conclusion, despite the limitations caused by the diseases and treatment methods, some important goals of health services have begun to include helping patients feel good, increase healthcare skills, maintaining daily life activities and adapting to the planned treatment programmes. In this regard, nurses as healthcare professionals have great responsibilities. This research showed that patients perceive social support in accordance with the intensity of their symptoms during treatment. The relation is very probably influenced by different cancer types or treatment and symptoms that each patient experiences. To take precautions against symptoms, discovering their causes and frequencies is essential. As a consequence, adaptation to treatment gets easier and patients' quality of life increases. Nurses who spend time with patients during the treatment have a significant responsibility since they also spend time with patients' family and friends.

Furthermore, a detailed study on these issues could not be reached in the literature review. There is a need for studies that determine the relationship between perceived social support and side effects seen in patients receiving chemotherapy. This research consisted of women without hearing or visual impairments who were at least 18 years old and were fluent speakers. It is possible to conduct a similar research without limiting the sample to Turkish speakers or those without visual or hearing defects.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was provided by the clinical research ethics committee in Ankara, and written approval was received from the surgeon generals of two public hospitals (B.10.4.1SM.4.06.00.22/2933 and B.10.4.1SM.4.06.00.09/773).

Informed Consent: Before completing the questionnaires, the participants gave their consent in written form.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: G.V., S.Y., Design: G.V., S.Y., Data Collection or Processing: G.V., S.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: G.V., S.Y., Literature Search: G.V., S.Y., Writing: G.V., S.Y.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

 Gonçalves V. Long-term quality of life in gynecological cancer survivors. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2010;22:30-5.

- Pinar G, Kaplan S, Akalin A, Abay H, Ayhan A, Ayhan Y. Evaluation of Sexual Dysfunction and Affecting Factors in Turkish Women with Gynecological Cancer. Sex Disabil 2016;34:49-62.
- American Cancer Society Cancer facts & figures. 2015. [Cited 2015 Nov 8]. Available from: http://www.cancer.org
- T.C. Ministry of Health, the Department of Cancer Control. 2014. [Cited 2018 Jan 6]. Available from: http://kanser.gov.tr.
- Usta Yeşilbalkan Ö, Durmaz Akyol A, Çetinkaya Y, Altın T, Ünlü D. Studying the symptoms that are being experienced due to treatment by the patients who receive chemotherapy end their effects on the quality of life. Ege University Journal of School of Nursing 2005;21:13-31.
- 6. Aslan Ö, Vural H, Kömürcü Ş, Özet A. Effect of Education On Chemotherapy Symptoms in Cancer Patients Receiving Chemotherapy. Cumhuriyet University Journal of School of Nursing 2006;10:15-28.
- Kayl AE, Meyers CA. Side-effects of chemotherapy and quality of life in ovarian and breast cancer patients. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2006;18:24-8.
- 8. Bektaş HA, Akdemir N. The assessment of functional status in individual 's who have cancer. Turk J Med Sci 2006;26:488-99.
- 9. Çam O, Gümüş BA. Emotional support focused nursing interventions for the women with breast. Cumhuriyet University Journal of School of Nursing 2006;10:52-60.
- Hann D, Baker F, Denniston M, Gesme D, Reding D, Flynn T, et al. The influence of social support on depressive symptoms in cancer patients: age and gender differences. J Psychosom Res 2002;52:279-83.
- Parker PA, Baile WF, de Moor Cd, Cohen L. Psychosocial and demographic predictors of quality of life in a large sample of cancer patients. Psychooncology 2003;12:183-93.
- Aksüllü N, Doğan S. Relationship of social support and depression in institutionalized and non-institutionalized elderly. Anadolu Journal of Psychiatry 2004;5:76-84.
- 13. Ashing-Giwa KT, Padilla G, Tejero J, Kraemer J, Wright K, Coscarelli A, et al. Understanding the breast cancer experience of women: a qualitative study of African American, Asian American, Latina and Caucasian cancer survivors. Psychooncology 2004;13:408-28.
- 14. Özyurt BEA. Descriptive study about social support Percieved by cancer patients. Journal of Kriz 2007:15;1-15.
- 15. Tan M. Social support and coping in Turkish patients with cancer. Cancer Nurs 2007;30:498-504.
- 16. Tan M, Karabulutlu E. Social support and hopelessness in Turkish patients with cancer. Cancer Nurs 2005;28:236-40.
- Ayaz S, Efe Ş, Korukluoğlu S. Level of perceived social support of patients with gynecological cancer and affecting factors. J Med Sci 2008;28:880-5.
- Eker D, Arkar H, Yaldız H. Actorial structure, validity, and reliability of revised form of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. Turkish Journal of Psychiatry 2001;12:17-25.
- 19. Brown V, Sitzia J, Richardson A, Hughes J, Hannon H, Oakley C. The development of the Chemotherapy Symptom Assessment Scale

(C-SAS): a scale for the routine clinical assessment of the symptom experiences of patients receiving cytotoxic chemotherapy. Int J Nurs Stud 2001;38:497-510.

- Pinar G, Cezayir L, Doğan N, Kaya N. Determination of the Risk Factors in Individuals with Gynecological Cancer. International Journal of Hematology and Oncology 2008;18:208-16.
- 21. Kayış A. Cancer Patients' Perception of Disease and Hopelessness Levels. Master Thesis. Istanbul: Haliç Univ. 2009.
- Dansuk R, Ağargün M, A Kars B, Pars Ağargün H, Turan C, Ünal O. Evaluation of the Psychosocial Characteristics of Gyneacologic Cancer Patients. T Clin Gyneacol Obs 2002: 12; 142-7.
- 23. Tel H, Tel H. Quality of life and social support in Hemodialysis patients. Pak J Med Sci 2011;27:64-7.
- 24. Sammarco A, Konecny LM. Quality of life, social support, and uncertainty among Latina and Caucasian breast cancer survivors: a comparative study. Oncol Nurs Forum 2010;37:93-9.
- 25. Bertöre CM. Types and sources of social support for people afflicted with cancer. Nursing and Health Sciences 2000;2:93-101.
- Allen SM, Ciambrone D, Welch LC. Stage of life course and social support as a mediator of mood state among persons with disability. J Aging Health 2000;12:318-41.
- Rustøen T, Begnum S. Quality of life in women with breast cancer: a review of the literature and implications for nursing practice. Cancer Nurs 2000;23:416-21.

- Göktalay T, Akın M, Aydemir Ö. Quality of life evaluation in patients with lung cancer. Journal of Respiratory Diseases 2001;13:265-70.
- 29. Golant M, Altman T, Martin C. Managing cancer side effects to improve quality of life: a cancer psychoeducation program. Cancer Nurs 2003;26:37-44.
- Williams SA, Schreier AM. The effect of education in managing side effects in women receiving chemotherapy for treatment of breast cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2004;31:16-23.
- Beser N, Öz F. Anxiety- Depression levels and quality of life of patients with lymphoma who are curing. Cumhuriyet University Journal of School of Nursing 2003;7:47-58.
- Karabulutlu EY, Bilici M, Çayır K, Tekin SB, Kantarcı R. Coping, anxiety and depression in Turkish patients with cancer. Eur J Gen Med 2010;7:296-302.
- Özdemir S, Öner DF, Atkovar G, Özbek Ö, Özmen M. Psychosocial characteristics of patients undergoing radiotherapy and their expectations of their radiation oncologist. Türkish Journal of Oncology 2011;26:12-7.
- 34. Arslan S, Akın B, Koçoğlu D. The relationship between perceived social support, perceived socio -demographic characteristics and symptoms related to chemotherapy treatment in the patients who are receiving chemotherapy. Hemarge 2008:47-56.

Original Article



The Effect of Different Nutrition Education Approaches on Children's Nutritional Status

Farklı Beslenme Eğitimi Yaklaşımlarının Çocukların Beslenme Durumlarına Etkisi

[▶] Burcu ATEŞ ÖZCAN¹, [▶] Aydan ERCAN²

Ístanbul Okan University, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics in English, Ístanbul, Turkey Trakya University, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Edirne, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: The study was performed to assess the potential of different educational approaches given to primary school children on their nutritional status.

Methods: The study was conducted with all second and third-grade students studying in an elementary school. First, 2 second and third-grade teachers were given nutrition education by the researcher. These teachers gave a healthy nutrition education to their classes for 2 months as indirect education. During the same period, the researcher gave direct nutrition education to other students. Before all education, a questionnaire and food consumption frequency forms were tested on all students. After waiting for 2 months, the food consumption frequency form applied to the students again.

Results: While the percentage of students' energy from total fat and saturated fat was decreased at the end of the education, the percentages of energy from monounsaturated fatty acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids were increased (p<0.05). The decrease in percentages of total fat and saturated fat is more efficient in indirect education (p<0.05). Direct nutrition education was more effective in increasing the intake of riboflavin, niacin and vitamin B12, while indirect nutritional education was more effective in increasing the intake of thiamine, A, B6, E and C vitamins (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Nutrition education given to children had a positive effect on their h nutritional status. This effect was moderately better through indirect education, and we believe this is due to the fact that students considered their teachers as role models.

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışma, ilkokul çocuklarına verilen farklı eğitim yaklaşımlarının çocukların beslenme durumlarına etkisinin belirlenmesi amacı ile yapılmıştır.

Yöntemler: Çalışma, bir ilkokulda okuyan tüm ikinci ve üçüncü sınıf öğrencileri ile gerçekleştirilmiştir. İlk olarak, dört sınıf öğretmeninden ikisine araştırmacı tarafından beslenme eğitimi verilmiştir. Biri 2. sınıf, biri de 3. sınıfla ilgilenen bu öğretmenler, dolaylı eğitim olarak, 2 ay boyunca kendi derslerinde konu ile ilgili sağlıklı beslenme eğitimi vermişlerdir. Aynı dönemde araştırmacı, diğer öğrencilere doğrudan beslenme eğitimi vermiştir. Eğitimlerden önce tüm öğrencilerden anket ve besin tüketim sıklığı formları alınmıştır. İki ay bekledikten sonra öğrencilere tekrar besin tüketim sıklığı formu uygulanmıştır.

Bulgular: Eğitim sonunda, öğrencilerin toplam yağ ve doymuş yağdan alınan enerji yüzdesi azalırken, tekli doymamış yağ asitlerinden ve çoklu doymamış yağ asitlerinden gelen enerji yüzdeleri artmıştır (p<0,05). Toplam yağ ve doymuş yağ yüzdelerindeki azalma dolaylı eğitimde daha etkilidir (p<0,05). Doğrudan beslenme eğitiminin riboflavin, niasin ve B12 vitamini artışlarında daha etkili olduğu, dolaylı beslenme eğitimi ise tiamin, A, B6, E ve C vitaminlerinin artış oranlarında daha etkili olduğu bulunmuştur (p<0,05).

Sonuç: Çocuklara verilen beslenme eğitimi, çocukların her iki durumda da beslenmeleri üzerinde olumlu bir etkiye sahiptir. Öğretmenlerin öğrenciler için rol model olması nedeniyle bu etkinin öğretmen eğitiminde ılımlı derecede daha çok olduğu düşünülmektedir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Çocuk beslenmesi, beslenme, beslenme eğitimi

Received: 07.06.2020

Accepted: 20.08.2020

Keywords: Child nutrition, nutrition, nutrition education

Address for Correspondence: Burcu ATEŞ ÖZCAN, İstanbul Okan University, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics in English, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: burcuates474@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2627-0167

Cite this article as: Ateş Özcan B, Ercan A. The Effect of Different Nutrition Education Approaches on Children's Nutritional Status. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):334-43.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House.

Introduction

Child nutrition directly affects their growth, development and academic performance and is closely related to the state of health in adulthood. Optimal nutrition reduces the risk of developing iron-deficiency anaemia, vitamin D deficiency, obesity, dental caries and chronic diseases such as diabetes, osteoporosis and heart disease (1-3). Nutritional behaviours of individuals were established in childhood (4,5). It is, therefore, necessary to convey the correct information to children through nutrition education in childhood to have a positive impact. A study conducted on children and young adolescents showed that improvement of nutritional knowledge enables children to acquire better eating habits (6). For this purpose, regular nutrition education in primary, secondary and high schools is the best way to convert this information into behaviour (2,7). Nutrition education is a part of applied nutrition which is implemented to improve people's health, raise awareness of individuals about healthy nutrition and lifestyle. By increasing their scientific knowledge, they will probably translate this information into a lifestyle (8). School-based nutrition education aims to promote the welfare of the community through the recognition, adoption and motivation of healthier diet and eating practices by children and possibly by their families and, therefore, by the community (9). Since the risk of many non-communicable diseases is closely related to eating habits, various diet education programmes aiming at establishing healthy eating habits in children are being implemented worldwide (4). This study was planned and conducted to determine and evaluate the effect of nutritional education given to the second and third-grade students of a selected primary school by a dietician directly or indirectly with the class teacher trained by the dietician on the nutritional status of the students.

Methods

Study Design

For this study, the Ethics Committee Approval was obtained from Başkent University Medicine and Health Sciences Research Committee with the decision of 18/09 dated 03/01/2018. The study was conducted with all the second and third-grade students studying at the same school between January 2018 and April 2018, after obtaining the necessary permissions and approval from the Okan College Primary School Directorate. The permissions for the student's attendance to the study were given by the parents. The study included students whose parents allowed their children to participate in the study, read and signed the "Parent Voluntary Consent Form". The students also read and signed the "Student Voluntary Consent Form". Students with any chronic and/or metabolic disease, taking any medication, laxative and/or stool softener, oral supplementation were not included in the study. Two students who could not come to school due to their illnesses were excluded from the study. Two students who were excluded from the study were also given nutritional education, and anthropometric measurements were taken in order not to be separated from their classmates. However, their evaluations were not included in the study.

Participants and Recruitment

There are 2 second and 2 third-grade classes at the primary school. In this study, two groups were randomly selected as 1 second class and 1 third class in each group. Nutrition education is planned to be given directly to one group and indirectly to the other group. Indirect nutritional education (TE) is defined as the education given by the teachers, second and third-grade teachers trained by the researcher and direct nutritional education (DE) is defined when it is given directly to the other students by the researcher. All teachers voluntarily participated in the study. 2 teachers from indirect education were given nutritional education.

Procedures

Before educating the students, two teachers who were in indirect education were given nutrition education twice a week (total 140 minutes) for 70 minutes each. The other two teachers did not receive any nutrition education. Educated teachers transferred their acquired nutritional knowledge to their students through their own Life Science courses. The teachers devoted a total of 1 lesson (35 minutes) per week to related topics for 4 weeks (140 minutes in total). The topics are the same as the direct nutrition education group, which is parallel to the nutrition education that teachers receive from the researcher. Teachers integrated the topics into their lessons and explained them with a visual presentation.

In direct nutrition education, students were given nutritional education by a computer-assisted visual presentation during a course (35 minutes) and a total of 4-course hours (total 140 minutes) by the researcher simultaneous with the indirect nutrition education. The content of nutrition education given in all classes was the same, and the subjects included were as follows: 1- Healthy Nutrition-1: definition and importance of healthy nutrition, adequate and balanced nutrition, food groups. 2- Healthy Nutrition-2: nutrients and their importance for health, the healthy plate, food selection and daily nutrition issues. 3- Healthy Nutrition in Children: the importance of child nutrition, its role in the growth and development, problems in cases of inadequacy and imbalance, adequate and balanced nutrition in children. 4- Misconceptions and Frequently asked questions. Before the educations, a questionnaire including the demographic characteristics of the students and the frequency of nutrient consumption form were applied. At the end of the two month waiting period after the educations, the frequency of food consumption status was re-evaluated in students. The questionnaire form was designed by the researcher based on the review of the literature and the face to face interview method was used in the application of the questionnaire. The questionnaire included questions about the demographic characteristics of students such as age, gender and nutritional habits such as fruit and vegetable consumption of the students. The frequency and amount of food consumption of the students were recorded in the food consumption frequency form containing 49 different food types. The daily energy and nutrients of the students were calculated through the records. These data were analysed using the Computer-Aided Nutrition Programme (Nutrition Information

Systems Package Programme- BEBIS) developed for Turkey. The calculated energy and nutrient data were examined according to the dietary reference intake (DRI) by age and gender (10).

Statistical Analysis

Since the numbers in the groups were sufficient according to the central limit theorem for continuous data, the analyses were performed under the normal distribution approach (11).

Student's t-test was used for the comparison of two independent groups, Paired t-test was used for the comparison of two dependent groups and two-way analysis of variance was used for repetitive measurements from the general linear models to observe the change of independent groups over time. Descriptive statistics are expressed as mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values. For the analysis of categorical data, chisquare test was used for independent groups and Fisher Exact test was used when the number of observations less than 5 was above 20%. Marginal homogeneity test was applied for the dependent data with more than two groups, and descriptive statistics were expressed with frequency and percentage. Two ratios were compared for those with significant relationships. Significance level was taken as 0.05. Data were analysed using SPSS 21 package programme.

Results

A total of 70 students consisting of 32 females (45.7%) and 38 males (54.3%) with a mean age of 8.17 years (± 0.68) participated in the study. The mean age of the DE group was 8.06 years (± 0.56) and the mean age of the TE group was 8.26

years (±0.76). There was no statistically significant difference in age between the two groups (p>0.05). While 15 (46.9%) of the DE group were female and 17 (53.1%) were male, 17 (44.7%) of the TE group were female, and 21 (55.3%) were male. Gender was homogeneous in the education groups (p>0.05). 42 (60.0%) of the students who participated in the study were in the 2nd grade, and 28 (40.0%) of them were 3rd-grade students. There was no statistically significant difference between 1st and 2nd-grade students according to educational groups (p>0.05) (Table 1). While total fat, saturated fat, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and sodium intake of all students decreased significantly (p<0.05), all other macro and micronutrients, except potassium, showed a significant increase (p<0.05). DE was found to be more effective in riboflavin, niacin and vitamin B12 increase rates, while indirect nutritional education was more effective in increasing the consumption of thiamine, vitamins A, B6, E and C (p<0.05). The amount of vegetables and fruits intake and the number of students consuming the fruit without peeling increased with education. This increase was significantly higher in the indirect nutritional education group than the direct nutrition education group (p<0.05).

Discussion

Childhood is the period when the learning speed is the highest. It is considered as the period in which parents and teachers have important effects on child development. It is thought that all kinds of education given to school children are more effective, permanent and those habits, attitudes and behaviours acquired during childhood are reflected in adulthood. Hence, it is

Table 1. Distribution of students according to various characteristics								
	DE X ± SD		TE X ± SD	Total X ± SD		р		
Age, year								
Girl	8.13±0.52		8.24±0.83		8.190.69		0.662ª	
Воу	8.00±0.61		8.29±0.72		8.160.68		0.195°	
Total	8.060.56		8.260.76		8.170.68		0.210ª	
P	0.645 ^b		0.627 ^b		0.065 ^b			
	DE		ТЕ	Total		D		
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	•	
Sex								
Girl	15	46.9	17	44.7	32	45.7	0.8283	
Воу	17	53.1	21	55.3	38	54.3	0.000	
Class level								
2 nd	23	71.9	19	50.0	42	60.0	0.063ª	
3 rd	9	28.1	19	50.0	28	40.0	0.005	
	22	400.0	20	100.0	70	100.0		

a: Chi-square test, b: Student's t-test, *: p<0.05, SD: Standard deviation

DE: Nutritional education directly provided by the dietitian, TE: Indirect nutrition education is given to the students by the teacher who has received nutritional education from the researcher

Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):334-43

emphasised that nutrition and health education given to schoolgoing children will have far-reaching benefits for society in gaining effective and lasting habits (12-14). A diet rich in fruits and vegetables has many health benefits, such as reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease, stroke and cancer (15). The World Health Organization recommends that children should consume at least 5 (400 g) portions of vegetables and fruits per day (16).

In this study, it was seen that while the consumption of vegetables and fruits before the education was below the recommendations, there was a significant increase at the end of the education and the consumption of the students reached the recommended levels. Both direct and indirect nutritional education had a positive effect. It was determined that indirect nutrition education had a better effect on daily fruit and vegetable consumption (p<0.001) (Table 2). Similarly, in a study lasting 14 months, teachers were educated about healthy nutrition and physical activity and, the effect of teachers on students was examined (17). As a result of the study, there was an increase in the consumption of vegetables and fruits. In another study in which the effect of direct nutrition education given by dietitian and indirect nutrition education given by the teacher was investigated on fruit and vegetable consumption of children, similar to this study, it was observed that both direct and indirect nutrition educations increased the consumption of vegetables and fruits. Indirect nutrition education was more effective than direct nutrition education (13). According to DRI, for children aged 7-9, the recommended daily fibre intake is 25 grams (18). The Turkey-specific dietary guidelines have been reported that 55.9% of children ages 7-10 in Turkey have fibre consumption below requirements (19). These data showed that the average daily fibre intake of students before the training was below the recommended amount (9.67±2.33). At the end of the education, it was observed that the average daily pulp intake of all students (28.99±8.47) exceeded the recommended level. Fibre intake increased both in direct and indirect nutrition education. However, the amount of fibre intake in indirect education was above the recommendations, while it remained below the recommendations in DE (Table 2).

Increasing the daily amounts of consumption of vegetables and fruits helps to increase the amount of daily fibre intake (20). In

this study, indeed, the increase in the daily fruit and vegetable consumption helped to increase the daily fibre intake of the students above the recommended level. In addition to providing nutritional diversity through a healthy diet, the ratios of energy from carbohydrates, proteins and fats must be met. According to DRI for children aged 4-18, it is recommended that 50%-60% of daily energy is supplied from carbohydrates, 25%-35% from fats and 10%-20% from proteins (18). In this study, the percentage of total energy from carbohydrates for all students before the education was noted below the recommended level. At the end of the education, the percentages for both groups met the recommendations (p<0.05). Before the education, the percentage of total energy from fat was 40.59%±4.04% for all students. At the end of the educations, the percentages of these students' daily energy intake from fat were reduced to the recommended limits (TE 28.63%±1.00%, DE 31.25%±3.28%), (p<0.001). The percentage of daily energy intake from protein was found to be higher in TE group than n the direct nutrition education group (p<0.001). In healthy nutrition, the type of fat should be carefully examined as well as the ratio of energy from fat. It is recommended that the energy from the total fat taken from the diet is less than 8% for saturated fat, 10%-15% for MUFA and 6%-10% for polyunsaturated fats (PUFA). In total fat intake, the rate of energy from n-6 should be limited to 4%-13% and the rate from n-3 to 1%-2% (21). In this study, it was seen that the percentage of students' dietary energy from saturated fat was higher than the recommended levels in both direct and indirect education. But the percentage values at the end of the educations were significantly lower than previous ones (for all groups p < 0.001). The percentage of the energy coming above-recommended level of saturated fat occurs probably, due to students' preference for animal-based foods as protein sources for increasing the protein intake. This, in turn, increased the saturated fat intake. Indirect nutrition education was found to be more effective in reducing the percentage of energy from saturated fat than direct nutrition education (p<0.001). The percentages of students' energy coming from the PUFA were lower than the recommended levels and after the education, and this was increased in all groups. Direct training was found to be more effective in this increase (p<0.05). While the percentage of

	DE		TE		Total		_	_
	X ± SD	Min-max	X ± SD	Min-max	X ± SD	Min-max	P _t	P_{GLM}
Vegetable-fruit portion consu	med daily							
Before education	1.37±0.83	0.30-4.00	1.32±0.72	0.40-3.00	1.34±0.77	0.30-4.00	0.787	<0.001**
After education	4.75±0.67	3.00-6.00	6.79±1.23	5.00-9.00	5.86±1.44	3.00-9.00	<0.001**	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			
The daily amount of fibre inta	ke (g)							
Before education	10.82±2.60	7.10-21.40	8.70±1.53	6.50-12.00	9.67±2.33	6.50-21.40	<0.001**	<0.001**
After education	22.92±7.96	12.00-44.20	34.11±4.71	26.51-45.10	28.99±8.47	12.00-45.100	<0.001**	<0.001***
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			

p_{pair}: Paired t-test, p₁: Student's t-test, p_{GLM}: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM) *: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

students' daily energy from n-6 was within the recommended levels before and after the education, a significant increase was observed in all groups at the end. While the percentages of energy from n-3 were below the recommendations in all groups before the educations, it was increased to the recommended level at the end (for all groups p<0.001). The ratio of energy from n-3 fatty acids is higher in the direct nutrition education group (1.46%±0.24%) than in TE group (1.34%±0.24%) (p<0.05) (Table 3).

Vitamins and minerals, which are very important for the body, contribute to the growth and development and play an essential role in many biological processes such as energy metabolism, bone formation and preservation, blood production, immune system, maintenance of normal functions of the body cells and prevention of damage (22). In this study, while the levels of vitamin E, thiamine, calcium and iron of nutrition education students given both directly and indirectly were lower than the recommended levels, the levels of the two groups reached the reference values at the end of the education (p<0.001). In both groups, vitamin A, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B6, vitamin B12, phosphorus, zinc and magnesium levels were found to be within normal ranges before the education and all the values were increased at the end. Regarding the increase in vitamins and minerals at the end of the education, indirect nutrition education was more effective for vitamin E, vitamin A, vitamin C, vitamin B6, thiamine, calcium, iron, phosphorus, magnesium and direct nutrition education was found to be more effective for

		Table 3. Average energy, macro and micro nutrients of the students by diet								
Energy and	DE		TE		Total		pt	pGLM		
nutrients	X ±SD	Min-max		Min-max	⊼ ±SD	Min-max				
Energy, kka	al									
Before education	1465.80±220.73	1269.00-2497.50	1497.20±225.88	1153.5±2019.10	1482.89±222.48	1153.50-2497.5	0.559	0 659		
After education	1570.26±248.33	1276.90-2550.50	1616.93±226.42	1260.90-2129.00	1595.60±236.10	1260.90-2550.50	0.414	0.038		
P_{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**					
Energy from	m carbohydrates %									
Before education	50.41±3.42	43.00-57.00	46.13±4.22	36.00-53.00	48.09±4.41	36.00-57.00	<0.001**	<0.001**		
After education	52.19±3.12	43.00-59.00	53.45±1.45	51.00-59.00	52.87±2.43	43.00-59.00	0.041*	<0.001***		
P_{pair}	0.060		<0.001**		<0.001**					

p_{nai}: Paired t Test, pt: Student's t Test, pGLM two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM) p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Table 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients of the students by diet (cont.)

Energy and nutrients	DE		TE		Total		ot	nGL M
Energy and nationents	X ± SD	Min-max	X ± SD	Min-max		Min-max	P.	parin
Carbohydrate, g								
Before education	171.78±44.91	45.30-318.60	166.49±26.35	118.60-227.00	168.91±35.86	45.30-318.60	0.543	0.021*
After education	200.53±33.10	138.40-326.10	213.16±30.23	159.20-286.00	207.38±31.97	138.4-326.10	0.100	0.021"
ppair	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			
Energy % from protein	ı							
Before education	13.13±1.86	7.00-16.00	13.58±1.75	11.00-19.00	13.37±1.80	7.00-19.00	0.297	0.070
After education	16.50±1.95	13.00-20.00	18.13±0.99	16.00-20.00	17.39±1.71	13.00-20.00	<0.001**	0.070
ppair	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			

ppair: Paired t-test, pt: Student's t-test, pGLM: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM) : p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

riboflavin, niacin, B12 and zinc. In TE group, all vitamin and mineral levels except B12, potassium and zinc were found to be higher at the end. In a study, the nutrient intake of 146 female students aged 10-16 years was examined. It was observed that the average energy, protein, total fat, calcium, iron, vitamin A, riboflavin, niacin and vitamin C intake of the students were lower than the RDA (recommended daily intake level) (23). Nutrition education in children provides a significant positive impact on nutritional knowledge, nutritional behaviours and eating habits (24,25). In a study conducted with 72 female students

Factory and putricate	DE		TE		Total		- t	
Energy and nuclients	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	μ	расм
Energy % from FAT								
Before education	40.92±4.44	32.00-49.00	40.32±3.79	31.00-48.00	40.59±4.08	31.00-49.00	0.543	
After education	31.25±3.28	27.00-43.00	28.63±1.00	26.00-30.00	29.83±2.66	26.00-43.00	<0.001*	0.087
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			
Energy % from SFA								
Before education	17.26±3.93	12.04-33.58	20.43±3.75	13.77-33.36	18.98±4.13	12.04-23.58	0.001*	~0.001**
After education	13.21±4.44	6.71-26.47	10.26±1.94	7.41-14.74	11.61±3.61	6.71-16.47	0.001*	<0.001
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			
Energy % from MUFA								
Before education	11.98±1.34	9.18-15.53	12.43±1.35	9.20-16.15	12.23±1.35	8.09-18.91	0.160	0.775
After education	10.85±2.13	8.34-18.91	11.16±1.35	8.09-14.19	11.01±1.74	3.25-9.06	0.464	0.775
P _{pair}	0.358		0.219		0.125			

Table 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients of the students by diet (cont.)

p_{pair}: Paired t t-test pt: Student's t t-test, pGLM: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM) *: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

	Table 3. Average	able 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients of the students by diet (cont.)						
Enorgy and putricate	DE		ÖE		Total		ot	DCLM
Lifergy and nucliencs	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	ρι	ραιΜ
Energy % from PUFA								
Before education	4.89±1.09	3.25-9.06	4.85±0.62	3.93-6.76	4.87±0.86	3.25-9.06	0.822	0.418
After education	5.63±1.80	3.96-12.81	5.36±0.88	4.38-7.82	5.48±1.37	3.96-12.81	0.428	0.410
P _{pair}	0.005*		0.003*		<0.001**			
Energy % from n-3								
Before education	0.85±0.38	0.51-2.69	0.94±0.19	0.63-1.47	0.90±0.30	0.51-2.69	0.188	0.715
After education	1.34±0.24	0.83-1.96	1.46±0.24	1.03-1.86	1.41±0.24	0.83-1.96	0.033*	0.715
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			
Energy % from n-6								
Before education	4.11±1.33	2.09-8.06	3.94±0.74	2.57-5.94	4.02±1.05	2.09-8.06	0.509	
After education	5.03±1.77	2.53-10.11	4.92±1.50	3.13-9.92	4.97±1.62	2.53-10.11	0.778	-
ppair	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			

p_{pair}: Paired t-test, pt: Student's t-test pGLM: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM) *: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Table 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients of the students by diet (cont.)									
	DE		TE		Total				
Dietary vitamin intake	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	$\overline{X}\pm SD$	Min-max	$\bar{X}\pm SD$	Min-max	pt	pGLM	
Vitamin A, mcg	RE								
Before education	592.82±151.77	401.00-1000.00	683.97±230.74	413.00-1367.00	642.30±202.46	401.00-1367.00	0.052	0.269	
After education	697.31±162.71	469.00-1243.00	840.22±263.57	520.00-1459.50	774.89±233.00	469.00-1459.50	0.007*	0.508	
P _{pair}	0.001*		0.002*		<0.001**				
Vitamin E, mg									
Before education	5.46±2.02	2.80-12.20	4.82±1.31	3.30-10.90	5.11±1.69	2.80-12.20	0.128	-0.001**	
After education	10.83±4.15	6.20-23.80	14.23±3.12	10.80-20.20	12.68±3.98	6.20-23.80	<0.001**	<0.001**	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				
Thiamine, mg									
Before education	0.53±0.08	0.40-0.70	0.57±0.12	0.40-0.80	0.56±0.20	0.40-0.80	0.106	<0.001**	
After education	0.88±0.24	0.50-1.60	1.23±0.20	1.00-1.70	1.07±0.28	0.50-1.70	<0.001**	<0.001**	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				
Riboflavin, mg									
Before education	1.14±0.35	0.40-1.80	1.71±0.47	1.10-2.80	1.45±0.50	0.40-2.80	<0.001**	0.002*	
After education	1.68±0.34	1.10-2.50	1.91±0.24	1.50-2.40	1.80±0.31	1.10-2.50	0.003*	0.003^	
P _{pair}	0.001*		0.007*		<0.001**				

p_{pair}: Paired t-test pt: Student's t-test pGLM: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM), *: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

	Table 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients of the students by diet (cont.)								
Dietary vitamin	DE		TE		Total		- t	~CLM	
intake	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	X ±SD	Min-max	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	μ	расм	
Niacin, mg									
Before education	8.15±2.01	3.90-11.00	10.90±3.18	7.70-19.00	9.64±3.02	3.90-19.00	<0.001**	0 2 4 9	
After education	10.58±3.28	6.90-17.40	12.25±1.99	9.00-15.90	11.49±2.77	6.90-17.40	0.016*	0.240	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		0.036*		<0.001**				
Vitamin B6, mg									
Before education	0.85±0.21	0.40-1.20	1.08±0.26	0.80-1.70	0.98±0.26	0.40-1.70	<0.001**	0.024*	
After education	1.29±0.31	0.90-2.10	1.69±0.22	1.40-2.20	1.51±0.33	0.90-2.20	<0.001**	0.024*	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				
Vitamin C, mg									
Before education	58.35±18.05	20.30-87.40	68.47±16.13	49.50-109.90	63.84±17.66	20.30-109.90	0.016*		
After education	99.87±30.48	47.10-158.70	145.03±20.46	120.50-190.90	124.38±33.99	47.10-190.90	<0.001**	<0.001**	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				
Vitamin B12, mcg									
Before education	1.31±0.30	0.90-2.10	1.22±0.25	0.87-1.70	1.26±0.27	0.87-2.10	0.154	0.305	
After education	2.82±0.99	1.40-4.50	2.56±0.50	1.70-4.10	2.68±0.77	1.40-4.5	0.178	0.000	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				

ppair: Paired t-test, pt: Student's t-Test, pGLM: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM) *: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

		-			-			
Dietary mineral intake	DE X +SD	Min-max	TE X +SD	Min-max	Total X +SD	Min-max	pt	pGLM
Sodium, ma	X 13D		X 13D	Min Max	X 13D			
Souldin, mg								
Before education	2375.51±511.67	1356.70-3468.40	2025.97±578.02	1313.80-3610.20	2185.76±572.31	1313.80-3610.20	0.010*	0.009*
After education	1685.88±204.38	1446.00-2456.10	1719.71±101.43	1538.00-2898.00	1704.24±156.76	1446.00-2456.10	0.399	
P_{pair}	0.001**		0.003*		<0.001**			
Potassium, mg]							
Before education	4363.16±565.66	3199.00-5565.00	4021.71±299.97	3294.00-4744.00	4177.80±470.49	3199.00-5565.00	0.004*	
After education	4258.65±667.41	3014.80-5206.40	4173.05±632.00	3056.70-5301.00	4212.18±645.10	3014.80-5301.00	0.584	-
P _{pair}	0.440		0.171		0.689			
Calcium, mg								
Before education	492.61±107.33	156.60-659.60	539.94±147.41	299.50-884.80	518.30±131.88	156.60-884.80	0.126	0.075
After education	998.70±215.09	562.80-1447.00	1138.56±133.24	860.30-1413.50	1074.62±187.70	562.80-1447.00	0.002*	0.075
P_{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			
Iron, mg								
Before education	7.82±1.14	5.60-10.70	8.43±1.77	6.50-12.80	8.15±1.54	5.60-12.80	0.089	-0.001++
After education	10.96±3.07	6.30-19.10	14.86±1.88	11.70-19.40	13.08±3.16	6.30-19.40	<0.001**	<0.001^^
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**			

Table 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients of the students by diet (cont.)

p_{pair}: Paired Tt-Testt: Student's t Tt-TestGLM: Two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM)

*: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

attending primary school, 4-step nutrition education was given to the students, and a questionnaire was tested before and 2 months after the education. As a result, it was seen that students' knowledge, attitudes and behaviours improved positively with education (2). Similarly, another study that provided a nutrition education programme to 64 low-income school children for 13 weeks showed that children had positive behavioural changes after education (26). At the school-going age, students spend long hours in school. They are in constant contact with their teachers, and in the process, students take their teachers as role models. Therefore, it is very important to carry out advanced school-based nutrition education. Besides, whether the teachers are interested in the subject is important regarding their impact on the students (14,27). That is why teacher education curricula should include detailed nutrition and wellness education courses. Thus currently working teachers participating in inservice training programmes organised by nutrition experts can be ensured.

Study Limitations

The difference in teachers' interest in nutrition is the most restrictive factor of the study. The teacher must have an interest

in education, the enthusiasm to turn this information into a lifestyle, and the ability to transfer it to students. In our study, although the teachers were thought to be effective in this respect, the results would have been different if they had exerted more effort. Studies in which teachers' nutritional knowledge and behaviour change can be detected will form more precise judgements on this result.

Conclusion

An adequate and balanced diet is very important for children to ensure their growth and development. Diseases that develop as a result of unhealthy diet and poor lifestyle progress over time, affecting their health negatively. Gaining healthy eating habits delays and/or eliminates the risk of developing adulthood diseases. Nutrition is a lifestyle, and it needs to be integrated into life from childhood. Since the experiences gained in childhood are reflected in adulthood, it is necessary to practice and teach children adequate and balanced nutrition and a healthy lifestyle. Therefore, nutritional education programmes for school-age children are needed, and these programmes must be available across the country to see socially positive results.

	Table 3. Average energy, macro and micronutrients the students by diet (cont.)								
Dietary	DE		TE		Total			CLM	
mineral intake	X ±SD	Min-max	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	Min-max	X ±SD	Min-max	pc	рыл	
Phosphorus,	mg								
Before education	719.47±109.11	353.80-914.70	776.71±163.16	572.40-1095.00	750.54±143.00	353.80-1095.00	0.085	<0.001**	
After education	1334.19±368.34	756.10-2350.70	1718.07±215.82	1360.60-2194.30	1542.58±350.76	756.10-2350.70	<0.001**	<0.001**	
P_{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				
Zinch, mg									
Before education	7.62±1.31	4.50-10.20	7.99±1.30	6.10-11.90	7.82±1.31	4.50-11.90	0.235	0.017*	
After education	10.87±1.04	7.80-12.30	10.29±0.91	8.70-11.90	10.55±1.01	7.80-12.30	0.016*	0.017*	
P _{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				
Magnesium, r	ng								
Before education	241.80±22.35	141.90-241.00	268.98±45.45	121.20-389.00	256.56±38.96	205.70-389.00	0.002*	<0.001**	
After education	350.09±84.60	220.70-590.70	478.64±60.11	371.70-601.50	419.88±96.51	220.70-601.50	<0.001**	NOUT **	
P_{pair}	<0.001**		<0.001**		<0.001**				

p_{pai}: Paired t Tt-Testt: Student's t Tt-TestGLM: two-way analysis of variance for repeated measurements from general linear models (GLM)

*: p<0.05, **: p<0.001, SD: Standard deviation, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Schools and teachers have great responsibilities in educating the children with healthy eating and lifestyle habits. School children who spend most of the day at the school also meet their nutritional needs at the school. Meanwhile, they remain under the influence of their fellow students and teachers. Interestingly, 2nd and 3rd-year students from primary school also take their teachers as role models, and it affects their nutrition and lifestyle. For this reason, awareness-raising education should be given to developing a healthy diet and quality lifestyle. Furthermore, education should be organised to create and increase the knowledge of teachers on these issues.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was obtained from Baskent University Institutional Review Board and Ethics Committee for this study (2018, 18/9).

Informed Consent: Informed consent form has been signed.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.A.Ö., Concept: B.A.Ö., A.E., Design: B.A.Ö., A.E., Data Collection or Processing: B.A.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: B.A.Ö., Literature Search: B.A.Ö., Writing: B.A.Ö., A.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Bartleman J. Infant and child nutrition. Medicine 2019;47:195-8.
- 2. Vardanjani AE, Reisi M, Javadzade H, Pour ZG, Tavassoli E. The Effect of nutrition education on knowledge, attitude, and performance about junk food consumption among students of female primary schools. J Educ Health Promot 2015;4:53.
- Hayes D, Contento IR, Weekly C. Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, Society for Nutrition Education and Behavior, and School Nutrition Association: Comprehensive Nutrition Programs and Services in Schools. J Acad Nutr Diet 2018;118:913-9.
- Asakura K, Todoriki H, Sasaki S. Relationship between nutrition knowledge and dietary intake among primary school children in Japan: Combined effect of children's and their guardians' knowledge. J Epidemiol 2017;27:483-91.
- Carraway-Stage V, Hovland J, Showers C, Díaz S, Duffrin MW. Food-based science curriculum yields gains in nutrition knowledge. J Sch Health 2015;85:231-40.
- Grosso G, Mistretta A, Turconi G, Cena H, Roggi C, Galvano F. Nutrition knowledge and other determinants of food intake and lifestyle habits in children and young adolescents living in a rural area of Sicily, South Italy. Public Health Nutr 2013;16:1827-36.
- 7. Silveira JA, Taddei JA, Guerra PH, Nobre MR. Effectiveness of school-based nutrition education interventions to prevent and reduce

excessive weight gain in children and adolescents: a systematic review. J Pediatr (Rio J) 2011;87:382-92.

- McNulty J. Challenges and issues in nutrition education. Rome: Nutrition Education and Consumer Awareness Group, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2013. Available at: www.fao.org/ag/humannutrition/nutritioneducation/en/ Accessed: 08.08.2019.
- FAO and United Arab Emirates University. Stepping up school-based food and nutrition education: Exploring challenges, finding solutions and building partnerships. Rome, 2019. 128 pp. Available at: http:// www.fao.org/3/CA3063EN/CA3063EN.pdf. Accessed: 08.08.2019.
- Dietary Reference Intakes. Available at: (http://ods.od.nih.gov/ Health_Information/ Dietary_Reference_Intakes.aspx). Accessed: 29.05.2020.
- 11. Norman G. Likert scales, levels of measurement and the "laws" of statistics. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 2010;15:625-32.
- Lanigan J, Bailey R, Jackson AMT, Shea V. Child-Centered Nutrition Phrases Plus Repeated Exposure Increase Preschoolers' Consumption of Healthful Foods, but Not Liking or Willingness to Try. J Nutr Educ Behav 2019;51:519-27.
- Panunzio MF, Antoniciello A, Pisano A, Dalton S. Nutrition education intervention by teachers may promote fruit and vegetable consumption in Italian students. Nutrition Research 2007;27:524-8.
- 14. Pérez-Rodrigo C, Aranceta J. Nutrition education in schools: experiences and challenges. Eur J Clin Nutr 2003;57:82-5.
- 15. Upton D, Upton P, Taylor C. Fruit and vegetable intake of primary school children: a study of school meals. J Hum Nutr Diet 2012;25:557-62.
- Joint WHO/FAO Workshop on Fruit and Vegetables for Health. Japan, September 2004. Available from: https://www.who.int/ dietphysicalactivity/fruit/en/ Accessed: 10.08.2019.
- Datar A, Sturm R. Physical education in elementary school and body mass index: evidence from the early childhood longitudinal study. Am J Public Health 2004;94:1501-6.

- Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2005. Available at: https://doi.org/10.17226/10490. Accessed: 10.08.2019.
- Turkey Dietary Guidelines, Ministry of Health of Turkey Publication No: 1046, Ankara 2016. Available at: https://dosyasb.saglik.gov.tr/ Eklenti/10922,170caktuberingilizcepdf.pdf?0 Accessed: 10.08.2019.
- Ateş Özcan B, Saka M. Evaluation of fiber, fluid and vitamin mineral intakes of adult individuals with functional constipation. Journal of Nutrition and Dietetics 2018;46:220-9.
- Uauy R, Dangour AD. Fat and fatty acid requirements and recommendations for infants of 0-2 years and children of 2-18 years. Ann Nutr Metab 2009;55:76-96.
- 22. Mahan LK, Raymond JL. Krause's food & nutrition care process. 14th Edition. Saunders, 2016.
- 23. Goyle A, Yanenedra I. Nutrient Intakes of young girls studying in a Government School in Jaipur City. J Hum Ecol 2009;25:127-32.
- Reinehr T, Kersting DM, Chahda C, Wollenhaupt A, Andler W. Nutritional knowledge of obese and nonobese children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2001;33:351.
- 25. Stevens J, Cornell CE, Story M, French SA, Levin S, Becenti A, et al. Development of a questionnaire to assess knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors in American Indian children. Am J Clin Nutr 1999;69:773-81.
- Balestracci K, Sebelia L, Greene G, Moore A, Chappell K, Tovar A. Perceptions of Low-Income Students Completing a Nutrition Education Program. J Nutr Educ Behav 2019;51:834-42.
- Katsagoni CN, Apostolou A, Georgoulis M, Psarra G, Bathrellou E, Filippou C, et al. Schoolteachers' Nutrition Knowledge, Beliefs, and Attitudes Before and After an E-Learning Program. J Nutr Educ Behav 2019;51:1088-98.

Original Article



Effect of Thermocycle and Bonding Agents on the Bond Strength of Titanium-resin Cements

Titanyum-rezin Siman Bağlanma Dayanımına Isıl Döngü ile Yaşlandırmanın ve Bonding Ajanlarının Etkisi

[™] Gülsüm SAYIN ÖZEL¹, [™] Ceyda AKIN², [™] Bebek Serra OĞUZ AHMET¹

¹İstanbul Medipol University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey ²Necmettin Erbakan University Faculty of Dentistry, Konya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: This research aimed to evaluate the effect of different resin cement (RC) types, compare the effect of surface treatments and bonding applications and evaluate the effect of thermal cycling on bond strengths to Titanium (Ti) surfaces.

Methods: A total of 240 Ti discs (10x3 mm) were randomly divided into two groups. Half of the specimens were sandblasted with 110 μ m Al₂O₃ particles, whereas the other half had no surface treatments (non-treated). Both sandblasted and non-treated specimens of each surface treatment type were divided into five subgroups, which received one of the following surface conditions and luting selfadhesive resin cement: (a) Panavia SA Cement, (b) Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement, (c) RelyX U200, (d) Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 and (e) MIS Crown Set Cement. A mould with a 4-mm diameter and 2-mm thickness was applied to the central region of the specimens. Each group was divided into subgroups, according to whether performing thermocycling or not. The shear bond tests were conducted at a crosshead speed of 1 mm/min. Data (N) were analysed using one-way analysis of variance and Tukey's honestly significant difference tests (p<0.05).

Results: The sandblasted + bonding agent groups provided higher shear bond strength than the non-treated groups for all RC types (p<0.05). Sandblasted Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement (non-thermocycled) showed the highest values (182.761 ± 41.55), whereas the MIS Cement (17.681 ± 9.33) and Panavia SA Cement

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacıfarklı rezin simanların, kumlama yüzey işleminin, bonding ajanlarının ve yaşlandırmanın Titanyum (Ti)-rezin siman (RS) arasındaki makaslama bağlanma dayanımına etkisinin değerlendirilmesidir.

Yöntemler: İki yüz kırk adet Ti disk (10x3 mm) yüksekliğinde olacak şekilde Ti bloklardan kazınarak hazırlandı ve akril reçine içerisine gömüldü. Rastgele olarak 2'ye ayrılan Ti disklerin yarısına 110 μ m Al₂O₃ ile kumlama işlemi yapıldı, yarısına herhangi bir yüzey işlemi uygulanmadı. Hem kumlanmış hem de yüzey işlemsiz olan bu iki grup da 5 alt gruba ayrıldı. a) Panavia SA Cement (Kuraray) b) Clearfil SE Bond (Kuraray) + Panavia SA Cement (Kuraray) c) Rely X U-200 (3M-Espe) d) Single bond Universal + Rely X U-200 (3M-Espe) and Mis Crown Set Cement (MIS). RS'ler özel bir kalıpla 4 mm çapında ve 2 mm kalınlıkta olacak şekilde Ti disklerin ortasına yerleştirildi. Sonrasında her grup kendi içerisinde yaşlandırma uygulanıp uygulanmamasına göre 2 alt gruba daha ayrıldı. Makaslama bağlanma dayanımı testleri 1 mm/dk hızla yapıldı. Veriler one-way ANOVA ve Tukey HSD testi kullanılarak istatistiksel olarak analiz edildi.

Bulgular: Gruplar arasında anlamlı bir fark vardır (p<0,05). Tüm rezin siman grupları için kumlanmış ve bonding ajan uygulanmış gruplar, yüzey işlemsiz gruplara göre daha yüksek bağlanma dayanımı göstermiştir (p<0,05). Kumlama + Clearfil SE Bond (Kuraray) + Panavia SA Cement (yaşlandırma uygulanmamış) grup en yüksek bağlantı değerini (182,761±41,55) gösterirken,

Address for Correspondence: Gülsüm SAYIN ÖZEL, İstanbul Medipol University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

E-mail: gozel@medipo.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8833-5259

Received: 06.05.2020 Accepted: 30.09.2020

Cite this article as: Sayın Özel G, Akın C, Oğuz Ahmet BS. Effect of Thermocycle and Bonding Agents on the Bond Strength of Titanium-resin Cements. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):344-50.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. $(15.32{\pm}7.38)$ non-treated (thermocycled) groups had the lowest values.

Conclusion: Sandblasting and bonding agents can improve bond strength. The thermocycling period decreased the bond strength values for all groups.

Keywords: Titanium, resin cement, thermocycle, bond strength, semipermanent cements, methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate

Introduction

The durability of the connection between the prosthetic superstructure and implant is an essential factor for the longevity of implant-supported fixed denture prostheses (FDPs). This integrity is achieved by either cement or screw retention, which has advantages and disadvantages compared with one another (1). In today's dental practice, the choice of cement versus screw retention of implant-supported FDPs mostly depends on the clinicians' experience and preference with respect to the clinical situation (2).

One advantage of cement-retained implant-supported FDPs is the compensation of improperly placed implants. Especially in the anterior region, it is often impossible to manage aesthetics due to the visibility of the screw access hole (3). Moreover, it is observed that clinicians prefer cemented implant restorations because of their lower complication rate and higher fracture resistance of veneering porcelain (4,5). The situation becomes more challenging if the basic mechanical parameters are not optimum as well, such as reduced abutment/restoration interface and over tapered abutment due to the interarch tooth relations, especially for a single implant-retained crown, which might probably result in decementation, although permanently cemented. However, it is often preferred to make temporary cementation for cement-retained FDPs to maintain retrievability without damage to abutment or implant. However, temporary cementation might result in debonding, especially for restoring reduced abutments because of poor physical properties such as decreased tensile strength and increased solubility (6,7). According to this problem, using permanent cements, including polycarboxylate cement and self-adhesive resins, seems appropriate for cementing fixed implant-supported prostheses due to their high retentive values and lower retention loss risk (8,9). Several studies have also reported the unexpectedly high bonding values of polycarboxylate cement with Titanium (Ti) structures and indicated that some dental cements, including glass ionomer and polycarboxylate, alter the protective Ti oxide layer, resulting in colour changes (10). Even the instructions for using one polycarboxylate cement state that a discoloration effect may result when used with Ti. Thus, it is necessary to use resin cement (RC) for Ti cementation, especially when applying Ti to new areas for aesthetics, such as two-component abutments.

To get the advantages of both cementation types, semipermanent cements that provide the reduction of retention by using MIS Cement (17,681±9,33) ve Panavia SA Cement (15,32±7,38) yüzey işlemsiz (yaşlandırma uygulanmış) gruplar en düşük değerleri göster-miştir.

Sonuç: Kumlama ve bonding ajan uygulaması bağlanma dayanımı arttırmıştır. Isıl döngü ile yaşlandırma tüm gruplar için bağlantı değerlerini düşürmüştür.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Titanyum, rezin siman, termal siklus, bağlantı dayanmı, semipermanent simanlar, MDP

petroleum jelly or acrylic with polyurethane resin are advised by various manufacturers, particularly for cementing implantsupported crowns for adequate retention and easy restoration removal (11,12). For both semipermanent and permanent cement types, surface treatments are an important effect for clinical longevity. Several studies about the bond strength of Ti and the effect of different surface treatments were published in the literature (13-15). Micromechanical and chemical bonding effects were compared with these studies (14). Sandblasting with Al₂O₂ particles is the most commonly used method for micromechanical retention promotion and chemical bondings, and it can be achieved by both bonding mechanisms, such as silica coating systems (coJet and Rocatec) and metal primers (16,17). Several surface treatment combinations are possible, so studies investigate the effects of different cementation type protocols. But there are no guidelines on the most appropriate luting procedure between the Ti-RC bond strengths.

Thermocycling can simulate the effect of destructive oral conditions with temperature changes and masticatory forces (18). Therefore, this study aimed to evaluate and compare the effect of surface treatments on shear bond strength (SBS) of two self-adhesive RCs and one semipermanent cement to Ti surfaces before and after thermocycling. The null hypothesis tested was that the RCs tested provide similar bond strength to the non-treated Ti surfaces and the surface modification of Ti enhanced the bond strength values for all types of RCs.

Methods

A total of 240 Ti discs (10 mm in diameter and 3 mm in height) were fabricated and embedded in acrylic resin blocks. A total of 20 groups were planned for this study, with n=12. Firstly, 240 Ti discs were randomly divided into two groups; half of the specimens were sandblasted with 110 μ m Al₂O₃ particles, and the other half had no surface treatments (non-treated). Both sandblasted and non-treated specimens were divided into five subgroups, which received one of the following surface conditions and self-adhesive RCs: (a) Panavia SA Cement (Kuraray Noritake Dental Inc., Okayama, Japan), (b) Clearfil SE Bond (Kuraray Noritake Dental Inc.) + Panavia SA Cement, (c) RelyX U200 (3M-Espe, MN, USA), (d) Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 and (e) MIS Crown Set Cement (MIS, Israel). The materials used in this study are listed in Table 1.

Bonding and Testing Procedures

The Ti discs were ultrasonically cleaned in 96% isopropanol for 3 min, followed by air drying. A mould with a 4 mm diameter and 2 mm thickness was placed on the central area of each of the Ti surfaces. RCs were applied into the moulds with or without using the relevant bonding agents for the determined subgroups, and the cementation procedures were completed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Figure 1). For the bonding groups, a bonding agent was applied for 10 s, air-dried for 5 s and lightcured for 20 s at a 5 mm distance from the sample's surface and at a 1,200 mW/cm intensity (BluePhase curing light, Ivoclar Vivadent, Liechtenstein) for polymerisation. The RC application procedure was the same for all bonding and non-bonding groups, and RC was applied with the same Teflon mould. The samples were light-cured for 5 s with the same distance and light source for initial polymerisation. After gently removing the Teflon mould, each side of the RC cylinders was light-cured for 20 s. The bonding process was performed as recommended by the manufacturers. The bonded specimens were stored in distilled water at 37 °C for 24 h, and subsequently, each group was again divided into two subgroups, according to whether performing thermocycling or not. The thermocycling procedure was set as 5,000 cycles between 5 °C and 55 °C (Thermal Cycler Tester, Dental Teknik, Konya, Turkey); the dwell and transfer times were 30 and 10 s, respectively. The SBS tests were performed using a universal testing machine (TSTM 02500, Elista Ltd., Sti., Istanbul, Turkey) at a 1 mm/min crosshead speed via a knifeedge rod. The failure loads were in N. The failure modes were



Figure 1. Comparision of the shear bod strength of the groups

Table 1. Materials and surface treatments used in this study

analysed under a stereomicroscope (Olympus SZ40, Olympus Optical Co., Tokyo, Japan) at 40x magnification. The failures were classified as adhesive, cohesive or mixed failure.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical package SPSS software (version 21.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used at a significance level of α =0.05. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistical test was performed on the SBS values to evaluate the normal distribution and homogeneity of variances. One-way analysis of variance and Tukey's honestly significant difference test were conducted to determine statistical differences in the SBS values between subgroups, and an independent paired t-test was applied to determine the effect of thermocycling on SBS values.

Results

Table 2 lists the mean, median and standard deviation of the SBS values and summarises the results of the statistical tests that indicated significant differences between groups (p<0.05). The differences between the groups are shown in Table 1. Sandblasted and sandblasted + bonding agents provided significantly higher SBS compared with the non-treated and non-treated + bonding agent groups for all RC types (p<0.05), except for MIS Crown Set Cement (p>0.05). In both non-thermocycled and thermocyled specimens, the sandblasted Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement group showed the highest values, whereas the non-treated Panavia SA Cement thermocycled (15.32 \pm 7.38) and non-treated MIS Cement thermocycled (17.681 \pm 9.33) groups showed the lowest values.

The highest SBS values were recorded for the Panavia sandblasted + bonding agents than the other groups after thermal cycling (p<0.05). However, there was a significant effect on applying bonding agents on sandblasted or non-treated surfaces for only Panavia cement for both thermal and non-thermal conditions (p<0.05). Additionally, sandblasting alone created higher SBS values for Panavia and RelyX cements compared with applying bonding agents only and non-treated surfaces (p<0.05). The SBS values of the sandblasted and sandblasted + bonding agent Panavia and RelyX groups were significantly different from those in the non-treated and non-treated + bonded groups (p<0.05).

Also, for the thermocycled groups, the Panavia SA Cement nontreated group showed the lowest SBS values, followed by the MIS Crown Set Cement non-treated, MIS Crown Set Cement sandblasted and RelyX Cement non-treated groups. But there

	Surface treatments, code	
	Non-treated, N	110 μ m Al ₂ O ₃ Sandblasting, S
	Panavia SA Cement, P	Panavia SA Cement, P
Cementing procedure	Clearfil SE Bond (Kuraray) + Panavia SA Cement (Kuraray), PB	Clearfil SE Bond (Kuraray) + Panavia SA Cement (Kuraray), PB
	RelyX U200 (3M-Espe), R	RelyX U200 (3M-Espe), R
	Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 (3M-Espe), RB	Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 (3M-Espe), RB
	MK Crown Set Cement (Moredent), M	MK Crown Set Cement (Moredent), M

were no statistically significant differences between these four groups (p>0.05).

The thermal cycling effect was evaluated and showed that the thermocycling period decreased bond strength values for all groups, but there were no statistically significant differences (p>0.05).

Failure Mode Analysis

All failure types of the sequential sandblasted and sandblasted + bonding agents were seen as adhesive. Adhesive failures were also the predominant failure types in all RC types and both thermal and non-thermal conditions. Mixed and cohesive failure modes of RC were evident in the sandblasted and sandblasted + bonding agent groups of Panavia and RelyX cements for both thermal and non-thermal conditions (Table 3). Microscopic image samples for each failure mode are displayed in Figure 2.

Discussion

The results of this study indicate that RCs that bonded to non-treated Ti surfaces yielded similar SBS values regardless of the cement type and thermocycling procedure. Nevertheless, although the bond strengths of two self-adhesive RCs tested were significantly increased by sandblasting with or without the application of bonding agents, sandblasting did not have any favourable effect on the bond strength of semipermanent cement. Therefore, the null hypothesis was partially accepted. As for the groups with bonding agents solely, no statistical differences were found compared with the non-treated groups

Table 2. Mean and standard deviation of the tested groups								
Non-thermocycle.			Sig.	Thermocycle.		Sig.	T-test sig.	
Group	Mean	SD		Mean	SD			
PN	20.9ª	11.2		15.3ª	7.4		0.117	
PNB	61.5 [⊾]	28.6		55.4 ^b	24.9		0.554	
PS	143.9 ^{c,d}	43.5		120.01 ^c	47.3		0.211	
PSB	182.8 ^e	41.5		167.4 ^d	48.5		0.414	
RN	28.2ª	16.03		22.2ª	13.8		0.294	
RNB	46.7 ^{a,b}	24.2		40.9 ^{a,b}	27.8		0.576	
RS	114.7 ^c	40.5		108.5 ^c	36.3		0.603	
RSB	119.2 ^c	38.3	0.000	110.1 ^c	40.4	0.000	0.568	
MN	20.2ª	11.9		17.7ª	9.3		0.621	
MS	23.6ª	15.7		19.9ª	11.7		0.500	

The same superscripts indicate statistically insignificant difference.

[•]One-way analysis of variance (p<0.05).

**Tukey honestly significant difference (p<0.05).

PN, Panavia SA Cement non-treated; PNB, Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement non-treated; PS, Panavia SA Cement sandblasting; PSB, Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement sandblasting; RN, RelyX U200 non-treated; RNB, Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 non-treated; RS, RelyX U200 sandblasting; RSB, Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 sandblasting; MN, MK Crown Set Cement non-treated; MS, MK Crown Set Cement sandblasting.

Table 3. Types of bonding fracture failures for each group										
Failure types	Adhesive	Mixed	Cohesive	Adhesive	Mixed	Cohesive				
Groups	Non-thermocycle			Thermocycle						
PN	10	2	-	12	-	-				
PNB	8	3	1	9	3	-				
PS	7	4	1	8	4	-				
PSB	5	5	2	6	5	1				
RN	12	-	-	12	-	-				
RNB	8	4	-	9	3	-				
RS	8	4	-	8	4	-				
RSB	6	5	1	9	3					
MN	12	-	-	12	-	-				
MS	12	-	-	12	-	-				

PN, Panavia SA Cement non-treated; PNB, Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement non-treated; PS, Panavia SA Cement sandblasting; PSB, Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement sandblasting; RN, RelyX U200 non-treated; RNB, Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 non-treated; RS, RelyX U200 sandblasting; RSB, Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 sandblasting; MN, MK Crown Set Cement non-treated; MS, MK Crown Set Cement sandblasting.
for RelyX (p>0.05). Meanwhile, the bond strength values of the sandblasted + bonding agent groups were significantly higher than the bonding agent and non-treated groups (p<0.05).

The permanent RCs used in this study (Panavia SA Cement and RelyX U200) are dual-cured RCs applied solely and applied with a universal adhesive that belongs to their manufacturers (Clearfil SE Bond and Single Bond, respectively). This bonding agent and Panavia SA Cement contain the monomer 10-methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate (MDP), which was originally designed to bond to metal oxides, although its use has been extended to oxide ceramics (19). It has been stated that MDP-containing RCs are preferable to obtain a chemical bond between the hydroxyl groups of the passive surface and the phosphate ester group of the MDP (19,20). The other cement used in this study is a semipermanent cement, MIS Crown Set Cement, which is advised by the manufacturer due to its high retention properties and easy restoration removal ability. In our study, the bond strength of MIS Crown Set Cement provided the lowest values even for the sandblasted Ti surfaces.

On the other hand, sandblasting of Ti significantly enhanced the bond strength of Panavia SA Cement and RelyX U200 than that of MIS Cement. Therefore, it is sensible to prefer sandblasting of Ti abutments and using permanent cements with bonding agents including MDP for reduced abutment/ restoration interface and over tapered abutments in the existence of limited interarch space. After sandblasting, both the debris and metal oxide layer are removed from Ti alloys. However, immediately afterwards, a thin, stable oxide layer is reproduced, which interacts with the MDP monomer, forming a chemical bond between the dihydrogen phosphate group and metal oxides (18,21). In a study by Koizumi et al. (22), primers containing MDP were determined to be more effective for treating Ti than other primers without MDP. Di Francescantonio et al. (23) stated that the direct application of Panavia F 2.0 to Ti surface without using an adhesive primer provided a favourable bond strength due to the MDP content. Correspondingly, in our



Figure 2. View of failure types; A- Adhesive type for sandblasted surfaces, B-Mixed type for sandblasted surfaces, C- Cohesive type for sandblasted surfaces, D- Adhesive type for non-treated surfaces, E- Mixed type for non-treated surfaces

study, Panavia samples with or without using a bonding agent (Clearfil SE Bond 2) yielded similar bond strength values as well. But although there were no significant differences between all RC types for the thermocycled non-treated groups (p>0.05), the non-treated thermocycled Panavia SA Cement group showed the lowest values among all groups in our results. This situation can be explained by the fact that the MDP content in Panavia SA Cement is not as high as the MDP content in Clearfil SE Bond, which is defined as the gold standard for MDP content. Nevertheless, the Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement sandblasting group showed the highest bond strength among all the other groups both before and after thermocycling.

It is well documented in the literature that sandblasting of Ti surfaces enhanced the bond strength of cemented restorations compared with smooth Ti surfaces (18,24-26). Tsuchimoto et al. (27) also reported that sandblasting of Ti increased micromechanical interlocking between resin and Ti, particularly when combined with adhesive primers (27). Yanagida et al. noted that the primers containing MDP monomer improved the bonding durability of composite resins to air-abraded Ti surfaces even after thermocycling (28). Hon et al. (29) compared the effects of five commercially available silane coupling agents for Ti-RC adhesion and reported that conditions, especially thermocycling, significantly affected adhesion, but the five silane coupling agents provided similar and clinically acceptable adhesions. In our study, we used bonding agents that also included silane for Panavia and RelyX. Bonding agents are commonly used in clinical practice as they are easily accessible for clinicians. Because of that, we wanted to compare if there is an adhesive effect of bonding agents, including metal primers or silane coupling agents, for Ti surfaces. Our results are also similar to Hon et al. (29), in which silane content bonding agents provide acceptable adhesion.

Study Limitations

There were some limitations in this study. Firstly, only sandblasting and machined surfaces were used for comparison because sandblasting is clinically the most common surface treatment method for metals, Ti and zirconia. However, various types of surface treatment methods should be investigated for further studies to understand the effects of surface treatments on bond strength to Ti and select a more proper type of luting cement for clinical applications. Secondly, this study only used bonding agents that contain silane coupling agents, and only Ti surfaces were used as substrates. Therefore, further investigations are needed to compare metal primers and silane agents with bonding agents for abutment surfaces. Also, different kinds of abutment materials such as zirconia, lithium disilicate and polyeterkethonekethone can be evaluated for future studies.

Based on these findings, it might be clinically helpful to modify the Ti abutments by sandblasting procedures and pay attention to MDP contents while making the selection of not only the primer or self-etch bonding agent but also the adhesive luting cement itself.

Conclusion

It can be concluded that there was no effect in respect to bonding to non-treated Ti surfaces among the cements tested before and after thermocycling. Nonetheless, for the sandblasted Ti surfaces, the Panavia SA Cement sandblasting, Clearfil SE Bond + Panavia SA Cement sandblasting, RelyX U200 sandblasting and Single Bond Universal + RelyX U200 sandblasting groups provided higher bond strength than the MIS Crown Set Cement sandblasting group. Therefore, clinicians should prefer a higher retention cement strength with the combination of Ti abutment surface modification for specific cases where weak retention is predicted over single cement-retained crowns.

Ethics

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: C.A., G.S.Ö., Concept: G.S.Ö., C.A., Design: G.S.Ö., C.A., Data Collection or Processing: G.S.Ö., C.A., Analysis or Interpretation: G.S.Ö., B.S.O.A., Literature Search: B.S.O.A., G.S.Ö., Writing: B.S.O.A., G.S.Ö.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Gervais MJ, Wilson PR. A rationale for retrievability of fixed, implant-supported prostheses: a complication-based analysis. Int J Prosthodont 2007;20:13-24.
- Vigolo P, Givani A, Majzoub Z, Cordioli G. Cemented versus screwretained implant-supported single-tooth crowns: a 4-year prospective clinical study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2004;19:260-5.
- Wittneben JG, Joda T, Weber HP, Brägger U. Screw retained vs. cement retained implant-supported fixed dental prosthesis. Periodontol 2000 2017;73:141-51.
- Assenza B, Scarano A, Leghissa G, Carusi G, Thams U, Roman FS, et al. Screw- vs cement-implant-retained restorations: an experimental study in the Beagle. Part 1. Screw and abutment loosening. J Oral Implantol 2005;31:242-6.
- Torrado E, Ercoli C, Al Mardini M, Graser GN, Tallents RH, Cordaro L. A comparison of the porcelain fracture resistance of screw-retained and cement-retained implant-supported metal-ceramic crowns. J Prosthet Dent 2004;91:532-7.
- Nematollahi F, Beyabanaki E, Alikhasi M. Cement Selection for Cement-Retained Implant-Supported Prostheses: A Literature Review. J Prosthodont 2016;25:599-606.
- Kim Y, Yamashita J, Shotwell JL, Chong KH, Wang HL. The comparison of provisional luting agents and abutment surface roughness on the retention of provisional implant-supported crowns. J Prosthet Dent 2006;95:450-5.

- Ozyılmaz OY. Effect of luting space and cements on retention of implant supported crowns fabricated by laser sintering. Selcuk Dental Journal 2017;4:10-6.
- Abi-Rached Fde O, Fonseca RG, Haneda IG, de Almeida-Júnior AA, Adabo GL. The effect of different surface treatments on the shear bond strength of luting cements to titanium. J Prosthet Dent 2012;108:370-6.
- Horasawa N, Marek M. Effect of fluoride from glass ionomer on discoloration and corrosion of titanium. Acta Biomater 2010;6:662-6.
- Bresciano M, Schierano G, Manzella C, Screti A, Bignardi C, Preti G. Retention of luting agents on implant abutments of different height and taper. Clin Oral Implants Res 2005;16:594-8.
- Heinemann F, Mundt T, Biffar R. Retrospective evaluation of temporary cemented, tooth and implant supported fixed partial dentures. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2006;34:86-90.
- Khan AA, Al Kheraif AA, Syed J, Divakar DD, Matinlinna JP. Enhanced resin titanium adhesion with silane primers using tribochemical silica-coating. Dent Mater J 2017;36:111-6.
- Gehrke P, Alius J, Fischer C, Erdelt KJ, Beuer F. Retentive strength of two-piece CAD/CAM zirconia implant abutments. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2014;16:920-5.
- Taira Y, Yang L, Atsuta M. Comparison of four fluoride etchants in bonding between titanium and a self-curing luting agent. Dent Mater J 2006;25:345-51.
- Kurt M, Külünk T, Ural C, Külünk Ş, Danişman Ş, Savaş S. The effect of different surface treatments on cement-retained implantsupported restorations. J Oral Implantol 2013;39:44-51.
- Yanagida H, Matsumura H, Taira Y, Atsuta M, Shimoe S. Adhesive bonding of composite material to cast titanium with varying surface preparations. J Oral Rehabil 2002;29:121-6.
- Elsaka SE. Effect of surface pretreatments on the bonding strength and durability of self-adhesive resin cements to machined titanium. J Prosthet Dent 2013;109:113-20.
- Papia E, Larsson C, du Toit M, Vult von Steyern P. Bonding between oxide ceramics and adhesive cement systems: a systematic review. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2014;102:395-413.
- Casucci A, Osorio E, Osorio R, Monticelli F, Toledano M, Mazzitelli C, et al. Influence of different surface treatments on surface zirconia frameworks. J Dent 2009;37:891-7.
- Taira Y, Matsumura H, Yoshida K, Tanaka T, Atsuta M. Influence of surface oxidation of titanium on adhesion. J Dent 1998;26:69-73.
- 22. Koizumi H, Naito K, Ishii T, Yamashita M, Yoneyama T, Matsumura H. Adhesive bonding of Ti-6Al-7Nb alloy and component metals with acidic primers and a tri-n-butylborane initiated resin. J Adhes Dent 2012;14:283-92.
- 23. Di Francescantonio M, Oliveira MT, Daroz LG, Henriques GE, Giannini M. Adhesive bonding of resin cements to cast titanium with adhesive primers. Braz Dent J 2012;23:218-22.
- 24. Sahu N, Lakshmi N, Azhagarasan NS, Agnihotri Y, Rajan M, Hariharan R. Comparison of the effect of implant abutment surface

modifications on retention of implant-supported restoration with a polymer based cement. J Clin Diagn Res 2014;8:239-42.

- 25. Shayegh S, Salari AM, Ayoubi M, Younesi F. Effect of Three Types of Temporary Luting Cements and Abutment Surface Sandblasting on Retentive Strength of Implant-Supported Fixed Prostheses. J Islam Dent Assoc Iran 2015;27:109-15.
- 26. Jugdev J, Borzabadi-Farahani A, Lynch E. The effect of air abrasion of metal implant abutments on the tensile bond strength of three luting agents used to cement implant superstructures: an in vitro study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2014;29:784-90.
- 27. Tsuchimoto Y, Yoshida Y, Takeuchi M, Mine A, Yatani H, Tagawa Y, et al. Effect of surface pre-treatment on durability of resin-based cements bonded to titanium. Dent Mater 2006;22:545-52.
- 28. Yanagida H, Tanoue N, Ide T, Matsumura H. Evaluation of two dualfunctional primers and a tribochemical surface modification system applied to the bonding of an indirect composite resin to metals. Odontology 2009;97:103-8.
- 29. Hon AK, Matinlinna JP, Shibata Y, Miyazaki T, Pow EHN. Evaluation of five silane coupling agents on resin-titanium adhesion. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2019;90:132-7.



Optimisation of Centrifugal Speed for PRPBAG®: A Novel Multiple Bag System for Preparing Platelet-Rich Plasma

Plateletten Zengin Plazma Eldesinde Yeni Bir Çoklu Torba Sistemi olan PRPBAG® için Santrifüj Hızının Optimizasyonu

© Güven ÇETİN¹, © Nang Hseng KYIO¹, © Seda TURGUT², © Tuba ÖZKAN³

¹Bezmialem Vakıf University Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Endocrinology, İstanbul, Turkey ³İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aimed to identify the optimal centrifugal speed for the preparation of platelet-rich plasma (PRP) with PRPBAG[®], a novel multi-bag system.

Methods: The study included 120 (60 women and 60 men) clinically healthy volunteers aged 18-35 years. Participants were divided into three age-sex matched groups according to the centrifugation speeds as follows: 1600 rpm (n=40), 1800 rpm (n=40) or 2000 rpm (n=40). Whole blood (150 mL) was drawn from the volunteers, and centrifugation was performed for 10 minutes. After the first spin, the erythrocytes precipitated in the first bag, and the supernatant plasma was transferred into the second bag. Plasma centrifugation was performed at 3500 rpm for 15 minutes. The high-quality PRP product precipitated in the second bag. The supernatant platelet-poor plasma was transferred to the third bag and destroyed. Blood cell count of whole blood and PRP product was measured.

Results: The mean white blood cell level of PRP in the 1800 rpm group was higher than the other groups (p=0.027). The mean platelet levels were 1005.22±105.96, 1743.7±145.2 and 1743.7±145.2 103/uL in the 1600, 1800 and 2000 rpm groups, respectively, after centrifugation (p<0.001). Accordingly, the platelet yield (fold increase) was significantly greater in the 1800 rpm group than in the other groups (p<0.001).

Conclusion: This study showed that 1800 rpm for 10 minutes is the optimum first centrifugation speed for preparing PRP with PRPBAG[®], as it provides an approximately eightfold increase in platelet concentration in PRPBAG[®].

Keywords: Platelet-Rich Plasma, PRPBAG, optimisation

ÖΖ

Amaç: Bu çalışmada yeni bir çoklu torba sistemi olan PRPBAG[®] ile Plateletten Zengin Plazmanın (PRP) hazırlanması için optimum santrifüj hızını belirlenmesi amaçlanmıştır.

Yöntemler: Bu çalısmaya 18-35 yaş arası 120 sağlıklı gönüllü (60 kadın, 60 kadın) dahil edildi. Yaş ve cinsiyet uyumlu olarak katılımcılar santrifuj hızlarına göre 1600 rpm (n=40), 1800 rpm (n=40) veya 2000 rpm (n=40) olarak üç gruba ayrıldı. Gönüllülerden 150 ml tam kan alındı ve 10 dakika santrifüj edildi. İlk santrifüjde birinci torbadaki eritrositler çöktürüldü ve üstte kalan plazma kısmı ikinci torbaya aktarıldı. İkinci torba 3500 rpm'de 15 dakika santrifüj edilerek yüksek kaliteli PRP ürünü ikinci torbada çöktürüldü. Üstte kalan plateletten fakir plazma kısmı üçüncü torbaya aktarıldı ve imha edildi. Tam kan ve elde edilen son PRP ürününden kan sayımları yapıldı.

Bulgular: PRP'nin 1800 rpm gurbunda ortalama lökosit düzeyi diğer gruplara göre yüksekti (p=0,027). Santrifüj sonrası ortalama platelet seviyeleri 1600 rpm grubunda 1005,22±105,96 103/uL, 1800 rpm grubunda 1743,7±145,2 103/uL ve 2000 rpm grubunda 1282,2±105,32 103/uL idi (p<0,001). Buna göre trombosit verimi (kat artışı) 1800 rpm grubunda diğerlerine göre anlamlı olarak daha yüksekti (p<0,001).

Sonuç: Bu çalışmada, PRPBAG[®] ile elde edilen trombosit konsantrasyonunda yaklaşık 8 kat artış sağladığından 10 dakika süreyle 1800 rpm'de ilk santrifüjleme yapılmasının anlamlı olarak daha verimli ve uygun olduğu gösterilmiştir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Trombositten zengin plazma, PRPBAG, optimizasyon

Address for Correspondence: Güven ÇETİN, Bezmialem Vakıf University Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

E-mail: gcetin@bezmialem.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4265-8105

Cite this article as: Çetin G, Kyıo NH, Turgut S, Özkan T. Optimisation of Centrifugal Speed for PRPBAG®: A Novel Multiple Bag System for Preparing Platelet-Rich Plasma. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):351-5.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 28.12.2020 Accepted: 09.02.2021

Introduction

Megakaryocytes, the largest cells in the body, are found in the bone marrow. The extensions of megakaryocytes pass into the bloodstream in small pieces to form the body's smallest cells, known as platelets. The primary function of platelets is to prevent blood loss by coagulating damaged blood vessels (1,2). The α -granules of platelets are rich in various growth factors, such as transforming growth factor β , platelet-derived growth factor, insulin-like growth factor, epidermal growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor that play a crucial role in the acceleration of tissue healing (3,4). Additionally, antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory and analgesic factors could be released by platelets (5). Therefore, the administration of autologous platelets at a supraphysiological concentration could be useful for treatment in many different areas.

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) is a plasma component obtained by centrifuging whole blood, which contains approximately six to eight times higher platelet concentration than whole blood. This supraphysiological concentration allows the therapeutic use of platelets. PRP is preferred in therapeutic and cosmetic fields, from chronic ulcers to alopecia treatment, because of its positive effects on wound healing (6-8). Recent studies have shown that PRP injections are used in different clinics, including orthopaedic surgery, cardiovascular surgery, neurology, plastic surgery, gynaecology and urology (9-12).

For PRP preparation, blood is taken from a patient and transferred into instruments that contain anticoagulants. Later, it is fractionated by centrifuging. There are more platelets in PRP compared with whole blood. However, there are different separation techniques for PRP preparation, such as centrifugation and filtration (13,14). Also, the volume of blood drawn from the patient in the first place differs. These differences in PRP preparation lead to the obtainment of different platelet amounts. To the best of our knowledge, a standard protocol for the preparation of PRP has not been established yet. Tube methods are widely used to obtain PRP, especially in cosmetics, but they are quite insufficient, especially in patients who need high-quality and high-quantity products. The uncertainty of the use of different methods and high cost of the PRP processing kits limit the widespread clinical use of PRP. In light of these findings, a multi-bag system (PRPBAG®) was invented to simplify modalities and increase the PRP product's quality and quantity economically.

We aim to identify the optimal centrifugal speed for PRP preparation, which is prepared by PRPBAG[®], a novel multi-bag system.

Methods

Participants

The study included 120 (60 women and 60 men) clinically healthy volunteers aged between 18 and 35 years. Participants were divided into three age-sex matched groups according to the centrifugation speed as follows: 1600 rpm (n=40), 1800

rpm (n=40) or 2000 rpm (n=40). The range of body mass index (BMI) was 18.5-29.9 kg/m², and the groups were also matched for BMI. The local ethics committee approved this study, and informed consent was obtained from all participants individually.

PRPBAG[®]

PRPBAG[®] is a multi (three) bag system that was produced with apheresis bag technology. Its oxygen-permeable feature prevents platelets from remaining in the hypoxic environment. Whole blood (50-150 mL) can be drawn depending on the patient's needs, and the process starts with centrifugation. As detailed in the methodology below, centrifugation is performed in the refrigerated centrifuge specially produced for PRPBAG[®]. The extractor separates the erythrocytes; then, the remaining product is centrifuged to obtain a high-quality PRP product. All three bags in the system are of the same size and can hold a maximum of 200 mL of liquid. The separation process is manual and takes place under the supervision of an experienced operator.

 $PRPBAG^{\circ}$ is a patented multi-bag method and a completely closed, sterile system (Figure 1). All the products used in this method are medical devices authorised for both trade and clinical use by the responsible institution (patent no: TR 2016 10467 B).

Blood Collection and Preparation steps of PRP

Whole blood (150 mL) was directly drawn from the antecubital veins by venipuncture and collected in specially produced PRPBAG. Each PRPBAG[®] contains 21 mL anticoagulant solution of citrate phosphate dextrose adenine, USP, to preserve the 150 mL of whole blood. Of this blood, 1 mL was used to conduct a complete blood count (CBC) analysis using the Swelab Alfa Plus hematology analyzer.

PRP product was obtained by centrifugation at different spin speeds from blood samples. A double-spin preparation method was applied for all samples using a refrigerated centrifuge specially manufactured for PRPBAG[®] (Large Capacity Refrigerated Centrifuge, Inovia Technology INO-FBC 5000). The centrifugation processes were started within 1 h of blood collection. A flow chart for the preparation of the PRP product with PRPBAG[®] was demonstrated in Figure 2.

Centrifugation Process (First Spin)

Collected samples were placed in the hole of the refrigerated centrifuge. Since mutual balance was essential in the centrifuge, the same weight balances were prepared against the blood collected to prepare the PRP product. Whole blood was centrifuged at 1600 (540 x g), 1800 (684 x g) and 2000 (845 x g) rpm for 10 minutes. Depending on the blood component density, the erythrocytes precipitated in the first bag, and the supernatant plasma was transferred into the second bag with a manual plasma extractor. The third bag remained empty after the first spin. The hose of the first bag, which contained erythrocytes, was separated from the other bags with a hose-closing device and was later destroyed. The process was continued with the remaining two bags.

Centrifugation Process (2nd Spin)

The remaining two bags were placed on the hole of the refrigerated centrifuge. The same weight balance was prepared against the opposite level of this hole. The plasma was centrifuged at 3500 rpm (2587 x g) for 15 minutes immediately. The high-quality PRP product precipitated in the second bag. The supernatant platelet-poor plasma was moved into the third bag with a manual plasma extractor, leaving 10-18 mL of high-quality PRP in the second bag. The third bag containing platelet-poor plasma was separated and destroyed with the help of the hose-closing device. As soon as the PRP was produced, a 1 mL aliquot was collected from PRPBAG[®] for blood cell measurements. Blood cell measurements of PRP were analysed using an automated hematology analyzer (Swelab Alfa Plus). European guideline for the preparation, use and quality assurance of blood components has been considered throughout the process (15).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 20.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA). Values were given as mean ± standard deviation or standard error according to the distribution of parameters. The associations between groups were assessed by Student's t-test or analysis of variance and Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis tests, depending on the number of groups and distribution of data. Dependent variables were analysed with a paired t-test. Numeric values were evaluated using the Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by the post-hoc analysis (Bonferroni correction for all pairs). The categorical variables were assessed using the chi-square test. The threshold for significance was p<0.05.

The number of volunteers included in the study was 36 in each group with a 95% confidence level and 80% power, and 40 cases were included in each group.

Results

The mean age was 26.88 ± 5.02 years, and the mean BMI was 23.39 ± 3.5 kg/m² in the study group. Each spin speed group consisted of 20 female and 20 male and age-BMI matched participants. Table 1 presents the CBC results before the centrifugation of whole blood and the white blood cell (WBC) and red blood cell (RBC) levels from the PRP final product. A comparison of the measurements showed no significant difference in whole blood results among the spin speed groups.



Figure 1. PRPBAG®: a completely closed sterile and multi (three) bag system

On the other hand, the mean WBC level of PRP in the 1800 rpm group ($6.5\pm0.77\ 10^3/uL$) was significantly higher than in the other groups (p=0.027). The PRP products contained negligible RBC concentrations.

WBC levels in whole blood $(6.95\pm1.37\ 10^3/uL)$ significantly decreased in PRP products $(3.98\pm0.6\ 10^3/uL)$ in the 1600 rpm group (p<0.001). WBC levels showed no significant difference before and after centrifugation in the other groups.

Platelet counts were evaluated before (whole blood) and after (PRP) centrifugation (Table 2). The mean platelet levels were 1005.22 \pm 105.96, 1743.7 \pm 145.2 and 1282.2 \pm 105.32 10³/ uL in the 1600, 1800 and 2000 rpm groups, respectively, after centrifugation process (p<0.001). Accordingly, statistical analyses revealed that the platelet yield (fold increase) was significantly greater in the 1800 rpm group than in the other groups (p<0.001).



Figure 2. A flow chart for the preparation of platelet-rich plasma product with PRPBAG®

Discussion

The use of PRP products in treatments has become an increasingly popular option; many available commercial kits and PRP preparation methods exist. To the best of our knowledge, bag systems are mostly used for blood product transfusions, whereas tube systems are for PRP production. PRPBAG[®] system is a novel method for PRP preparation, and this is the first report to compare the first spin speeds to optimise the content of blood cells in PRP produced with PRPBAG[®] from whole blood. Based on the findings of this study, the optimum first centrifugation speed for preparing PRP with PRPBAG[®] is 1800 rpm for 10 minutes. The second spin that follows is 3500 rpm for 15 minutes. We suggest this as an optimal centrifugation protocol for PRPBAG[®], as this provides the greatest yield, which is approximately an eightfold increase in platelet concentration.

Centrifugation separates RBCs, WBCs, platelet and plasma, depending on the density gradient of these blood components. WBCs (1,077 g/mL) and RBCs (1,100 g/mL) centrifuge faster than platelets (1,058 g/mL) because they are both heavier (15,16). In an experimental animal study, Shin et al. reported that most WBCs and RBCs precipitate in the bag and separate from the supernatant platelets where the platelet yields depend on the duration and speed of centrifugation. They found the platelet yield to be 6.48 ± 0.46 (fold increase) in their optimum protocol. Moreover, they showed that a low centrifugation force and short centrifugation duration could not provide a good separation of platelets, resulting in the low yield of platelets and, therefore, the low recovery rate in animals when the tube method was used for PRP preparation. Prolonged centrifugation force and duration led the platelet yield levels to increase to a certain point; however, the yield started to decrease after the optimum point (17). Consistent with these findings, our results show that the PRP products of the 1800 rpm group reached the best platelet yield at 7.66 ± 3.49 (fold increase), and the WBC levels were higher in the 1800 rpm group than in both the 1600 and 2000 rpm groups. Therefore, the optimum protocol for the second spin in our study was 1800 rpm for 15 minutes.

The role of WBCs in the PRP product is controversial, and few studies have evaluated the benefits of WBCs and the interactions between WBCs and platelets on PRP composition. It is suggested that platelets are the main source of growth factors, and WBCs are the main source of inflammatory cytokines (18). McCarrel et al. (19) pointed out that high WBC levels in PRP contribute to inflammatory cytokine expression, and persistent inflammation results in the inferior repair of damaged tissues. On the other hand, Kobayashi et al. reported that growth factor concentration was related to WBC concentrations. Thus, when the number of leukocytes in PRP increases, the quality of the product increases as well (20). They showed that as they performed double centrifugation (first spin 400 \times g for 10 min and second spin 2000 \times g for 3 min), the WBCs reached higher levels than single centrifugation in PRP.

Similarly, we performed double centrifugation. However, our study revealed that the WBC levels decreased in the 1600 and

2000 rpm groups, but they were stable in the 1800 rpm group. With these findings, other unmeasured and unknown substances released from WBCs could have contributed to the different effects of PRP. Because of this difference, the preparation method of PRP must be assessed separately, and the optimum conditions must be established, especially in medical treatments. Further studies are needed to clarify the effects of WBCs on PRP in different pathologies.

RBCs are the heaviest components of whole blood, and the first spin of centrifugation is especially important to separate RBCs from the other components. Similar to the literature, our study shows that plasma contains negligible amount of RBCs in all of the spin speed groups, namely, 1600, 1800 and 2000 rpm, after the first spin of the centrifugation process [17, 21].

Study Limitations

There are some limitations to this study. Firstly, since the PRP samples produced in the study were acquired from healthy volunteers, the recovery levels could not be pointed even though the yield values were revealed. Secondly, the number of groups with different centrifugal speeds could be increased but not to compromise the statistically calculated minimum number of patients and compare a large group of people with the drawn 150 mL blood. According to the expected usage results, these optimal speeds possibly predicted the best results that were selected by experienced members of our blood bank centre.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the methods of PRP preparation may directly affect the characteristics of the product. We suggest that the centrifugation initiation with 1800 rpm for 10 minutes is an optimal first spin speed as this method provides an approximately eightfold increase in platelet concentration in PRP products obtained by PRPBAG[®] system.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Obtained.

Informed Consent: Obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: , Concept: , Design: , Data Collection or Processing: Analysis or Interpretation: , Literature Search: , Writing:

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

1. Schulze H, Shivdasani RA. Mechanisms of thrombopoiesis. J Thromb Haemost 2005;3:1717-24.

- Andrews RK, Berndt MC. Platelet physiology and thrombosis. Thromb Res 2004;114:447-53.
- 3. Eppley BL, Woodell JE, Higgins J. Platelet quantification and growth factor analysis from platelet-rich plasma: implications for wound healing. Plast Reconstr Surg 2004;114:1502-8.
- Kaplan DR, Chao FC, Stiles CD, Antoniades HN, Scher CD. Platelet alpha granules contain a growth factor for fibroblasts. Blood 1979;53:1043-52.
- Mazzocca AD, McCarthy MB, Intravia J, Beitzel K, Apostolakos J, Cote MP, et al. An in vitro evaluation of the anti-inflammatory effects of platelet-rich plasma, ketorolac, and methylprednisolone. Arthroscopy 2013;29:675-83.
- 6. Nurden AT, Nurden P, Sanchez M, Andia I, Anitua E. Platelets and wound healing. Front Biosci 2008;13:3532-48.
- 7. Margolis DJ, Kantor J, Santanna J, Strom BL, Berlin JA. Effectiveness of platelet releasate for the treatment of diabetic neuropathic foot ulcers. Diabetes Care 2001;24:483-8.
- Gkini MA, Kouskoukis AE, Tripsianis G, Rigopoulos D, Kouskoukis K. Study of platelet-rich plasma injections in the treatment of androgenetic alopecia through an one-year period. J Cutan Aesthet Surg 2014;7:213-9.
- 9. Arshdeep, Kumaran MS. Platelet-rich plasma in dermatology: boon or a bane? Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 2014;80:5-14.
- Marx RE, Armentano L, Olavarria A, Samaniego J. rhBMP-2/ACS grafts versus autogenous cancellous marrow grafts in large vertical defects of the maxilla: an unsponsored randomized open-label clinical trial. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2013;28:243-51.
- Adler SC, Kent KJ. Enhancing wound healing with growth factors. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am 2002;10:129-46.

- Turan G, Yalçın Bahat P, Aydın A, Yüksel Özgör B. Evaluation of platelet-rich plasma injection activity in the treatment of abnormal uterine bleeding. Turk J Obstet Gynecol 2018;15:222-6.
- Weibrich G, Kleis WK, Kunz-Kostomanolakis M, Loos AH, Wagner W. Correlation of platelet concentration in platelet-rich plasma to the extraction method, age, sex, and platelet count of the donor. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2001;16:693-9.
- Aydin F, Pancar Yuksel E, Albayrak D. Platelet collection efficiencies of three different platelet-rich plasma preparation systems. J Cosmet Laser Ther 2015;17:165-8.
- EDQM. Guide to the preparation, use and quality assurance of blood components. 2017.
- Brodniewicz-Proba T. Human plasma fractionation and the impact of new technologies on the use and quality of plasma-derived products. Blood Rev 1991;5:245-57.
- Shin HS, Woo HM, Kang BJ. Optimisation of a double-centrifugation method for preparation of canine platelet-rich plasma. BMC Vet Res 2017;13:198.
- El-Sharkawy H, Kantarci A, Deady J, Hasturk H, Liu H, Alshahat M, et al. Platelet-rich plasma: growth factors and pro- and antiinflammatory properties. J Periodontol 2007;78:661-9.
- McCarrel TM, Minas T, Fortier LA. Optimization of leukocyte concentration in platelet-rich plasma for the treatment of tendinopathy. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2012;94:e143(1-8).
- Kobayashi Y, Saita Y, Nishio H, Ikeda H, Takazawa Y, Nagao M, et al. Leukocyte concentration and composition in platelet-rich plasma (PRP) influences the growth factor and protease concentrations. J Orthop Sci 2016;21:683-9.
- 21. Fukaya M, Ito A. A New Economic Method for Preparing Plateletrich Plasma. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 2014;2:e162.



Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scales 42 (DASS-42) in Dari-Language: Validity and Reliability Study in Adults, Herat, Afghanistan

Dari Dilinde Depresyon, Kaygı ve Stres Ölçeği 42 (DASS-42): Yetişkinlerde Geçerlik ve Güvenirlik Çalışması, Herat, Afganistan

^{ID} Nasar Ahmad SHAYAN¹, ^{ID} Aziz-ur-Rahman NIAZI¹, ^{ID} Abdul Momen WASEQ², ^{ID} Hilal ÖZCEBE³

¹Herat University Herat Medical Faculty, Department of Public Health, Herat, Afghanistan ²Herat University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Herat, Afghanistan ³Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aimed to assess the validity and reliability of Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scales-42 (DASS-42) in Dari, in adult population of Herat province of Afghanistan.

Methods: The Dari-translated version of DASS-42 questionnaire was administered to 1310 non-clinical samples randomly selected in Herat. Internal reliability, exploratory factor analyses, confirmatory factor analyses and Pearson's product moment correlation were assessed to test the validity and reliability of the questionnaire. Data analyses were performed in IBM SPSS Statistics 23.0 and AMOS 23.0.

Results: Internal consistency of the Dari-translated version of DASS-42 questionnaire subscales was high with Cronbach's alpha values of 0.888, 0.866 and 0.833 for depression, anxiety and stress, respectively. Construct validity was further supported with acceptable correlation measures of 0.799, 0.822 and 0.818 for depression, anxiety and stress subscales, respectively, which all were statistically significant (p<0.05). Confirmatory factor analysis gave acceptable goodness-of-fit indices.

Conclusion: The Dari-translated version of DASS-42 questionnaire is a reliable and valid assessment tool for identification and measurement of the magnitude of depression, anxiety and stress in the Dari-speaking population of Herat province of Afghanistan.

Keywords: Depression, anxiety, stress, DASS-42, Herat, Afghanistan

ÖZ

Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı Depresyon, Kaygı ve Stres Ölçeği-42 (DASS-42) Dari dilinde Afganistan Heart İlinde erişkinler arasında geçerlik ve güvenirliğini değerlendirmektdir.

Yöntemler: Dari diline tercüme edillmiş DASS-42 anketi, Herat'ta yaşayan nüfustan rastgele belirlenen 1.310 kişiye uygulanmıştır. Testin geçerlik ve güvenirlik analizi, iç tutarlılık, açıklayıcı faktör analizi, doğrulayıcı faktör analizi ve Pearson korelasyon analizi ile değerlendirilmiştir. Veri analizi IBM SPSS Statistics 23.0 ve AMOS 23.0 programlarıyla yapılmıştır.

Bulgular: DASS-42 anketi alt ölçeklerinin Dari dili versiyonunun iç tutarlılığı depresyon, anksiyete ve stress için Cronbach alfa değerleri yüksek değerlerde (0,888, 0.866 ve 0.833) bulunmuştur. Depresyon, anksiyete ve stres alt ölçekleri için yapı geçerliliği, kabul edilebilir korelasyon değerlerinde bulunmuştur (0,799, 0,822 ve 0,818); tüm değerler istatistiksel olarak anlamlıdır (p<0,05). Doğrulayıcı faktör analizi kabul edilebilir uyum iyiliği indeksine sahiptir.

Sonuç: DASS-42 anketinin Dari dili versiyonu, Afganistan'ın Herat ilinin Dari konuşan nüfusda depresyon, anksiyete ve stress sıklığının ölçülmesi için güvenilir ve geçerli bir değerlendirme aracıdır.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Depresyon, anksiyete, stres, DASS-42, Herat, Afganistan

Address for Correspondence: Nasar Ahmad SHAYAN, Herat University Herat Medical Faculty, Department of Public Health, Herat, Afghanistan E-mail: n.a.shayan@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8857-7765

Cite this article as: Shayan NA, Niazi AR, Waseq AM, Özcebe H. Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scales 42 (DASS-42) in Dari-Language: Validity and Reliability Study in Adults, Herat, Afghanistan. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):356-62.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 02.03.2020 Accepted: 14.05.2020

Introduction

Depression and anxiety are among the most common mental disorders in human community (1). Depression and anxiety have conceptually and theoretically similarities and sometimes overlapping, especially in the young generation (2). Clark and Watson have developed a depression and anxiety model to specify the specific and common variances of these two illnesses (3). Stress is a biologic response to any intrinsic and external stimulus, the stress can cause changes in brain, and different aspects of the nervous system such as different parts of the brain, immune system functions, cardiovascular system, gastrointestinal system, and endocrine system (4). Furthermore, clinicians and researchers need sensitive and specific instruments to assess the extent of depression, anxiety and stress, for which, several tools have been developed previously. Beck anxiety inventory (BAI) and Beck depression inventory (BDI) have been developed to assess the level of anxiety and depression; however, they do not address the "stress" component as body reactions. To address this, Loviband and Loviband developed "depression, anxiety and stress scale (DASS)" to define, understand and measure the magnitude of these three negative emotional states in adults (5). DASS depression scale assesses the mood, motivation and self-esteem, while the DASS anxiety scale focuses on physiological arousal, fear and panic. DASS stress scale assesses the magnitude of tension and irritability. DASS is able to discriminate between the three negative emotional states as a screening test by researchers and clinicians (6). The original DASS is a 42-item questionnaire in the English language containing 14 questions for each subscale. There is a short version of the 42-item questionnaire called DASS-21, which contains 7 questions for assessing depression, anxiety and stress each. Both questionnaires evaluate depression, anxiety and stress in the community as well as clinical settings.

DASS-42 and DASS-21 are used in English spoken countries including England, the United States, Canada and Australia (7-10). The scales have been translated into different languages. Validity and reliability of translated versions have been assessed for many languages and is underway for others (11-23). Studies conducted in different countries using DASS valid and reliable translations illustrated its internal consistency and validity in both clinical and non-clinical samples in different ethnic groups (12,15,17,20,22). Although DASS has been translated in Persian Language and used on high school students, (23) and nonclinical adults of 18-56 years old, (20) it has not been validated in the Afghan population yet.

The aim of this study is to assess the validity and reliability of the Dari-translated version of the DASS-42 questionnaire in the adult population of Herat province in western Afghanistan. This will serve as a starting point to use DASS for understanding, identifying and measuring the magnitude of depression, anxiety and stress among Afghan people, living in the war-torn country.

Methods

Persian translation of DASS-42 was already present on DASS website, it was downloaded, after a written permission, and

used in this study. It is worth noting that despite the fact that although Persian translation was present on the website, it was only validated elsewhere, but not in Afghanistan. A cognitive interview was conducted on 27 participants to both understand the language appropriateness of the questionnaire. The purpose of this study was to validate DASS-42 Dari (Persian) questionnaire in the context of Afghanistan, considering differences in culture and environment.

DASS-42 questionnaire measures the magnitude of depression, anxiety and stress. Each of these three subscales consists of 14 questions answered using 0-3 scale, with 0 meaning "it did not apply to me", and 3 meaning "it applied to me very much". Participants were asked to select one of the four response options for each question. Therefore, for each subscale, the possible score ranged between 0 and 42. Scores considered normal for depression were 0-9, for anxiety 0-7 and for stress 0-14. Scores above these ranges indicated the degree of the three mental illnesses, ranging mild to severe, as stated elsewhere (5).

Data Collection

This was a population-based study conducted in Herat province of Afghanistan. A minimum of 30 individuals were considered for each question, with a further 50 individuals added for a better assessment of the validity and reliability of the Dari-translated version of DASS-42 (24).

Therefore, a total of 1,310 participants aged 18 years and over residing in Herat province were included in the study. Before the initiation of the study, informed consent was obtained from each participant. Participants were native Dari speakers without a known psychological problem. Central Statistics Organization of Herat province was contacted to understand the age- and genderspecific characteristics of the population in each of Herat 15 city suburbs. Participants were selected proportionally randomly in Heart.

A group of 15 professional healthcare workers (physcians, nurses and medical university students) was intensively both theoretically and practically trained for one week to conduct DASS-42 questionnaire by research team in Afghanistan. Although the original format of questionnaires was designed to be self-administered, it was slightly modified to conform an interview-based questionnaire, because of the high illiteracy rate in Afghanistan. During data collection the re-test was done on 251 participants, 2-3 weeks after the initial test.

Data collection was carried out between April and November 2017. Data were screened at the end of each week for consistency and accuracy. Any questionnaire with missing data was excluded from the study.

The methodology and conduct of this research was assessed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institutional Review Board and the Research and Development Bureau of Herat University (HU-IRB-032017).

Statistical Analyses

Cronbach's alpha coefficients were used to evaluate the internal reliability for each of the DASS-42 subscales. Cronbach's alpha values of 0.70 and over were considered satisfactory, as described elsewhere (25). Exploratory factor analysis was performed using the principal component analysis with oblimin rotation (Kaiser normalization) for the factor structure. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) statistic and Bartlett's test of sphericity were carried out to check for sampling suitability and factor analysis. Factor loading greater than 0.32 was considered statistically meaningful, as described elsewhere (26). Item analysis was used to eliminate items which did not represent its own subscale. Confirmatory factor analysis was used to determine the goodness-of-fit of the three construct models of DASS after explanatory factor analysis in Herat population. The following parameters were used to evaluate model fit: Chi-square to df ratio (CMIN/df), the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), the goodness-of-fit index (GFI), the adjusted goodness-of-fit index (AGFI), the comparative fit index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI). The following criteria were used to assess model fit as described elsewhere: CMIN/df <5; Standardized RMR<0.05; RMSEA <0.08; GFI >0.90; AGFI >0.90; CFI >0.95 and TLI >0.95 (27,28). Pearson's productmoment correlations was used for assessing test-retest reliability. The test-retest reliability value of 0.70 or above was considered satisfactory, as described elsewhere (27). Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparison of two independent groups. Median and interquartile range (IQR) values were given as descriptive statistics for quantitative data. Qualitative data were summarized using frequency and percentages. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference. Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM SPSS Statistics, Version 23.0; Chicago, IL) and AMOS (Version 23.0)

Results

Of the 1,310 participants in this study, 48.3% were male, 58.4% were married and 33.7% aged 50 years or over. 62.1% of participants were from Tajik ethnicity and 62.6% lived in the urban area. 50.0% of participants were either illiterate or could only read and write. Only 10.4% were either university students or graduates. 57.2% of the participants had no income, while 11.3% earned less than 50 USD per month. Only 6.4% of participants claimed a monthly income of over 300 USD (Table 1).

Item analysis was made for the scale before the factor analysis. First, we determined the items' extreme arithmetic mean and standard deviation. Item 5 (0.45 ± 0.811) in depression subscale, item 20 (0.49 ± 0.81), item 23 (0.47 ± 0.78) and item 30 (0.49 ± 0.81) in anxiety subscale and item 8 (0.64 ± 0.91), item 22 (0.6 ± 0.89) and item 39 (0.77 ± 0.89) in stress subscale were removed from DASS-42. Item 42 was deleted from the depression subscale because its deleted Cronbach's Alpha was bigger than the overall Cronbach's alpha of the subscale (Table 2).

Principal component analysis with oblimin rotation for Exploratory Factor Analyses was performed for the remaining items after item analysis. Item 3 and item 13 were removed from the depression subscale. Because factor loading of item 3 was smaller than 0.30 and item 13 was loaded on the stress subscale. Item 33 and item 9 could not be loaded to any subscale. Furthermore, items 28, 36 and 40 were loaded on depression subscale. Exploratory Factor Analyses with oblimin rotation

Table 1. Characteristics of participants (n=1310) (Herat 2018)					
	n	%			
Age group					
18-29	317	24.2			
30-39	288	22.0			
40-49	264	20.2			
50-59	216	16.5			
60-69	156	11.9			
70+	69	5.3			
Gender					
Male	633	48.3			
Female	677	51.7			
Nationality					
Tajik	814	62.1			
Poshton	276	21.1			
Other (Ozbik, Hazara)	220	16.8			
Marital status					
Married	765	58.4			
Single	441	33.7			
Widowed/divorce	104	7.9			
Residence					
Urban	820	62.6			
Rural	490	37.4			
Education status					
Illiterate	469	35.8			
Literate (can read and write)	186	14.2			
Primary school	105	8.0			
Secondary school	115	8.8			
High school	299	22.8			
University	130	9.9			
Master/Ph.D	6	0.5			
Economic status (montly)					
No income	749	57.2			
Less than 50 \$	148	11.3			
50-100 \$	174	13.3			
100-200 \$	126	9.6			
200-300\$	29	2.2			
More than 300 \$	84	6.4			
Total	1310	100.0			

was recalculated for the remaining 27 items. The range of factor loadings (after oblimin rotation) was 0.346 to 0.854. Among depression items, ten loaded on depression factor, ten on stress factor, and only seven on the depression factor. The principal component analysis showed that the three factors together accounted for 49.481% of the variance, KMO =0.963, (Approx.

Chi-Square: 1501,61), Bartlett's Test of Sphericity (p<0.001). Results showed that samples in this study were suitable for factor analysis (Table 2).

The internal reliability of the DASS-42 subscales anxiety, depression, stress was assessed using Cronbach's alpha. Alpha was 0.888 for the depression scale, 0.866 for the stress scale, 0.833

Table 2. Results of factor loading, Cronbach's alpha and test-retest for the three dimensions of DASS (n=1310)

Pattern Matrixa Component Depression Stress Anxiety DASS-depression 37 - nothing to be hopeful 0.750 34 - worthless 0.738 17 - wasn't worth as a person 0.715 31 - unable to be enthusiastic 0.692 21 - wasn't worthwhile 0.685 38 - life was meaningless 0.672 24 - couldn't seem enjoyment 0.525 16 - lost interest about everything 0.523 10 - to look forward to 0.469 26 - down hearted & blue 0.346 DASS-stress 11- getting upset easily 0.854 1 - upset 0.750 18 - feeling touchy 0.743 27 - irritable 0.719 14 - getting impatient 0.617 29 - hard to calm down 0.565 35 - intolerant 0.508 12 - using nervous energy 0.507 6 - over-react 0.494 32 - difficult to tolerate 0.442 DASS-anxiety 0.760 4 - breathing difficulty 2 - dryness of mouth 0.727 7 - feeling of shakiness 0.614 15 - feeling of faintness 0.600 25 - awareness of heart action 0.595 41 - trembling 0.584 19 - perspired 0.454 Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. Rotation Method: Oblimin with Kaiser Normalization Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy: 0.963 (Approx. chi-square: 15019,610), Bartlett's Test of Sphericity (p<0.001) Explained of the variance (%) 4.168 38.611 6.702 Cronbach's Alpha 0.888 0.866 0.833 Test-retest 0.799* 0.822* 0.818* (Spearman's rho correlation coefficient)

for the anxiety subscales. Subscales have good item-internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha values were higher than 0.70). Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to determine the test-retest reliability. The correlation coefficients were obtained between 0.799 and 0.822. The subscales showed satisfactory test-retest reliability due to a higher than 0.70 correlation (Table 2).

In the validation process of Dari-translated version of DASS-42 questionnaire, in Herat province, 7 questions from depression component, 6 questions from anxiety component and 4 questions from stress component were omitted (Table 3).

Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was used to determine the goodness-of-fit of three constructs of DASS, then the factor structure of DASS has been determined by using exploratory factor analysis. Confirmatory factor analysis gave a three-factor structure with acceptable goodness-of-fit indices. Fig 1. shows the confirmatory model (CMIN/df =.59, RMSEA =0.052 (90%

Table 3. The items excluded from the scale

ltems				
DASS depression				
3	No positive feeling			
5	Not seem to get going			
13	Sad & depression			
42	Difficult to work			
9	Anxious			
20	Scared			
23	Difficult in swallowing			
28	Panic			
30	Feared			
36	Terrified			
40	Worried			
DASS-stress				
8	Difficult to relax			
22	Hard to wind down			
33	Difficult to tolerate			
39	Agidated			

CI =0.050-0.055), SRMR =0.0407, GFI =0.918, AGFI =0.904, TLI =0.915 and CFI =0.922).

Table 4 shows median and inter quartile range for three scales by gender groups. Three scales of DASS were statistically different for male and female. The scores of female were higher compared to male.

Discussion

Quality of life is an important outcome to be considered in chronic disorders such as depression, anxiety and stress. Identification and addressing factors that significantly affect the quality of life is essential in improving the standards of life and well-being. DASS-42 is one of the most common validated



Figure 1. Standardized estimated of the three-dimensions model for DASS obtained from confirmatory factor analysis

Table 4. Comparison of the DASS scores (depression, anxiety, stress) for the Herat population by gender (Herat 2018)

		n	%25	%50	%75	Min	Max	P*
Depression	Male	633	0.00	3.00	9.00	0.00	30.00	<0.001
	Female	677	2.00	6.00	12.00	0.00	29.00	
Anxiety	Male	633	1.00	3.00	7.00	0.00	21.00	0.002
	Female	677	1.00	4.00	8.00	0.00	19.00	
Stress	Male	633	5.00	9.00	15.00	0.00	30.00	0.016
	Female	677	6.00	10.00	15.00	0.00	30.00	

screening test to define depression, anxiety and stress states in many countries (7-23).

We found that the Dari-translated version of DASS-42 questionnaire is a reliable and valid assessment tool for identification and measurement of the magnitude of the three mental illnesses in the adult population living in Herat province of Afghanistan.

Regarding the internal reliability of the DASS-42, the Cronbach's alpha values found in this study were 0.888 for depression, 0.866 for stress and 0.833 for anxiety. The subscales have good iteminternal consistency as the internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of each subscale were higher than the referred level as 0.70. Spearman's correlation coefficient was found as 0.799 for depression, 0.822 for stress and 0.818 for anxiety, which were satisfactory. However, our values of Cronbach's alpha were lower than original study conducted by Lovibond and Lovibond (Cronbach's alpha was 0.91 for depression, 0.81 for anxiety and 0.89 for stress) (5). Cronbach's alpha values for university students in Turkey were 0.92, 0.86, and 0.88 for depression, anxiety, and stress, respectively;(13) and for high school students in Turkey were 0.91 for depression, 0.84 for anxiety and 0.86 for stress (12). Internal consistency of DASS-42 subscales was high, with Cronbach's alphas of 0.94, 0.88, and 0.93 for depression, anxiety and stress, respectively. Bayani translated DASS-42 into Persian, and validated in undergraduate students aged between 18 to 51 years; the study reported Cronbach's alpha of 0.92 for depression, 0.88 for anxiety and 0.82 for stress in Iran (21). Furthermore, another study in Iran conducted on university students reported Cronbach's alpha of 0.94 for depression, 0.89 for anxiety and 0.92 for stress (22). In a study conducted in undergraduate and master students in Malaysia, Cronbach's alpha values were 0.88 for depression, 0.85 for anxiety and 0.86 for stress (30). Similarly, Rosnani and Ar reported that Cronbach's alpha values for DASS-42 among medical school students, were 0.94, 0.90 and 0.87 for depression, anxiety and stress, respectively (31).

In the validation process of DASS-42 in Dari, 4 questions from depression subscale, 6 questions from anxiety subscale and 4 questions from stress subscale were omitted. Two questions from depression subscale and 7 questions from the anxiety subscale of DASS-42 in Persian validation conducted by Habibi et al. (22) were removed to reach a good exploratory factor analysis. Only 8 items from depression, 4 items from anxiety and 7 items from stress subscales loaded on the original subscales of DASS-42 in the factor analysis of DASS-42 conducted in Malaysia (30). The other Malaysian validation study conducted had also removed 4 items from the original scale to have a good result (31). Asghar also reached to a different scale from the original DASS-42; depression subscale had 18 items, anxiety subscale had 17 items and stress subscale had 7 items in Iran (21). In an attempt to validate DASS-42, Chan et al. (16) removed some items and loaded some items on different subscales of the questionnaire. Bilgel and Bayram (13) also reported that some items were loaded on the different subscales in their study conducted in Turkey. Most of the studies on validation of DASS-42 brought

about some changes in the original scales, depending on the differences in cultures and feelings of people for which DASS-42 is translated and validated.

Study Limitations

This study was conducted on native-Dari speakers who resided in Herat city and is therefore valid for the assessment of magnitude of depression, anxiety and stress in said population. More research is yet to be done to validate this questionnaire in all Dari-speaking Afghan population.

Conclusion

The Dari-translated version of DASS-42 questionnaire reported here is a valid and reliable tool for the assessment of depression, anxiety and stress state in the Dari-speaking population of Herat province of Afghanistan. This questionnaire can serve as a baseline for a more comprehensive validation analysis of the magnitude of depression, anxiety and stress state in the Darispeaking Afghan population as a whole.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Islamic Republic of Afghanistan Ministry of Higher Education Herat University (date: 12.03.2017).

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: N.A.S., A.R.N., A.M.W., H.Ö., Design: N.A.S., A.R.N., A.M.W., H.Ö., Data Collection or Processing: N.A.S., A.R.N., A.M.W., H.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: N.A.S., A.R.N., A.M.W., H.Ö., Literature Search: N.A.S., A.R.N., A.M.W., H.Ö., Writing: N.A.S., A.R.N., A.M.W., H.Ö.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- Yusoff MS, Abdul Rahim AF, Baba AA, Ismail SB, Mat Pa MN, Esa AR. Prevalence and associated factors of stress, anxiety and depression among prospective medical students. Asian J Psychiatr 2013;6:128-33.
- Cunha M, Ribeiro A, Andre S. Anxiety, depression and stress in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences 2016;217:337-43.
- Clark LA, Watson D. Tripartite model of anxiety and depression: psychometric evidence and taxonomic implications. J Abnorm Psychol 1991;100:316-36.
- Yaribeygi H, Panahi Y, Sahraei H, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A. The impact of stress on body function: A review. EXCLI J 2017;16:1057-72.
- 5. Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS)

with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. Behav Res Ther 1995;33:335-43.

- Osman A, Wong JL, Bagge CL, Freedenthal S, Gutierrez PM, Lozano G. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21 (DASS-21): further examination of dimensions, scale reliability, and correlates. J Clin Psychol 2012;68:1322-38.
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. Br J Clin Psychol 2005;44:227-39.
- Brown TA, Chorpita BF, Korotitsch W, Barlow DH. Psychometric properties of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) in clinical samples. Behav Res Ther 1997;35:79-89.
- Antony MM, Bieling PJ, Cox BJ, Enns MW, Swinson RP. Psychometric properties of the 42-item and 21-item versions of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales in clinical groups and a community sample. Psyshol Assess 1998;10:176-81.
- Ng F, Trauer T, Dodd S, Callaly T, Campbell S, Berk M. The validity of the 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales as a routine clinical outcome measure. Acta Neuropsychiatr 2007;19:304-10.
- Hekimoglu L, Altun ZO, Kaya EZ, Bayram N, Bilgel N. Psychometric properties of the Turkish version of the 42 item Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-42) in a clinical sample. Int J Psychiatry Med 2012;44:183-98.
- Akkuş Çutuk Z, Kaya M. The Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-42) high school form: The validity and reliability of Turkish version. Electronic Journal of Social Science 2018;17:1327-36.
- Bilgel N, Bayram N. Turkish version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale (DASS-42): Psychometric properties. Archives of Neuropsychiatry 2010;47:118-26.
- Singh B, Prabhuappa K, Eqbal S, Singh A. Depression Anxiety Stress Scale: Reliability and Validity of Hindu adaptation. International Journal of Education & Management 2013; 446-9.
- 15. Webster S, Hawley R, Lopez V. The factor structure of the Thai version of Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale (Thai DASS-42) and its application in a community sample of Thai women living in Sydney, Australia. Journal of Nursing Education and Practice 2013;3:133-41.
- 16. Chan R, Xu T, Huang J, Wang Y, Zhao Q, Shum D, et al. Extending the utility of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale by examining its psychometric properties in Chinese settings. Psychiatry Res 2012;200:879-83.

- Musa R, Fadzil MA, Zaın Z. Translation, validation and psychometric properties of Bahasa Malaysia version of the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scales (DASS). ASEAN Journal of Psychiatry 2007;8:82-9.
- Severino GA, Haynes WD. Development of an Italian version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales. Psychol Health Med 2010;15:607-21.
- Bados A, Solanas A, Andres R. Psychometric Properties of the Spanish version of Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scales (DASS). Psicothema 2005;17:679-83.
- 20. Asghari M, Saed F, Dibajnia P, Zanganeh J. A preliminary study of the validity and reliability of Depression, Anxiety and Stress (DASS) in non-clinical sample. Acad J Behav 2008;15:23-38.
- 21. Bayani AA. Reliability and preliminary evidence of validity of a Farsi version of the depression anxiety stress scales. Percept Mot Skills 2010;111:107-14.
- Habibi M, Dehghani M, Pooravari M, Salehi S. Confirmatory factor analysis of Persian version of Depression, Anxiety and Stress (DASS-42): Non-clinical sample. Razavi Int J Med 2017;5:e12021.
- 23. Afzali A, Delavar A, Boriali A, Mirzamani M. Psycometric properties of DASS-42 as assessed in a sample of Kermanshah high school students. J Res Behav Sci 2007;5:81-92.
- 24. DeVellis RF. Scale Development: Theory and Applications (2nd ed.). New York: SAGE Publications; 2003.
- 25. Bland JM, Altman DG. Cronbach's alpha. BMJ 1997;314:572.
- 26. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using multivariate statistics 5th Ed. Boston: Allyn & Bacon; 2007.
- 27. Hopper D, Coughlan J, Mullen M. Structural equation modelling: Guidelines for determining model fit. Electron J Bus Res Methods 2008;6:53-60.
- Schermelleh-Engel K, Moosbrugger H, Muller H. Evaluating the Fit of Structural Equation Models: Tests of Significance and Descriptive Goodness-of-fit measures. MPR Online 2003;8:23-74.
- 29. Terwee CB, Bot SD, de Boer MR, van der Windt DA, Knol DL, Dekker J, et al. Quality criteria were proposed for measurement properties of health status questionnaires. J Clin Epidemiol 2007;60:34-42.
- Imam SS. Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS): Revisited. The 4th International Postgraduate Research Collaquim IPRC Proceeding 2008;184-96.
- Ramli R, Rosnani S, Ar FA. Psychometric profile of Malaysian ersion of the Depressive, Anxiety and Stress Scale 42-item (DASS-42). MJP Online Early 2012;21:1-7.



Secondary Involvement of the Penis by Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma

Non-Hodgkin Lenfomanın İnfiltrasyonuna Sekonder Penis Tutulumu

^{ID} Gizem TİMOÇİN YIĞMAN, ^{ID} Abdusselim Adil PEKER, ^{ID} Rasul SHARİFOV, ^{ID} Hüseyin TOPRAK

Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radyology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Primary penile lymphoma is extremely rare and there are less than 30 reported cases worldwide. Frequently penile lymphoma is seen as a secondary involvement of the penis by lymphoma, most likely by Non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL). Here, we report a case with penile lymphoma caused by previously known NHL.

Keywords: Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, penis, MRI, penile lymphoma

ÖZ

Penil lenfoma oldukça nadirdir. Toplamda 30 olgunun olduğu bildirilmiştir. Penil lenfoma tutulumu genellikle lenfomanın sekonder tutulumu şeklinde karşımıza çıkmaktadır. Genellikle Non-Hodgkin lenfomanın (NHL) sekonder tutulumu şeklindedir. Bilinen NHL tanılı olguda penisin sekonder tutulumunun olduğu olguyu sunacağız.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Non-Hodgkin lenfoma, penis, MRG, penil lenfoma

Introduction

Penile malignant tumours are uncommon. The ultrasonography discloses that penile cancer accounts for around 0.4% of all male malignancies. Primary penile lymphoma is extremely rare (less than 30 cases) (1). The penile lymphoma is often seen as the secondary involvement of the penis, most likely by Non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) (2-4). In most cases, penile lymphoma represents secondary involvement due to haematogenous or lymphatic spread or direct extension from a neighbouring organ (5), such as bladder, lymph nodes and seminal vesicles. For the diagnosis, physical examination and radiological imaging [computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)] should be carefully undertaken (5). In this case, we report a case with penile lymphoma caused by previously known NHL.

Case Report

A 58-year-old male presented with penis pain and erectile dysfunction; he had a history of NHL for 4 years, and he was getting chemotherapy. His physical examination indicated a dysmorphic penile shaft, and the prostate was hard. The clinician suspected Peyronie's disease. Routine blood, liver and renal function tests were normal. His urine leukocyte level was high [12 high pass filter (HPF); normal 0-5 HPF]. Multiple enlarged inguinal lymph nodes and minimal abdominal tenderness were noted. Abdominal ultrasound showed hepatomegaly, hepatosteatosis and normal configuration of both kidneys. MRI of the pelvis and penis showed isointense on T1 weighted imaging and hypointense on T2 weighted imaging signal changes and homogenous contrast enhancement on post-contrast T1 images

Address for Correspondence: Gizem TİMOÇİN YIĞMAN, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radyology, İstanbul, Turkey

E-mail: gizemtimocin1@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7184-0037

Cite this article as: Timoçin Yığman G, Peker AA, Sharifov R, Toprak H. Secondary Involvement of the Penis by Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):363-5.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 11.08.2019 Accepted: 30.09.2020 in the corpus spongiosum of the penis (Figure 1, 5). Diffusionweighted imaging shows restricted diffusion (Figure 2). Also, the central and peripheral zone of the prostate and left seminal vesicle were involved (Figure 3, 4). Bilateral obturator, external and inguinal lymph nodes were enlarged. With these findings, the diagnosis of penile lymphoma due to the involvement of the penis by NHL was established. And his treatment (systemic chemotherapy), which he had already taken, was continued. After chemotherapy, clinical response was observed. The symptoms of the patients were all reduced.



Figure 1. (A) Axial T1 weighted image showed homogeneous isointensity in the corpus spongiosum penis and (B) axial T2 weighted image showed hypointensity of the corpus spongiosum. (C) axial fat sat T1 weighted image and (D) axial fat sat T1 postcontrast image showed homogenous contrast enhancement in the corpus spongiosum of penis



Figure 2. (A) Axial T1 weighted image and (B) axial T2 weighted image showed enlarged bilateral obturator and inguinal lymph nodes. (C) Axial fat sat T1 weighted image and (D) axial fat sat T1 postcontrast image showed homogenous contrast enhancement on this lymph nodes



Figure 3. Axial Diffusion weighted images (A-B) in the corpus spongiosum and (C-D) prostate and left seminal vesicle shows diffusion restriction



Figure 4. (A) Axial T1 weighted image showed enlarged inguinal lymph nodes and (B) axial fat sat T1 postcontrast image showed homogenous contrast enhancement in this lymph nodes. Axial Diffusion weighted images (C-D) left inguinal lymph nodes, prostate and left seminal vesicle shows diffusion restriction



Figure 5. (A) Saggital T1 weighted image showed homogeneous isointensity in the corpus spongiosum of penis and (B) Saggital fat sat T1 postcontrast image showed homogenous contrast enhancement in the corpus spongiosum of penis

Discussion

NHL is generally observed in large, conglomerated lymph nodes. However, it can also occur outside the lymph nodes, called extra-nodal lymphoma. Extra-nodal lymphoma can also be seen in the gastrointestinal tract, liver, spleen, Waldeyer's lymphatic ring, skin, central nervous system, bone, thyroid gland and the urogenital system, although with low probability (7). Primary penile lymphoma is extremely rare, with less than 30 cases reported in the literature. Secondary involvement of the penis can occur due to retrograde spread or to direct extension from the neighbouring organ (5). The affected locations are the penile shaft (most common) and glans penis (4,6). Lymphoma of the penis can present as a nodule, painless mass, plaques or ulcers and results in a dysmorphic appearance of the penile shaft. Painless mass is the most common symptom, followed by the ulcer (1). When the corpus cavernosum of the penis is involved, erectile dysfunction and penile swelling can be seen. Radiological modalities such as CT, MRI and PET CT should be undertaken for treatment and prognosis. MRI of most penile cancers shows superficial, hypointense infiltrative soft-tissue masses on T1- and T2-weighted imaging (2). After intravenous contrast injection, lesions enhance homogeneously. In the present case, after an early consideration of the diagnosis of Peyronie's disease, the final diagnosis of NHL of the penis was confirmed by MRI images (6).

Systemic chemotherapy is the treatment of choice for the second presentation of lymphoma in the penis. Chemotherapy has the clear advantage of obtaining good cosmetic and functional results (1). Radical surgery can also be used, but only after the failure of other modalities like local radiotherapy, immunotherapy and combined modalities (3).

In conclusion, the penile malignant tumour and penile lymphoma are very rare and can be mistaken for other soft-tissue tumours, and hence it poses a significant differential diagnostic challenge (2). If the patient diagnosed with squamous cell carcinoma of the penis, treatment typically consists of radical penectomy (3,8). Excision biopsy is essential to reach the final diagnosis (7). Other differential diagnosis includes vasculitis, trauma nad sexually transmitted disease (1).

MRI plays a vital role in diagnosing penile lymphoma and assessing the local extent of the disease.

Ethics

Informed Consent:

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: G.T.Y., A.A.P., R.S., H.T., Design: G.T.Y., A.A.P., R.S., H.T., Data Collection or Processing: G.T.Y., A.A.P., R.S., H.T., Analysis or Interpretation: G.T.Y., A.A.P., R.S., H.T., Literature Search: G.T.Y., A.A.P., R.S., H.T., Writing: G.T.Y., A.A.P., R.S., H.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Stamatiou K, Pierris N. Lymphoma presenting as cancer of the glans penis: a case report. Case Rep Pathol 2012;2012:948352.
- Thomas K, Spiess P, Caracciolo JT. A report of two deep-seated noncutaneous penile tumors: more than meets the eye. Radiol Case Rep 2017;12:726-30.
- 3. Gentile G, Broccoli A, Brunocilla E, Schiavina R, Borghesi M, Romagnoli D, et al. An isolated penile mass in a young adult turned out to be a primary marginal zone lymphoma of the penis. A case report and a review of literature. Anticancer Res 2013;33:2639-42.
- 4. Singh AK, Saokar A, Hahn PF, Harisinghani MG. Imaging of penile neoplasms. Radiographics 2005;25:1629-38.
- Chiang KH, Chang PY, Lee SK, Yen PS, Ling CM, Lin CC, et al. MR findings of penile lymphoma. Br J Radiol 2006;79:526-8.
- Karki K, Mohsin R, Mubarak M, Hashmi A. Primary Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma of Penis Masquerading as a Non-Healing Ulcer in the Penile Shaft. Nephrourol Mon 2013;5:840-2.
- 7. Wang GC, Peng B, Zheng JH. Primary penile malignant lymphoma: report of a rare case. Can Urol Assoc J 2012;6:277-9.
- Marchionne E, Perez C, Hui A, Khachemoune A. Penile squamous cell carcinoma: a review of the literature and case report treated with Mohs micrographic surgery. An Bras Dermatol 2017;92:95-9.

Case Report



A Coin Trapped in Meckel's Diverticulum Meckel Divertikülünde Tutsak Bozuk Para

Levent CANKORKMAZ

Sivas Cumhuriyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Sivas, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Foreign body ingestion is a common problem among children. Most foreign bodies that have passed the esophagus will pass uneventfully through the intestinal tract. Foreign bodies that remain blocked in the narrower segments of the gastrointestinal tract require intervention. We herein report the case of a child who presented with a coin trapped in Meckel's diverticulum (MD). A 2-year-old boy was brought to our hospital 3 months after ingestion of coin. Physical examination showed no abdominal tenderness. Laboratory was normal. The foreign body appeared to be a coin located in the middle lower quadrant in the abdominal X-ray. Exploratory laparotomy was performed, and Meckel's diverticulum was discovered. The coin was detected in Meckel?'s diverticulum and it wedge resection were performed. After the operation, the patient had an uneventful recovery and started enteral feeding within 5 days. Early treatment of ingested foreign bodies in the gastrointestinal system is important in terms of preventing possible complications. The determination of the exact location of the coin, decision for intervention, and management may be difficult in cases with prolonged lodgment. The diagnosis of MD should be considered when there is a prolonged lodgment of a foreign body in the lower quadrant.

Keywords: Meckel, child, ingestion foregien body

Introduction

Foreign body ingestion is a common problem in children. Most foreign bodies that cross the esophagus pass through the gastrointestinal tract without any problems. Of foreign bodies 80-90% entering the small intestine are excreted spontaneously in ÖZ

Yabancı cisim yutulması çocuklar arasında yaygın bir sorundur. Özofagusu geçen yabancı cisimlerin çoğu bağırsak sisteminden sorunsuz bir şekilde geçecektir. Gastrointestinal sistemin daha dar segmentlerinde bloke kalan yabancı cisimler müdahale gerektirir. Burada Meckel divertikülünde (MD) sıkışmış bir bozuk para ile başvuran çocuk olgusunu sunuyoruz. İki yaşında erkek çocuk, bozuk para yutmasından 3 ay sonra hastanemize getirildi. Fizik muayenede karın hassasiyeti görülmedi. Laboratuvar normaldi. Yabancı cisim, karın grafisinde orta alt kadranda görünüyordu. Laparotomi yapıldı ve paranın MD'si olduğu saptandı ve divertikül rezeke edildi. Ameliyattan sonra hasta sorunsuz iyileşti ve 5 gün içinde oral beslenmeye başladı. Gastrointestinal sistemde yutulan yabancı cisimlerin erken tedavisi, olası komplikasyonların önlenmesi açısından önemlidir. Yabancı cismin uzun süre aynı yerde kaldığı vakalarda cismin tam yerini, müdahale kararını ve yönetimi belirlemek zor olabilir. Yabancı cismin alt kadranda uzun süre sabit kaldığı durumunda Meckel divertikülü akla gelmelidir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Meckel, çocuk, yabancı cisim yutma

the stool (1). Foreign bodies blocking in narrower segments of the gastrointestinal tract (10-20%) require non-surgical interventions, while approximately \leq 1% require surgical intervention (2).

In this case report, a child who were admitted to our hospital with a history of swallowing coin 3 months ago was presented. The

Address for Correspondence: Levent CANKORKMAZ, Sivas Cumhuriyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Sivas, Turkey E-mail: lcankorkmaz@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-1525-1470

Cite this article as: Cankorkmaz L. A Coin Trapped in Meckel's Diverticulum. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):366-8.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 29.05.2020 Accepted: 11.06.2020 coin was found to have settled in Meckel's diverticulum (MD) during the exploration. To our knowledge, there are few reports of foreign body stuck in MD in the pediatric literature.

Case Report

A two-year-old boy was admitted to our hospital with a history of swallowing foreign body (coin) 3 months ago. It was learned that the patient was under follow-up in an external center for three months and was referred to our pediatric surgery outpatient clinic because the coin did not move in the control direct radiographs.

No pathology was detected in the physical examination of the patient. Abdominal examination did not reveal tenderness or defense. A radiopaque foreign body (coin) was detected in the middle lower quadrant of the patient's standing direct abdominal X-ray (Figure 1). Laboratory values were evaluated as normal. Since the history of foreign body ingestion was three months ago, the family was informed and the surgery was planned. It was observed that there was no displacement in the control standing direct abdominal X-ray of the patient who was prepared for the operation under elective conditions, and that the coin persisted in the lower abdominal quadrant.

During the exploration under general anesthesia, MD was detected approximately 50 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve. When the exploration was continued, the diagnosis was made by palpating the coin in the diverticulum. The bowel was repaired by performing wedge resection of MD. Macroscopic examination of the resected specimen revealed a coin stuck in MD (Figure 2a, b). The patient, who had an uneventful recovery after the operation, started oral feeding within 5 days and was discharged on the $7^{\rm th}$ day.

Discussion

Foreign body ingestion is a common problem in the pediatric age group. Early diagnosis and intervention are important because of possible serious complications of swallowed foreign bodies such as mucosal erosion, airway obstruction or intestinal perforation (3). In young children, the time and type of foreign body ingestion cannot always be determined exactly. Although Chauvin et al. (4) have argued that enteroscopy or surgery should be considered for the removal of dangerous foreign objects such as sharp, pointed or elongated objects, batteries or magnets that cross the ligament of Treitz, there is no consensus in the literature. Since the structure of the foreign body is important for the management of the follow-up, the coin must be distinguished from the batteries (2). While straight-edged foreign bodies usually do not cause a serious condition, emergency intervention is required if the foreign body is a sharp object (3). It is difficult to make an intervention decision in cases where the foreign body in the gastrointestinal tract remains in the same localization for a long time. Daily stool observation and abdominal radiographs are required to monitor the progression of foreign bodies, such as coins, that have a lower risk of causing perforation through the gastrointestinal tract. However, the patient's family should



Figure 1. Patient's standing direct abdominal X-ray view showing a coin.



Figure 2a,b. Coin trapped within Meckel's diverticulum. This study was presented as poster at the 6th World Congress of Pediatric Surgery – WOFAPS 2019, 1-3 November 2019, Doha, Qatar.

be aware of the clinical signs of perforation and obstruction in this period (2).

Meckel's diverticulum is a remnant of the omphalomesenteric (vitelline) duct. MD has potential complications such as intestinal obstruction, gastrointestinal bleeding, or inflammation of the diverticulum with or without perforation (5). While the prevalence of MD is between 0.3-2.9% in the general population, the rate found in autopsy studies is 1.2% (5). In the literature, there are several case reports of puncture or occlusion of MD with disc pillars, phytobezoars, fish bones, chicken bones and needles in children and adults (6-9). In the three case reports of coin located in MD, which was detected in the English literature review, two patients were children and one patient was a 25-yearold woman. An adult patient presented with perforation, while the 19-month-old patient presented with abdominal pain and vomiting. Karadeniz Cerit et al. (2) presented their laparoscopic approach to an asymptomatic 10-year-old patient like our patient (10,11).

In particular, it may be difficult to determine the exact location of the foreign body, which does not move for a long time, and to make a follow-up or intervention decision (2). In such cases, it is not easy to find coins with X-ray images. We think that MD is a pathology that should be kept in mind, especially in foreign bodies that do not change their localization for a long time in the lower quadrant.

Ethics

Informed Consent:

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Nandi P, Ong GB. Foreign body in the oesophagus: review of 2394 cases. Br J Surg 1978;65:5-9.
- Karadeniz Cerit K, Kalyoncu A, Erbarut İ, Kıyan G, Dağlı TE. Laparoscopic approach for removing a coin trapped in Meckel's diverticulum. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2017;23:438-40.
- Aydoğdu S, Arikan C, Cakir M, Baran M, Yüksekkaya HA, Saz UE, et al. Foreign body ingestion in Turkish children. Turk J Pediatr 2009;51:127-32.
- 4. Chauvin A, Viala J, Marteau P, Hermann P, Dray X. Management and endoscopic techniques for digestive foreign body and food bolus impaction. Dig Liver Dis 2013;45:529-42.
- Ivatury RR. Meckel's diverticulum and the eponymous legend. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2019;87:451-5.
- Escobar MA, Tiu MC, Yotter CN, Han MT. Button battery perforating a Meckel's diverticulum in an asymptomatic child: An exception to recommendations for management. Journal of Pediatric Surgery Case Reports 2013;1:132-5.
- Karaman A, Karaman I, Erdoğan D, Cavuşoğlu YH, Aslan MK, Varlikli O, et al. Perforation of Meckel's diverticulum by a button battery: report of a case. Surg Today 2007;37:1115-6.
- Mares AJ, Finaly R, Mordechai J, Motovic A. "Pantaloon" phytobezoar: an unusual cause of intestinal obstruction associated with Meckel's diverticulum. Isr J Med Sci 1993;29:683-5.
- 9. ROESSEL CW. Perforation of meckel's diverticulum by foreign body: case report and review of the literature. Ann Surg 1962;156:972-5.
- Purkayastha A, DeWitt W, Koberlein N. Foreign body in a Meckel's diverticulum. JAMA 1984;251:2659.
- Halverson JM, Butterman MK, Legier JF, Mann WJ Jr, Hoefer RA Jr. Perforation of a Meckel's diverticulum caused by ingestion of a coin. South Med J 1994;87:823-4.



The Golgi Apparatus with the Historical Point of View Tarihsel Bir Bakış Açisi ile Golgi Apparatusu

Mukaddes EŞREFOĞLU

Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Medicine, Department of Histology, Department of Histology and Embryology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Scientists were introduced to the Golgi apparatus (GA) in 1898, when it was discovered by Camillo Golgi in 1898 as a "cytoplasmic reticular network". Researchers heard Camillo Golgi's name not only because of the GA, but also because of many definitions such as Golgi silver impregnation techniques, Golgi type I and II cells, Golgi cells of the cerebellum, and Golgi tendon organ. In fact, although the GA beared the name of this scientist, many scientists did numerous studies on the morphological and functional properties of this unique organelle before him, simultaneously with him or after him. Despite the simple technical possibilities of the old times, the scientists, whom we gratefully commemorated, obtained magnificent findings about the GA and presented them to the world of science. In this short article, which was a review, the following historical developments, starting from the discovery of the GA, were summarized.

Keywords: Camillo Golgi, Golgi apparatus, discovery, historical narrative

ÖΖ

Bilim insanları Golgi apparatusu (GA) ile Camillo Golgi tarafından 1898 yılında "sitoplazmik retiküler bir ağ" olarak keşfedildiği 1898 yılında tanıştılar. Araştırmacılar Camillo Golgi'nin ismini sadece GA'dan dolayı değil, Golgi gümüş impregnasyon teknikleri, Golgi tip 1 ve 2 hücreler, beyinciğin Golgi hücreleri, Golgi tendon organı gibi pek çok tanımlama ile duydular. Aslında GA bu bilim insanının ismini taşıyor olsa da kendisinden önce, eş zamanlı olarak veya sonra pek çok bilim insanı bu benzersiz organelin morfolojik ve fonksiyonel özellikleri ile ilgili sayısız çalışma yaptılar. Eski zamanların basit teknik olanaklarna rağmen minnetle andığımız bilim insanları, GA ile ilgili muhteşem bulgular elde ederek bilim dünyasına hediye ettiler. Bu derleme niteliğindeki kısa yazıda GA'nın keşfinden başlamak üzere takip eden tarihsel gelişmeler özetlenmiştir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Camillo Golgi, Golgi apparatus, tarihsel gelişim

Discovery of Golgi Apparatus and Historical Developments

The Golgi apparatus (GA), defined as the "post office of the cell", was first described in history about 100 years ago by the Italian doctor and pathologist Camillo Golgi, who was known for his studies on the nervous system (1844-1926). Professor Golgi was working at the University of Pavia, the oldest and most respected university in Italy, founded in 1361. Camillo Golgi and Spanish

Anatomist Ramón y Cajal (1852-1934) shared the Nobel Prize in Physiology and Medicine in 1906 for their separate studies on the anatomy of the nervous system (1). The first award in this field was given to the German physiologist Emil Adolf von Behring, who discovered serum therapy in the development of diphtheria and tetanus vaccines in 1901. Serum therapy was interpreted as opening a new path in the field of Medical Sciences. Emil Adolf von Behring went down in history with the sentence that "a

Address for Correspondence: Mukaddes EŞREFOĞLU, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Department of Histology and Embryology, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: mesrefoglu@bezmialem.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3380-1480 Received: 23.07.2020 Accepted: 30.10.2020

Cite this article as: Eşrefoğlu M. The Golgi Apparatus with the Historical Point of View. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):369-72.

[©]Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. victorious weapon was placed in the hands of the doctor against sickness and death" (2).

Camillo Golgi developed a new technique in 1873 that stained neurons and special cells in the nervous system, thus allowing them to be marked. This technique was called the 'black reaction' because it stained the cell bodies and extensions of the nervous system black. With his technique, Golgi determined that the axons he clearly saw formed an uninterrupted network carrying nerve impulses (1). Today, the scientific writings of Camillo Golgi, including original drawings, are exhibited in the History Museum of the University of Pavia. Golgi has studies on various parts of the brain. However, his studies on the cerebellum, olfactory bulb, hippocampus and cerebral cortex are particularly important. For example, Golgi cells, which were named after him, were identified in the cerebellum (3). While Camillo Golgi's work on the nervous system continued, his rival, Santiago Ramo'n y Cajal, was also on the rise in the scientific world. Cajal developed a theory that challenged Golgi. While this theory, known as the "neuron theory", was generally supported by scientists, Golgi's work was criticized (4). These criticisms did not deter Camillo Golgi. While examining the spinal ganglia in 1897, he noticed that there was a cytoplasmic network in their cell bodies, although not in every cell. Later, he detected the same reticulated structure in the cytoplasm of Purkinje cells of the genus Tyto alba owl (barn owl) (3). Yet this new and strange structure was not stained in every cell. Therefore, he shared his observation with his assistant Emilio Veratti (1872-1967). Emilio Veratti (5), who described the sarcoplasmic reticulum in 1902, confirmed its existence by showing this cytoplasmic network in the 4th cranial nerve. He made the first official presentation of this structure, which he described as the "internal reticulated structure", on 19 April 1898 at the Pavia Medical-Surgical Society (6,7). He stated that this newly discovered reticulated structure consisted of anastomosing ribbon-shaped filamentous elements, small plates with a clear center that served as the nodal points of the reticulum, and rounded discs (8). Antonio Pensa (1874-1970), working in the General Pathology and Histology laboratory of Golgi in 1899, detected this organelle in the cells of the adrenal medulla (9). A short time later, 5th year medical student Adelchi Negri (1876-1912) demonstrated the presence of a similar structure in thyroid, epididymis, salivary glands, and ovarian cells besides nerve cells (10). Negri incidentally detected intraneuronal inclusions while examining rabies-infected brains. These inclusions are known as "Negri bodies". (8). Meanwhile, Edoardo Gemelli (1878-1959), one of Golgi's students, showed that a similar structure was found in the cells of the pituitary gland (11). From these observations it became clear that this structure was probably ubiquitous in eukaryotic cell types. Camillo Golgi hypothesized that this cytoplasmic network might be related to secretory function, more broadly to cell nutrition (8). Camillo Golgi changed the technique defined by Ramón y Cajal in 1903 and developed a new technique (12). With the advantages of this new technique, he was able to observe the morphology and localization of the GA during the secretion process in the mucous glands of the frog stomach. Thus, he found that the GA was located in the apical cytoplasm above the nucleus (13).

Camillo Golgi tried to explain the physiological role of the GA in gastric and intestinal mucous cells (14). Meanwhile, Giuseppe D'Agata (1927-2011) was investigating this reticular network in the gastric epithelium (15).

In fact, although the GA was defined by being inspired by the work of Camillo Golgi, between 1867 and 1887, various scientists talked about the reticular structures existing in the cell from time to time before or after Camillo Golgi introduced this organelle (3,4,16,17). Perhaps these researchers also observed the GA. Yet all these years the GA was considered almost entirely a specific subject of the University of Pavia. Camillo Golgi and his students published more than 70 articles on this organelle. In these articles, they reported the changes observed in the GA in various developmental, physiological and pathological conditions, as well as the wide variety of cell types they observed (18). Thus, the organelle was found to be highly unstable and variable. Despite all these studies, the authenticity of this organelle was questioned by many researchers in the following years. Scientists defined this structure as an unreal structure that occured due to fixation or metallic impregnation technique (3). For example, George Palade and Albert Claude, scientists of the Rockefeller Institute, who showed similar cytoplasmic structures 20 years later in various cells without applying special staining methods using 40-55% ethanol, suggested based on these observations that GA represented one or more myelin figures that emerged artificially during the preparation of cytological samples (19). These discussions continued even when the GA could not be demonstrated with the first electron microscopic examinations (20). Finally, the GA, which was observed electron microscopically in the mid-1950s, was accepted as a real organelle and gained the respect it deserved (3). Taking into account Palade's suggestion that phosphate-buffered osmium tetroxide should be used, Bethesda National Cancer Institute scientists Albert Dalton and Felix (21) soon demonstrated the detailed electron microscopic structure of the GA in epididymis cells. These researchers described the organelle as a structure in the cytoplasm consisting of folded, smooth-surfaced sacs and numerous vesicles and vacuoles with the staining technique developed by Camillo Golgi (21).

For many years, scientists focused on morphology rather than the function of the GA. It was known almost from the beginning by light microscopic observations that this organelle developed well in secreting cells. However, the role of this organelle in secretion and glycosylation was not elucidated until the 1960s (22). Palade suggested that the GA was associated with the vectorial transport of secretory proteins in exocrine pancreatic cells, and that vesicular transport also occured between the sacs of this organelle (23). Fleischer et al. (24), Morre et al. (25), and Neutra and Leblond (26) emphasized the important role of the GA in glycoprotein synthesis. The results of the autoradiographic studies of Godman and Lane showing the uptake of sulfate into the GA suggested that this organelle had an important role in sulfation and therefore in glycoprotein biosynthesis (27). Between 1967-1975, various researchers conducted numerous studies on the role of the GA in the secretory pathway and vesicular transport

(28-30). In the 1980s, studies were carried out emphasizing the importance of mannose-6 phosphate in the exiting of lysosomal enzymes from the GA and in targeting them (31-34). Between 1981 and 1984, Rothman et al. studied substance transport in the Golgi sacs (35-37). The COPII protein cover was determined by Duden et al., Seratini et al., and Waters et al. in 1991, and by Barlow et al. in 1994 (22).

In parallel with the technological developments, it was possible to reach detailed information about the location of the GA, its morphological, functional and pathological features. Extraordinary new information is being obtained about morphological and functional properties of the GA with the discovery of new genes, the development of advanced technology techniques such as green fluorescent protein based live cell imaging techniques, dynamic live cell imaging techniques, high resolution electron microscopy techniques that can create threedimensional structure, and correlative microscopy techniques (CLEM) (38,39). In particular, CLEM provides great advantages for obtaining new findings about substance trafficking, targeting and signaling mechanisms in Golgi sacs.

Naming the Golgi Apparatus

The discovery of the detailed morphological features of the GA with the use of electron microscopes caused this organelle to be given various names such as "Golgi body", "Golgi zone", "Golgi substance", and "Golgi net". In 1910, Carlo Besta named this organelle "Golgi apparatus" (40), but this name was officially entered into the scientific literature in 1913, using it in Nusbaum's



Figure 1. It was drawn by the author, inspired by Camillo Golgi's own drawings from the works of him on display at the University of Pavia Museum. 1 A. Nerve cell stained with black reaction by Camillo Golgi, 1B. First published figure showing the Golgi apparatus in the spinal ganglion cell, 1C. Golgi apparatus, defined as a reticular network in the cytoplasm of the spinal ganglion cell, 1D. Golgi apparatus in nerve cell in mouse cerebral cortex, 1E. Golgi apparatus in frog gastric mucosa cells (the original of this figure probably belongs to Emilio Veratti)

article (41). The definition of "Golgi complex" entered the scientific literature in 1956 with the study of Dalton and Felix (42). Today, both the names "Golgi apparatus" and "Golgi complex" are used, but the "Golgi apparatus" is mostly preferred. Scientists are accustomed to the word "Golgi" not only because of this organelle, but also because of Golgi's silver implantation techniques, Golgi type I and type II cells, Golgi cells in the cerebellum, and Golgi tendon organ. Especially in recent years, many new terms have entered the literature in parallel with the fact that techniques that provide detailed information and threedimensional imaging provide new information about the features of this organelle and its region. These are definitions such as "Golgi receptor", "Golgi strip", "Golgi cluster", "Golgi skeleton", "Golgi sac", "Golgi tubule", "Golgi vesicle", and "Golgi vacuole" (43). Although Camillo Golgi's name was mentioned in these common uses, many researchers do not know who this scientist actually was, how, where and under what conditions he lived. This review article was written with respect to Camillo Golgi and the scientists in his team, who provided the recognition of the GA, despite the limited possibilities that could not be compared with today's technological facilities, and other scientists who played very important roles in the recognition of the GA with their research, although their names were not remembered.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study received no financial support.

- Golgi C. The impossible interview with the man of the hidden biological structures. Interview by Paolo Mazzarello. J Hist Neurosci 2006;15:318-25.
- Raju TN. The Nobel chronicles. 1901: Emil Adolf von Behring (1854-1917). Lancet 1998;352:75.
- Mazzarello P, Garbarino C, Calligaro A. How Camillo Golgi became "the Golgi". FEBS Lett 2009;583:3732-7.
- Dröscher A. Camillo Golgi and the discovery of the Golgi apparatus. Histochem Cell Biol 1998;109:425-30.
- Mazzarello P, Calligaro A, Vannini V, Muscatello U. The sarcoplasmic reticulum: its discovery and rediscovery. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003;4:69-74.
- Golgi C. On the structure of the nerve cells of the spinal ganglia. 1898. J Microsc 1989;155:9-14.
- Golgi C. On the structure of nerve cells. 1898. J Microsc 1989;155:3-7.
- Mazzarello P, Bentivoglio M. The centenarian Golgi apparatus. Nature 1998;392:543-4.
- Pensa A. Sopra una fina particolarità di struttura di alcune cellule dele capsule soprarenali. Bollettino della Società Medico-Chirurgica di Pavia 1899: 76–85.
- Negri A. Di una fina particolarità di struttura delle cellule di alcune ghiandole dei mammiferi. Bollettino della Società Medico-Chirurgica di Pavia 1900: 61–70.

- Gemelli E. Contributo alla conoscenza sulla struttura della ghiandola pituitaria nei mammiferi. Bollettino della Società Medico-Chirurgica di Pavia 1900; 231–40.
- Golgi C. Di un metodo per la facile e pronta dimostrazione dell'apparato reticolare interno delle cellule nervose. Bollettino della Società Medico-Chirurgica di Pavia 1908; 81-7.
- Golgi C. Sur une fine particularite' de la structure de l'e'pithe'lium de la muqueuse gastrique et intestinale de quelques verte'bre's. Arch Ital Biol 1909;51:213-45.
- D'Agata G. Sulle modificazioni dell'apparato reticolare interno nell'epitelio della mucosa gastrica. Bollettino della Società Medico-Chirurgica di Pavia 1910; 517-22.
- Trautmann JC. Camillo Golgi (1843–1926) und die Entdeckung des "apparato reticolare interno" Golgi-Apparat (Dissertation). Lübeck; 1988.
- 16. Bentivoglio M, Mazzarello P. The pathway to the cell and its organelles: one hundred years of the Golgi apparatus. Endeavour 1998;22:101-5.
- 17. Dröscher A. The history of the Golgi apparatus in neurones from its discovery in 1898 to electron microscopy. Brain Res Bull 1998;47:199-203.
- Palade GE, Claude A. The nature of the Golgi apparatus; identification of the Golgi apparatus with a complex of myelin figures. J Morphol 1949;85:71-111.
- 19. Palade GE, Claude A. The nature of the Golgi apparatus; parallelism between intercellular myelin figures and Golgi apparatus in somatic cells. J Morphol 1949;85:35-69.
- Pease DC, Baker RF. Electron microscopy of nervous tissue. Anat Rec 1951;110:505-29.
- 21. Dalton AJ, Felix MD. Cytologic and cytochemical characteristics of the Golgi substance of epithelial cells of the epididymis in situ, in homogenates and after isolation. Am J Anat 1954;94:171-207.
- 22. Farquhar MG, Palade GE. The Golgi apparatus: 100 years of progress and controversy. Trends Cell Biol 1998;8:2-10.
- 23. Palade G. Intracellular aspects of the process of protein synthesis. Science. 1975;189:347-58.
- 24. Fleischer B, Fleischer S, Ozawa H. Isolation and characterization of Golgi membranes from bovine liver. J Cell Biol 1969;43:59-79.
- 25. Morre J, Merlin LM, Keenan TW. Localization of glycosyl transferase activities in a Golgi apparatus-rich fraction isolated from rat liver. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1969;37:813-9.
- Neutra M, Leblond CP. Synthesis of the carbohydrate of mucus in the golgi complex as shown by electron microscope radioautography of goblet cells from rats injected with glucose-H3. J Cell Biol 1966;30:119-36.
- 27. Godman GC, Lane N. On The Site Of Sulfation In The Chondrocyte. J Cell Biol 1964;21:353-66.

- Jamieson JD, Palade GE. Synthesis, intracellular transport, and discharge of secretory proteins in stimulated pancreatic exocrine cells. J Cell Biol 1971;50:135-58.
- Kern HF, Jamieson JD, Palade GE. Der Einfluss von Kobaltchlorid auf den Sekretionsprozess der exokrinen Pankreaszelle [Effect of cobalt chloride on secretory process of the exocrine pancreatic cell]. Verh Anat Ges 1972;67:501-5.
- Tartakoff AM, Jamieson JD, Scheele GA, Palade GE. Studies on the pancreas of the guinea pig. Parallel processing and discharge of exocrine proteins. J Biol Chem 1975;250:2671-7.
- 31. Sly WS. Receptor-mediated transport of acid hydrolases to lysosomes. Curr Top Cell Regul 1985;26:27-38.
- 32. Willingham MC, Pastan IH, Sahagian GG, Jourdian GW, Neufeld EF. Morphologic study of the internalization of a lysosomal enzyme by the mannose 6-phosphate receptor in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1981;78:6967-71.
- 33. Gabel CA, Goldberg DE, Kornfeld S. Identification and characterization of cells deficient in the mannose 6-phosphate receptor: evidence for an alternate pathway for lysosomal enzyme targeting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1983;80:775-9.
- 34. Gabel CA, Goldberg DE, Kornfeld S. Lysosomal enzyme oligosaccharide phosphorylation in mouse lymphoma cells: specificity and kinetics of binding to the mannose 6-phosphate receptor in vivo. J Cell Biol 1982;95:536-42.
- Rothman JE. The Golgi apparatus: roles for distinct 'cis' and 'trans' compartments. Ciba Found Symp 1982;(92):120-37.
- 36. Dunphy WG, Fries E, Urbani LJ, Rothman JE. Early and late functions associated with the Golgi apparatus reside in distinct compartments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1981;78:7453-7.
- Rothman JE, Miller RL, Urbani LJ. Intercompartmental transport in the Golgi complex is a dissociative process: facile transfer of membrane protein between two Golgi populations. J Cell Biol 1984;99:260-71.
- Polishchuk EV, Polishchuk RS. Analysis of Golgi complex function using correlative light-electron microscopy. Methods Cell Biol 2013;118:243-58.
- 39. Eşrefoğlu M. Golgi apparatus: Morphology and function with recent facts. Bezmialem Science 2019;7:331-8.
- 40. Besta C. Sull'apparato reticolare interno (apparato di Golgi) della cellula nervosa. Anatomischer Anzeiger 1910;36:476–86.
- Nusbaum J. Ueber den sogenannten inneren Golgischen Netzapparat und sein Verha"ltnis zu den Mitochondrien, Chromidien und andern Zellstrukturen im Tierreich zusammenfassendes. Referat Arch Zellforsch 1913;10:359 –67.
- Dalton AJ, Felix MD. comparative study of the Golgi complex. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 1956;2:79-84.
- Fabene PF, Bentivoglio M. 1898-1998: Camillo Golgi and "the Golgi": one hundred years of terminological clones. Brain Res Bull 1998;47:195-8.

Review



Food Allergy in Children

Çocuklarda Besin Alerjisi

🖻 Ayşe GÜNEŞ BAYIR, 🖻 Büşra CAN, 🖻 Şeyma EKİNGEN

Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Food allergy, which is defined as an inverse immune response to food proteins, appears to increase gradually in children as a result of studies. It affects 6% of children and 3-4% of adults. The role of breast milk in preventing the development of allergies in children is controversial. Allergic reactions caused by food in children cause many symptoms and disorders affecting the gastrointestinal tract, respiratory tract and skin. These symptoms occur by immunoglobulin (Ig)E-mediated or non-IgE-mediated mechanisms. The cornerstone of food allergy treatment is removing foods from the diet by strict elimination method. Along with the genetic tendency, environmental factors can eliminate oral tolerance and cause food allergy. Disease results are affected by the immune system and trigger allergen properties. Foods that cause food allergies are a few, mainly milk, eggs, peanuts, nuts, fish and shellfish. In this review, the level of knowledge about the pathogenesis of the immunological response about most allergens, which are special substances in the protein structure found in foods, has been discussed with studies conducted. Thus, this study will shed light on identifying new immunotherapeutic approaches to allergens.

Keywords: Food allergy, allergy in children, IgE, allergens, breast milk

ÖΖ

Besin proteinlerine ters bir immün yanıt olarak tanımlanan besin alerjisi, yapılan çalışmaların sonucunda çocuklarda giderek arttığı görülmektedir. Çocukların %6'sını ve yetişkinlerin %3-4'ünü etkilemektedir. Anne sütünün çocuklarda alerji gelişimini önlemesindeki rolü ise tartışmalıdır. Çocuklarda görülen besin kaynaklı alerjik reaksiyonlar gastrointestinal sistemi, solunum yollarını ve deriyi etkileyen birçok semptom ve bozukluklara yol açmaktadır. Bu semptomlar immünoglobulin (Ig)E aracılı ve IgE aracılı olmayan mekanizmalarla gerçekleşmektedir. Besin alerjisi tedavisinin temel tası, besinlerin diyetten katı eliminasyon yöntemiyle çıkarılmasıdır. Genetik eğilim ile birlikte çevresel faktörler de oral toleransı ortadan kaldırarak besin alerjisi oluşmasına neden olabilmektedir. Hastalık sonuçları, bağışıklık sistemi ve tetikleyici alerjen özelliklerinden etkilenmektedir. Besin alerjilerine yol açan besinler az sayıda olup başlıcalarını süt, yumurta, yerfistiği, fındık, balık ve kabuklu deniz ürünleri oluşturmaktadır. Bu derlemede besinlerde bulunan protein yapısındaki özel maddeler olan alerjenlerin çoğu hakkında immünolojik yanıtın patogenezi konusunda bilgi düzeyi yapılan çalışmalarla tartışılmıştır. Böylece, bu çalışma ile alerjenlere karşı yeni immünoterapötik yaklaşımların belirlenmesine ışık tutulacaktır.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Besin alerjisi, çocuklarda alerji, IgE, alerjenler, anne sütü

Address for Correspondence: Ayşe GÜNEŞ BAYIR, Bezmialem Vakıf University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: agunes@bezmialem.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9993-7850

Cite this article as: Güneş Bayır A, Can B, Ekingen Ş. Food Allergy in Children. Bezmialem Science 2021;9(3):373-9.

©Copyright 2021 by the Bezmiâlem Vakıf University Bezmiâlem Science published by Galenos Publishing House. Received: 24.01.2020 Accepted: 21.03.2020

Introduction

Food allergy in children aged 2-6 years is a health problem that causes changes in social life and diet, which is seen in approximately 4% of children and families worldwide (1). Food allergy, which is defined as an immune response to food proteins, has become a public health problem as it has been observed to increase in the society as a result of studies (2). While milk and egg are the two most common allergen foods, the most third common allergen food is peanut in Switzerland, wheat in Japan and Germany, and tree nuts in Spain. Based on this situation, it can be said that it differs between countries (1).

Today, the cornerstone of food allergy treatment is the strict elimination of allergen foods from the diet. But; removal of important nutrients such as fish, milk and eggs, which should be included in the nutrition of children aged 2-6, may cause regression in growth-development and nutritional deficiencies in this age group (3).

Allergic reactions due to allergenic foods cause various disorders by affecting the skin and respiratory tract, especially the gastrointestinal system (4). There are 2 types of these reactions that affect immunoglobulin (Ig)E-mediated and non-IgEmediated immune pathways (5). Along with these factors, genetic and environmental factors that eliminate oral tolerance also contribute to reactions related to food allergy (4).

What is a Food Allergy?

When exposed to a specific food or food group orally or by inhalation, the immune response that is not IgE-mediated, that is IgE-mediated, or that is both, it is called "food allergy" (6). Any protein in food can potentially affect an allergic reaction. The "major allergens" most responsible for these reactions are peanuts, tree nuts, milk, eggs, soy, wheat, shellfish and fish. The progression of food allergy can be very variable. Many individuals with food allergies seen in infancy develop tolerance to these allergenic foods as they get older (7). This situation depends on factors such as food, age of onset of allergy, severity of sensitivity and recognition of allergen components. In general, it is more likely to develop tolerance to allergens in chicken eggs, cow's milk, wheat and soybeans. At the same time, tolerance to allergens such as peanuts, nuts, crustaceans and fish is greater than to buckwheat.

The results of studies on food allergy show that one-fifth of the population reacts negatively to foods. In some countries, it is common in pre-school children and its rate is up to 4-7% (8). Large-scale epidemiological studies in Japan show that the incidence of food allergy is 5-10% in infants, 5% in young children, and 4.5% in school-age children (7). The changing natural history and disease profile of allergic disease in children and epigenetic effects that may cause hereditary changes, may be due to a complex gene-environment interaction in which the allergenic tendency can be changed or reproduced over generations (6). The immaturity of the intestinal barrier and immune system in infants and young children may contribute to the increased prevalence of allergies in the first few years of life. Allergic reactions may result in various forms, ranging from urticaria to anaphylactic shock, and death (8). Skin reactions are one of the most common symptoms observed in food allergies. It occurs in 92% of patients. Respiratory symptoms constitute 33.6% of these symptoms, mucosal symptoms 28%, digestive symptoms 18.6% and anaphylaxis 10.4% (7).

Food Allergy Mechanisms

In infants and young children, the function of the mucosal barrier, the components of the intestinal barrier and the immune system do not fully reach developmental maturity until 4 years of age (2). Therefore, this maturation may play a role in the incidence of gastrointestinal tract inflammations and food allergies seen in the first years of life. Differences in the digestive capacity of gastritis, including antacid administration, may affect the allergy due to consumed food proteins (9). Urinary lactulose and mannose levels are increased in individuals with food allergies compared to healthy people. All people have low levels of IgE antibodies (10). Persons susceptible to allergic reactions are more likely to produce IgE antibodies that are specific to environmental antigens such as food, dust, and pollen. While an external antigen is digested by antibodies in normal situations, in case of allergy, macrophages cannot fully digest the antigen and the unabsorbed part passes to lymphocytes with RNA-antigen complexity. This complexity creates a series of reactions within lymphocytes, and as a result antibodies are produced. The antibodies produced, on the other hand, reveal clinical allergy symptoms in some special tissues.

Hypersensitivity reactions are classified into four types (10). These four types of reactions occur independently of each other. The first three types produce antibody-dependent reactions, while in the fourth type, T-lymphocytes and macrophages create reaction. It is involved in asthma and food allergy type 1 reactions. Type 1 reactions are known as anaphylactic (sudden) type sensitivity. In the immune response, excessive or inappropriate reactions may occur against the antigen.

Food-specific IgG, IgM, and IgA antibodies are often found to be low in serum in healthy children without food allergy (4). Food allergen-specific IgG antibodies increase in the first months after consuming a food. Even if the individual continues to consume the food allergen, it often subsides. People with various inflammatory bowel disorders often have high levels of foodspecific IgG and IgM antibodies. However, there is no evidence that these antibodies are pathogenic. As a result of cross-linking of IgE receptors to mast cells and basophils, the primary and rapid-resulting effect of the allergen is observed in people with allergies (10). These reactions develop due to cross-linking of surface IgE receptors and mast cells and secretion of substances (mediators) in the cell. The most important mediator for the formation of allergic reactions is histamine.

One of the first developments in the pathogenesis of the allergen is the capture and delivery of the allergen by the antigencontaining cells in the airways or intestinal tract mucosal areas and lymph nodes (11). Specific T-cells for active allergens are present in the circulation of allergic patients. The classical way of IgE is to bind to T-cell (12). T cells produce CD40 ligand (CD40L) in response to an antigenic stimulus and produce T helper 2 (Th2) type cytokines, interleukin-4 (IL-4) or IL-13 to secrete.

Mast cells play a critical role in allergy (11). Triggering of mast cells and release of previously stored mediators from mast cells are important factors in causing vasodilation, edema formation, or bronchoconstriction during an allergic reaction. Basophils have similar properties to mast cells. It is thought that they often play a minor role in allergic reactions. In addition, basophils, like mast cells, respond to stimuli via IgE and it is often accepted that they are involved in the effector phase at the onset of allergic reactions.

Food Types That Cause Allergies

In general, food allergy is seen in 58.1% of all patients (7). It is mostly seen in children under the age of 1, at a rate of 88.1%, and as the age increases, the rate of food allergy decreases. Predominant food allergies show differences according to age groups. For example, in children under the age of 1, chicken eggs (57.6%) are in the first place, cow's milk (24.3%) is in the second place, and wheat is in the third place, while fruit (16.5%) is in the first place in the 4-6 age group, and in the second place is wheat. chicken eggs (15.6%) and peanuts (11.6%) take the third place. In the adult group (\geq 20 years), wheat (38%) is in the first place, fish (13%) is in the second place and crustaceans (10%) are in the third place.

Many food allergens can cause a reaction when the food is raw, after it has been cooked or even after it has been digested. However, some allergens found in fruits and vegetables cause allergic reactions, especially when these foods are consumed raw (13). Food allergens can also react in case of inhalation of allergy-causing proteins. Cross-reactivity can occur when the allergen in a food has similarity in structure or sequence with a different food allergen or aeroallergen. The likelihood of crossreactive allergens in clinical allergic reactions is highly variable and depends on the type of food.

Proteins that initiate IgE-mediated immune reactions are food allergens (14). Members of the Solanaceae family may cause severe reactions in susceptible individuals. However, with the exception of eggplant (Solanum melongena L.), food allergies are identified due to the consumption of bell peppers, potatoes and tomatoes. On the other hand, some studies explain allergic reactions to eggplant (15). The incidence of allergic reactions is mainly due to the histamine content. A large number of other allergens have been found and some have been found to be heat stable. However, some allergens are heat sensitive and can be destroyed by cooking.

Egg Allergy

Chicken eggs are one of the most common foods that cause allergies in pediatric patients via IgE (16). There are more than 20 glycoproteins in glair. Some of these have been identified as major allergens: Ovomucoid, ovaalbumin, conalbumin and lysozyme. Fifty eight children with egg allergy were followed for a period between 7 and 86 months (all children under 2 years of age) (17). Thirty-four children (59%) gained tolerance to egg allergy. Kaplan-Meier curves showed that the overall tolerance was 50% at 35 months follow-up. This showed that half of the children were able to tolerate eggs when they were 4 to 4.5 years old. In this process, the best tolerance time was seen as the third year. After the third year, the tolerance decreased. The tolerance ratio was inversely proportional to the IgE antibody concentration in glair. The most common egg allergy symptoms are skin related symptoms (angioedema, urticaria) in 59%, gastrointestinal symptoms (diarrhea, vomiting, abdominal pain, bloody stools) in 21%, eczema in 18%, lower respiratory tract symptoms in 10% (difficulty in breathing, cough, wheezing) and upper respiratory tract symptoms (rhinitis, nasal congestion) in 4% (18).

Milk Allergy

Cow's milk allergy in infants and children is the most common type of allergy and its prevalence is between 2% and 3% (19). The protein in cow's milk causes the body to show an allergic reaction. Generally, cow's milk allergy becomes evident before 6 months and appears with various symptoms that regress until 6 years of age. About 80% of children with cow's milk allergy at the age of 3 can tolerate the allergy. Children with cow's milk allergy are often allergic to more than one milk protein (19). Casein constitutes 80% of cow's milk proteins, and whey constitutes the remaining 20%. Symptoms occur when IgE antibodies bind to mast cells due to proteins found in cow's milk, and mast cell degranulation and release of mediators including histamine. In addition to symptoms such as diarrhea and vomiting, anaphylactic shock may also occur (19). In cases where anaphylactic shock occurs, it is absolutely necessary to seek help from the emergency department, as it should be treated with epinephrine. Symptoms such as flushing of the face, swollen throat, itching, increased respiratory effort, and narrowing of the airways occur.

Children with cow's milk allergy may experience vitamin and mineral deficiencies when starting a dairy-free diet (20). Therefore; in order to have a balanced and adequate diet, it is necessary to get help from a dietitian. In particular, vitamin D has a very important place in bone development in children of this age group. As a result of eliminating cow's milk products from the diet, it may be necessary to take supplements because there may be a deficiency of vitamins and minerals in milk such as vitamin D, riboflavin and calcium. It is known that the cow's milk allergy type with rapid symptoms is IgE-mediated. Urticaria, hives, sore throat, angioedema, coughing, vomiting, shortness of breath and anaphylaxis are the main symptoms (19). Reactions with slower symptoms are related with non-IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy. Its symptoms are diarrhea, hematochezia, colic, and abdominal cramps.

Peanut Allergy

The rate of peanut allergy in children increased by 0.4% in 1997, 0.8% in 2002, and 1.4% in 2008 compared to the previous years (21). The reason for this increase is due to problems such as the extra allergen in the roasted peanut forms, the early exposure to peanuts when the immune system is not fully mature, and the

fact that peanuts are not included in the diet. Peanut allergy can be lifelong, often severe and fatal. The severity and persistence of allergies also increase over time (22). Factors that can lead to a fatal outcome include the diagnosis of asthma, a delay in the administration of epinephrine, and the presence of peanuts at meals (23). Peanut allergy symptoms usually develop a few minutes after consuming a small amount of peanuts. These can affect the skin, cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, genitourinary or respiratory systems. In fatal cases, progressive upper and lower respiratory tract symptoms, hypertension, and arrhythmia typically develop. In one study, 89% of the reactions occur in the skin, 52% in the respiratory tract, and 34% in the gastrointestinal tract. There is no known cure for peanut allergy (24). It is common for children with allergies to accidentally eat peanuts. If a person with a peanut allergy accidentally consumes a peanut-containing food, serious allergic reactions develop. Epinephrine and antihistamines are given to patients as an emergency treatment plan.

Pollen Allergy

Pollen in the environment is becoming a growing problem for people with pollen allergies (25). Allergenic pollens are emitted from anemophile trees. The feeding habits of the bee affect the plant diversity or weather conditions in a particular region. These allergenic pollens can be found in all bee products. It is even known as an important component of honey and can determine the quality and type of honey. Pollen can enter honey in different ways. The amount of pollen may differ according to the type and collection period. Pollen allergens in honey can cause allergic reactions. However, pollen-induced allergy is rarely seen and can cause anaphylactic reactions. Climatic and weather conditions, biological characteristics of plants or environmental conditions are determinants for pollen abundance (25). Therefore, pollen concentrations in honey vary from year to year. Often, pollen concentrations and prolonged pollen season can also increase the severity of symptoms. Mostly, patients are affected by climate change (66%) (26).

Oral Allergy Syndrome

Oral allergy syndrome is a form of food allergy due to uncooked foods, that often causes allergic symptoms limited to the oral mucosa (27). Most IgE epitopes in foods recognized by patients with oral allergy syndrome may be the same as pollen allergens (28). Therefore, pollen allergens may be responsible for the emergence and maintenance of the oral allergy syndrome. In oral allergy syndrome, oral pharyngeal symptoms first appear after consumption of fruits and vegetables (29). Systemic symptoms can be seen in 8.7% of the patients and anaphylactic shock in 1.7%. Localized oral symptoms such as numbness in the lips or mouth, itching, tingling and swelling in the lips, tongue, palate, and pharynx are mostly observed (30). There are various risk factors for oral allergy syndrome (30). Patients with symptomatic pollen allergy have a higher risk of oral allergy syndrome than patients with only pollen sensitivity and who are asymptomatic. Allergen distribution is not the same in all parts of the fruit or vegetable (30). There is much more allergen in the peel of apples and peaches. In a small-scale study; while 40% of patients with apple and pear allergy could tolerate the fleshy part of the fruit, allergy occured when the whole fruit was eaten. Elimination of known allergenic foods from the diet is usually the first treatment that comes to mind for oral allergy syndrome (31). Restricting all other fresh vegetables and fruits in the same plant family or cross-reacting with the same pollen is also considered unnecessary.

Wheat Allergy

One of the most common childhood food allergies is wheat allergy, affecting 0.4% of children (32). Wheat contains four classes of allergenic proteins (33). These are albumins, globulins, gliadin, and glutenins. Gliadin and glutenin make up 85% of wheat protein (34). Symptoms due to IgE-mediated reactions may develop, usually 2 hours after consuming wheat. As a result of digesting the proteins in wheat, bronchial obstruction, urticaria, angioedema, nausea, abdominal pain or systemic anaphylaxis may occur. It is known that the prognosis of IgE-mediated wheat allergy in children is good. Patients with anaphylaxis before the age of 3 and patients with high wheat-specific IgE antibodies seem to be at risk of being more persistent (1). Since it is not necessary to limit the consumption of foods containing barley and rye in the treatment of wheat allergy, it is essential to avoid foods containing wheat, which will be less restricted in wheat allergy than in celiac disease (35). Celiac disease is a lifelong food allergy that is not associated with IgE (36). It is mostly seen in children aged 6-12 years. Besides wheat; there is also sensitivity to gluten in barley and rye. As a result of the toxic effect of gluten in the intestines, the digestive and absorption activities of the intestines are impaired. Diarrhea, frequent defecation, swelling in the abdomen, malnutrition, and as a result, developmental delay occur. The disease is diagnosed by small intestinal mucosal biopsy, blood and stool tests. The treatment of Celiac disease is still not found today. A gluten-free diet should be applied as an elimination diet. Parents should have their child's allergy status checked regularly. Most likely, children will recover from this allergy and may no longer need an elimination diet, a gluten-free diet.

Seafood Allergy

More than one-third of children today show an allergic reaction to fish species (37). A retrospective study among 2999 children with food allergies in a clinic in Australia showed a 5.6% prevalence of fish allergy (38). Tuna and salmon were the most common fish species causing allergy. Another study conducted in Singapore confirmed that 13% of 227 children with food sensitivities had a significant sensitivity to fish. Interestingly, it was observed for the first time in Asian societies that fish consumption started very early, at about 7 months (37). Although heat is thought to increase the allergenicity of some fish allergens, commercial heating procedures used in producing canned fish appear to have a different effect on fish proteins (38). A recent descriptive study from Australia showed that more than 20% of children allergic to tuna and salmon could tolerate canned fish.

Breast Milk and Food Allergy

Due to the increasing rates of allergic disease in developed countries, there is interest in the potential effects of breast milk in modulating immune responses (39). There are different mechanical ways that breast milk can protect against allergic disease. Breast milk contains bioactive factors, regulatory cytokine converting growth factor-β (TGF-β), secretory IgA antibodies and innate immune receptor soluble CD14 (sCD14). TGF-B in breast milk is required for the initiation of IgA production in newborn infants and induces mucosal tolerance to allergens. There are controversial results about the role of infants' consumption of breast milk in the prevention of allergy development (40). This is because there are differences in the composition of breast milk. For example; it is thought that high IgA and TGF-β levels in breast milk provide protection against the development of allergic diseases in some studies, while there is no significant relationship between breast milk TGF-B and atopic risk in others. Breast milk contains various cytokines and chemokines such as TGF-IL, IL-10, IL-4, RANTES, and IL-8 that are involved in allergic reactions (41). A few of these factors differ between allergic and non-allergic mothers. While high IgE levels were detected with breastfeeding in the children of mothers with high IgE levels, low antibody levels were observed in children of mothers with low IgE levels (41).

Diagnostic Methods of Food Allergy

Diagnosing food allergies allows knowing which mechanism is involved and identifying potential food triggers (42). Clinical history, skin tests, or serum-specific IgE tests alone or in combination give results between 50% and 100% (43). The first line tests to assess IgE sensitivity for food allergens are; *in vivo* skin tests and serum-specific IgE tests, but these tests or patient history cannot always accurately diagnose food allergy (44). Endoscopy and biopsy are required to diagnose some clinical findings such as food-borne enteropathies.

Specific IgE: Skin Tests and In Vitro Test

It is performed to determine sensitivity to suspected food allergens and to evaluate cross-sensitivity to the relevant food (45). Serum specific IgE or skin prick tests, although not standardized, are cited as scientifically valid tests. Detailed clinical history should guide the selection of tests (46). Skin tests should only be performed by trained healthcare professionals who can interpret results and manage potential adverse reactions. These tests are performed on the forearm or upper back. While performing and interpreting skin tests, there are variables that should be considered such as age, gender, test site and timing. While these tests show high performance in allergens such as eggs, milk, fish, shrimp, nuts, peanuts, they do not have high performance in allergens such as soy and wheat (47). Placebo (single/double) studies can be conducted on difficulties occurring after oral food consumption (48). Especially; the blinded placebo test is considered the gold standard for the diagnosis of food allergy. The double-blind placebo-controlled food challenge is more difficult due to difficulty in sourcing and time consuming (42).

In patients with suspected psychological symptoms or atopic eczema, the double-blind placebo-controlled test outperforms the oral nutritional challenge comparison. Certain portions of the food protein recognized by the IgE antibody have been identified for some food allergens (2). In molecular or serological diagnostic tests, specific IgE antibodies can be measured against individual allergenic molecules from foods that have the potential to improve the specificity of the serum IgE test and the specificity of the selected food (49). This can be performed in single test formats or in a micropattern to test multiple purified allergens at the same time. There are a number of tests whose accuracy has not been fully proven in food allergy (50). These tests are kinesiology, iridology, bioresonance, hair analysis, cytotoxic test, IgE and IgG4 determination. Since these tests have not been confirmed so far, their use in the diagnosis of food allergy is not recommended.

Conclusion

Food allergy is now recognized as a problem worldwide, especially in children, and is increasing like other atopic disorders. In recent years, much attention has been paid to research on food allergy. Food allergens cause both acute and chronic diseases and may cause some negative effects on quality of life. Depending on the severity of the allergic reaction, the result can be fatal. Clinical studies have caused changes to be made in early nutrition guidelines for the prevention of food allergy. More information needs to be learned about the immune mechanisms of oral tolerance. New diagnostic tools can be developed to more accurately identify food allergens. In general, clinical trials of potential therapy in children are being conducted. Whether these treatments will cause only short-term desensitization or long-term tolerance is under investigation, and these studies may provide a better understanding of tolerance mechanisms. More specific diagnostic tests and more effective forms of treatment are still needed in this area.

Peer-review: Externally peer reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.G.B., Design: A.G.B., Data Collection or Processing: B.C., Ş.E., Analysis or Interpretation: A.G.B., B.C., Ş.E., Literature Search: B.C., Ş.E., Writing: A.G.B., B.C., Ş.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

- 1. Longo G, Berti I, Burks AW, Krauss B, Barbi E. IgE-mediated food allergy in children. Lancet 2013;382:1656-64.
- Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. 9. Food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006;117:470-5.
- Pavić I, Kolaček S. Growth of Children with Food Allergy . Horm Res Paediatr 2017;88:91-100.

- Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;125:116-25.
- Tordesillas L, Berin MC, Sampson HA. Immunology of Food Allergy. Immunity 2017;47:32-50.
- 6. Devdas JM, Mckie C, Fox AT, Ratageri VH. Food Allergy in Children: An Overview. Indian J Pediatr 2018;85:369-74.
- Ebisawa M, Ito K, Fujisawa T; Committee for Japanese Pediatric Guideline for Food Allergy, The Japanese Society of Pediatric Allergy and Clinical Immunology, The Japanese Society of Allergology. Japanese guidelines for food allergy 2017. Allergol Int 2017;66:248-64.
- Turnbull JL, Adams HN, Gorard DA. Review article: the diagnosis and management of food allergy and food intolerances. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2015;41:3-25.
- Moore LE, Stewart PH, deShazo RD. Food Allergy: What We Know Now. Am J Med Sci 2017;353:353-66.
- Karakılıç M, Suna S, Tamer CE, Çopur ÖU. Gıda Alerjisi Reaksiyonları. Uludağ Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi 2014;28:73-82.
- Kraneveld AD, Sagar S, Garssen J, Folkerts G. The two faces of mast cells in food allergy and allergic asthma: the possible concept of Yin Yang. Biochim Biophys Acta 2012;1822:93-9.
- 12. Geha RS, Jabara HH, Brodeur SR. The regulation of immunoglobulin E class-switch recombination. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:721-32.
- Burks AW, Tang M, Sicherer S, Muraro A, Eigenmann PA, Ebisawa M, et al. ICON: food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;129:906-20.
- Harish Babu BN, Wilfred A, Venkatesh YP. Emerging food allergens: Identification of polyphenol oxidase as an important allergen in eggplant (Solanum melongena L.). Immunobiology 2017;222:155-63.
- Hoseini-Alfatemi SM, Bayry J, Sharifi-Rad J. IgE response to two new allergen proteins of Solanum melongena L. (eggplant). Immunol Lett 2015;168:268-70.
- Ando H, Movérare R, Kondo Y, Tsuge I, Tanaka A, Borres MP, et al. Utility of ovomucoid-specific IgE concentrations in predicting symptomatic egg allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;122:583-8.
- Boyano-Martínez T, García-Ara C, Díaz-Pena JM, Martín-Esteban M. Prediction of tolerance on the basis of quantification of egg whitespecific IgE antibodies in children with egg allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2002;110:304-9.
- Savage JH, Matsui EC, Skripak JM, Wood RA. The natural history of egg allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120:1413-7.
- 19. Edwards CW, Younus MA. Cow Milk Allergy. Book from StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL) 2019.
- Pensabene L, Salvatore S, D'Auria E, Parisi F, Concolino D, Borrelli O, et al. Cow's Milk Protein Allergy in Infancy: A Risk Factor for Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders in Children? Nutrients 2018;10:1716.
- Sicherer SH, Muñoz-Furlong A, Godbold JH, Sampson HA. US prevalence of self-reported peanut, tree nut, and sesame allergy: 11year follow-up. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;125:1322-6.

- Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Peanut allergy: emerging concepts and approaches for an apparent epidemic. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120:491-503.
- 23. Al-Ahmed N, Alsowaidi S, Vadas P. Peanut allergy: an overview. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2008;4:139-43.
- 24. Nurmatov U, Venderbosch I, Devereux G, Simons FE, Sheikh A. Allergen-specific oral immunotherapy for peanut allergy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;(9):CD009014.
- 25. Sauliene I, Sukiene L, Noreikaite-Merkeliene A, Pileckas V. The comparison of pollen abundance in air and honey samples. Acta Agrobotanica 2015;68:391-8.
- Lake IR, Jones NR, Agnew M, Goodess CM, Giorgi F, Hamaoui-Laguel L, et al. Climate Change and Future Pollen Allergy in Europe. Environ Health Perspect 2017;125:385-91.
- Ta VA, Kelso JM, White AA, Scott DR, Chin WK, Wineinger N. Differential skin test reactivity to pollens in pollen food allergy syndrome versus allergic rhinitis. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2015;135:AB37.
- 28. Kazemi-Shirazi L, Pauli G, Purohit A, Spitzauer S, Fröschl R, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, et al. Quantitative IgE inhibition experiments with purified recombinant allergens indicate pollenderived allergens as the sensitizing agents responsible for many forms of plant food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;105:116-25.
- 29. Webber CM, England RW. Oral allergy syndrome: a clinical, diagnostic, and therapeutic challenge. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2010;104:101-8.
- Kar Kurt Ö, Erkoçoğlu M, Kurt M. Polen gıda allerjisi Sendromu [Pollen food allergy syndrome]. Tuberk Toraks 2017;65:138-45.
- Price A, Ramachandran S, Smith GP, Stevenson ML, Pomeranz MK, Cohen DE. Oral allergy syndrome (pollen-food allergy syndrome). Dermatitis 2015;26:78-88.
- Keet CA, Matsui EC, Dhillon G, Lenehan P, Paterakis M, Wood RA. The natural history of wheat allergy. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2009;102:410-5.
- Ricci G, Andreozzi L, Cipriani F, Giannetti A, Gallucci M, Caffarelli C. Wheat Allergy in Children: A Comprehensive Update. Medicina (Kaunas) 2019;55:400.
- Tatham AS, Shewry PR. Allergens to wheat and related cereals. Clin Exp Allergy 2008;38:1712-26.
- Pietzak M. Celiac disease, wheat allergy, and gluten sensitivity: when gluten free is not a fad. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2012;36:68-75.
- Güneş Bayır A. Gıda Hassasiyeti (10. Bölüm), Eds: Eker H.H. ve Güneş Bayır A. Sağlıklı Beslenme. Nobel Tıp Kitabevi; 2015;37-8.
- Sicherer SH, Muñoz-Furlong A, Sampson HA. Prevalence of seafood allergy in the United States determined by a random telephone survey. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004;114:159-65.
- Turner P, Ng I, Kemp A, Campbell D. Seafood allergy in children: a descriptive study. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2011;106:494-501.
- 39. Ismail IH, Licciardi PV, Oppedisano F, Boyle RJ, Tang ML. Relationship between breast milk sCD 14, TGF-β1 and total I g A in the first month and development of eczema during infancy. Pediatric Allergy and Immunology 2013;24:352-60.

- 40. Tomicić S, Johansson G, Voor T, Björkstén B, Böttcher MF, Jenmalm MC. Breast milk cytokine and IgA composition differ in Estonian and Swedish mothers-relationship to microbial pressure and infant allergy. Pediatr Res 2010;68:330-4.
- 41. Böttcher MF, Jenmalm MC. Breastfeeding and the development of atopic disease during childhood. Clin Exp Allergy 2002;32:159-61.
- 42. Muraro A, Werfel T, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Roberts G, Beyer K, Bindslev-Jensen C, et al. EAACI food allergy and anaphylaxis guidelines: diagnosis and management of food allergy. Allergy 2014;69:1008-25.
- Sampson HA. Food allergy--accurately identifying clinical reactivity. Allergy 2005;60:19-24.
- 44. Sackeyfio A, Senthinathan A, Kandaswamy P, Barry PW, Shaw B, Baker M, et al. Diagnosis and assessment of food allergy in children and young people: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ 2011;342:d747.
- 45. Heinzerling LM, Burbach GJ, Edenharter G, Bachert C, Bindslev-Jensen C, Bonini S, et al. GA(2)LEN skin test study I: GA(2)LEN

harmonization of skin prick testing: novel sensitization patterns for inhalant allergens in Europe. Allergy 2009;64:1498-506.

- 46. Konstantinou GN, Bousquet PJ, Zuberbier T, Papadopoulos NG. The longest wheal diameter is the optimal measurement for the evaluation of skin prick tests. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2010;151:343-5.
- 47. Soares-Weiser K, Takwoingi Y, Panesar SS, Muraro A, Werfel T, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, et al. The diagnosis of food allergy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Allergy 2014;69:76-86.
- Niggemann B, Lange L, Finger A, Ziegert M, Müller V, Beyer K. Accurate oral food challenge requires a cumulative dose on a subsequent day. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;130:261-3.
- Glaumann S, Nopp A, Johansson SG, Rudengren M, Borres MP, Nilsson C. Basophil allergen threshold sensitivity, CD-sens, IgEsensitization and DBPCFC in peanut-sensitized children. Allergy 2012;67:242-7.
- Niggemann B, Grüber C. Unproven diagnostic procedures in IgEmediated allergic diseases. Allergy 2004;59:806-8.